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A country may have powerful armed forces1 led by brflliant 
commanders; it may have statesmen of great competence ; 
lt may have a civil population which is disciplined and 
resolute ; it may have immense wealth ; it may have 
industries which are most efficiently organised ; but unless 
the statesmen and the soldiers at the summit work together in 
a spirit of mutual esteem, the essential co-ordination between 
those diverse elements of strength wi Il be lacking1 and the re 
is bound to be a deadly waste of blood and treasure. 
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PREFACE 

THIS Js a study in supreme command, its nature and the course of its development 

within the fabric of the English Constitution during the decade orso prior to the 

shattering of the peace of the old world and the coming of the Warin Europe~ 1 t 

is a study concerned with an examination of the formulation and development of 

defence policy only in so far as these factors helped determine the course and outcome 

of the struggle, which occurred during these years, to establish an effective form of 

supreme comma nd. 

Essen ttc lly, then, this is a work devoted to an examlnation of the underlying 

relations between the milttary and political argons of society, together with the 

internecine struggles within those organs, which shaped and determined the outcome of 

the search for a viable mechanism of supreme command. 1 t is a study of sol di ers in 

conflict, sailors in disagreement and statesmen in opposition, in as far as these civil­

military and intra-military relationships influenced the nature and course of the 

development of supreme command. Within these seme limitations it is a Iso a study of 

the process of revolution and reaction which occurred within England•s mi litary 

institutions during the years between the close of the warin South Africa and the advent 

of the Great War ln Europe. 

lt is, furthermore, a study of the development of an institution and an idea during 

an age of transition. One must, of course, avoid the proverbial pitfalls of hindsight, 

but, nevertheless, it must clearly be understood thot for England, as indeed for ali Europe, 

the years between the retirement of Lord Salisbury and the coming of the War in 1914 were 

years of diplomatie frenzy, mounting tension, and increasing apprehension of war. lt was 

a decade which, mllitarily speaking, was to witness the realignment of the Powers, the 

decline and rebirth of French military virtue, the vigorous expansion of Germany•s 

recently establlshed High Secs Fleet, the reform, refurbishmentand renewal of the Royal Novy, 



the birth and development of the British Expeditionary Force, and, flnally, for 

England, the re jection of long and trusted tradftfon in the adoption of a wholly 

milltary strategy without relation to the exercise.of sea power. Of these develop­

ments, ali are, indeed of concern for the purposes of this study - but only in so far 

as they affected the broader problem of the development of supreme comma nd. 

lt was the recognition of these developments, and the events thot lay behind them, 

that increaslngly led a number of England's finest political and military minds to a serious 

consideration of the country•s military resources and the most profitable method of their 

employment. ln so doing these statesrnen1 notably Arthur Balfour, Regina! Viscount Esher 

and Richard Haldane discovered thot before any such decisions could be laken, it was 

first necessary to create the machinery of inter-departmental and civil-military co­

ordination and control so as to impart sanity and reason to any such decisions. And it 

is with these efforts and thetr relative success and fai lure with which this work is concerned. 

Nevertheless1 whlle this was in sorne respects, indeed, a recognisable age of transition, 

there was much in the future which remained unknown, even unguessed. No one fully 

appreciated, even fewer suspected1 that modern technology and the economie capacity 

of the nations had vastly changed the face of warfare. lndeed, of those few who had sorne 

inkltng of these developments, such as Repington and Esher, none arrived at conclusions 

to whose veracity history was to bear testament. 

To put it somewhat more simply, while one must regard this decade as an age of 

transition - at least in the terms of the pre~ent limited consideration of the development 

of a higher form of defence co-ordination and control - it was by no means an age of 

transHion in terms of warfare as a who le - at least not in the eyes of contemporary 

observers. Thus ft would be weil to point out that Balfour, Esher and Haldane, the 

leaders of this search for effective suprerne command, were themselves in the van of those 

who upheld the traditional value of sea power at a tlme when the military revival was 

leadfng to the development of a radically new foreign and defence policy predicated 

upon direct Independant mi litary intervention upon the Continent. 
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ln the original draft of this work 1 had included a chapter dealtng directly with 

the Dominions and defence planning. However, on reconsideration, 1 decided to 

omit this section on the interests of Immediate rel~vance. The Dominions most 

certainly had a serious impact upon the development of defence planning, and to sorne 

extent of defence policy, while their actions occasioned a series of clashes between 

the soldlers and the sallors. Nevertheless, 1 consider that these events had little 

direct or, indeed, positive impact upon the broader question of the development of 

supreme comma nd. The Dominions, unwilling to make use of the Defence Committee 

very largely because they tended to feel that membership tied them to the support of 

England's pollcies, were never in a position to directly influence the nature or the 

development of the organs of supreme comma nd. 

As far as nomenclature ls concerned 1 have followed no particular rules; for the 

most part the meanings of such words as 'military', 'naval' and 'defence' are, 1 hope, 

readily apparent from their context. By and large, wherever practicable the word 

'militarily' has been used in the narrow sense of that word, while 'defence' has been 

utilised tcJdenote the anned services asa whole. 'Supreme Command' is itselfa some­

what overworked and Imprecise tenn ; 1 have used it here consistently to denote the 

higher direction and co-ordination of defence poltcy and planni'lg• Finally, 1 would 

add that the appellation 'England' has been employed throughout in much the same 

spirit as that set forth by A.J .. P. Taylor ln his recent work on post-1914 'Engltsh History'. 

To Doctor Robert Vogel, of the Department of History at McGill, 1 extend my 

sincere thanks for his unfatling encouragement and advice, and for the many long hours 

endured ln often anfmated discussion and argument. To Professor C.C. Bayley 1 extend 

a Iso my appreciation for the sustafned lnterest which he has shown in my work from its 

inception. Ftnally, 1 most gratefully acknowledge the support of the McConnell 

Foundation which has made much of the far-ranglng research and the writing of this 

treatise possible. 

The 25th AnniverJCirY. of the Battle 
of Cape Matapan, 2ath March 1966 

ilf 

Nicholas d'Ombrain 
Montreal 
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CHAPTER ONE 

THE COMMITTEE OF IMPERIAL DEFENCE 

There is a time for ali things: there is even a time for change; and 
thot is when it con no longer be resisted. 

H .R.H. The Duke of Cambridge, 
Commander-in-Chief; 1856 - 1896. 

Our National problems of defence are far more difficult and complex 
thon those of any other power. They require exhaustive study over a 
much wider fJeld. The grave danger to which we ·cali attention remains 1 

and demonds effective remedy. The British Empire is pre-eminently a 
naval colonial power. There are nevertheless no means for co-ordinating 
defence problems, for deal ing with them as a whole, for defining the proper 
functions of the various elements, and for ensuring thot, on the. one hand, 
peoce preparation$ ·arè carried out upon a consistent. plan, and, on the other, 
thot in time of emergency a definite war policy based upon solid data con be 
fonnulated. 

Report of the War Office Reconstruction 
Committee; 1 January 1904. 

THE spectre of the Committee of Imperial Defence looms heovy and black across these 

pages, just as in the midst of England~s summer its substance permeated and influenced 

the poli tics of the decision making process. As this story unfolds the Committee will 

be reveoled winding its tortuous path through virtually every bronch of government. ln 

some respects the Committee was itself a symbol of those times, a product of bath the 

trusted and the untried, a reflection of the hope, the fulfillment, the despair and the 

disillusionment thot was the sarry tableau of uncertainty, of seeking without cognisonce 

of one•s direction, against which was acted out the story of the evolution of England 1s 

defence po licy during those disturbing, disquieting, though hopeful, years before 1914. 

And yet the Committee•s chimeric aspect set it apart· from thot confidence which hall­

marked the golden age of England; forever it remoined a promise unfulfllled. The 



Committee of Imperial Defence never evolved os the centre for strategie plonningo ln 

splte of ali its poper prestige the Commlttee locked the drivlng force to create such a 

focus of power in the midst of a vacuum of leadership. ln shoring its supreme functlons 

with the great deportments of state, those trcditionol loci of power in the defence 

establishment, the Committee of Imperial Defence become J!lerely on additionol com­

petitor ; a part of thot division of labour lmposed not for the sake of arder or efficiency, 

but rather as the priee exocted for an arrogant tradition of deportmental anorchy. The 

storyofthe Committee during these years is stamped with the tragedy of a noble ambition 

unfulfilled. Like an innocent in politics, the sheep among the wolves, its initiative 

and determination wos soon sapped by the weight and influence of the established 

hierarchy.. Disillusioned, wlthout the strength of leadership, deprived of the momentum 

of influence, the Committee too sank lnto thot mire of bureaucratie secttonalisn which 

it had sought to purge from the halls of the defence establishment. But when the decade 

wos young, and when Englond wos still the centre of the world, the Committee of 

Imperial Defence was launched upon o career of reform designed to bring together every 

arm of the decision making process into a supreme forum for defence co-ordination.. But 

this was not to be.. The importance of the Committee of Imperial Defence must not be 

minimised ; but lts importance lay not in Us successes but in its inadequacies. This is 

not to say thot the Committee fulfi!led no positive rol.e, or thot its inception and design 

was onything short of magnificent ; but between thot inception and its final position 

within the framework of the decision making process, there lay a decade of misunderstanding, 

undermining and misapplication which finally resulted in the almost total perversion of 

thot vision which had given birth to its inception. 

Regardless, whether the Committee of Imperial Defence be viewed in terms of the 

promise of 1902, or from the vontage point of August, 1914, it must stlll tower os a 

lasting tribute to the imagination and foresight of Arthur James Balfour. Balfour was 

possessed of the most penetrcting and brilllont mind of any Prime Minister in the history 

of his country ; not withstandlng the many doubts which hove been rcised conceming his 
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administrative abtllties on the Treasury Bench.
1 

For many years prior to his assumption 

of fhe burdens of governments Balfour had applled hlmself to the broader problems of the 

defence of England and the Empire ; ln 1893 wrlting to Sir Charles Dilke, who perhaps 

alone approached Balfour's Intellectuel stature, A.J.B. had noted : 

1 have always been ln favour of a Defence Committee of the Cabinet 
wlth expert advisers and permanent records carrying on the work from 
govemment to govemment. 2 

Rea.c:hlng back into the late 1880's much effort had been expended in order to evolve 

some form of organ suitable for the overall direction of Imperial defence planning. But 

the problem had never before been considered with the same breadth of understanding, 

wisdom or appreciation whlch Mr. Balfour brought to it during the brief tenure of his 

'lame-duck' government in the years after 1902. Balfour had recognised in the events 

of the Boer War the implications of the tremendous changes which were being wrought 

upon the art of worfare. Whereas many of his contemporaries understood that the ti me 

for a drastic overhaul of the defence establishment was long overdue, the Prime Minister 

reoltsed that this renewol would involve o completely new attitude and opproach towards 

the higher preparation and conduct of wor. While he understood that half meosures and 

'muddllng through' would no longer sufflce in the business of preparing for and fighting 

a modern war, he stJw too that the solution !ay not merely in the reform of the existlng 

establishment but for more fundamentolly in a reshaping of the overa Il function of 

government as the supreme organ for the conduct of warfare. lndeed, his realisation 

of this need, his desperate understandlng of the necessity for a total re-orientation of 

defence thlnking, played an important role in his decision to cling to power durlng 

those last futile months before December 1905 and the great triumph of the libera ls at 

1 - Gibbs, N .. H., "'&Keith, A.B., The British Cabinet System, (london, 1952), 
po 58o 

2- Young, K., Arthur James Balfour, (london, 1963), p. 226. 
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3 
the poils the following month. lt has even been suggested thot Balfour felt lt more 

thon merely a responsibtlity of his offtce to effect changes in the orgons of the supreme 

command, but thot, in view of the succession of disasters at the War Office culminating 

in the cheos of the South African war, the Prime Minister felt it encumbent upon himself 

to make retribution for the shortcomings of hts colleagues through the establishment of 

an entirely new and viable concept in supreme defence planning capable of rising to the 
4 

demands of modern warfare. 

The key to Mr. Balfour's new understanding lay in his recognition of the need for 

o coundl upon the highest level to co-ordinate the great offices of state, especially the 

Admiralty and the War Office, whose intimate co-operation in time of war was, he 

realised, of fundamental importance. But, while he knew thot without the co-ordination 

of the services ali pretence at supreme defence planning was pointless, he entertained, 

nevertheless, additional hopes envisaged upon the same heraic pattern. Balfour clearly 

foresaw thot wlth the growth of the Dominions, and their development as mature political 

entities, they would increasingly demanda more decisive voice in the ordering of the 

overall defence of the Empire. He understood the importance of the establishment of a 

body wherein the flnest intellectuel talent of the Empire could be brought to focus upon 

the crucial business of the development of a consistent and feaslble policy in keeping 

with the strategie necessities dictated by the ever changing international position of 

England and the Empire. ln 1902 such thoughts were pipe-dreams. Balfour was weil 

aware thot before he could ever hope to draw the Dominions into the lnner defence 

counsels of the Empire, it was essentiel to induce order upon the chaos which held sway 

over bath the War Office and the Admira 1 ty, together wi th the even more fundamenta 1 

need for the establishment of the most elementary principles of inter-service co-operation 

and co-ordination. 

3- Gibbs, N.H., The Orlgins of Imperial Defence, (Oxford, 1955), p .. 6. 

4 - Johnson 1 F ,A., De fen ce B Commi ttee : The British Committee of lm eria 1 
Defence, 1885- 1959, London, 1960, p .. 61. 
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ln order to solve these problems Mr. Balfour established the Committee of Imperial 

Defenae. As with most other 'changes' in the fobric of the English constitution this new 

body wos in foct the result of a mutation of a former orgon of the constitution. This 

body, the old Defence Committee of the Cabinet, hod never si:>ught to distinguish itself 

ondwos, in short, odefunctorgonizotion. ln December, 1902, itreceiveda severe 

shoke up from the Prime Minister, and the Committee of Imperial Defence wos born. ln 

this eorly form the Committee represented a complete deporture from ali previous tradition 

both in moking the professionol chiefs of the Novy and the Army full sitting members -

rather thon merely odvisers, and in the establishment of the forerunner of the future 

celebroted Secretar!ot of the Committee of Imperial Defence. 

ln the outumn of 1903 Balfour took the Choir of the Defence Committee following 

upon the retirement of the Duke of Devonshire. 5 ln so doing the Prime Minister 

indicated his. determination to entrench the new committee as a permanent focus for ali 

governmentol defence planning. This determination was underlined in November of the 

same year by the establishment of a committee of inquiry chorged with investigoting the 

possibilit!es of undertakirg reform ot tr,e War Office, and designed to entrench and 

forJllo lise the new De fen ce Commi ttee of the Cabinet. Th us wos born the 'Wor Office 

Reconstruction Committee', better known simply by the nome of its chairmon - Reginold, 

Viscount Esher. The Esher Committee was designed as the first move in Bol four's 

campoign to completely overhoul the entire defence establishment in its every aspect. 

For os Balfour wrote many yeors loter : 

There wos no co-ordination, no co-operation between the people in 
charge of land and seo wor, and de fen ce. 1 t wos obvious a ci vi lian 
Cabinet could form no judgement, and 1 hod the idea, which was 
reolly original. 1 don't say thot out of conceit, - 1 mean simply thot 
the Defence Committee had no precedent. 6 

The Esher Committee worked swiftly and ruthlessly producing its recommandations for a 

supreme organ of defence planning and co-ordination in January, 1904. Confirmation 

5 - Johnson, Defence By Committee, p. 54~ 

6 - Dugdale, B.E., Arthur James Balfour, First Earl of Balfour, (London, 1936), 
Vol. 1, p. 365. 
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of what Balfour had long thought to be the case was contained in a letter to the Prime 

Mi ni ster on 11 th January : 

We ore driven to the conclusion thot no manner of War Office reform 
will avail unless associated with provision for obtaining and collecting 
for the use of the cabinet ali information and advice required for shaping 
national pollcy in war, and for determining the necessary preparations 
in peace. Such information and advlce must necessari ly embrace not 
only the sphere of the War Office, but those of the Admiralty and other 
offices of stafe .7 

Thus was the Secretariat of the Committee of Imperial Defence, and indeed the Committee 

itself, conceived, the Secretariat being the one organ of thot organisation which in its 

long years of operation has consistent!y 1 as an institution, stood above reproach. 

During the few months remaining to Balfour as Prime Minister the Committee, 

formally consfituted by the famous lreasury Minute of 4th May, 1904, devoted much 

of its attention to the problems of lndian frontier defence. lts role as the centre of 

planning for Imperial Defence as a whole was not developed during these early years 
l 

due not only tc· the alrno5t universol preoccupation wlth lndian affa:t";, but a Iso to the 

over-shadowing înfluence of the practical reforms being carded out in the War: Office 

and throughout the Army as the result of the findings of the Esher Committee, not to 

mention the revolution being wrought a1 the Admiralty by Sir John Fisher. 

This aspect of feveri~.h reform both within the Novy and the Armyv together with 

the agonizing frustration being caused in the War Office by a succession of ill-advised 

Secretaries of State, has been overlooked by one recent critic of Mr. Balfour's handling 

of the Committee of Imperial Defence. 
8 

While no doubt Balfour was not perhaps the 

most capable of administro.tors, it must be remembered thot the Committee was stiJl very 

young and inexperienced, the Services themselves were consumed by their own momentous 

all-embracing reforms, and the government as a whole was fighting a doomed rearguard 

7 - Sydenham of Coombe, Baron (George C .), My Working Li fe, (London, 1927), 
p. 173. 

8- Mackintosh, J.P., 'The Role of The Committee of Imperial Defence Before 1914', 
The English Historical Review, Vol. LXXVII (1962), pp. 494-495. 
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politlc:al action. Given time, Balfour possessed the necessary prestige and initiative, 

togeth.er with a suitable opinion of his own position, 
9 

to enforce his new understanding 

of the. need for supreme defence planning and co-ordination upon the services. lndeed 

Balfour•s accomplishment with respect to the Committee of Imperial Defence must be 

the abject of considerable admiration, especiafly when viewed in terms of the overoll 

politlccrhltuation which was dominated by the fact, which Churchill has since noted, 

thot Balfour had •succeeded only to an exhausted inheritance' when he had taken over 

the reigns of governments in the summer of 1902. ~ 0 

Furthermore, ft must be understood thot in military, as against political, terms 

the .Committee itself had roots which ~laimed their origins deep within the rivalry 

between England and Russia upon the border of the Empire Jn fndia. ln actuol fact the 

real· importance of this threat had greatly diminished with the dawn of the twentieth 

century, and even before had been very largely a figment of the imagination. But, 
l 

whe.ther real or imagined, the fear of trouble with Russie on the lndian frontier had not 

receded from either the military or the political mind. One has only to glanee through 

the correspondence between Sir George Clarke, the first secretary to the Committee of 

Imperial Defence, and the Prime Minister to realise thot lndian problems had become 

the focal point for the activities of the Committee during these early years. As an oside 

the very volume and detail of this correspondence serves to underline Balfour's consuming 

interest in defence matter:s. Between December, 1902, and December, 1905, the Prime 

Minister cal led eighty-two formol sessions of the Committee to order
11 

: of these no 

less thon forty-three were either wholly or in part devoted to lndian defence matters. 

A perusal of the C.I.O .. Papers for this sorne period reveols no fewer thon sevel'\ty-five 

printed memoranda dealing with Indien mllitary problems. A memorandum submitted to 

9 - Gibbs & Keith, The British Cabinet System, p. 431. 

10 - Churchill, W .S., The World Crisis, (New York, 1923), Vol .. 1, p .. 21. 

1 l - The first twenty-two sessions were chaired by the Duke of Devonshire, 
The Lord President of the Counci 1. 
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the Committee in Februory, 1905, by the Prime Minister opened wlth the followlng 

stotement : 

This Poper proceeds on the ossumption, which 1 hove elsewhere 
endeovoured to estoblish, thot the main purpose for which the 
onny-exists is ••• the protection of the outlying portions of 
the Empire, and notobly of lndia.12 

Lord Selbome writing to the Prime Mlnister in eorly April, 1904, with respect to a 

number of naval problems, summed up this entire concem in noting 'the exhaustive 

monner in which the C.J.D. has endeovoured to treot the problem of the N.W. 

frontier of lndio'. 
13 

Agoin on 30th Morch, 1905, the Prime Minister stoted to the 

Cabinet: 

lt is ogreed thot the main purpose for which a large onny is 
required is the defence of lndio •••• 14 

The odvent of the Liberal govemment in December, 1905, led many responsible 

figures, especiolly Mr. Balfour, to feor for the continued life of the still infant 

Committee. ln February of thot year Sir George Clarke had pointed out to a rising 

Liberol-lmperialist, Richard Burdon Haldane, thot: 'You will, 1 know, forgive me for 

saying thot in matters bearing on national defence a Liberal Government would not -

on taking office - command great confidence. The numbers of people who wou Id 

welcome on immediate change if they felt assured on this point is very large• •
15 

Lord Selbome, at thot time Fir!>t Lord of the Admiralty, in the body of a memorandum 

submitted to the Cabinet in March, 1904, hod come even closer to the bone : 

12 - 'Our Present Minimum Milltory Requirements and proposais for fulfilling them by 
a Reorgonizotion of the Regulor Army and Mi litia', Memorandum by the 
Prime Minister, 24 Feb. 1905. C.I.D. Popers, Cab. 5/1/21C. 

13 - Selbome to Balfour, 5 Apr. 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49707. 

14 - 'Army Reorganizotion•, Memorandum by A.J. Balfour, 30 Mor. 1905. 
Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/75, No. 54. 

15 - Clarke to Holdone, 6 Feb. 1905. Haldane MSS, MS 5906. 
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The grovest danger which confronts us in connection with the Committee 
of Imperial Defence seems tome thot it should be allowed to lapse in 
the future by so~e such Prime Minister as Sir Henry Campbell - Bannerman 
or Mr. Gladstone. 16 

Sorne measure of the apprehension with which Balfour himself viewed his replacement &n 

the Committee by Campbeii-Bannerman. may be drown from 'this note .which 

Sir George Clarke penned to his former chief in mid-December, 1905 : 

Sir HenryCampbell-Bannermanaccepts the C.I.O. in principle. 
We must now try and get him to like it, and 1 think this may be 
possible .17 

This same tone 1 excessive core lest disaster be fa Il, may be g leaned from the following 

letter which Clarke wrote to Balfour on 2nd February, 1906: 

We had our first Commtttee meeting yesferday. lt was an 
interesting study of human nature, 1 think - as did Lord Esher -
thot it went off·quite weil. l need not say how 1 missed you. 
There was plenty of discussion, sametimes wide off the mark. We 
did not arrive at any defini te conclusions and Sir H. Campbeii-Bannerman 
was o tittle at sea at first, but 1 eamestly hope ali will go smoothly 
now thot the ice ls broken •••• 18 

Viscount Esher writing to John Sandars, Balfour's private secretary, in October 1905, 

expressed for the C .1 • D. the fea r thot : 

••• Campbeii-Bannermanwilllet itdie of inaction: thot 
Clarke wiTT be disgusted, and accepta govemorship : and 
thot then Spenser Wilkinson will take his place, or the 
Committee will revert to what it was, a spasmodic meeting 19 
of Cabinet Mlnisters, calling themselves the Defence Committee. 

16 - 'Memorandum on the proposais of the War Office (Reconstruction) Committee 
in respect of the Committee of Imperial Defence 1

1 The Earl of Selbome, 
4 Mar. 1904. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/69, No. 38. 

17 - Clarke to Balfour, 16 Dec. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 

18 - Clarke to Balfour, 2 Jan. 1906. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702 .. 

19 - Esher to Sandars, 7 Oct. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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Esher's very position on the Committee had arisen out of Balfour's concern for its 

continued life ; he had added Esher to the Committee as the personol representative 

of the King in the autumn of 1905 in anticipation of the demise of his governmento 

As Esher enthusiastically noted to his old friend in a letter sorne years later: 

••• 1 always remember thot you put me on the Committee to 
'ho Id the fort• for you - So 1 propose to fight them. When you 
become Prime Minister again 1 shall be ready to say my nunc 
dimittis.20 

No more forceful or tel ling comment upon Balfour's anxiety may be cited. 

Fortunately, however, the Uberal-lmperialists of the new government, notably 

Mr. Haldone, were impressed with th-e need for sound comprehensive defence planning 

even at the risk of what many considered to be an invasion of cabinet responsibi lity. 

Haldane was coming increasingly to realise thot the situation had deteriorated to the 

point where drasti c action was essentia 1 if any satisfactory remedy was to be fou nd. 1 t 

would be pointless to enter into a long and tedious discussion conceming the subsequent 

development of the Committee under the guidance respectively of lord Sydenham, 

Sir Charles Ottley and Lord Hankey. Suffi ce it to say thot the Committee grew in size 

and importance over the years before 1914 spawning Sub-Committees from time to time 

designed to examine the many aspects, both military and civilian of the preparation for 

war. Ali of thh work culminated in Lord Hankey's famous 'War Book •. in short the 

C .1. D. embarked upon an exhaustive study of the tri via of England's war preparedness, 

whi le al most completely overlooking the more fundamental problem of basic defence 

posture. 

The advisory position of the C.I.O. was at once both its strength and its 

weakness. The Committee's advisory capacity is of especial note in view of the fact 

thot its membership effectively constituted on inner council of the cabinet on the crucial 

Issues of foreign policy and defence. 
21 

·rhe strength of this arrangement lay in the fact 

20 - Esher to Balfour, 31 Dec. 1909. Balfour MSS. Add. MS 49719. 

21 - Gibbs & Keith, The British Cabinet System, p. 112. 
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that such an organisation upheld the principles of cabinet solidarity in that ali of the 

Committee's decisions were presented merely as odvice for the guidance of the prime 

mini.s.ter when discussing defence issues in cabinet.. Mr. Balfour had underlined the 

odvisory copocity of the Committee in o memorandum submitted to the Cabinet in 

la te February, 1904 : 

ln considering its constitutional position, it is necessary to 
observe thot in one fundamental porticulor it differs from any 
other port of our ex(sting govemmentol mochinery. lt is 
consultative, not executive. lt has no administrative functions : 
it cannat prescribe o policy to the Cabinet, nor give directions 
to the Army orto the Nevy. lts duty is purely to advise; and 
thoughodvice on mPitary matters in which the Prime Minister, 
the Secretary of State for Wor, the First Lord of the Admiralty, 
and their technicol assistants are agreed, is advice olmost certain 
to be ta ken, sti!!, the De fen ce Comm i ttee, as su ch, hos no power 
to en force it )2 

Nevertheless such a situation, regardless of how many times it might in foct have 

violoted the letter, if not the law, of cabinet solidarity, revealed the essentiel weokness 

of the Defence Committee ; for constituted as it wos, a sol ely odvisory body at the 

disposai of the prime minister on motters of defence, it followed thot the relative success 

or foilore of the Committee depended very largely upon the leadership and degree of 

interest evinced by its choirman. Asquithto mon bath weak in his personol ity and in 

his position,exhibited on unworronted omount of concem for the purity and preservation 

of cabinet responsibility.
23 

Now while it is true thot os the yeors went by the 

Committee was accused of undermining cabinet responsibility in its adoption of decisions 

on matters of defence policy without reference to the cabinet, neverthel.ess the fact 

remoins that the paucity of leadership on the port of both Sir Henry Compbeli-Bannerman 

and Mr. Asquith crippled the development of the Committee os the true focal point for 

ali defence co-ordination and planning. lt is evident thot the only figure with the 

22 - 'A Note on the Constitution of the Defence Committee', A.J. Balfour, 
29 Feb. 1904. Cabinet Popers, Cab. 37/69, No. 33. 

23 - Johnson, Defence By Committee, PP• 104, 141, 156. 
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necessary prestige under ordinary circumstances to be able to direct such a revolution 

in the fi-elds of strategie planning and inter-service co-operation was indeed the prime 

minister-himself. He clone possessed anything more than an advisory capacity on the 

CommHtee, neither was he prejudiced in regard to these vital matters by virtue of 

holding any of the seals of the great departments of state, especially those of either 

the Admirolty or the War Office. Lord Sydenham, the first Secretary to the Committee 

of Imperia 1 Defence, has written : 

Under the British Constitution as now operating, it is vital that the 
Prime Minister of the day should make himself fully acquointed with 
the larger problems of National Defence involving decisions for 
which he is inevitably responsible •••• 24 

ln Lord Sydenham•s view Balfour had shouldered these responsibilities admirably ; 

Clarke, who was not one to mince his words, told Mr. Balfour on the occasion of his 

resignation : 

Your current wish in connection with Imperial Defence must 
have great and lasting results. Whotever now happens, it cannot 
be undone, and it will be more and more widely recognised as time 
goes on. 

1 do 11ot think any future Prime Minh:ter can avoid persona! and 
direct responsibility for dealing with ali maJ:ters offecting national 
security, and you have provided him wi th means to acqùi re the 
necessary knowledge to arrive at reasoned opinions.25 

Unfortunately, however, the two Liberal prime ministers who followed Mr. Balfour 

failed singularly to live up to any such responsibility. Mr. Asquith, having little 

interestin defence matters, ignored the C.I.D. for many long spells; during the 

years of his administration prior to the Agadir crisis the Committee as a whole met on 

only fourteen occasions as compared to the eighty-two full sessions during Mr. Balfour•s 

three years as Prime Minister. This is not to say thot the two pre-war prime ministers 

24 - Sydenham of Coombe, My Working Li fe, p. 177. 

25 - Clarke to Balfour, 5 Dec. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 
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had no sympathy with the Committee or with its aims, they simply did not understand 

either the motives which had prompted Mr. Balfour or the staggering problems posed 

to a couAtry such as England in the event of a future war with any sizeable advisary. 

Speaking Îfl the House on 5th March, 1903, Mr. Balfour had underlfned the role of 

the C.l-. D. as he hoped to see it evolve : 

The New Defence Committee is more ambitious o • • in its scope. 
The idea the Govemment had in establishing it is not to take up 
from time to time questions referred to it by the Cabinet, but to 
make it its duty to survey as a whole the strategical and mllitary 
needs of the Empire, to deol with. the complicated questions 
which are ali e~sential elements in that general problem, and to re­
vise from time to time their own previous decisions, so thot the 
Cabinet shall always be informed and always have at its disposai 
information upon these important points. They should not be left 
to the cri sis of the moment, but when there is no specia 1 stress or 
strain the Government and its advisers should devote themselves 
to the consideration of these brood and ali-important issues.26 

For exemple it might weil be pointed out that the Invasion Sub-Committee inquiry of 

1907- 1908 wos in fact forced upon Sir Henry Campbeii-Bannerman in port by 

Lord Roberts, Colonel Repington and other supporters of the National Service League, 

but more directly as the result of pressure from Mr. Balfour himself. Asquith was willing 

enough in October, 1908, to establish a new Sub-Committee in order to examine the 

problems of !mperiol defence as a whole, but once again the initiative come from ou:tside ; 

in this·case from the Secretary of the Committee, Captain (Rear-Admirol) Sir Charles Ottley. 

lt must, of course, be understood that it was precisely the task of the Secretariat to 

suggest topics for investigation, though the suggestion ought hordly to have been necessary 

on such fundamentol issues. But the pointis thot whereos Asquith wos willing enough 

to permit such investigations, he lacked the foresight and enthusiasm necessary in order 

to become the active catolyst upon which the Committee's effectiveness wos wholly 

dependent. ln glancing through the minutes of these C.I.O. meetings summonded while 

26 - Por!iomentary Debates (Authorized Edition), Vol. 118, 4th Ser., 
5 Mar. 1903, Col. 1579. 

13 



Asquith wes Prime Minister one is struck by the Chainnan's tremendous organizational 

ability, by· the facile manner in which he restricted discussion to the point at issue ; 

but the same perusal reveals also that Asquith's performance never wentbeyond thot of 

a presiding manager, his participation in the body of the discussion is notable only for 

its s.ing.ular absence. But perhaps this passivity of Asqulth's maybesJ 'be illustrated 

from the following passage which appears in Lord Hankey's memoirs ; it clearly 

indlcates thot perhaps Asquith's grasp of the more fundamental purposes of the Committee 

of Imperial Defence was not ali thot it might have been & 

On returning from summer leave in the autumn of 1909 1 realised 
that epart from matters of routine, we were threatened with a 
shortage of work. The big poiJcy lnqufries thot had kept us so 
busy during the last eighteen months were ali completed •••• 
My O'Nn feeling was thot we had arrlved at a junction in the 
hlstory of the Committee at which, If we dld not take sorne 
decisive step forward, we should slip back. 1 therefore wrote 
a memorandum entitled 'The War Organisation of the British 
Empire', which 1 submitted to Ottley.. He forwarded it with 
his own reply to Haldane, who warmly commended it. Ottley 
then sent the whole co;respondence to Asquith, who read it, 
but took no immediate action to give effect to lt. Nevertheless 
this Memorandum played a considerable part in the future develop­
ment of our defensive preparationso lt contained suggestions for 
the study of a number of questions including the following - the 
compi lotion of the War Book, this being the flrst reference to the 
subject ; measures of economie pressure beginnlng wlth an 
investigation of a policy of 'days of groce' to enemy marchant 
ships, to be followed by conslderotlon of such questions as the 
cornering of raw materiels in war and frnanciol blockade ; the 
capture of enemy colonies ; the co-operation of the Dominions in· 
the Committee of Imperial Defence for the study of these and 
similar questions; also intelligence, treatment of a liens and our 
own economie position .27 

Hankey goes on to relate how the projects mentioned in his memorondum were in fact 

taken up by various Sub-Committees of the C.I.O. following upon a decision taken hot on 

27 - Han key, Baron (Mau ri ce Po}, The Supreme Comma nd, (London, 1961), 
Vol. 1, p. 85. 
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Asquith•s initiative but rather as the fruit of Haldane•s constant agitation for co-ordinated 

defence pl-anning. Haldane•s anxiety over Asquith•s failure to make proper use of the 

Committee had led him to urge the creation of a proper Defence Ministry, though his 

motiv-es went beyond mere concern for efficiency in that he wanted to remove such 

delicc.tte mtrtters as defence policy from the gaze of his pacifist and •Little Englander• 

coll.eogues ln the Cabinet. Writing to Balfour in August 1910 Viscount Esher noted 

that he had told Haldane : 

••• 1 felt sure ••• that you (Balfour] would concentrate ali 
1 Defence Schemes• in your own hands, and that your First Lord 
of the Admiralty and Secretary of State for War would be 
instruments of your policy and not its masters. 

That was the true purpose of the Committee of Imperial 
Defence, i.e. that the Prime Minister should be the •Minister 
of Defence• for only he can co-ordinate ali the departments 
conc:erned in the immense business of providing for the defence 
of the Empire • • • • 28 

Haldane had ralsed this matter wi th Esher owing to his anxiety for the continuation of 

his polteies at the War Office should the govemment fall over the House of Lords crisis. 

No clearer illustration of Balfour•s fundamental attitude towards the Committee can be 

put forward. Viscount Esher, hlmself a proponent of Haldane•s Defence Ministry, 

wrlting at the close of December, 1909, concerning the stagnation in the Committee 

of Imperial Defence, noted thaL: 

Wilson, who is at the Admiralty now every day, has objected and 
cannet see the Committee of Imperia 1 Defence has anything to do 
with the general planning of Naval and Military operations in 
certain contingencies. He ma ln tains that these are matters which 
should be left to the Chiefof the General Staff and the First Sea 
Lord to discuss and arrangé between themselves. 

This of course is putting the clock back sorne years. If 
Asquith acquiesced in this view it would strike a very severe if 
not a deadly blow to the Committee of Imperial Defence. 29 

28 - Esher to Balfour, 16 Aug. 1910. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

29 - Esher to Balfour, 24 Dec. 1909. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), Journals and 
Letters, (London, 1934), Vol. Il, p. 428. 
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The conted of the above remark is not of immediate concem at this point. 1 t is 

sufficient to realise thot Esher's faith in Asquith's leadership and determination on 

defence issues was such thot he could voice only doubt on so vital a matter. 

Viscount Haldane, not without sorne evident disapproval, has remembered of 

his old frf.end and former col league : 

From the beginning he meant to be Prime Minister.. For this 
position nature had endowed him to a great extent, but only 
to sorne extent. He had the best intellect.uc.il qppardtu~, 
restricted to grasp, understanding and judgement, thot 1 ever 
saw in any man. He was a serious person in those days. His 
photograph makes him look like a stem Nonconformist. 1 
remember passing along the Herse Guards with him when he 
touched my arm and pointed to the figure of John Bright in front 
of us - 'there he sa id· is the only mon in public li fe who has 
risen to eminence without being corrupted by London .socJety' .. 
ln 1885 1 got into the House of Commons as Member of East 
Lothian. 1 had more daring thon Asquith and took the rlsk , -
a considerable one 1 of entering Parliament whlle still a Junior. 
Next year Asquith followed my exemple, and 1 introduced him 
to East Fife where he had a secure seat for many years. He 
had not been long in the House of Commons before he made a 
brilllant speech 1 and thrs, coupled with his great Oxford 
reputation, turned the attention to him not only of his leaders 
but of the public. His diction was faultless, and his voice was 
a powerful one. He rarely made a bad point, and it was a 
surprise to nobody when in 1892 Mr. Gladstone made hlm Home-·­
Secretary. But before thot time he, and Grey, and Arthur Acland, 
and Sydney Buxton and 1 formed an organization of young Liberal 
members which had much of the future in its hands. We acted with 
a good deal of independence, and we shaped policy by our influence. 
Asquith did not originate much, he was not a man of imagination, but 
when we had worked anythlng out we always chose him to state it for 
us, - a thing he did to perfection. 30 

This statement serves to corroborate the conclusions which have already be~n drawn from 

the minutes of the C.I.O. meetings with respect to Asquith's mental rigidity. Asquith 

30 - 'Note on Letters contained in my Boxes', autumn 1926, pp. 4-5. 
Haldane MSS, MS 5923. 
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was, indeed, not a mon of imagination any more thon he was one willing to take risks. 

While it may weil be thot Hankey is entirely correct in his assertion with respect 

to the War Book thot lfrom the King to the printer, everyone knew what he had to dd', 
31 

no doubt Hankey would not approve of the evidence of his own words, as quoted obove, 

with respect to Asquith's attitude towards the Committee of Imperial Defence~ But the 

fact cannot be escaped thot he errs seriously in asserting : 

Our pol icy may have been good or bad ; there may be room for 
argument on this. But there are two criticisms to which Asquith's 
Govemment is not open - thot it had no policy or thot its policy 
was not arrived at after the most thorough investigation. 32 

One has only to cursorily examine the events of 4th to l2th August, 1914, in arder to 

realise thot this statement has no validity either in terms of political or military 

preparation on the levels of either grand 1 or even simple, strategy. However, Hankey 

does not err in his belief thot the Wor Book could not have been better prepared or put 

into operation - given, of course, the thesis thot few understood or had even any 

inclination of the nature or extent of the conflict for which they were planning. But 

what was the use of such detail, as contained in the War Book, when the fundamental 

considerations which governed the nature of such instructions had not been thrashed out 

ond formulated into an effective defence policy? Not Hankey, Haldane or Fisher, 

not ev-en Grey could effectsuch a fundamental decision alone. The C.I.O., supervised 

so expert! y by Ott ley and Honkey, orranged a Il the details, drew up the schedules, and saw 

tait thot everything which could be done on theirîevel to bring .together the War Office and 

the Admiralty was effected ; but it was Asquith alone who could give ali the components 

value, reoson and direction by channeling them into the service of a cleorly understood 

fundomental strategie policy. 'fhîs discrepancy was, indeed, to become o favorite and 

recurring theme of Sir John Fisher's in later years ; but even os early as October 1903 • Jackie• 

31 - Honkey, The Supreme Comma nd, Vol. 1, p. 139. 

32 - Honkey, The Supreme Comma nd, Vol. 1, p. 76. 
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was haranguing the Prime Minister. : 

lt has been put in the very forefront thot the organisation of the 
War Office is intimately associated with our Naval Strength. 
Who has xet stated exactly what we wont the British Anny to do ? 
No one ~33 

Balfour's great contribution lay in the establishment of the C .1. D., and his initiation of 

a new spirit of refonn throughout the Defence Establishment. lt was Asquith's task to 

make use of these tools, so painstakingly fashioned, ln arder to Impose a unity and 

dlre.ction upon the fonnulation of overall defence policy which had previously been so 

lacking. ln the face of the challenge Asquith turned awoy, as he did in'SO m~fiY rssues 

which threatened to raise the same note of controversy. Asquith, in short, failed to 

fulfHI the promise of Balfour's beginnings. 

Had Asquith accepted the challenge whlch was the legacy of Balfour's premier­

ship, had he shawn the necessary leadership, had he created the necessary centre for 

strategie planning and co-ordination, his hand would have in no way been forced in 

declding the crucial issue of England's attitude towards the Continental combinations as 

they emerged in July-August 1914. On the contrary, possessed of a clear and precise 

image of England's strategie requirements and capabilities, he would have been in a far 

mor.e -solid position to take the wisest decision in tenns of the vital interests of England 

and the Empire. But having once achieved thot decision of international policy, a 

decision based upon a thorough understanding of the limitations imposed by strategical 

necessity and ability, then the implementation of thot decision would have involved no 

more thon an automatic shift over to the fundamental strategie policies, complete with 

their intricate superstructure! secondary planning, which ought to have been arrived at 

without ambiguity during the years before 1914,. 

Like so many of his contemporaries Asquith only half understood the need for a 

supreme defence planning and co-ordination council. lt was not thot the Prime Minister 

33 - Fisher to Balfour, • A Brief Precis of the Principal Considerations Thot Must 
Influence Our Future Naval and Military Policy', 19 Oct. 1903. 
Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 
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failed to see anything of value in the C.I.O., rather he refused to recognise the 

immediacy of the prablem and preferred to defer indefinitely those necessary but 

unpleasont decisions which were so vital to the defence policy of the Empire during 

the yecrs before the Great Wor. Viscount Esher, the close confident of bath King 

and Cabinet during these yeors hos left this contemporary evaluation of the Prime 

Minister : 

Asquith's mind is a perfect instrument and he 1akes points after 
the monner of a trained lawyer. But he lacks sorne element of 
character, perhaps hardiness. 1 should say he was a soft man ; 
and his chin recedes when an attack is possible or imminent.34 

Esher's opinion of Balfour, by woy of contrast, has already been made cleor; but by 

way of confirmation the following extract from his 'Journols' for December, 1908, 

deserves note : 

His superiority to his contemporaries in grasp and courageous 
thinking is • • • marked. 35 

Viscount Haldane recalling his days in Asquith's Cabinet has noted : 

••• it wasorgan"izalionfor war and organization of industry 
which were the two subjects thot fascinoted me during the ten 
years of Liberal Cabinet life, and 1 did not succeed in educoting 
my colleogues, although 1 got the Army re-organized, the Novy 
influenced and more Universities founded. The situation grew 
more and more difficult as liberalism, growing older and more 
inert seemed to me to be losing touch • • • • Anyhow by degrees 
the conviction deepened with me thot Asquith was not sufftcientl)! 
moved by new idees to give the nation the leod it needed •••• 36 

Leadership, thot was the crucial issue. Asquith was co11tent· enough to allow both 

himselfand the C.I.O. to becomeimmer.sed in the detail which was forced upon the 

Committee by those who, Uke Haldane, recognized the organization's shortcomings, 

but were themselves in ,no position to Influence the more fundomentol aspects of defence 

34 - Journals, 27 Nov. 1907. Esher, Journalsand Letters, Vol.11, p. 263. 

35 - Journals, 28 Oec. 1908. Esher, Journals and Letters, Vol. Il~ p. 364. 

36 - 'Note on Letters contoined in my Boxes', autumn 1926, pp. 16- 17. 
Haldane MSS, MS 5923. 
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planning - to fill the vacuum of centralised leadership. Yet in spite of ali this 

peripher.al octivity, which has caused Hankey to wax enthusiastically of the work of 

the C.I.D. - especially after his appointment as Assistant Naval Secretary in 

1908 . - the very fact that over the span of years between Oecember 1905 and August 

1914 the Committee of lmperiai·Oefence convened formally on only forty-six occasions, 

as compared wi th the eighty-two full sessions summonded during Mr. Balfour's brief 

peri.od in office, is evidence enough that the organization had lost itself in the details 

of deferree planning within its myriad sub-committees. One might argue that this 

procedure became necessary owing not only to the lack of leadership exhibited by Asquith, 

but cliO os the result of the large expansion of the Committee which Asquith had swollen 

with retired soldiers and statesmen. This is hardly an excuse. Though this expansion 

of the Committee, which had tended to convertit into a grcceful pasture for 'Eider 

Statesmen and Soldiers' who hod been put out to grass, clearly showed how completely 

Asqui.th had failed to grasp the true importance and potentiel of the C.I.O. Hankey, 

always one to be attracted to the trivia while overlooking the wider issues, expressed 

his annoyance with Asquith over this development. 
37 

But, of course, it was merely a 

lesser symptom of a far more sinister ma lady - a malady which Lord Hankey chose to 

ignore. Balfour placed this matter in its correct perspective, with reference to Asquith's 

overall attitude towards the C.I.O., after the war: 

As a matter of fact the Liberais never understood it properly -
and 1 bel ieve Campbeii-Bannerman rea Il y thought of aboli shi ng 
it '. However, it survived ; 1 think Haldane saw the paint of 
.it better. But they went about asking this person and thot person 
to sit on it, ti Il there was a danger of sorne of these people thinking 
they had a right to be on it ; there was a danger of it becoming a 
centre for Eider Soldiers - who are even more dangerous thon 
Eider Statesmen. 38 

37 - Hankey, The Supreme Command, Vol. 1, pp. 47 - 48. 

38 - Ougdale, Arthur James Balfour, Vol. 1, p. 369. 
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Cleorly then, Balfour did not consider thot the legocy, bequeothed to his country 

in 1905, .hod been developed into thot organisation which he hod hoped would emerge 

with the passage of the yeors. Perhops the criticism which hos been heoped upon 

Asquith oppeors a trifle harsh. The Prime Minister had, ofter ali, to retain the unity 

of a Cabinet deeply divided on diplomatie and social issues, a Cabinet of individuels 

wholly unlike the pliable instrument which Balfour hod been able to tum to his own ends. 

But, nevertheless, the issue of leadership must not be overlooked or minimised ; Asquith, 

unlike Campbeii-Bannermon, locked the fibre to overtly enforce his will - especially 

in su ch motters os defence pol icy which held little attraction foT him. But the flow 

was by no means confined to the politicions and their politics, for while leadership was 

no doubt the fundomental issue nevertheless it must not be forgotten thot the Services 

were as unwilling to co-operote with one another as they were to submit to any central 

outhority. 1 t is, therefore, towords the War .Office and the Admiralty thot we must 

turn in order to find the second fatal flow which contributed towords the government•s 

failure to evolve any effective higher organisation for supreme planning and defence 

co-ordination. 
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CHAPTER TWO 

THE NEW ARMY 

For the attack only two things ore necessary : to know where 
the enemy is and to decide what to do. What the enemy 
intends to do is of no importance. 

Colonel Loiseau de Grondmaison ; 
1912. 

in preparation for my book on Foch • • • 1 had to 
investigate the question of how the Franco-British entente 
of 1904 developed into military staff arrangements thot, when 
the 1914 crisis came, hod committed Britain to support France 
and to a Continental strategy, far more deeply thon the British 
Government were aware - leading to the abandonment of her 
basic policy and strotegy in war. Thot study also brought me 
to see how unthinkingly the prevalling Continental strategie 
doctrine had been swallowed in Britain by the then newly 
created Genera 1 Staff, and came ta be accepted by the 
Government i t ad vi sed without any rea 1 iso ti on of the na tura 1 
consequences$ 

Captain B.H. liddell Hart; 
1965. 

DURING the brief span of years between the end of the South African War and the coming 

of the warin Europe, the British Army was transformed from a rather inefficient imperial 

constabulary into the nucleus of what was to become a vast host drowing upon every last 

resource of the nation. This transformation, this reversai from the inadequate to the 

ill-considered, was accomplished not upon the lines of a preconceived blueprint, but 

rather as the result of the inability, indeed the unwillingness, of the embryonic, stunted, 

defence establishment to channel what was undoubtedly needed reform along realistic and 

sensible lines. As is so often the case, the Army Reforms which followed upon the Boer 

Wor were initiated with no clear view as to their final purpose with the ensuing consequence 
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thot the machinery of reform soon shook itself free from any eo-ordinated, intelligent, 

overall direction. 

The nineteenth century British Army had managed to retain some vestige of the 

prestige of Wellington and Waterloo, thot is until it was faced with the denouement 

of the scanda lous Crimean campaign. lmpecunious, starved for brains, and shunned by 

successive governments the Army sank into a morass of inefficiency and aimlessness. 

With the Duke of Cambridge as Commander-in-Chief the officers' mess was seldom the 

scene of inspired debates on military topics - except perhaps when the conversation 

tumed upon such matters as regimental rectitude or became heated over the tactical im­

plicath:ms of the day's polo fixture '. True, the Army remained a respectable refuge 

for the sons of gentlemen, though there is evidence thot by the close of the century both 

the Army and the Church had been reduced to bickering over the available recruits '. 

Lord l5may, has rec;olled the dismay with which his parents received his decision to give 

up hi~ proposed diplomatie career in order to join the Army. lt was not thot the Army 

offered any special professional attraction of itself, for as has been pointed out the 

prestige of a rnilitary career was very much in question by the close of the nineteenth 

century. Rather !smay's decision was symptomatic of the restlessness of his generation, 

the generation of Winston Churchill. Lady Violet Bonham-·Carter, Asquith's daughter, 

has noted with regard to this thirsting for adventure at a time when the country was at 

its apogee of power and influence: 

Of the First World War it may be said thot never has such a 
gay and brilliant generation been so ardently prepared to meet 
an early death. The great and terrible opportunity which lay 
in woit for them was unforeseen, unguessed-at by the routh of 
1896 who scoured a placid world in search of danger. 

lt was indeed a placid world ; so lsmay, therefore, chose to join the lndian Cavalry 

for with them he could savour both the opulence and grandeur of the Raj together with 

the romance and adventure of the North-West Frontier. ln ali of thot 'placid world' 

1 - Bonham Carter, V., Winston Churchill As 1 Knew Him, {london, 1965), 
pp. 31 - 32. 
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England viewed the lndian frontier defence issue as virtually her sole military problem -

only through service in lndia did the 'Imperial Constabulary' offer the adventure and 

glamour customarily associated with an Army coreer. And so Hastings lsmay followed 

the 'great man' in search of danger and fame. But his father, while permissive, wos 

very for from pleosed feeling thot he had reared his son for a more iflustrious career 

thon thot offered by the British Army. lsmay has recalled his fother's views upon the 

military in general and cavalry officers in particular : 

My father was particularly upset at the idea of my joining the 
lndian Covalry, and never ti red of telling the story about the 
cavalry officer who was so stupid thot even his brother 
of fi cers no ti eed it . 2 

lsmay makes the further rather damning observation upon his own brother officers : 

Many of my contemporaries were destined to be ki lied or crippled 
in the First World War and, partly for thot reason, an unusually 
high proportion of them went to the top of the military ladder. 
Notable among them were Field-Marshal lord Gort, Marshal of 
the Royal Air Force, lord Newall, Generais Pla tt, Giffard, 
Riddeii-Webster.k Franklyn and Heath, and Air Chief Morshal 
Ludlow-Hewitt. ,j 

The Army provided those who were possessed of a suitably large private income 

with the necessary entrée into london's society ; it had the attributes and advantages 

of a London club. The British Army was not a professional military organization. 

The very concept of a professional offfcers' corps was repugnant to soldiers who preferred 

to see themselves cast simply as the gentry of England standing guard over the hearth of 

Empire. A laudable enough ambition ; but, unfortunately, one which failed to ta.lly 

with the hard focts of international politics and Imperial Defence. The course of the 

warin South Africa was proof enough even for the most rabid Gladstone liberais thot 

something, they knew not qui te what, had to be done about reforming the Army. 

2 - lsmay, Baron (Hastings l.}, The Memoirs of General The lord lsmay, 
(London, 1960), p. 4. 

3 - lsmoy, Memoi rs, p. 4. 
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Tentative moves in the direction of reform had been initiated during the lote l880's 

and 1890's. These attempts - particularly those of the Hartington Commission - had 

been aimed at something more thon logistical reorganisation in seeking to eliminate the 

bottleneck of power which the office and the person of the Commander-in-Chief had 

imposed upon the entire military establishment. These ea·l'fy moves in favour of the 

creation of a general staff system had, undoubtedly, been bitterly opposed by Cambridge, 

and, interestingly enough, by the then Secretary of State for War, Campbeii-Bannerman, 

who stated thot he felt such a thinking organ dedicated to the planning of the wars of the 

future, designed to rise to any contingency, posed a grave threat to the liberties of his 

co un trymen and was of i tsel f pre judi cio 1 to the peace of a Il Europe. 
4 

Su ch opposition 

must not be brushed oside simply as the doctrinaire mouthings of a typical disciple of 

Bright and Cobden who had allowed his beliefs to get the better of his sounder judgement ; 

for Campbeii-Bannerman's criticism while wrong in terms of the form, thot is the future 

Imperial General Staff, was correct in terms of the substance, for the military rebirth 

which was, at thot moment, upon the threshold of conception was in short order to run 

riot and force England headlong into an ill-considered war involving the resources of 

the country in a military campaign upon the Continent. 

lt was traditional virtue for the government of the day to ensure the continued 

impecuniosity of the military establishment: a virtue which became a temporary vice 

only once in every decade, and thot upon the occasion of the perennial invasion scores. 

The Liberal tradition of British politics had been very largely built upon the necessity of 

the virtue of maintoining the military arm at a minimal strength lest its purpose be perverted 

by 'men of evil disposition'. lt is at once botha measure of how successful this policy 

had been, and how useless the Army in fac:t was, thot the government was willing to 

relinquish its executive control over the Army very largely into the hands of a military 

personnage, indeed a regal appointee of the blood-royal. Whereas thot seme government 

c:onsidered the naval service so vital to England 1s security thot the office of the Lord High 

4 - Ensor, R.C.K., England 1870-1914, (Oxford, 1936), p. 291. 
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Admirai had long ago been placed in commission, its functions being executed by a 

Board composed of political and professional advisers responsible to Parliament. Clearly 

Victoria 1s governments did not feel thot the advantage to be gained from imposing such 

a system upon the British Army was at ali commensurate with the certain wroth of the 

old Queen. The corollary to which was thot the government did not consider the 

military establishment a significant threat to the integrity of the Constitution. But then 

by the same token neither did the British Army offer any real deterrent to the great pre­

datory land powers of the Continent who were increasingly becoming a major threat to 

the Empire. 

Prior to 1899 in the midst of thot period of tranquility which is traditionally referred 

to as the Pax Britannica the British Army had managed to function reasonably successfully 

as a glor!fied fire-brigade designed to maintain law and order within the bounds of the 

Empire. lts appalling organization was suited weil enough to quelling the dervishes of 

the Sudan, or the wild and savage tribesmen of Afghanistan ; but when faced with a 

well-equipped resourceful enemy, such as the Dutchmen of the Boer Republics, this 

post-Caldwell British Army was st .. ipped of ali pretence to military prowess or technical 

capability. The South African war revealed thot only the Royal Novy stood between 

the Empire and the enemies of Great Britain, and, further, thot the country was incapable 

of answering any serious military fhreat to the !ife of the Empire. 

And soit was thot the concern of the lote 1880's and 1890's blossomed into a chorus 

of demand for immediate and far-reaching reform following upon the debacle in South 

Africa. But it must be understood thot it was a demand simply for a refonned military 

establishment capable of meeting and overcoming any threat to the Empire, from any 

quarter, and especially from the great imperialist powers of Europe. There was no 

question of creating a new concept in military organization, there was no intention of 

establishing a military capability of such magnitude asto be able to deal effectively with 

the great land powers of the Continent upon an equal footing within Europe. For it was 

readily sensed, if not clearly understoad thot such a military policy was incompatible with 

England's political,.strategic and-economie intents1and would be so foolhardy thot it might 

serve ultimately only to ensure the doom of the Nation and seal the fate of the 
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E • 5 mptre. 

However, iust as the events of the Boer War had summoned forth a growing chorus 

of popular demand for military reform, so too they had revealed thot tides of change 

were beginning to make themselves felt within the Army. The great pivotai campoign 

in South Africa had given the nation its first truly military hero, lord Kitchener not 

withstanding, since Wellington in the persan of Field-Marshal lord Roberts. Curiously 

enough in terms of the annois of military affairs, and yet understandable with regard to 

the military reorientation which was to follow upon the close of the war, Roberts became 

the fount of the revival within the Army. He was one of those rare mrlitary figures who, 

having risen to the pinnacle of their profession, are yet capable of objective ctiricism of 

themselves and of the system which had shaped their careers. Lord lsmay, a close 

observer of soldiers of variou~ pedigrees at the pinnacle, has noted in this respect : 

The higher a soldier rises in his profession the more sheltered 
his life becomes. He is surrounded by a large and loyal staff, 
whose aim it is to do their utmost to spore their chief from un­
necessary troublesor unpleasantness. Without being in any 
way •yes men•, their sense of discipline does not permit them 
to oppose his wishes too forcibly, or fo store their own case 
too bol dl y. Thus, the commander becomes more and more 
accustomed to having his own way and more and more prone 
to resent criticism. 6 

Roberts, was, therefore something of a remarkable exception from his brother officers in 

his more basic attitudes, qui te epart from his detailed advanced thinking. 

Roberts had succeeded Viscount Wolseley as Commander-in-Chief in 1901 and 

following upon his succ:esses in South Africa in thot year he brought with him to the top 

a stable of younger officers who collectively were to shape the new British Army in its 

5 - See : Parliamentary Debates (Authorised Edition), Vol. 93, 4th Ser., 
13 May 1901. Col. 1572. 
Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), The Committee of Imperial Defence, 
(London, 1912), p. 4. 

6 - lsmay, Memoirs, p. 209. 
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every aspec:::t during the years before 1914. Douglas Haig, Henry Wilson, Gerald Ellison, 

James Grierson, Henry Rawllnson, Charles Callwell, Frederic:::k Mauric:::e, lan Hamilton, 

Horac:::e Smith-Dorien, William Nic:::holson, John Frenc:::h and William Robertson were to 

be swept into the War Offic:::e's key appointments in the course of the few yeors following 

upon the war in South Africo. These were the men of whom Holdane noted shortly ofter 

ossuming offic:::e : 

The men one comes ocross, the new school of young officers, 
entitled to the appellation of men of sc:::ience just as much os 
engineers and chemists, were tome a revelation ; and the 
who le question of the orgonizotion of the Army i s fraught wl th 
on interest whfc:::h, 1 think, is not behind thot of the study of 
any other scientifi c problem. A new school of offi cers has 
arisen since the South Afric:::an War, a thinking school of 
offlcers who desire to see the full efficlency which comes from 
new organisation and no surplus energy running to woste .7 

Major-General Haig, os a case in point, had flrst been brought to Haldane's a.ttention 

by Balfour whose recommandation was strongly supported by the King. Edward commended 

Haig to Haldane as on outstandlng exemple of the new professional breed of saldier, and 

as the 

. . . officer whose experience of staff work in the field and 
whose higher abilities should be utlllsed in this particular 
branch ther?Jor Office], whose initiative and organizing 
power are at this moment much wanted. 8 

As the result largely of Esher's energies Haig was recolled from Kitchener's staff in lndia 

to toke up the W .O. appointment of Director of Military Training. 9 ln this capocity 

he became Haldane's chief alde durlng the dtfficult months of 1907 and 1908 when the 

War Office was fighting desperately to fJnd approval, not only ln the country but within 

7 - Terraine, J., Douglas Haig: The Educated Soldier, (London, 1963), p. 44. 

8 - Charteris, J., Field-Marshal Earl Haig, (London, 1929), p. 34. 

9 - Esher to Kitchener, 21 Dec. 1905. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), 
Joumalsand Letters, ed. M.V. Brett(London, 1934), Vol. li, p. 132. 
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the Cabinet, for the sweeplng reforms accomplished in the foce of centuries of tradition 

by the establishment of the Territorial Force. 10 Haig has been vtllfted on every quarter 

for his conduct both as Commander of the First Army Corps and later as Commander-in­

Chief of the British Expeditionary Force in France. But it is important to underline not 

only Haig's contributions to the New British Army, but also thot the Westemers of a 

decade later were the bright ltghts of expectotion who dominated this era of renewal 

and Initiation. As wrH shortly be seen much exaggeration and bombast has accompanied 

the praise heaped upon the establrshment and operation of the General Staff. ln truth 

the Staff was more a symbol of the new age thon a practical functJonfng instrument. 

Nevertheless ft must not be forgotten thot it was Douglas Haig who was responsible for 

the inceptfion and evolution of the extension of the British Staff system to the Empire 

as a whole. Haldane htmself was never altogether satisfied with the administration of 

the Arm.y, expressing on severa! occasions his admiration of the German system whereby 

the administrotive and staff functions were wholly divorced. ln the British system the 

Chief of the Imperial Generol Staff was himself ipso facto the First Mi li tory Member of 

the Anny Council, the responsibilities of wh! ch extended over the entire admlnistrotive 

fabric of the Arrny, as distinct from its operational direction .
11 

These new men were to impart an entlrely new professional flaveur to the British 

Army, a flaveur which in due course was to transform the 'Imperial Constabulary• into a 

fully-fledged Continental-style mflitary establishment based upon the principles of moss 

and compulsion. But, as ts so often the case, while Lord Roberts had given these men 

thefr initial beginnings they themselves soon commenced to press forward ideas of their 

own, and with the ri se of this 1 thinking army• Roberts was soon pushed oside eventually 

to fall victlm of the axe of the 'Dauntless Three' on the Esher Commrttee. Upon the 

10 - Charteris, Haig, p. 38. 

11 - See : Appendix 1, 'The Administrotive and Operational Organisation of The 
War Office and The Admtralty•. 

29 



military sidellnes, but nevertheless at the forefront of the reform movement, stood 

such outstanding 'string-pullers' as Lt.-Col. Charles à Court Replngton, 

Professer Spenser Wilkinson, Viscount Esher and, of course, Mr .. Haldane. 

These then were the men who domlnated the reorientation of England's miiJtary 

estabHshment during the years prlor to 1914. Their motives were very largely mixed, 

as various as their differing thoughts upon the eventuel role of the New Army in world 

affairs . Without doubt some of the soldieB, notably Henry Wffson and Wully Robertson, 

regarded the mllltary revival, in part at least, as a vehicle for the pursuit of persona! 

power and influence. Others,_such as Haldane and Esher, recognised thot the true 

'military' needs of the Empire and of England rested upon the maintenance of British 

sea power and they, therefore, acted accordingly. For the others they stood somewhere 

between these polaritles,tom by the confltct between their professional punctilio and a 

brooder view of England's vital interests. But it is important not to attempt too closely 

to ptdgeonhole these men, for many of them suffered from the common fault of thefr ère, 

as perhaps of ali eros, in thot few of them bothered to logically think through the con­

sequences of thetr actions. Douglas Haig ls perhaps the best exemple of this type. 

Strll other5 became bogged down in the trappings of their newly won power and position, 

with the result that they really feil bock Tnto that morass within which the bulk of thelr 

fellow officers had been too long content to move; Sir John French's decline is perhaps 

a good Incident of this particular process of erosion. But, as will be seen, throughout 

every level of the milltary establrshment there reigned a miasma of confusion and mis­

conception arising from the paucity of executive governmental supervision and control. 

From the outset this feebleness gave rise to a series of seemingly minor milltary coups 

which were eventualty to drive England to participation ln a vast continental holocaust. 

Ail of these men had been deeply affected by thelr consciousness of England's 

relative mi litary incapacity compared to the readtly obvious capabtltty of thearrmles of 

Continer1tal Europe. The profound influence of French and German milltary organization 

and strategie thinking was patent upon ali of them. As will be seen this Influence ranged 

from Haldane's moderate well-balanced acceptance of the better facets of the Prussia• 

military system, to the fanatical and suicidai embrace, of French military dogma by 
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Henry Wilson. lt is of sorne note thot whereas Haldane approached the problem of 

refonn from a largely mllitary view-point, the soldiers, notably Wilson, were far 

more deeply motivated by the potentiel political advantages which they envisoged. 

No longer were the leading mi litary figures speaklng in tenns of romantic 

skinnishes upon the-outpostsof Empire, but rother now they were thinkfng of a military 

commitment of forces within Europe. The precise nature of the purpose to which this 

New Anny was to be put on the Continent remains one of the most clouded and yet 

most important issues of pre-war mllitary strategie planning. Regardless of what 

Haldane and Esher had in mind it seems clear thot the soldiers had no intention of 

pennitting the British Expeditionary Force to be employed merely as a Naval appendage. 

1 t is evident thot from the outset Henry Wilson had been thinking in tenns of a full-seo le 

military commitment dire.ctly to the heart of any Continental conflict. Wilson's major 

objection to the Haldane Refonns lay in the lack of provision for any rapid expansion of 

the Anny upon the outbreak of warin Europe. 
12 

lt is instructive to tie this fact into 

Wilson's supportfor Lord Roberts' campaign for compulsion in the interests of Home 

Defence. But Henry Wilson held no exclusive patent upon revolutionary new ideas ; 

in the autumn of 1906 Haig is found writing to El lison ~ 

Our object in my opinion should be to start a system of finance 
suited to the 'supposedsituation', Le. a greatwar requiring 
the who le resources of the nation to bring H to a successful end. 
Even if the proposed system costs more in peace, it should be 
inaugrated provided thot it is more practical in war ••.• The 
Gennans seem to be going ahead with the utmost self-assurance 
and energy, so thot the crisis is sure of coming before many yeors 
are over.13 

Repington, in spite of his odvocacy of the retention of the voluntary principle for the 

first line anny,was baldly sounding a radically new note in osserting : 

12 - Wilson, H.H., Field-Marshall Sir Henry Wilson Bart.: His Lifeand Diaries, 
ed. Charles E. Callwell (London, 1927), Vol. 1, p. 76. 

13 - Terraine, Haig, pp. 40 - 41. 
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..• the tu rn of compul$lon wi Il come . • • • The hands of 
the clock move·steodi lyon, 'but the hour of thot change has 
not yet struck. T 4 

Haig himself is stated to have viewed the B. -E • F. from the very earltest as an 'advance 

guard' under where protection a moss army could be organized. 
15 

Discounting the 

natural bias of hindsight the following extract from Robertson's somewhat acerbic 

reminiscences reveols yet further and even more contraversial evidence of the revolution 

in military thought : 

Grierson was as convinced as myself thot the only pollcy 
consistent with the interests of the Empire was an active 
alliance with France and Belgium •••. 16 

There were also strivings within these seme military circles against the strangle­

hold exercised by 'ignorant' civilians over military affairs, a strangle-hold which had, 

admittedly, hitherto seldom been exercised in anything other thon a negatively financial 

manner. Sorne, such as Ellison, felt me rely thot in tl me of war ali decisions of poli cy 

ought to be le ft in mill tory hands. 
17 

Others, and he re Wilson must once aga in be 

pilloried, asserted thot the civil authority hod no business meddling in any aspect of 

the formulation or exercise of milltary power. At the close of 1901 Wilson had noted 

in his rather frank, and therefore somewhat indiscreet, diary : 

The whole ideo of goveming the ormy by a civilian, whose 
whole troining has been political expediency, and who knows 
less about th~ army thon 1 do about the novy, is vicious in 
theory and hopeless in practice.18 

And if Wflson's choice remarks upon Haldane's competency passed many years later are 

any lndlcation it would seem thot the reforms initiated by the Esher Committee had done 

14 - Cited: Luvass, J., The Education of an Anny: Brltlsh Military Thought, 
1815- 1940, (Chicago, 1964), p. 311. 

15 - Charte ris, Haig, p. 42. 

16 - Robertson, W.R., From Private to Field-Marshal, (London, 1921), p. 139. 

17 - Elllson, G., The Perils of Amateur Strategy, (London, 1926), p. xxvi. 

18- Diery, 31 Dec. 1901. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 47. 
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lrttle to mellow his views. lndeed, the entire spectrum of the 'new men' from Haig 

through El lison to Robertson and Wllson was marked by a very conscious and oft-expressed 

contempt for politics and polttlcians. Perhaps this was naruml enough in itself ~ but 

one has only to glanee at contemporary Gennany and more especially France to perceive 

an identieal attitude on the part of the professtonals towards the politiciens. ln short 

Wllson's attitude was merely the reflectton of a fashionable trend of thought within the 

'new anny'. After ali If military powers upon the Continent dernanded such an attitude 

the men of England's 'new anny' must follow suit as they had already done in so many 

other areas. 

The substance of the refonns whfch were actualfy carried through ofter the close 

of the warin South Africa do not fall withln the acope of the present study. The War 

Office, thot traditional graveyard of ministerlal reputations, proved to be no Jess 

dfsastrous for the careers of St. John Brodri ck and Arnold-Forster. 8oth of these men 

fatled to satisfy the demands for refonn, which emanated from every quarter, very largely 

because they lacked the humi1ity to admit thot others toa possessed ideas worthy of 

attention. Amold-Forster's conduct at the War Office was such thot King Edward was 

led to the observation thot the joumaltst ~urned Secretory of State for War was 'not qui te 

a gentlernan•.
19 

However, Arnold-Forster's arrogance must be granted indulgence in 

recalllng the dfsgraceful, if effective, behavlour of the War Office Reconstruction 

Committee chaired by Viscount Esher. As the work of the Commtttee progressed 

Arnold-Forster felt himself to be continually under observation, and realtsing thot neither 

the King nor the Prime Mfnister trusted him to effect the necessary refonns he became 

thoroughly obstructive. Early in January 1905 Arnold-Forster became positive! y insultfng 

in his tone towards Balfour questioning the efficacy of the Commlttee of Imperial Defence, 

and implfed in a Jetter to the Prime Minister thot he, Balfour, was dithering over his own 

resolution conceming the proposed use for which the Army was to be prepared. On 2lst 

January 1905 the Prime Minister wrote to Arnold-Forster observing somewhat cooly : 

19 - Ctted g Young, K., Arthur James Balfour, (London, 1963), p. 230. 
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1 am not sure thot 1 qulte understand the fi rst paragraph ln your 
letter of the 13th, in which you say thot, 11in desphe of hard 
work on the Committee of Defence, both you and your colleagues 
on thot body are still quite in the dark asto any exact knowledge 
of what the Army is for, or what ought to be its true dimensions". 
For my own part 1 have no doubt whatever as to the purposes for 
which we require an Army ; and though doubt may legitimately 
existas to what its 11 true dlmensions11 ought to be, this is due to 
the changes of opinion on the part of the lndian Govemment as to 
the number and character of the reinforcements they would require, 
and the dates at which they would be required, after war broke out 
with Russia .20 

This was far more thon a technical misunderstanding for Arnold-Forster was himself 

consumed with the 'lndian Frontier Bogey', as he had noted in a letter of l3th January 

1905 to the Prime Minister : 

1 • . . believe thot great dangers threaten us from lndia, and 
possibly in Africa, and thot to provide against these dangers we 
must have a weil trained Army capable of large expansion in time 
of war .21 

If Balfour's message was perhaps lost on Arnold-Forster, such wos clearly not the case 

witk'Viscount Esher who noted in a memorandum for Sandars dated 1 May 1905 : 

The Prime Minister has laid dawn in the plainest language the 
maxTmum use to which our Army ls llkely to be put and the 

22 maximum numbers which con be safely maintained ln peace. 

Clearly the Secretary of State for War was indeed 'not qulte a gentleman'. Nevertheless 

as Henry Wllson noted in his diary early in February 1904: 

20 - Balfour to Arnold-Forster, 21 Jan. 1905 ; 'Army Reorganisation (Sub-Committee) : 
Correspondance between the Prime Minister and the Secretary of State for 
War'. CabinetPapers, Cab. 37/74, No.lO. 

21 - Arnold-Forster to Balfour, 13 Jan. 1905 ; 'Army Reorganisation (Sub-Committee) : 
Correspondance between the Prime Minister and the Secretary of State for 
War'. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/74, No. 10. 

22 - Esher to Sandars, 'Memorandum on Army Reorganisation', 1 MI:Jy 1905. 
Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49718. 
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This morning 1 was summoned before the Esher-Fisher-Ciarke 
Committee, and Esher asked me if 1 would undertake the new 
office which dealt with the Staff Col lege, staff officers, their 
training and appolntment, R.M.A., and R.M.C. and promotion 
exams .•. Gerald El lison tells me the C~mittee will go 
on their galloping career, kicking out and appoJnting, destroying 
and constructing at a pace and wfth a lack of knowledge which 
quite takes one's breath away. 23 

And the day before he had noted : 

Gerold El lison lunched wtth me and 1 impressed on him with ali 
my power thot this bull-headed way of proceedlng will absolutely 
ruin the scheme, which in itself hod sorne excellent points.24 

There is here a Iso somethfng of the professfonal's resentment of civllian interference. 

Wilson obviously realised thot without the prestige such as thot possessed by the Esher 

Commlttee nothing could prevail against the 'old school', but on the other hand he was 

unable to suppress his own prejudices. 

Nevertheless by and large the effects of the Esher Committee were wannly applauded 

by the younger men, and its Chalnnan was electedan honorary member of the Junior 

Officers Naval and Military Club to his evident dellght. He was immensely pleased to 

receive the support of French. 
25 

ln a letter of 30th January 1904 he noted thot alone 

of ali the senior officers only Roberts 'is full of congratulation ~ 26 
And in lote March 

of thot year Haig enthusiastically wrote : 

1 never believed lt possible to get such a thorough reorganisation 
wlthout undergoing first of ali sorne mllitary disoster •. At the 
time rt seemed impossible to get the country and the poli ti cians 
to interest themselves in the condition of the Anny. Now, 
thanks to your energy, things seem on the right road for efficiency. 27 

23- Diary, 12 Feb. 1904. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries, Vol. 1, pp. 55-56. 

24- Dlary, 11 Feb. 1904. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries, Vol.l, p. 55. 

25 - Esher toM. V. Brett, 30 Jan. 1904. Esher, Joumals and Letters, 
Vol. Il, p. 39. 

26 - Joumals, 3 Feb. 1904. Esher, Joumalsand Letters, Vol. II, p. 42. 

27 - Haig to Esher, 23 Mar. 1904. Esher, Joumals and Letters1 

Vol. Il, pp. 50-51. 
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Regardless, Arnold-Forster's performance was lamentable ; and although 

his idees on the General Staff were in due course to obtain fruitlon under the 

tutelage of Haldane and Haig, it had become clear by early 1905 thot he was not 

the man to carry through the reform of the Army. But the Govemment was already 

in its death throes and Balfour had no intention of risking its tenuous lrfe in forcing 

the resignation of the Secretary of State for War. Writlng to Kitchener in December 

1905 Vlscount Esher made no effort to disguise his dellght at the demise of Arnold­

Forster if not of the Balfour Govemment : 

The change of government has produced one great good at leest. 
1 t has rid us of Arnold-Forster. 1 hope thot now, the scheme for 
the Army, which 1 have had much at heart, will have a fair trial. 
And above al! 1 hope thot we shall see Douglas Haig here, and 
thot you will put no difficulty in his way. lt will be of no dis­
service to you, to get hlm at home here, and at the W. O., for 
a short spell. 28 

Kitchener was of the old s<::hool. 

Richard Haldane, Arnold-Forster's successor, was a man of a very different cast. 

A philosopher turned jurist Haldane had chosen togo to the War Office, rejecting the 

comfortable plum of an offer of the Home Office, in the bellef thot there he could 

make a most significant and far-reachi.ng contribution. His only stipulation was thot he 

receive also a seat within the Cabinet, a privilege which Arnold-Fisher had not enjoyed. 

Unlike his predecessor, Haldane had not decided upon the War Office because of any 

deep-seated conviction thot he held the magic charm which would ln a triee cure the 

ills of the military establishment. Sorne measure of his humility together with an inkling 

of Arnold-Forster's collosal failure may be gleaned from the following letter of 19th 

December 1905 which the new Secretary of State for War penned to the Liberal Party's 

'grand old mari', Lord Rosebery : 

My own work 1 fi nd very interesting. But the business of 
reforming the War Office- though it is capable of accom­
plishment - is one which will need a succession of ministers. 
My first task has been to get the Generais on to good terms 
wi th each other. As they are no longer on deadly terms wlth 

28- EshertoKitchener, 21 Dec. 1905. Esher, Journalsandletters, Vol. li, p.l32. 
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the S. of S. this has not been dtfftcult. The second has been 
to begin the work of a complete survey of the Army as a whole­
wlth a view of gettfng in the end a deflnlte objective. This ts 
already begun. The post work of the Defence Comml ttee hoa 
glven a startlng ground. 1 have eltminated from the Council 
one man who was better for the field thon the office and brought 
in Sir William Nicholson -an acute big brain -but not a very 
easy man. StiJl 1 need htm badly. 29 . . 

lt is evident thot this was a period of reliance upon 'big brains' in the army. But to 

think was not enough : better not to think at ali thon to think badly. This letter clearly 

reveals thot Haldane had entered upon his task wfth a wholly open mind; clearly he dtd 

not regard the pre-occupation of the Balfour Govemment with the lndlan Problem as 

altogether desirable. Further it would indicate some doubt conceming a recent assertion 

thot Haldane entered office a confirmed disciple of the evfls of the North West Frontier, 

only to be converted overnight to an even deeper belief in the efficacy of the Continental 
30 

Stmtegy. 

Haldane inaugrated his administration of the War Office with a frank confession to 

his top military adviser:s of his almost total Jack of knowledge conceming their profession. 
31 

There was much truth in his assertion especially when viewed in terms of his extensive 

angllng for the Lord Choncellor:ship whfch he dearly coveted. Haldane had, no doubt, 

received Asqulth's letter from The Athenœum of7th December 1905 with a profound sense 

of disappointment : 

1 am empowered this moming to offer the Foreign Office ta 
E. Grey and an offer of the War Office will soon be on its 
way to you. The Woolsack being ln. spite of ali my 
arguments and efforts glven elsewhere, 1 judged from our 
talk the other day that this would be the place which you 
would ltke best, e .g. better thon the Home Office. 32 

29 - Hàldane to Rosebery, 19 Dec. 1905. Haldane MSS, MS 5906. 

30 - See: Gufnn, P.S., British Strategyand Politics 1914 to 1918, (Oxford, 1965), 
p. 13. 

31 - Holdane of Cloan, Viscount (Richard B.), An Autobiography, {London, 1929), 
p. 183. 

32 - Asquith to Haldone, 7 Dec. 1905. Haldone MSS, MS 5906. 
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Many years after ali these events had passed into distant memory General Sir 

James Edmonds stated thot in his persona! experience dating bock to the 1880's he 

had never known any ether Secretary of State for War willing to make a similar 

admission. 
33 

Gerald El lison, mindful of the behaviour of Arnold-Forster and of the 

Esher Committee's conduct,· ogreed to serve as Haldane's Principal Private Secretary 

on condition thot the Secretary of State agreed to abandon any pre-conceptions he 

might have entertained. 
34 

Viscount Esher, in the course of a lengthy missive to 

Kitchener, then Commander-in-Chief in lndia, written at the close of December 1905, 

noted with respect to Haldane: 

The new Secretary of State cannet foi 1 to do weil . Above 
ali he has determined to walk slowly, and has no preconceived 
ideas. He is adroit, shrewed and exceedingly clever.35 

But if Haldane's ignorance was genuine, he determined to rectify the defi ciency without 

delay. He devoted himself to the task of learning as muchas he cou Id from his pro­

fessional advisers, and set about familiarising himself with the fundamentals of French 

and German military organization and thought through the medium of the writings of 

du Picq and Clausewitz. 
36 

Haldane's assertion thot it would take many years to effectively reorientate the 
37 

Army must not be overlooked. A generation is needed to crea te a school of mllitary 

thought. Y et for ali their veneer of professionalism these men were in essence merely 

playing at soldiering - at best a very dangerous game. Unlike the French, the British 

did not labour under the yoke of a monolithic military doctrine; but equally they lacked 

33 - Cited: Johnson, F.A., Defence By Committee: The British Committee of 
Imperial Defence, 1885- 1959, (London, 1960), p. 82. 

34 - Terrai ne, Haig, p. 39. 

35- EshertoKitchener, 21 Dec. 1905. Esher, Journalsandletters, Vol. li, p. 132. 

36 - Haldane of Cloan, An Autobiography, p. 185. 

37 - See a bove, page 37, Footnote No. 29. 
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the flexibi 1 ity of the Gennon Anny which wos the dividend of balonced experience. 

The Bendlerstrosse, in spite of the olmost universel bel,ief in a war of movement, con­

centroted upon the development of machine guns and heovy arti !lery. The French 

considered such deviees too cumbersome ; while the British, aport from Holdane and 

a few lesser lights, do not seem to have even considered the problem. The last 

productive technological development prior to 1914 must be credited to Mr. Bolfour's 

foresight. Balfour was responslble for the adoption, against the will of his party to 

say nothing of the 'little Englonder• opposition, of the quick-firing 18-pounder 

fieldgun which wos to prove to be the B.E.F.'s most useful weapon during the first few 

months of the wor. lndeed, Bol four hod odopted this highly successful weapon in the 

foce of the weight of professionol opinion which had fovoured a smoller1 Jess powerful, 

weapon of decided inferiority. Lofer Mr. Balfour wrote of this episode : 

The re-onning of the Field Artillery 1 considered vital for the 
safety of the Empire and worth risking a débacle in the Unionist 
Party and 1 detennined not togo out of office until we were so 
far committed to the expenditure thot no Liberal Government 
could have withdrawn from the position. 38 

Nevertheless by 1914 the weapon had become obsolete and was decidedly inferior to its 

French equivalent to be found in the 75 mm gun for field operation. Haldane, in the 

course of his account of pre-war preparations excuses the War Office's failures in the 

more obvious fields of technical development on the grounds thot the vast: preponderance 

of professional opinion anticipated a short sharp mobile war in which cumbersome 

weaponry· would be more in the nature of a liability thon on asset. 
39 

This stotement 

con serve only to underline the depth of England's involvement in France•s militory 

affoirs; for as has already been noted British military thought on the advisability of 

the offensive to the negation of ali other strategie or tactical principles hod been 

somewhat revised after the bitter experiences paid for so dearly in South Africa. Besides 

British officers, even Haldane himself, attended Gennan manoeuvres quite regularly ; 

38 - Cited : Young, Arthur James Balfour, p. 232. 

39 - Haldane of Cloan, Viscount (Richard B.), Before The War, (London, 1920), 
pp. 169- 170. 
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even if they failed so consistently to observe the development of German heavy 

artillery they could always rely upon the Intelligence Department of the Directorate 

of Militory Operations as a reliable source from which to glean the necessary in­

formation upon such 'foreign /developments'. But i t would seem thot the ln tell igence 

Department never volunteered any data upon these matters ; al though 1 as Robertson 

has pointed out, the information was obtainable readily enough. He relates how 1 in 

1907, after being retired from the Foreign Section of the Operations Directorcte on 

half pay 1 he employed his idle ti me, before being posted to Aldershot ~ in translating 

'sorne German military publications'. He relates how these pamphlets amply revealed 

Germany's new emphasis upon the development of heavy arti llery. 
40 

Robertson further 

states thot similar information was widely available, and thot indeed i t was known to 

many highly placed officers thot Germany was 'especially interested in machine guns'. 

lndeed the Germons created special machine gun bottelions many years before the 

advent of the deadlock on the Western Front. Obviously then there was no dearth of 

information as regards the enemy's evaluation of items such as the machine gun ; for 

exemple, of its value vis-'a-vis the rifle, or of the relative merits of light as ogainst 

heavy artillery. lndeed post war studies have revealed thot same fifty percent of 

the deaths and injuries suffered in the trenches on the Western Front were caused directly 

by the effectiveness of incessant heavy artillery bombardment.
41 

Ali of this must not be confused wit~ the arguments concerning the wretched 

volume of industriel production which was suited to little more thon a three month war, 

concerning which mi li tory doctrine almost universally assumed thot ali would depend upon 

Clausewitz's classical swift, and hopefully glorious, battle. The duration of the 

conflict, the belief in a short war 1 may not be presented as an adequate excuse for the 

British Army's foi lure to develop a new technical capability. There was no deep-rooted 

dogma to deter them. They had the exemple of Germany, however poor 1 before them. 

40 -

41 -

Robertson, From Private to Field-Marshal, p. 152. 

Falls, C., The First World Wor, (London, 1960), p. xviii. 
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But they had permitted the French to ensnare them. ln truth they remalned an army 

of amateurs. 

ln short throughout these years prfor to 1914 the soldiers were too busy entrenehtng 

their newly won position to be able to devote much attention to matters of mill tory 

technique. Oui te a part from the oft mooted lack of what may be lobe Il ed as 

conventional weaponry-heavy arttllery, machine guns and suitable quantities of field 

artillery - the Army was apparently utterly devoid of ali original thought on such 

matters as the development of altogether new concepts in mat~riel. There was no 

military equivalent of the 'Dreadnought'. No ballastlc innovation such as thot 

pioneered by the Admiralty for its new capital ships and submarines. No firm adoption 

of the new methods of communication - especially wireless. 

lt is conceivable thot this vacuum arase not so much from any innate conservotism 

but rather from technical incapocity ; but the interesting aspect of the whole problem 

lies in the fact thot opart from Holdane's personal interest in dirigibles the War Office 

devoted no constructive thought to materiel whatsoever, let clone to actuel research or 

experimental development. 

The only British contribution to the military technology of 1914 was the khaki 

battle-dress which was another painful legacy of South Africa. The salutory effect 

of the Boer War was reflected in the Army's refusai to openly embrace the French concepts 

of strategie and tactical thought which begon and ended with a fundamental belief in 

the efficacy of the offensive staying-power of the 'elan', a school of thought which one 

eminent observer has described as 'pure witchcraft . . . rivolled only by the dervishes 

of the Sudan'. 
42 

Even Henry Wilson, who as Director of Military Operations was to be 

thoroughly token-in by the French General Staff, was driven in September 1912 while 

42 - Fuller, J.F.C., The Decisive Botties of the Western World and Their 
Influence Upon History, (London, 1956), Vol. Ill, 'From the 
Ame ri can Ci vi 1 War to the End of the Second World War', p. 186. 
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attending manoeuvres in France to note in exasperation • 

The cavalry was ver~ fll-handled as they would not dismount. 
Curious these Frene men be so obstinate about the 'arme 
blanche • • • • • Ca ra lvy men and horses excellent, but is 
ali 'arme blanche' - So useless.43 

But then the British Army was a patchwork of contradictions and inconsistencies. While 

Wilson was deprecating the folly of French tactics his colleagues such as Repington and 

Haig were eulogising the excellent offensive spirit of the revised Cavalry Manuel of 

1907.
44 

Îhough to be fair it must be noted thot of ali the world's cavalry forces, 

including thot of the United States, the British had, by 1914, become the most defensive 

minded. 
45 

But this was a semantic comparison and to argue the degree of 'defensiveness• 

would have little more than semantic value. To conclude this litany of inconsistency 

it would be weil to note that Robertson has recalled how the Staff College, where he 

succeeded Wilson as Commandant in 1910, had dwelt upon the importance of the offensive 

to the exclusion of ali defensive tactical thought. 
46 

lt wou Id seem, then, thot the 

defensive tessons learnt in the South African school had departed into oblivion just as 

had their main proponent, Lord Roberts. lt is a measure of Wilson's politicing thot 

not only was he willing to turn a blind eye to the implications of the war plans of the 

French General Staff, but a Iso to the offensive school orientation within the War College, 

where he, a disciple of Roberts', hod strong doubts conceming the philosophy of 'elan'. 

Once aga in one is faced by the extraordinary inconsistency of military thinking o 

43 - Diary, September 1912. Wilson, Life and Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 116. 

44 - See below, page 48. 

45 - Taylor, W .L., 'The Debate Over Changing Cavalry Tactics and Weapons, 
1900 - 1914', Military Affairs, Vol. XXVIII, Winter 1964 - 1965, 
p. 180. 

46 - Robertson, From Private to Field-Marshal, pp. 176- 178. 
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The War Office had no policy on the issue of the doctrine of the offensive. 

Broadly speaking the cavalry generais in defending their own self-interest wholeheartedly 

embraced its tenets. Wilson had strong reservations as did many of those who had 

first-hand experience of the anny manoeuvres of the Great Powers on the Continent. 

Once again the new school, including Wilson, are found slavishly aping the Continental 

paragons. The cavalry charge was always the grand finale which climaxed the 

Kaiser's anny manoeuvres. No doubt to witness this spectacle was a majestically 

thrilling experience. But this was merely playing at war; an expression of strident 

mllitarism. An expression explaining not only its appeal but also the reluctance of the 

new men to reject it. The chargewas in sorne respects the apogee of the professional 

spirit. Who was to gainsay the military professionalism of the Kaiser's anny? 
47 

Colonel Seely has recalled a visit to the German anny manoeuvres of 1906; he noted 

thot the offensive tactics employed simply had no relationship to reality as he himself 

had experienced it in South Africa.
48 

ln essence the trouble lay in the failure to evolve a set of military precepts 

fashioned to suit the unique requirements of England. There was no effort to encompass 

such a development. The 'new men' did not adopt the 'new measures' which Fisher had 

demanded as a member of the Esher Committee ; rather they aped their peers across the 

Channel - both French and German. Great Britain's military requirements were as 

unique as her geographical and political position in the world ; as such they could only 

be successfully fulfilled by the application of original ideas. lt is one thing to copy 

selective! y, qui te another to ope indiscriminately. The problem was never approached 

from the view-pointof the country's interests, but rather was seen always wi'thin the 

framework of the professional requirements of a self-conscious military establishment. The 

47 - Taylor, 'The Debate Over Changing Cavalry Tacticsand Weapons', p. 178. 

48- Seely, J.E.B., Adventure, (London, 1930), pp. 119-120. 
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machinery for such work did not exist in a sophisticated enough form. Netther dtd 

the men. Lloyd-George was to realise the cogency of this fact many yecsrs later as 

the Great War was i tself drowing to a close. Earl y in 1918 the Prime Minis ter had 

cast about for a commander to replace Haig only to discover as he noted after the 

war: 

There was no conspicuous officer in the Army who seemed 
49 

to be better quallfied for the highest command thon Haig. 

And so the military machine ran riot shaking itself free from government control in its 

quest for professional fulfillment, completely disregarding the vital interests of the 

country and the military needs of the Empire. 

Much extravagant nonsense has been written of the indeed important milestone 

reached in the annois of British military affairs with the creation of the General Staff. 

The General Staff never fulfilled the more profound hopes of the Esher Commlttee ; in 

the course of a memorandum, submitted to the Cabinet in lote June 1905, Esher and 

his colleagues had stoted : 

. . . the effect of a General Staff should be to create 
and consoliclate military opinion on sound and generally 
accepted !ines. Such mochinery has been hltherto 
absolutely wonting in ourormy,-with results always serious 
and occasionally disastrous. 50-

Unfortunately the new body was not sufficiently self-ossertive to avert the final and 

irreparable 1disaster. Repington was never able to express any satisfaction with the 

actual process of the •evolution of the Staff during these years. 
51 

ln fact its establish­

ment did ITttle to increase military efficiency orto encourage practfcal milftary thought; 

49 ... Lloyd George, D., War Memoirs, (london, 1936), Vol. VI, p. 3424. 

50 - 'The General Staff (Memorandum by the War Office Reconstruction Committee)', 
28 Jun. 1905. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37.78, No. 115. 

51 - Luvaas, The Education of an Army, p. 312. 
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it was not until Haig extended the system to the Anny as a whole thot it begon to 

evolve as the heart of a uni fied staff system. The Staff did not become the supreme 

centre of any system dedicated· ~to the evolution of strategie thought. The Directorates 

of which the Staff was composed retalned the de facto initiative and responsibiltty for 

strategie planning. This abdication of a responsibillty neveT properly assumed will 

become increasingly important as this discussion proceeds. The real significance of the 

General Staff, from 1909 onwards ta be styled the Imperial General Staff due largely 

to Haig's exertions, lay in the fact thot its very existence was ...,cognttion of the need 

for a new professional 'thinking' anny. lt provided tangible evidence of the new move­

ment towards professionalism within the Anny. The first Chief of the General Staff, 

General Sir Neville Lyttletan, was one of the many officers caught between the old 

and the new schools within the Army. He had distinguished himself in South Africa but 

as with Kitchener this experience had not served to predispose him towards the new 

radicalism which was swiftly coming to dominate military circles. His appointment was 

bitterly opposed by the 'new men' of whom Fisher and later Haldane were so full of 

praise. Lyttleton had no interest in the Continental Stmtegy which lay at the root of 

ali 'advanced' military thought. lt was Lyttleton who in response ta a query from Ha!g 

had stated thot the Geneml Staff considered 20,000 men ample for Haldane's projected ·· 

'British Striking Force•.
52 

Fisher had described Lyttleton as 'the dullest dog l'd ever 

met •. • ; and in his place the Admirai strongly pressed for the appolntment of Sir John French 

as the first Chief of the General Staff. 
53 

French's ca reer, which Capta in Liddell-Hart 

has noted was characterised by a mock-professionalism, had also attracted the attention 

of Viscount Esher ; 
54 

in a letter of earl y August 1904 to Fisher he had noted with regard 

52 - Haig, Earl (Douglas), The Private Papers of Doug·las Haig, 1914- 1916, 
ed. R.N.W. Blake (London, 1952)r p. 22. Charteris, Haig, p. 39. 

53 - Fisher to Esher, 17 Jan. 1904. Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), Fear God 
and Dread Nought :The Correspondance of Admirai of the Fleet lord Fisher 
of Kilverstone1 ed. Arthur J. Marder (London, 1952- 1959), Vol.l, p.298. 

54 - liddell Hart, B.H., Through The Fog ofWar, (London, 1938) 1 p. 49. 
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to both Lyttleton and French : 

Lyttleton does not disappoint me, for 1 knew precisely what 
he was. There are no first-rate lieutenant-generais, except 
French. He is developing so fast thot in a few years he will 
be the Fisher of the sister service. He possesses enthusiasm 
and character. Most of these otherfellowi have ne1ther. If 
he had a quarter of your· intellect, my dear col league, we 
could reform the Army as weil as the W .0. 55 

Once again it must be stressed thot the new men of 1904 must not be viewed with the 

disillusioned hlndstght of subsequent events. To be fair to French it might weil be 

added thot liddeii-Hart's remark was no Jess true of the vast majority of the 'new men•. 

Regardless Lyttleton•s somewhat complacent,if not obstructive, conduct very soon 

estranged Henry Wilson who monaged to persuade Haldane to add William Nicholson as 

Thfrd Mflitary Member of the Army Council in arder ta represent the interests of the 

new school. 
56 

lyttleton was not unaware of Wilson's influence in this motter and 

needless to say such unbecoming behaviour, a common comploint with Wrlson, did not 

ingratiate him with the Chief of General Staff ; yet it is a measure of the power and 

influence of the 'new men' thot they were able to force Lyttleton, ogoinst his wishes, to 

appoint Wilson to the coveted and increasingly important Cbmmondantship of the Staff 

Co liege at the close of 1906.
57 

Although Haldane had agreed to the possibility of 

moking Nicholson C.G.S. at some future date there is evidence, which will be produced 

in due course, thot the 'new men' were not entirely at ease with Nicholson regarding hlm 

more os a puppet to be manipulated thon truly one of their own breed. Nicholson wos 

altogether a relatively pliable individuel despite Holdane's feelings to the contrary. 
58 

But he was tarred with the brush of the old school, hoving served at the War Office as 

Director-General of Mobilizotion and Military Intelligence from 1901 to 1904. Therefore 

55 - Esher to Fisher, 3 Aug. 1904. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, Vol. 1, 
p. 49. 

56 - Collier, B., Brasshot: A Biography of Field-Marshol Sir Henry Wilson, 
( London , 196 1 ) , p . 96 • 

57 - Collier, Brasshat, p. 99. 

58 - Haldane to Rosebery, 19 Dec. 1905. Holdane MSS, MS 5906. 
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he did not qualtfy as one of Jackie Fisher's 'new men', a drawback which Sir John 

underllned wtth his customary exuberance ln a letter to Sandars, Balfour's private 

secretary, of lote January 1904.
59 

By way of corrobation there was even talk in 

the inner circles of the • New Army' du ring 1906 of removing Lyttleton in order to 

make way for one of their own brightest lights - Major General Sir Douglas Haig. 
60 

Obvlously the old ways were dying hard. Even during Wilson's three and a half 

years at Camberly a staff tour was conducted annually near Mount Snowdon 'to illustrate 

the peculiarities of hJII warfare on the North-West Frontier of lndia'. 
61 

Repington, for 

ali his advanced thinklng, was nevertheless one of those concemed with the 'lndian 

Frontier Bogey'. Further, there is perhaps some significance in the fact thot the majority 

of these 'thinking soldiers' to a lesser or greater degree advocated the retention of the 

cavalry arm . Foremost of these disciples were French, Repington, Haig, and, to a 

somewhat lesser extent, Henry Wilson. 
62 

These were perhaps the only men in the whole 

of the British Army who had even heard of Clausewitz or Jominl still Jess to have had read 

and comprehended their studies on war and warfare. Lord Roberts, an enlightened and 

respected soldier though nevertheless a product of the old school, was one of the very 

few diametrically opposed to the retention of the cavalry arm. The revised Cavalry 

Manual of 1907, rewritten supposedly with respect to the !essons of South Africa, which 

had been very mixed in cavalry experience, and of the Amerfcan Civil War, stated in 

part nevertheless : 

The essence of the cavalry spirit lies in holding the balance 
between flre power and shock action . . . . lt must be 
accepted as a principle thot the rifle, effective as it is, 

59 - Fisher to Sandars, 23 Jan. 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 

60 - Charteris, Hatg, p. 34. 

61 - Wilson, Life and Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 70. 

62 - Colfier, Brasshat, p. 98. 

47 



cannet replace the effect produced by the speed of the herse, 
the magnetfsm of the charge, and the terrer of cold steeJ.63 

Repington's response was typical : the manuol 'is sound, the spirit excellent and the ann 

efficient mounted or on foot •.• and ln keeping with the true cavalry spirit which 

scorns mathematical colculotions'. 
64 

Wh ile Haig pon.ti.ficated ·thot the 'role of the 

cavalry on the battlefield will always go on increasing'. 
65 

ln short ft must be clearly understood thot the mllitary renaissance had taken the fonn 

not of a measured response. to the perils. implici~ in the burgeoning economie and technical 

copability of the nations, but rather thot of a naturel reaction on the part of o military 

newly conscious of its own professionalism to seize upon the opportunity provided by the 

crisis in South Africo and the general reowakening of the Great Powers to heave itseff 

from out of a tradition of poverty and inefficiency, thereby propelling itself into the 

forefront of the notion's affairs. For many of the 'new men' this implied reaching far 

beyond the goals which the politicol authority envisaged; it was, indeed, implicit thot 

the military revival, the professionalism which was unique in post- 1660 British experience, 

had to so entrench itself in the forefront of the nation's defence capability thot no 

shodow of a chance could possibly exist thot the Army would once again tumble back 

into the moross of ineffectfve inefficiency from which it had so reeently departed. These 

were sol di ers who were intensely proud of the ir profession. They placed it above o Il 

el se, in seme cases even before the interests of their country. like most professional 

soldiers they were able to convince themselves thot a strong military establishment was 

fundamental to the national interest. With the possible exception of Henry Wilson, 

these were men who believed deeply in the folly of their country's refusai to face the 

military facts of membership within the fabric of European nations, a status which they 

63 - Cited: Luvaas, The Education of an Anny, p. 316. 

64 - Cited : Luvaas, The Education of an Anny, p. 316. 

65 - Cited: liddell Hart, Through The Fog of War, p. 48. 

48 



firmly believed in and concerning which they considered thot England had no choice 

but to accept in the milltary terms of Continental warfare. 

ln those circumstances these 'educ::ated soldiers• applied to their own country 

the great mi li tory principles governing the conduct of war which had been long accepted 

upon the Continent. The ir mistake lay in their inability to stand bock from their 

professional concerns and to thus realise thot for an Empire and an Island based not upon 

a continent but around the entire globe the European military system was simply not 

applicable. 

Some of the deeper causes underlying this attitude have already been explored ; 

in essence their actions arose not from any recognition on their part of a fundamental 

change upon the military map of Europe, but rather from the seizure of what the soldiers 

sow as on opportunity to equal and perhaps to supercede the Novy as the traditional 

focus of the nation's 'military• li fe. ln many, perhaps most, cases this was no coldly 

calculated observation. On the contrary, it was the automatic reaction of the pro­

fessional mi nd to a golden opportunity. Few of these men understood even the shadow 

of the consequences of their actions upon the future If fe and fortune of England and the 

Empire ; and those who claimed knowledge were to be proved tragic::ally wrong in their 

con vi cti ons. 
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CHAPTER THREE 

THE FIRST STEP 

My mournful and supreme conviction is that this agreement 
is much more likely to lead to complications than to peace. 

The Earl of Rosebery ; April 1904. 

The long and the short of the matter is that, to secure peace, 
we must maintain the Entente with France, and attempts from 
outside to shake it will only make it stronger. 

Sir Edward Grey.'} December 1906. 

The 'Entente' with France also entails possible duties upon 
this nation, which are by no means so plain and obvious, 
and yet most clearly engage the honour of us ali. 

Reginald Viscount Esher; 1910. 

Owing to the Entente Cordiale which had been cemented 
with France, we had accepted military •.. commitments, 
the precise character of which remained unknown .••• 
Without knowledge of the Cabinet as a whole, our bluest 
of blue water poli ci es had been abandoned. Thus we 
entered upon four years of war, in which we lost a million 
men and won twenty years of unrestful peoce. 

Sir Archibald Hurd ; 1941 . 

THE 'milltary conversations' between the French and British General Staffs, which were 

commenced early in 1906, have over the years become one of the most contentious 

debating points in the recent diplomatie and military experience of Great Britain. The 

diplomacy of the 'Entente' does not come within the scope of this study. The purpose of 

what foiJows is to set forth the thesis thot the Staff Conversations were initiated by the 
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new generation of soldiers and their supporters for military reasans; thot this 'military' 

initiative was approved by the Government largely for its own diplomatie purposes ; 

and thot with the passage of time the diplomatie oims were perverted into military 

goals of a nature far more profound thon those envisaged by the saldiers who hod 

initiated the whole affair. But the complications which enshroud the Conversations did 

not cease at this point. The Foreign Office's deliberate withholding of the decision 

to undertake the Conversations from the Cabinet as a whole is a weil known story. The 

emphasis upon the' secret and the non-committal was directly responsible not only for 

the confusion over the relative importance of the Conversations vis...:C,-vts defence planning 

as a whole, but also for the wtdely diverse significance attached to them by both the 

civil and military authorities. The stress laid upon the hypothetical and the secret 

became in essence a carte blanche permTtting interpretation of ali shades. Was the 

British Expeditionary Force to be sent to French or to Belgian ports ? was it to operate 

on the French left or the Belgian right ? was it to be used mèrely to uphold Belgian 

neutrality and safeguord the Channel ports, or was it to operate within France _as an 

integral part of the French Army under the orders of the French High Command ? or 

indeed was it to be used upon Belgfan sail simply as an extension of British seo power? 

The Conversations become ali things to ali men - at least to those few who were aware 

of their existence. No-where was opinion more diverse thon in the War Office itself. 

The secrecy of the Conversations extended to the Committee of Imperial Defence and 

thus prevented any balanced evaluation of the possible raie of an expeditionary force 

within Englond's overall defence policy. The relationship of the War Office with the 

C.I.D. was largely moulded by the existence of the Conversationsand as such this 

interesting problem will be dealt with later in discussing the C.l.D.'s relations with the 

Admiralty and the War Office. The Conversations, which ultimately were to dominate 

England's strategie posture in the war, were never openly discussed within the Committee. 

But this is to digress. The inception of the Conversations formed the 'first step' on the 

part of the 'new men' in the direction of forging a 'military' defence policy unique in 

the affairs of England. lt was a logical move directed by the spirit of the new 

professionalfsm which was sa dependent upon Continental military thought and organization. 
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lhe new 'Thinking Army' coold not be content merely with the form of European military 

organization, it needed to give a substance to thot form, a raison d'etre for its very 

existence. 

Some effort has already been expended in these pages to underline the obsession 

with lndian defence problems which marked the deliberations of both the Army Council 

and of the Committee of Imperial Defence during the Balfour years. Bearing this fact 

in mind together with Mr. Balfour's support of the precepts of the 'Blue Water School' 

and his opposition to the formation of any expeditionary force, it must be assumed that 

the Unionists never undertook to make military overtures to either the French or the 

Belgian govemments. Evidence, based upon a detailed examination of the avoilable 

sources with this particular question in mind, has recently been presented to endorse this 

more generally based view. 
1 

Furthermore, the evidence which will shortly be 

presented of the deliberations within British 'milltary' circles which commenced in mid­

December 1905, renders any claim to the contrary redundant. This much may be sa id 

with certa(nty: the British Govemment hadno 'military' policy with regard to the 

Continent prior to December 1905; there were no arrangements between the French and 

British General Staffs at thot date ; that if any overtures had been made they had 

emanoted from the more junior, anti-German, diplomats in the Foreign Office and at 

the Embassies in Paris and St. Petersburg ; and, finally, thot such overtures, if made, had 

not involved military discussions and did not en joy the confidence of any responsible 

political or military figures. lndeed, when Mr. Balfour was made aware of the existence 

of the Conversations in 1912 he noted: 

1 - Monger, G., The End of Isolation: British Foreign Policy, 1900- 1907, 
(London, 1963), pp. 236 - 238. 

See also g Taylor, A.J.P., The Struggle For Mastery in Europe, 
1848- 1918, (Oxford, 1954), p. 435. 
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lt came upon me as a shock of surprise - 1 am far from 
sayiAg of disapprovol - when 1 found how rapidly after 
1 left office the Entente had, under the German menace, 

2 
developed into something resembling a defensive Alliance. 

Besides it is inconceivable thot Balfour, so strong a Prime Minister and so devoted to 

the broader principles of Imperial Defence, would have sought so completely to re-

arder the fundamental basil of England's strategie policy especially at a tlme of such 

political unrest. There ts no contemporary evidence to support any claim to the 

contrary ; ample primary material has been cited in earlier chapters conceming the 

obsession with the lndian North-West Frontler, and the more general concern with 

Imperial Defence matters ; again there ls much primary evidence to support the claim 

thot the Conversations were initiated after the collapse of Balfour's Government. ln 

truth the Conversations were the product of neither the Unionist nor the Liberal Govern­

ments, but rather of the interregnum between the fait of Balfour's Government and the 

great electoral victory of Campbeii-Bannennan's Cabinet in January 1906. But the 

vacuum in government created by the poli ti ca 1 events du ring the mon th of December 1905 

was amply exploited and filled by the military. 

lt has already been seen thot the 'new men' of the British Army were undi.Jiy 

deferent to Continental mîlitary thought and organization. This deference, this aping 

of the masters, was the root cause of the adoption of the Continental Strategy by the 

British Army during the years following the warin South Africa. Haldane's efforts to 

fami 1 iarise himself wi th the writings of Ardant du Pi cq and Karl von Clausewitz were not 

solely academie in nature, nor were they intended merely to acquaint him with the 

dominant schools of thought prevailing in the great military establishments on the Con­

tinent. For in the precepts of Clausewitz may be found the very soul of the Continental 

Strategy ; thot core of thought which lay behind the decision to send the British 

Expeditionary Force to fight in the main theatre of conflict rather thon upon secondary 

2 - Cited: Dugdale, B.E., Arthur James Balfour, First Earl of Balfour, 
(London 1 1936), Vol. 1, p. 374. 
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fronts. ln Clausewitz's emphasis upon the decisive importance of the full scale battle 

as the climax of the offensive lay the essentiel militory refusai ta sanction operations 

in any but the main theatre. The 'new men' of 1906 were the 'Westerners' of 1915 

who sneered at the predilection of the politiciens for 'side-shows'. Repington, for 

exemple, wos not only a disciple of Clausewitz but a friend of Mahon whose principles 

of naval concentration Repington tronslated into the mi li tory sphere in arder ta reinforce 

his advocacy of the Continental Strategy. 

As la te as 30th Mar ch 1905 Arthur Ba 1 four, referring ta Army reorgani zotlon, had 

stated ta the Cabinet : 

lt is agreed thot the main purpose for which a large army 
is required is the defence of lndia ...• 3 

An eorlier paper on 'Our Present Minimum Military Requirements' by the Prime Minister, 

submitted ta the C.l. D. in lote February 1905, hod exponded upon this theme noting 

thot conflict with Russia in lndia was 

••• the most formidable of probable wors, colculotions 
bosed upon it will suffice for any war of lesser magnitude. 
This is the fundamentol militory problem which has to be 
çonsidered and its satisfactory solution will in elude a Il 
others of a mi nor nature. 4 

However, the 'new men' did not agree with this 'Imperial' view of England's military 

problems and took grave exception ta the Prime Minister's conclusion thot the 'expense 

involved in creoting an expeditionary force-' even for Imperial service wos'out of ali 

proportion ta the possible benefits which might accrue therefrom' • Nor were the soldiers 

content to owoit a change of political opinion on these matters ; long before the arrivai 

of Haldane in Whiteholl the 'new men' had been considering the possible role of the 

British Army in a future war upon the Continent. lndeed,as early as the outumn of 1902 

3 - 'Army Reorgonization', Memorandum by the Prime Minister, 30 Mar. 1905. 
Cabinet Popers, Cab. 37/75, No. 54. 

4 - 'Our Present Minimum Militory Requirements and proposais for fulfilling them 
by a Reorganizotion of the Reguler Army and Militia', Memorandum by 
the Prime Minister 1 24 Feb. 1905. C .1. D. Papers, Cab. 17 /3* . 
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Robertson, at that time Head of the Foreign Section of the Intelligence Oepartment, had 

asserted : 

lnstead of regardfng Gennany as a possible ally we should 
recognise her as our most persistent, delibera te, and 
fonnidable rival.5 

Two War Office papers, respectively entitled 'The Military Resources of Germany and 

Probable Method of their Employment in a War between Germany and England', 
6 

and a 

'Memorandum on the Military Policy to be adopted in a War with Germany', 
7 

were 

submitted to the Committee of Imperial Oefence, in February 1904, but contained no 

suggestion whatsoever of direct British involvement upon the Continent. Though the 

second of these papers did note at its conclusion : 

The case of a war with Germany originating from our 
treaty obligations to Holland or Belgium is a more 
complicated problem •... 8 

Taken together these papers postulated thot Germany's only chance of victory lay in the 

extremely hazardous undertaking of a military invasion of England ; and thot England's 

only 'power of offence1 lay in 'the destruction of her E3ermany3: seo-borne trade'. 

lt is interesting to note, thot whereas the second paper suggested amphibious operations 

against He li go land and the German main land .the first r~ jected any such ideas as im­

practi cable in view of Germany's network of rai lways. ln point of fact these opinions 

were by and large in concert with the C.I.O. consensus thot such a war was extremely 

5 - Cited: Robertson, W.R., Soldiersand Statesmen, (London, 1926), Vol. 1, p. 23. 

6 - 'The Military Resources of Germany and Probable Method of their Employment 
in a War between Germany and England', Memorç~ndum by the Intelligence 
Oepartment of the War Office, 7 Feb. 1903. C.&.D. Papers, 23 Feb. 
1904, Cab. 3/1/20A. 

7 - 'Memorandum on the Military Policy to be adopted in a war with Germany', 
Intelligence Department of the War Office, 10 Feb. 1903. C.I.O. 
Pa pers, 23 Feb. 1904, Cab. 3/1 /20A. 

8 - 'Memorandum on the Military Policy to be adopted in a war with Gennany•, 
10 Feb. 1903. C.I.O. Papers, 23 Feb. 1904, Cab. 3/1/20A. 
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unlikely and had little relationship to British interest. However, it would be weil to 

note thot the paper dealing with Germany's'Military Resources' was the product of 

Wully Robertson's pen, the sorne Robertson who had wamed against the menace of 

Germany eighteen months earlier. Obviously the terms of reference, thot is a simple 

Anglo-German conflict, had little relationship to reality ; what is interesting is the 

difference in attitude within the War Office which these papers revea led. For the 

second paper, which had been prepared by one of Robertson's colleagues, Lieutenant­

Colonel E.A. Altham, a product of the old school, had concluded: 

Finally, it may be said that, although public opinion 
in England seems for the moment adverse to -cooperation 
with Germany, yet, from a strategie point of view, an 
understanding with that Power on questions asto which we 
have common or conflicting interests would greatly strengthen 
our general position. 9 

While Altham's technical capability as a soldier might not have been up to the standards 

of the 'new men' it would appear that he was endowed with a much broader grasp of 

England's strategie position. Clearly the divergence between not only the Army and 

the C.I.O., but also the 'new men' and the old school at the War Office was becoming 

apparent. 

Evidence has already been presented to show that many of the 'new men', 

including Haig, Robertson, Grierson and Henry Wilson, had been thinking increasingly 

in terms of a British military involvement in future wars upon the Continent. The War 

Office itself, while shading its opinion to sorne degree, remained substantially in step 

with C .1. 0. opinion. A memorandum of 12th May 1904 presented by the Secretory of 

State for War to the Cabinet had explicitly stated : 

1. The Reguler Army must in the future be maintained 
principally for the purpose of action overseas, and 
chiefly in lndia. 

9 - 'Memorandum on the Military Policy to be adopted in a war with Germany•, 
10 Feb. 1903. C.I.O. Papers1 23 Feb. 19041 Cab. 3/1/20A. 
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2. Thot portion of the Regular Army which Ts left at 
home, after the needs of lndia and of the colonies 
have been met, must be sufficient, with the 
assistance of the Auxiliary Forces to protect the 
United Kingdom against •raids' .10 

Robertson•s paper to the Ç.I.D. of February 1904 had in effect maintained thot the 

possibtltty of a successful invasion by Germany was not out of the question. But if 

Robertson•s views were out of step with those of the War Office and the C .1. D .. , his 

more general suspicions of a future conflict with Germany were gaining respectapility 

ln many circles. Few entertained fears of war with Germany as the result of spme 

simple dlsagreement, rather they were apprehensive of a possible conflict arising out of 

England 1s treaty obligations to Belgium. Sir George Clarke, one of the 'dauntless three•, 

and the first man to head the Secretariat of the Committee of Imperial Defence, was one 

of those concerned with this possibllity. On lst August 1905 he had addressed a 

memorandum on the matter to the C .1 • D. : 

ln the event of a Franco-German War, military exigencies 
might induce the Germons to violate the Neutrality of 
Belgium. The inducement is certainly stronger for Germany 
thon for Frrrce, which has much less to gain from such 
violation. 

ln order to strengthen his petition for an investigation of the problem, Clarke wrote to 

the Prime Minister on 17th August requesting : 

May 1 ask the G .S. to work out another problem ? ln the 
event of another Franco-German war, the question of 
Belgian neutrality would turn mainly upon the exigencles 
of the belligerants. ln 1870, neither of them would have 
gained ·real advantage by a violation of Belgian terri tory. 
The great system of French fortresses since created has some­
what altered the military conditions. So to sorne extent has 

10 - •Prlnciples involved in the scheme for Anny Refarm proposed by the Secretary 
of State for War•, 12 May 1904. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/70, No. 66. 

11 - Cited : Sydenham of Coombe, Baron (George C .. ), My Working life, 
(london, 1 927), p • 185 . 
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the construction of the Belgian fortified positions at Namur 
and ll~ge, which 1 was sent to examine and report upon sorne 
years ago. The present stote of the Belgian Army is another 
factor ln the present problem. 

1 think, therefore, thot it would be weil thot the G.S. 
should be asked to prepare a paper discussing (l) the militory 
advantoge (if any) which Germany or France might expect to 
attafn by a violation of Belgian terri tory, and (2) the measure 
of resistance which Belgium, if backed by us, would be able 
to offer to such a violation. Posslbly a Iso (3) the ti me i t should 
require to put two Army Corps, 'ç:>r their equivalent into Antwerp. 

A study of this kind is just what the G .S. would Hke, and 
they might (perhaps) be able to achieve more success thon in 
dealing with the Indic frontier. 12 

The Prime Minister was, however, not exactly taken with Clarke's proposais fearing perhaps 

the more far-rea ching consequences of such a study. The Secretary is found writing 

again to Balfour just a few deys later : 

May l·ask the G.S. to take up the Belgian question about which 
1 wrote? lt would give them useful occupation.13 

But by mid-September events had moved in Clarke's favour and on 17th September he 

wrote to the Prime Minister from Weymouth : 

The Foreign Office (are] to send you a memorandum 1 have 
written on Collective Guarantees as in the case of Belgium. 
The general conclusion at which 1 arrived was thot such 
guarantees always breakdown in practice unless - which 
ra rely happens - the interests of a Il the guaranteeing Powers 
require the fulfillment of the obligation when the critical 
moment presents ltself. The principle advantage of a guarantee 
seems to be thot it (1) provides a cossus belli for any guaranteeing 
Power whose interest it may be to oppose the violation of the 
Treaty and (2) glves a guaranteeing Power some right to obtoin 
information as to the mi 1 itory preparations and the measure of 
effective resistance of the guaranteed Stote. 1 think, therefore, 

12 - Clarke to Balfour, 17 Aug. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702 .. 

13 - Clarke to Balfour, August 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 
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thot we ought to know exactly what the military position 
of Belgium is, and 1 am glad you approve the preparation 
of a memorandum on this question .14 

The diplomatie questions ralsed here are not of immediate concem ; what is signiftcant 

for our purposes is the fact thot there was a reviving mllltary intere.st in Continental 

affalrs. Clarke, it must be remembered, had not only served on the Esher Committee, 

but was himself a retired Army officer of considerable abiUty who hadamply demonstrated 

hts sympathy wlth the 'new men' of the Army. Wh ile it is true thot his career was . 

shortrytobeahruptlycurtàileçl,it must not be overlooked thot both Esherand Fisher 

regarded Clarke, at this point, as one of the 'acute big brains' of the new era of mi litary 

revival. 

The General Staff's response to Clarke's questions came in the form of a memorandum 

dated 23rd September which was deposited at the offices of the C.I.O. Secretariat at 

Whitehall Gardens on 29th September. The conclusions arrived at by Lyttleton and his 

aides are fascinating very largely in terms of what they do not say : 

After consideration of the various arguments ••• the 
weight of opinion among mi litary writers both of France 
and Germany appears to be thot the prospective military 
advantages to be gained by France or Germany by making 
an advance through Belgium, either as their main effort or 
as a subsidiary movement, do not afford sufficient justi­
fication for such a serious step as the violation of the 
neutrality of a neighbouring state with its almost inevitable 
consequent political complications. And it is generally 
considered unlikely thot Belgium will form part of the theatre 
of war during the first operations. lt must not, however, be 
inferred from this thot Belgium con in any way feel assured 
thot her frontiers wi Il not be violated at a la ter stage in the 
hostili ti es. 15 

14 - Clarke to Balfour, 17 Sept. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 

15 - 'The Violation of the Neutrality of Belgium during a Franco-German War'. 
Memorandum by the General Staff, 23 Sept. 1905. C.I.O. Papers, 
29 Sept. 1905. Cab. 4/1/658. 
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As will later be seen this view was to prevai 1 with the General Staff for many years, 

though its implications for military thought were to be vastly àltered. Clearly this 

was a reply both in keeping with Lyttleton'scomplacency and Balfour's desires not to 

become invorved in warfare upon the Continent. Here, for the time being, the 

matter was closedo But it is of note thot the Staff did not hold the Neutrality of 

Belgium immediate! y vulnerable in the event of a Franco-German war. This fact is 

ta be remembered. No attempt was made by Lyttleton to suggest thot, regardless, 

perhaps England ought to take steps to ensure the integrity of Belgian soi 1 ; the 

opportunity of preparing an expeditionary force, for use, essenttally, against Gennany 

in the event oJ war, was not seized. ln truth the 'new men' had not yet penetrated to 

the top of the .. military establishment. Yet the excuse of Belgium was to be pleaded 

by the 'new men' who were ta plan the Conversations less thon tbree months later. Placing 

Henry Wilsonwithin thecontextoftheattitudesof the•new men' tt is perhaps understand­

able why he described the staff at the War Office as a 'vacillating, ignorant crowd' •
16 

The findings contained within the above-mentioned General Staff memorandum 

of 23rd September 1905 c la imed in part to be based upon the ou tc orne of the 1905 war 
17 

gomes. Only it neglected to add thot the very terms of reference of one such game 

had assumed what the General Staff denied in its memorandum : thot Belgium would be 

violated in the event of a Franco-German war. The 1905 gomes had a ri sen out of the 

concem of the 'new men' over the possible cotJrse of a German attack upon France. 

The then Director of Military Operations, Ma jar-General Sir James Grierson, ha'd 

devoted these gomes to a hypothetical Franco-German warin which the neutrolity of 

Belgium would be violated, and where the German strotegy would be to 'turn the French 

position on the Meuse' •
18 

ln the course of the resulting gomes Robertson, who corn-

16 - Wilson, H.H., Field-Marshal Sir Hen Wilson Bart.: His Life and Diaries, 
ed. Charles E. Callwe London, 1927, Vol. 1, p. 57. 

17 - 'The VioK2tion of the Neutralrty of Belgium durlng a Franco-German War', 
Memorandum by the General Staff, 23 Sept. 1905. C .1. D. Papers, 
29 Sept. 1905. Cab. 4/1/65B. 

18 - Robertson, Soldiers and Statesmen, Vol. 1, p.24. 
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manded the •German• forces, clearly demonstrated thot the French Army could not 

prevail wlthout the mllltary assistance of England. Grierson•s directives for the 

gomes, based upon common-sense, very closely anticipated t.'1e Schlieffen Plan which 

at thot tlme was only beglnning to emerge in a detailed way from the Great General 

Staff. Asto whether the outcome of the gomes was truly genuine, or whether it was 

merely the reflection of what Grierson and Robertson had wanted, is a debatable point ; 

however it has been noted elsewhere thot the gomes did •beer a very close resemblance 

to the actual situation in 1914, especially the advance from Aix-la-Chapelle, north of 

the Meuse and Sambre, outflanking the French in overwhelming strength• •
19 

Of course, 

it may be argued thot such thinking implied not the necessity of sending military aid to 

France, but thot the soldiers pre-supposed faulty French mllitary dispositions. But this 

is not the point. For here were two responsible officers, in excellent positions to 

influence the new Secretary of State for War, whose strategie attitudes were clearly 

orientated towards the Continent. lt is further to be noted thot what Grierson considered 

to be the •obvious' German strategy in any war with France was categorically rejected 

by Lyttleton in his Staff memorandum of 23rd September to the C.l.. D. As with so much 

pre-war thlnking, military thought at this juncture was in an almost hopeless muddleo 

For, oside from the divergence between Lyttletan and Grierson, officers such as 

Charles Callwell, at thot time Assistant Director of Military Intelligence, were drastically 

changing their views from one day to the next o ln August 1905 Ca llwell approved Fisher•s 

alleged plans fora landing on the Schleswing coast of sorne 120,000 men - a stand which 

was wholly at variance with the views expressed by Robertson in his memorandum to the 

C.l. D. of February 1904.
20 

Y et ln October of the same year Collwell is found noting : 

19 - Tyler, J .E., The British Army and the Continent, 1904 - 1914, (London, 
1938), p. 18". 

20 - •The Military Resources of Germany and Probable Method of their Employment 
in a War between Gennany and England', Memorandum by the Intelligence 
Depar!'ment of the War Office, 7 Feb. 1903o C.I.D. Papers, 23 Feb. 1904. 
Cab. 3/l/20A. 
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.... it is proboblethat'the most usefulpurpose to which 
lt [!he British Army] could be put would be to give support 
to the French Armies in the field.21 

A vlew such as thls was not only poles apart from Fisher's ideas on combined operations 

but, lndeed, tt was suggestive of the most'advanced' type of British military thought 

thot was to gain full acceptance only under Henry Wilson. Though it might be added, 

thot leanings towards this end were to become apparent in top military clrcles before 

the close of 1905. 

Thus when Mr. Balfour handed over his seals on 4th December 1905 the 'military 

situation' was as follows 1 the 'new men' were gradually becoming more and more 

influential despite the fact thot the Army Council and the General Staff were largely 

composed of officers not entirel'y in sympathy wlth their aims ; the former Unionlst 

Govemment had, upon the advice of the Chief of the General Staff, concluded thot in 

the event of a Fronco-German War England would not necessarily be cal led upon to 

safeguard the neutrality of Belgium J the views of the General Staff as a whole and 

those of the 'new men' widely drffered upon the nature of the course of a future Franco­

German conflict; and finally thot the General Staff had no particular desire to involve 

Great Britain ln a Continental War, and was itself not representative of the aggressive 

new professionalism whtch was coming rapidly to dominate mllitory circles. 

Bolfour's tumble from office signal led an unseemly scramble on the part of the 'new 

men' to redefine England's strategie needs. They seized upon the vacuum created by 

the interregn~:~m to turn the strategie posture of the country away from Imperial Defence 

and towards involvement upon the Continent. The actual approoch.es made by Grierson 
22 

and Repington to the French General Staff through Huguet have been weil documented. 

These wi Il not be discussed he re. But far more important for our purposes were the steps 

which Sir George Clarke and Viscount Esher initiated at the same ttme, steps which very 

21 - Callwell to Bollard, 3 Oct. 1905. Clted : Monger, The End of Isolation, p. 231. 

22 - See : Monger, The End of Isolation, pp. 236- 256. 
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largely ~.haped Repingtan 1,s approaches to the French General Staff. ln a letter to 

Esher of 15th December 1905, a letterwhich with ali his correspondance on the subject 

of the Conversati~ns was omitted from Esher's published papers, Clarke noted thot 

England's possible role, both military and naval, in a Continental war had 1 in spite 
23 

of ali his urgings, 'not been thought out at ali'. Just a few days beforehand Esher 

had lunched wtth Georges Clemenceau and in the course of discussing the forthcoming 

Algeciras Conference the 'Tiger' had pleaded with him . 

• • • to arrange very secretly what military and naval 
action should be taken in the first week, should war 
unfortunat~ly be the result of Germany finding herself 
in the minority at the conference.24 

Following upon--these events, a mixture of the immediate and the long term, Esher and 

Clarke decided to bring professional naval and military opinion to bear upon the nature 

of possible British involvement in a war upon the Continent. 

The upshot of the Esher-Ciarke decision was the convening, on 19th December 1905, 

of a conference of some of the leading 'acute big brains' at the offices of the Committee 

of Imperial Defence in WhitE!hall Gardens. To this first meeting they had invited 

Captaln Charles Ottley1:at thot time Director of Naval lnteJiigence and Flsher's right­

hand-man, together with Lieutenant-General Sir John French - surely the epitome of 

the 'new men• during those early years. At this first Conference these four considered 

possible naval 1 combined and military action - in thot arder. ln :discussing combined 

operations the Conference rejected any notion of capturing specifie islands off the German 

coast, a 1 though they di d favour . 

The seizure of some point on the mainland which might 
afterwards be used by a large combined French and British 
force which could threaten either Berlin or the lines of 
communication of the German armies operating against 
France.25 

23 - Clarke to Esher1 15 Dec. 1905. Cited : Manger 1 The End of Isolation, p. 239. 

24 - Cited: Manger, The End of Isolation, pp. 239- 240. 

25 - 'Notes of a Conference held at Whitehall Gardens', 19 Dec. 1905. 
C .1. D. Pa pers 1 Cab. 18/24 * • 
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As far as 'purely military' action was concerned the Conference laid down the following 

terms of reference : 

The dispatch of a force to hold ei th er Antwerp 
or the Namur and Liège positions. 

Il The furnishing of a contingent to the French 
armies in the field, or in the second line.26 

The first of these alternatives applied only in the event of the violation of Belgian 

neutrality by Germany. ln such an eventuality they concluded: 

. . • it is improbable thot British troops could reach 
the fortified positions on the Meuse before they were 
attacked. Our action might, therefore, be limited 
in the first instance to the defence of Antwerp. If 
however, the Belgians were assured of assistance in 
the defence of the latter, they would be able to in~ 
crease the garrisons of the Meuse considerably, and 
these positions should be able to offer a protracted 

27 
resistance, in which we might be able to co-opera te. 

But in the event of a straightforward Franco-German conflict the second of these 

alternatives would not 'confer any real advantage upon our allies in the great botties' 1 

and in any case such a course of action 'might be unpopular in this country'. 
28

, And 

basides 

Even if the French were defeated on the fronti er, 
however, such a rapid advance on Paris as occurred 
after the bottl~ round Metz in 1870 would not be 
possible, and in the period which must elapse, Great 
Britain, assuming adequate effort, would be able to 
put 120,000 men in the field, with as large a force 
preparing to follow. 29 

lt is fascinating to note how completely the Conference was to reverse itself, both upon 

this point and upon its approval of combined operations on the North German Coast, 

26- 'NotesofaConferenceheldatWhitehaiiGardens',l9Dec.1905. 

27 - 'Notes of a Con fe renee he 1 d at Wh i teha Il Ga rd ens', 19 Dec . 1 905 . 

28 - • Notes of a Conference held at Whitehall Gardens', 19 Dec. 1905. 

29- 'Notesofa Conference heldatWhitehall Gardens', 19 Dec. 1905. 
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within the few weeks thot followed. 

ln conclusion the Conference urged thot the Admiralty examine the possibilities 

of co-operation with the Ministre de la Maritime both in the general sphere of naval 

operations as weil as in the area of the combined operations off the German Coast, an 

operation for which the Conference imagined the French could spore· something in the 
30 

order of 100,000 men. They urged a Iso thot plans be drawn up Jor the conduct of 

commerce warfare, and for the transport of troops and their disembarkation in the 

Baltic, at Belgian ports and at French ports. 
31 

French was ask!=d to work out, with 

the assistance of the Admiralty, a scheme for the embarkation of upwards of 120,000 

troops for dispatch to FRENCH ports; to do likewise with regard_ to sending 100,000 

British and 100,000 French troops to the Baltic and North Seo Germon coasts ; to 

bring the War Office to face facts and reduce the expenditure of equipment upon the 

Indien Army; to study methods for the withdrawal of troops from the Empire in emergencies; 

to consider ways of raising extra reinforcements in England ; and to urge the War Office 

and the Admiralty to 

. • • obtain any information as ta the measures contemplated 
by the French in the event of an emergency, it would be a 
great advantage. Information asto the mobilization scheme 
of Belgium and the means available for the defence of the 
Meuse positions would also be valuable.32 

The secrecy which surrounded these proceedings was marked ; clearly the members of the 

Conference feared thot the new govemment would put a stop to.t~em if they were 

revealed at this stage. Clarke pleaded with Esher not to say anything ; Esher's response 

was encouraging for, os he noted, 'this has advantages for it leaves us free'. 33 

Fisher 1 needless to say 1 regarded the deliberations of the Conference conceming 

possible operations in France or Belgian with abhorrence ; he vetoed their proposais 

30 - '1":-Jotes of o Conference held at Whitehall Gardens', 19 Dec. 1905. 

31 - 'Notesofa Conference heldatWhitehall Gardens', 19 Dec. 1905. 

32 - 'Notes c;>f a Conference held at Whiteha Il Gardens' 1 19 Dec. 1905. 

33 - Cited: Manger, The End of Isolation, p. 244. 
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refusing to discuss his Baltic plans and noting that no over-sea operations·could be 

undertaken until the situation in the North Sea had been clarified. Ottley was, 

however, somewhat more sympathetic than Fisher and readily admitted thot his chief's 

remarks did not preclude operations below the debouch of the Channel at Dover into 

the North Sea. ln any case the second Conference, which assemb,led on 6th January 

1906, vetoed the earlier proposais for combined operations in the Baltic at the outset 

of war .. 34 lt is interesting to note that the Conference disagreed with the opinion of 

the General Staff in virtually assuming that any Franco-German war would involve 

the violation of Belgian neutrality. ln fact even at this early.date the Conference 

minutes re"eal a clear drift towards direct assistance to France even in the event of the 

violation of Belgian neutrality : 

Having regard to the figures worked out by Sir John French 
and to the comparative ease with which the Straits of Dover 
could be guarded by the Navy, it appeared that, even if 
the military operations in Belgium were to be undertaken, the 
best course would be to disembark our troops in the northern 
French ports. 35 

The step from disembarkation at French ports to direct assistance to the French Anny was 

to prove to be de.ceptively small in accomplishment, though momentous in its implications. 

As the r,esult of these Conferences Repington was commissioned to approach Huguet 

with the famous list of questions for the French General Staff concerning the possible role 

of both the Navy and the proposed Expeditionary Force in the event of war with Germany. 

On 12th January the Conference was convened for a third time to consider, it must be 

assumed, the substance of the French reply. By this point the terms of reference had 

been narrowed, owing to the nature of the French response, to 'the embarkation of 

troops • • • for the French coast•. By way of conclusion the Conference 

34- 'Notesofa Conference heldat2, Whitehall Gardens•, 6 Jan .. 1906~ 
C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 18/24*. 

35 - 'Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whitehall Gardens•, 6 Jan. 1906. 
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•.• wos strongly of opinion thot arrangements for the mobillzotion 
and transport to the northern French ports of the force obove defined 
should be worked out with the utmost possible completeness. Dover, 
Folkestone, Newhaven, and Southampton might be assum~d os the 
ports far embarkation, the French harbours cs far south as Havre being 
regarded as the places of disembarkation. lt should thus be possible, 
in the event of emergency, to furnish at once to the French authorities 
the details necessary to enable them to deal with roilway transport.36 

ln spite of the stipulations made to the French General Staff there is here no mention 

of Belgium, not even of the cossus belli let alone of actual operations in Belgium. 

Fisher, understandably, drew the line at this point, for he realised thot the Conference 

was involving Englond in an undertoking which at best would r~sult in the British Anny 

operating in Belgium as an extension of the French Anny•s left wing and at worst as an 

integral part of the French Anny opera ting in France. Sir John withdrew Ottley and 

refused further Admiralty co-operation. 
37 

As the result of the Conference on 12th January it was dec:ided thot Grierson should 

work out ali the necessary details for the transport to France of two Army Corps, four 

Cavalry Brigades, and two Brigades of Mounted lnfantry.
38

1n.spiteofoll the stipulations 

involving Belgian neutrality made to the French this decision as indeed the whole tenor 

of the Conferences, the lack of interest in Belgium at Whitehall Gardens, was decidedly 

ominous. Furthennore, it is to be kept ln mind, thot, in replying to the Repington 

questions, the French General Staff hod insisted upon the necessity of placing the British 

force und er di reet French comma nd. 
39 

There is considerable and justifiable confusion os to precisely when the new 

Government was infonned of these developments. The assertion of one observer thot the 

36 - •Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whitehall Gardens•, 12 Jan. 1906. 
C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 18/24*. 

37 - Hankey, Baron (Maurice P.), The Supreme Command, (London, 1961), 
Vol. 1, p. 62. 

38 - •Notesofo Conference heldat2, Whitehall Gardens', 12 Jan. 1906. 

39 - Tyler, The British Anny and the Continent, p. 41. 
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Committee of Imperial Defence took the entire matter under consideration on 12th 

January is clearly incorrect1 and arose, no doubt, from a confusion between the 

official Committee and the group of individuels who met in Conference during these 

crucial weeks at the Whitehall Gardens offices of the C.L.D. ~O Regardless, the 

traditional view maintains thot Repington reported at least sorne part of his talks with 

Huguet1 which dated bock to 28th December1 to Sir Edward Grey. This is1 however, 

by no means to suggest thot Grey, or: for thot matter anyone els~ in the Cabinet1 had 

become party to the Whitehall Gardens• Conferences. Nevertheless, by 8th January 

Grey, having been lectured at sorne length by beth Esher and Clarke, had been moved 

sufficiently to get in touch with Haldane 1 who was campaigning in Scotlando lt is 

clear from tbe tone of Grey•s letter to Haldane that beth Clarke and Esher had been 

eamestly playing up the immediacy of the problem owing to the international crisis : 

Persistent reports and little indications keep reaching me 
thot Germany means to attack Fronce in the Spring. 1 
don•t think these more thon precautions and flourishes, 
which Germany would naturally make apropos of the 
Morocco conference. 

But they are not altogether to be disregarded. A 
situation might arise funexpectedltl in which popular 
feeling might compel the Govt. togo to the help of 
France & you might suddenly be asked what you could do. 

Fisher says he is ready 1 by which 1 take it means 
thot his ships are so placed thot he con drive the German 
fleet off the seo & into shelter at any time. 

1 don't ask you give any definite answer in a hurry1 

but 1 think you should be preparing one.41 

Here there is no mention of Belgium. Th us by -8th January Grey 1 if not Holdane1 hod 

become.party to what wos in essence o conspirocy on the port of the 1new men• beth 

inside and outside the Army who hoped to present their proposais, somewhot in the form of 

40 - See: Tyler, The British Army and the Continent, p. 42. Dunlop, J.K., 
The Development of the British Army, 1899- 1914, (london 1 1938, p. 240. 

41 - GreytoHoldane, 8Jon.1906. HoldaneMSS 1 MS5907. 
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a fait accompli, to the new Govemment which was, as they understaod only tao w~ll, 

dominated by its pacifist and 'Little Englander' elements. Here was an alrnôst classic 

example of the professional cowing the civilian by insisting upon the immutability of 

his 'odvice'. 'Aimost., because white Haldane remoined skeptical Grey required 

little persuasion. Grey and Haldane met at Berwick on 12th January and agreed on 

the advisability of joint planning, emphasising, of course, thot such action should in 

no way bind the Govemment ta any particular line of action in the event of war. 

Haldane was appointed to the task of convincing Sir Henry Campbeii-Bannerman of the 

necessity for such action, which surprisingly, he accomplished successfully during the 

course of the following week. Nevertheless Sir Henry, who had no doubt been faced 

with a classlcal argument of professional immutability, would have preferred not to 

have yielded to this Liberal-lmperialist sentiment, for as he told his leader in the Uppttr 

House, Lord Ripon, early in February 1906 : 

1 do not ltke the stress laid upon joint preparations. lt 
cames very close to an honourable undertaking and it 
will be known on both sides of the Rhine.42 

The Prime Minister was to have his prescience confirmed only too weil with the 

passage of the years. On 15th January Sanderson_, the long-time Permanent Under~ 

Secretary at the Foreign Office and one of the wiser diplomats when it came ta dealing 

with Germany, wrote to Griersan : 

1 showed your letter of the 11 th to Sir E. Grey, and he 
spoke ta Mr. Haldane on the subject. They agree to 
your enterlng into communication with the French Military 
Attaché' here for the purpose of obtaining such information 
as you requlre asto the method in which mi li tory assistance 
could in case of need be best afforded by us to France and 
vice-versa. Such communication must be solelyprovisional 
and non-committal. 43 

42 - Campbeii-Bannerman to Ripon, 2 Feb. 1906. Cited: Manger, The End of 
Isolation, p. 250. 

43 - Sandersan to Griersan, 15 Jan. 1906. British Documents on the Origins of 
the War 1898-1914, ed. G.P. Gooeh & H. Temperfey {London, 192~j, 
Vol. Ill, No. 214. 
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Though Sanderson does go on to authorise Staff Conventions with the Belgians, it cannat 

be den.ied thot the official approval of the French staff conversations was not based upon 

any necessary cossus belli arising out of a Gennan violation of Belgian neutrality. 

The politlcal whys and wherefores of Campbeii-Bannennan's agreement and Grey's 

somewhat reticent behaviour are not of immediate concern to this study. Suffi ce it to 

say thot the Prime Minister was faced with an almost impossible task in both holding his 

Cabinet together as weil asto meeting the demands of each faction without offending 

the others. lt was because of this, thot Campbeii-Bannerrnan became party to Grey's 

refusai to reveal the Conversations to the Cabinet. Grey's ready acceptance of the 

proposais put forward by the Whitehall Gardens' Conference indicates how pre-conceived 

his notions were upon the nature of British foreign po licy. Unlike Lansdowne, Grey was 

unable to reject old premises in his efforts to adopt an objective viewpoint.44 

Haldane's acceptance, on the other hand, of the proposais for joint planning with 

the French General Staff, was far more significant thon Grey's. Haldane was weil knawn 

for his openness of mind on matters of foreign policy - in fact so much so thot he was even 

at this early date accused of pro-Gennan · Jeanings. lt must be assumed thot his decision 

to bock Grey's proposais arosç..from his'view tho the Algeciras Crisis was sufficiently 

grave asto merit immediate action. There was also, perhaps, an element of political 

expediency in the recognition of an opportunity to assert Liberal-lmperialist influence 

in the shaping of foreign po licy from the very outset. At any rate his la ter qualifications 

would indicate thot he had sanctioned the Conversations dlrectly as the result of pressure 

arising from the international cri sis. 

Thus the 'new men' had secured the necessary approval for their actions, with the 

result thot on 16th January Repington, whose role Grey had found thoroughly distasteful, 

was quietly superceded by Grierson as the Conversations took on the cloak of official 

respectability - albeit witl1 the underlined prov[sos thot they be conducted 'without 

prejudice' to the freedom of action of elther party, and upon a 'solely provisional and 

44 - Manger, The End of Isolation, p. 330. 
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non-committal basis'. Nevertheless, to the old school, the Fisherites, to those concemed 

with Imperial Defence, it was unthinkable that the government should be thinking about 

committlng England, and the Empire, to a mi lirory odventure upon the Continent. 

On 19th January the Whitehall Gardens' Conference was convened for the last 

time. Owing ta Fisher's action only Esher, Clarke, French and Grierson were present. 

Grierson confinned the increosingly'French'bent of the proceeding in noting that the 

ideal ports for disembarkation were Cherbourg and Boulogne. 
45 

lt was a Iso reveoled 

that the French wanted the British to dispatch a token force to France aheod of the 

expeditionary force; 
46 

no doubt they felt this would commit England as soon as possible. 

ln any case France rather thon Belgium had come to dominate ali of these deliberations: 

After the transport of the two Anny Corps across the Channel 
.was completed the southern French ports could be given up, 
and Calais and Boulogne would become the over-seo bases 
of the British Force. If operations in Bel_gium become necessary 
the base would be changed to Antwerp. 47 

And as further evidence, contrary to the French General Sroff's response to Repington, 

lt was unddrstood by the Conference 

. . . thot in the event of a British force being employed 
on the French frontier, its status would be thot of an 
independent body under the general control of the French 
Commander-in-Chief. 48 

This latter statement was no doubt purposefully ambiguous in an effort to gloss over the 

French reply on this point to Colonel Repington. 

These Conferences had become purely military, and, contrary to Lord Hankey's 

statement, they dld not come to an end because of Ottley's withdrawal. Admiralty 

45 - • Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whiteha Il Gardens', 19 Jan. 1906. 
C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 18/24*. 

46 - 'Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whitehall Gardens', 19 Jan. 1906. 

47 - • Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whitehall Gardens', 19 Jan. 1906. 

48 - 'Notes of a Conference held at 2, Whitehall Gardens', 19 Jan. 1906. 
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support was not requlred for the operations which were being discussed,for a blockade 

of the straits was a standard part of the Admiralty's containment policy even at this 

date. The fa ct thot no further meetings were held must be attributed to the fact that 

the Conferences had achieved their goal : the strategie posture of Great Britain had 

been swung around to face the prospect of military involvement upon the Continent. 

The overwhelming concem wtth the North West Frontier had finally been laid to rest. 

Fisher's refusai to guarantee the safety of troop transport to Belgium untll after the 

naval decision, had laid the way open for the soldiers to press for landings at French 

ports regardless of whether or not the troops were to be used in France rather than in 

Belgium. The military had broken up the old concept of 'offensive strategy' being 

based upon comblned operations dependent upon the exercise of sea power. The 'new 

men' had establlshed for themselves an independant entity as a military force designed 

for service upon the Continent, principally in France. The decision to disembark in 

France is evidence enough of the mi li tory rejection of any form of combined operation. 

lt becomes clear, therefore, thot the decision to undertake the Conversations, was 

the decision not of the diplomats or of the politiciens but of the soldiers. Grey had 

approved of the Staff Conversations because they represented a tangible exemple of his 

somewhat narrow conception of England's foreign policy in action. The Foreign Secretary 

was content to fool himself by hedging his approval with countless reservations, but 

nevertheless there was no one more content to have had his own unexpressed feelings 

pressed upon him wJth ali the force of 'professional' authority. 

lt is extremely difficult, indeed it is impossible, to clearly determine the exact 

bent of the Staff Conversations during these early years. lt has already been suggested 

that the Whitehall Gardens' Conferences had tended to lean towards operations in France 

in the event of a Franco-German war even though the participants had considered the 

violation of Belgian territory extremely likely in that event. Furthermore, it is true that 

Conversations were set up between the British Military Attachè in Brussels and General 

Ducarne, the Chief of the Belgian Army Staff. But with the cooling-off after the end of 

the Algeciras Crisis these talks soon petered out due largely to Belgian fears of adverse 

German reaction. Finally, it is also true thot in submittfng their questions to the French 
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General Staff the Conference had laid emphasis upon the necessity of the cossus belli 

of an Initial vtolat[on for Belglan integrlty by Germany. However, it wouid be weil to 

point out thot the questions had been formulated by Esher and Clarke who, no doubt, 

genuinely belteved England could become involved upon the Continent ln no other 

manner. But ln any case, as has already been noted, the minutes of the Conferences 

reveal thot ali present seem to have adopted Griérson's beltef thot Belgian involvement 

was inevitable. Nevertheless, there was every suggestion in these proceedings thot 

even if Belgian soli were violated the British contribution to the wor might be carrled out 

in France, and thot-come what moy her troops would be disembarked at French portso 

lt would be reasonable, then, to assume, thot even at this earl y date, the military, 

indeed even a statesman of Esher'sstature,had adopted a decidedly 'French' attitude. 

This is, however, by no means to suggest thot these men were necessari ly aware of the 

implications of their proposais for British strategie planning as a whole., 

As will be seen Esher, a confirmed 'Fisherlte', regarded this proposed milttary 

operation upon the Continent as a mere 'sideshow' in itself. He had no conception thot 

this proposai would in time come to completely upset England's defence posture. As a 

statesman Esher realised thot if the Entente were to survive England was obliged to offer 

some tangible advantage to France. As with so many others Esher, as yet, foi led to 

understand thot British military involvement in Europe would effectively negate centuries 

of maritime strategy 1 and would jeopardise the entire concept of a national pol ley built 

upon seo power. 

But, while Esher was to change his views in the years to come, oihers were already 

entertaining grave misgivings eoncerning the implications of this departure. Haldane 

refused to accept Grey's view thot the Continental Strategy was directly solely towards 

the reinforcement of the Entente via tentative agreements of co-operation with France 

and the French General Staff ; rather he took the view thot the Continental Strategy had 

been shaped in arder to give England a direct hand in the defence of the Channel ports 

and the safeguarding of the sacrosanct neutrality of Belgium. 
49 

Of course such action 

49 - Haldane of Cloan, Viscount (Richard B.), An Autobiography, (London, 1929), 
p. 187. Haldane of Cloan, Viscount (Richard B.), Before The WarK 
(London, 1920) , p • 162 • 
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wot~Jd necessltate a considerable degree of planning and co-operation wlth the French 

General Staff, but, on the other hand, tt did not of necesstty follow thot the 

Expedrtlonary Force would actually partlclpate ln French mtlltary operations. lt was 

partly for this reason, and partly due to the press of Internai business thot Haldane 

permitted the Conversations to lag after the s~er of 1906 when the Imperatives 

raised by the Algeciras crisis had begun to recede, and following upon the departure 

of Grierson from the Directorate of Military Operations. Lyttleton had no interesf in 

the Conversations and Grierson's successor, Lieutenant-General Sir John Spencer Ewart, 

was of much the same disposition os his chief.. Ewart, who has since been described by 

Huguet as 'an officer of a timorous nature and little liking for responsibiliti was not of thot 

body of opinion within the Aimy' thatenthusiostically endo..Sed, the Continental Strotegy. 50 

An indication of the differing views of Haldane and Grey may be drawn from the 

latter's bitter opposition to hiscolleague's·visit to Germany in the autumn of 1906. By 

a figment of his own imagination Grey felt thot Haldane was deliberately going out of 

his way to snub the french. ln a letter of Jrd September 1906 Grey wrote : 

ln hurricanes 1 believe there is always a calm spot at the 
centre. 1 can't say 1 enjoy whirlwinds ; being here alone 
1 have however been able to see the ludicrous prospect of 
this one. lt may alos •. have serious consequences; we 
must wait & see. 1 wont to preserve the Entente wtth France, 
but it isn't easy, and if it is broken up 1 must go& The French 
have of course taken this much too seriously and made a moun­
tain out of it. 1 hope thot Bourgeois· has over-rated the 
effect it is likely to have on the French Press and Public 
Opinion; if so the incident will perhapsbe forgotten. 

Nevertheless 1 am glad to know thot you are leaving 
51 

Berlin tomorrow,. 1 look forward to seeing you on the 15th. 

Grey's reference to French excesses is not in connection with the 'Entente' itself, but 

refers ratker to Holdone's visit which happened to coincide with Gennan celebrations 

50 - Huguet, J., Britain And The War: A French lndictment, (London, 1928), p. 7. 

51 - Grey to Haldane, 3 Sept. 1906. Haldane MSS, MS 5907. 
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commemorating, Sedan. Grey•s dissatisfoction with Haldane's attitude towards his 

•Entente• policy is evident in a letter of October 1907 ln which the Foreign Secretary 

demanded thot the War Officerefrain from sending the band of the Coldstream Guards 

to Germany lest this action jeopardise the •Entente•. 
52 

Thot the Foreign Secretary 

could have become so overwrought conceming so trivial a matter has been cited 

recently as evidence of Grey•s inability to see beyond the bonds of the •Entente• 

1
. 53 

po 1cy. 

1 t wou Id seem therefore thot the recent claim thot Haldane, machiavellian-like, 

plotted the commitment of the B. E.F. to France from the Hrst would appear to be of 

dubious character. 
54 

The fact of the matter is thot Haldane had regarded the 

Conversations, undertaken in January 1906, as an emergency measure designed to 

offset the threat posed by the Algeciras Crisis. The fact thot nelther Haldane, nor 

his closest adviser, Douglas Haig, pursued the Conversations further and thot they were 

in fact permitted to lapse, is evidence enough thot Haldane did not hold the •Entente• 

in the sorne reverence as did Grey. Holdane dld not regard the Conversations in them­

selves as forming an irrevokable step, and he seems, therefore, to have very quickly 

pushed them to the bock of his mind as the irlternational crisis died away and he girded 

himself to face the difficulties of establishing the Expeditionary Force, designed for 

service in Indic, the Empire, Belgium and, possibly, even France, together with the 

Terri toria 1 Force as a .second 1 i ne army for Home De fe nee. 

And so it was thot Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman ~ad, in the words of 

Winston Churchill, at thot tJme the Colonial Under-Secretary and a leading Radical : 

••• ~uthorised, almost as the first act of what was supposed 
to be an era of Peace, Retrenchment, and Reform, the 
beginning of the mi litary conventions between the British and 

52 - Grey to Haldane, 4 Oct. 1907. Haldane MSS, MS 5907. 

53 - Manger, The End of Isolation, p. 329. 

54 - See: Guinn, P., British Strategy and Politics, 1914- 1918, (Oxford, 1965), 
pp. 10, 13 .. 
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French General Staffs with a view to concerted action 
in the event of war. 55 

While, no doubt, Grey, and, to a lesser extent, Haldane, were enthusiastic, and 

inasmuch as Campbeii-Bannennan had been willing to sanction the Conversations, the 

plain fact emerges thot the mtlitary chiefs had been considering the advisability of 

such a stra tegy for a number of years be fore the Libera 1 Government assumed office. 

Further, it is apparent thot the Conversations had been precipitated not by the 

ministers of the crown but rather by those very same men who had signalled the 

revolution in military organization. The essentiels of the Continental Strategy, wh ile 

sanctioned by the new Government, found their birthplace within the confines of in­

dependent mi 1 i tory thought. 

Here the· Conversations and the Continental strategy must be left for the moment. 

Both were to become crucial again during the years ofter the navaL t:risis of 1909 and 
\ 

falling upon the appointment of Henry Wilson as Director of Military Operations ln 1910. 

During the intervening years the Continental Strategy grodually seeped into the highest 

echelons of the War Office and the General Staff, and as will be seen this process af 

assimilation was to play an important role in the War Office 1s relations with the Committee 

of Imperial Defence. Nevertheless prior to 1910 the Continental Strategy was to make 

little further headway 1 and its development was left in the midst of the uncertainty of 

the deliberations of the Conferences which took place in Whttehall Gardens in December 

1905 and January 1906. As Brigadier Sir John Dunlop has since noted : 

For the moment however the full implication of the new policy 
was not grasped, nor was the situation as dangerous as it would 
become la ter. With General Grierson at the War Office a 
British force for the defence of the Northern Ports was a con;.. 
trollable factor, it was not unttl General Henry Wilson came ta 
the War Office with his devotion to French doctrine and French 
leadership that the British Expeditionary Force became tied to a 
preconceived French Plan. 56 

But the fi rst Step had be en taken . 

55 - Churchill, W.S., The World Crisis, (New York, 1923), Vol. 1, p .. 27. 

56 - Dunlop, J.K •1 The Development of the British Army, p. 246. 
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CHAPTER FOUR 

THE FISHER YEARS 

Wtthout a supreme Navy, whatever mtlttary am:.mgements we make, 
whether for foreign expeàltions or Home Defence, must be utterly 
win and futile. 

The Hon. Winston S. ChurchiJI, 
House of Commons; May 1901. 

lt1s astoundlng tome, perfectly astoundlng, how the very best amongst 
us absolutely fall to realise the vast Jmpending revolution in naval 
warfare and naval strategy that the submarine wfll accomplish ~ 

Admirai Sir John Fisher to 
Admirai William May J AprJI 1904. 

Steam Navles have as yet made no history which can be quoted as 
decisive ln its teachlng. 

The -essence of war ts VIolence. 
Moderation in war is lm bec ill ty. 
Hit flrst, Hit hard and Htt ANYWHERE ~ 

Rear-Admiral Alfred T. Mahan; 1905. 

Admirai of the Fleet Sir John Fisher; 1905. 

One thlng is certain : rf we fafl In malntalnlng our sea-power, lt does not 
matter ln the least where we succeed. Tartff Refonn, Social Refonn, ali 
refonns are perfectly useJess. As a Nation we shall have ceased to exlst. 

The Rt. Hon • Arthur James Ba 1 four ; 1909. 

1 am very finnly convlnced thot you cannot improve upon Fisher 
for Flrst Sea Lord. 

William Earl Selborne toThe 
Rt. Hon. Arthur James Ba 1 four; M.ay 1915. 

77 



At the beglnning of the century the Admirqlty was- Fisher. 

Sir Archibald Hurd J 1941. 

DURI NG these last fleetlng years of England's preeminence, in the mi dst of thot 

sparkltng galaxy of wJt and excellence, Admirai Sir John Fisher stood aport from his 

fellow man - a glrtterlng peacock, a bubbltng volcano, an radrriinlstrofor of in­

comparable abtlity. Unfortunately, If he is remembered at ail, Fisher is recalled as 

a man of vengeance and Just, of incompetence and rigidity, of violence and 

irresponslbtlity. Thot he ts remembered in these terms provides evidence enough thot 

his years at the Admiralty were lndeed 'years of power'. The exercise of power seldom 

breeds admiration J it always provokes dissent. Fisher is not recalled as a Naval hero 

cast in the shadow of Nelson, though in truth his contribution to the nation's survive! 

was of no Jess importance thon thot of hts lllustrious predecessor. Sorne years ago a 

close friend, if a somewhat critical observer, noted in recalling the debt owed to Fisher 

by his countrymen : 

Future generations will know ltttle of what they owe to 
John Arbuthnot 1 Lord Fisher of K Jlverstone. Among the 
collection of eye-arrestlng monuments ln Westminister 
Abbey 1 there ts none to perpetua te his memory. St. 
Paul's Cathedral, where Nelson was laid to rest, has as 
yet nothing to remind the visiter of ali thot Fisher did for 
the nation. 1 doubt if even there was a man ltke him -
sailor, administrator, writer and speaker. He was a man 
of many friends, who would have done anything for him, and 
of many enemies, who never wearied from revlling him and 
his works. And yet he triumphed over ali calumny and 
criticism. 1 

When Fisher hauled dawn his flag, which was incidentally, the largest of its klnd 

In the fleet, upon his departure from Portsmouth on Trafalgar Day 1904 to take up his 

1 - Hurd, A.S., Who Goes There ?, {London, 1941), p. 59 .. 
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appointment as Ftrst Seo Lord, he suffered under no illusions concernlng the nature of 

the task before hlm. His purpose was to glve meaning to the service motto - 'facto 

non verba' - ln pursulng his campaign for drastlc reform and renewal from the vantage 

point of his new position. Fisher determined to exercise t6 the hilt the powers conferred 

upon him ln order to propel the service from out of its 'sail and cannon-bali' mentality, 

from the lethorgy of comfort and security so falsely provided by the long shadow of 

Trafalgar. Fisher weil realised thot his bed was not one of roses; wrlting to 

Viscount Knollys, Private Secretary to King Edward, ln August 1904 he had noted : 

Vast changes are indispensable for fightfng efficiency and for 
instant readiness for war. We have neither at present ! And 
we have got to be ruthless, relentless, and remorseless in our 
reform •. • • • 1 hope to reduce the Novy estimates by many 
millions with an increase of 30 percent in fighting strength and 
instant readfness for war, but tt w111 be a FIERCE fight ~ and 1 
may 'go under', but 1 think not.2 

Of course, Fisher had his shortcomings, which will be discussed shortly 1 nevertheless, 

his deficiencies were greatly outwelghed by his many qualities and hts genius as a naval 

administrator ~ 

While this is, indeed, 'Fisher's Chapter1
1 it must nevertheless restrlct itself to 

within the confines of two maior considerations: Fisher's contribution to the evolution 

of strategie thqught within the Novy durlng his years as First Seo Lord ; and the 

Admiralty as an institution within the framework of national defence • lt would be both 

tedious and pointless to burrow into the details of the Fisher reforms. Sorne attention 

will, however, be paid to the consequences of these initiatives upon the Novy both as an 

institution and as an organ of the defence establishment. Besides the Fisher years, in 

most other respects, have formed the centrepiece for a contfnuing life-long study of the 

2 - Fisher to Knollys, August 1904. Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), 
Fear God and ·bread Nought : The Carres ondence of Admirai of the Fleet 
lord Fis er of Kilverstone, ed. rthur • Marder(London, 1952-1959, 
Vo 1 • 1 , p • 327. 
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Royal Novy, from the lote nineteenth century to the close of the Great War, by a 

most eminent contemporary naval historien. 
3 

Fisher's strategie thought was firmly anchored upon two fundamental precepts : 

his adherence to the princtples of the Blue Water School ; and his conviction thot any 

'offensive' British contribution to a war in Europe must lie wtthln the scope of amphiblous 

operations whereln the full exercise of sea power could best be reconctled with Englànd's 

traditional reliance upon a small thoroughly tralned military establishment. Throughout 

Fisher's rule at Admiralty House, and during his years behind Churchill, these fundamental 

precepts were never abandoned and the presuppositions upon which they were based 

remained viable. The Novy was retained as the country's first llne of defence ; and the 

Army, forall lts fantasyand ltsadherence to the Continental StratE!gy, remained 

nevertheless upon o scale wholly ill-suited for field operations in a European theatre. 

For an island power naval strategy is marked by a reasonably concise 

dlfferentiatlon between the defence and the offence. For such a novy the strategy of 

the offence encomposses those operations whtch are not directly concemed with the tasks 

of guarding agalnst invasion and rendering the battle-fleet of the enemy inoperative. 

The offence includes, therefore, such undertakings as commerce warfare, blockade and 

amphibious operations in general. Fisher's defensive strategy while controversial was 

nevertheles.s a positive factor ; Sir John's plans for the destruction of the High Seas 

Fleet while disputed in terms of their efficocy have never been challenged for their 

veracity. The design for North Seo concentration, backed as it was by the great 

materiel innovations and administrative reforms, was demonstratively Fisher's strctegy for 

the defence. The old soi lor always kept before him the two essentiel tasks of the Novy : 

the defence of the United Klngdom and the destruction c::i the enemy fleet. White 

concentration, both in terms of the fleets themselves and of the vessels which they 

3 - See : Works of Arthur J. Morder ; esp. From the Dreadnought to Sc(] pa 
Flow: The Royal Novy in the Fisher Era, 1904- 1919, (London, 1961), 
Vol. 1. 
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comprised, provoked and continues to provoke bitter discussion, it was, nevertheless, 

a policy of profound genius revealing the depth ofFisher's ùnderstandlng of the 

fondamental needs of Imperial Defence, and his abiltty ta hannonise these needs with 

the implications of the changing International position of his country. Writlng du ring 

1912, by which time the naval race had taken on a truly alannfng aspect, Viscount Esher 

endorsed Fisher's foresight in noting with respect to the role of the Nevy in the defence 

of the Empire as a whole : 

The average Englishman ali over the Empire has got to clearly 
understand thot if the British Empire is to float on the British 
Novy, thot Nevy has got to be of Immense size, concentrated 
in particular for the purpose of ensuring overwhelming superiority 
at the crucial point, and at the crucial moment, but distributed 
aJso over certain minor theatres of possible conflict. 4 

Perhaps Fisher would not have agreed with Esher's closing remark in view of the 

seriousness of the Gennan menace, but nevertheless the spirit of Sir John's motivation 

was evident in Esher's statement. Of course, many bitterly attacked Fisher for an 

alleged disregard for the needs of Imperial defence as a whole ; but the Admirai fully 

realised thot the concentration of the Naval resources of the Empire against German)' 

constituted the optimum fonn of overoll defence. If his own countrymen were not 

wholly olive to the more positive aspects of Fisher's various fleet redistributions, the 

enemy was evidently more alert. A cltpping from the Staatsburg Zeitung of 25th 

October 1906, which had been forwarded to the Admirotfy by the Naval AttQché at .Potsdam 

and sent on ta Mr. Balfour, betrayed an obvious respect for Fisher thot was lacking àt 

home: 

Very moderotely now follows, onder the idyllic title of Home 
Fleet, the concentration Qf the English Naval Forces against us. 
They do not coll tt the North Sea Fleet - thot sounds so aggres­
sive, and the Britons are friends of peace. Ali ore giving of their 
best, so thot everything moy be formed on one spot.5 

4 - Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), The Influence of King Edward, (London, 
1915) 1 p. 153. 

5 - Extroct from 'Staatsburger Zeitung', 25 Oct. 1906 ; Balfour MSS, Add. 
MS 49711. 
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lt mtght weil be added thot this redistribution of October 1906, which had establlshed 

the Home Fleet, thot embryonic form of the Grand · Fleef·of. August 1914, had been 

bttterly assailed as strategically unsound and many, including such moderates as 

Commander Dewar, attributed Fisher's motives to a despicciële desire to reduce 

Beresford's influence and authority in stripping him and the Channel Fleet,of which he 

was Commander-in-Chief,not only of the latest mat,riel but also of the de facto 

d • • 6 supreme comman at sea m warttme. 

Admiralty policy with respect to the·'Guerre de Course' closely adherred to the 

ltnes laid down by Mahon ; though by 1912 Fisher had come to regard such operations 

as the decisive factor in modem warfare. Official thought upon this matter had also 

been influenced by the widespread belief in the brevity of warin the twentieth century. 

Furthermore, despite rapld developments in undersea warfare towards the close of 

Fisher's rule, the Board, especlally after 1910, refused ·to recognise this revolutionary 

instrument of wcr as any th i ng more thon a too 1 for coas ta 1 defence. By and large the 

members of the Board, excluding Sir John, tended to agree wJth the outdated opinions 

which Mahon had volëed over twenty years earlier : 

The harassment and distress caused to a country by serious 
interference with its commerce will be conceded by ali. 
lt is doubtless a most important secondary operation of .nova[ 
war, and ls not llkely to be abandoned till wcr itself shall 
cease ; but regarded as a primary and fundamental measure, 
sufficient in Jtself to crush an enemy, it is probably a delusion, 
and a most dangerous deluslon, when presented in the fascinating 
garb of cheapness to the representatives of a people • • • • 
Only by military command of the seo by prolonged control of 
the strategie centres of commerce, con such an attack be fatal ; 
and s.uch control can be wru!:'Q from a powerful novy only by 
ftghting and overcomlng Jt J 

6 - Dewar, K.G.B., The Navy From Wfthin, (London, 1939), p. 100. 

7 - Mahon, A.T., The Influence of Seo Power Upon History: 1660- 1783, 
(New York, 1957), p. 481 . 
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ln such a frame of mind the Board tended to regard Flsher's wamings of the efficacy of 

massive commerce warfare Jn much the same ltght as hts allled forebodlngs concerning 

the future ôf undersea warfare. 

The concem here is, however, prlnclpally with Fisher's thoughts upon the 

strategy of the offence. Such a discussion must, for the most part, be come enveloped 

in a fog of controversy and obscurtty. No definitive study has been att~mpted on this 

matter; it is unl1kely thot any such work will ever be produced because in essence it 

is to discuss the negative - only general conclusions concerntng Fisher's offensive 

concepts con be arrlved at wtth any certalnty and their possible practical application may 

only be discussed in the broadest terms. But in examining such offensive-defensive 

deviees as submatine boots and blockade pollcy defini te conclusions may be drawn and 

many groundless accusations against Fisher laid to rest. 

Throughout his lifè 'Jacky' Ffsher's attitude towards strategie planning was 

dominated by a passionate devotion to the principles of the efficacy of surprise and, 

hence, to the paramount need for secrecy ln order to retain the viabi llty of thot principle. 

This explains much of the obscurity and controversy which surrounds the Admiral's 

strategie thought. However, as has already been seen, Fisher had a keen mind when 

considering the strategy for the defence, no Jess may be said of his offensive concepts. 

The cor'\troversy over the Jack of a naval war staff which raged towards the close of 

Fisher's rule and spilled over into Sir Arthur Wilson's time at the Admiralty has, in part 

at least, been regarded as tangible evidence of Fisher's lack of concern with strategie 

matters. ln point of fact the whole issue was ltself something of a fraud, a politicol 

gambit which whi le possessed of great merit in ltself was used for very different ends. 
8 

Fisher's secrecy, his refusai to discuss Admiralty strategie planning, provided the ideal 

opportunity for his cri tics to maintaln thot he was both reactlonary and incompetent. 

They saw no war plans, they had noted the genulne criticism of men such as 

8 - See : Appendix Ill, 'The Admiralty War Staff'. 
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Sir John Colomb, Spenser Wilkinson and HerbertRichmond concerning the lack of a 

properly organised naval staff slmilar to thot so recently estoblished in the Anny 4 

This Js by no means to suggest thot there was no need for a war staff; the..events of 

1914- 1916 clearly demonstrated quite the reverse4 But the very fallure of the 

Churchill War Staff was indicative that the Admhalty had no idea of the proper use of 

such a staff. Fisher's antlpathy towards the staff idea was seized upon1 first, as ideal 

ground upon whlch to oppose hlm, a move that merely drove the Admirai lnto a more 

recalcitrant stand upon the matter, and later as the perfect excuse to get rid of hlm, 

as weil as of his successor, Sir Arthur Wflson, to say nothfng of the Ffrst Lord­

Regtnald McKenna. And behlnd it ali, behlnd this pantomime of expressed ideal, lay 

the slnister presence of the Continental Strategy .. 

Sec recy bred confusion. But Fisher was not unappreciatlve of the importance 

of detafled strategie planning ; he planned to meet the requirements both of offensive 

and defensive strategy. His refusai to dtvulge his plans for the offence must be 

attributed not only to the need for secrecy but also to Fisher's reàHsation thot hiS .thoughts 

upon amphiblous operations were wholly at odds with the precepts of the Continental 

Strategy. lt would be weil to add thot the whole issue of the Jack of war plans and 

Flsher's secrecy dtd not become crltical until after the 'Syndicate of Dtsconte-nt' setzed 

upon lt followTng Beresford's forced retirement in May 1909. Vtscount Esher, for 

exemple, noted in January 1906 followlng upon Fisher's refusai to co-operate with the 

Whttehall Gardens Conference whtch had blueprinted the Mtlftary Conversations: 

Of èourse he ts a creature of moods, and he a Iso is very reticent 
about naval plans and rightly so. For them, no preparation is 
requlrèd. The Novy is always on a war footing, and a telegram 
can send a fleet to the other end of the earth. So why disclose 
tdeas, If there are any. 9 

9 - Esher toM. V. Brett, 14 Jan. 1906. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), 
Joumals and Letters, (London, 1934), Vol. Il, p. 134. 
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Of course Esher foi ls here to dlstingufsh between offensive and defensive planning. 

Nevertheless, his assertion has some merit in terms of strict naval planning for 

operations at sea, though none whatsoever in the case of combined amphiblous under­

taklngs where every core must be taken beforehand to ensure both accuracy and 

secrecy. · Besides, qui te oside from the Army's antipathy for combined operations, 

Fisher's assertion thot the 'War Office leaked like a sieve' was not without some 

considerable measure of veracfty '. 

At the heart of ali of Fisher's offensive strotegic thought lay the highly secret 

plan thot he entertained for amphiblous operotions in the Bal tic, a strotegic concept 

which was probably never worked out in any detail and conceming which Fisher 

refused to divulge a single word. The Novy was, in realtty, caught in a most 

unfortunate and awkward position. As the natfon's first llne of defence the Senior 

Service was largely expected to fulfill the dominant role in ali wartime operotions. 

lt was a role thot Fisher had every intention of executlng knowing full weil thot the 

alternative was a drostlc reductfon Jn naval expendlture orising from the expense of 

creating a satisfactory substitute in the form of a full-seo le conscript mi li tory estab­

lishment along Continental ltnes. Further Sir John was oware thot in such an 

eventuallty the Fleet would be so weakened thot any chance of destroying the enemy 

fleet would be signlflcantly reduced ; to acquiesce was to risk the safety and future 

of the entire Empire. lt was not enough for the Novy merely to defeat the enemy at 

seo and to drive hts commerce from the trade routes ; the Navy had also to spearhead 

the offensive contribution of the Empire in any given wmr effort. Of course, ft need 

hardly be added thot the new 'advanced' mllltary thinkers, such as Henry Wilson, would 

have warmly welcomed any decision on the part of the Admfrolty to abdicate from this 

latter responsibillty. T o have done so would have entailed a severe reduction in the 

Naval Estlmates, a morfal blow to the prestige and morole of the servlce1 and so serfous 

a reduction in materfal and personnel thot the Novy 1 and therefore the nation~! would 

have found itself ln a wholly untenable position ln view of the menace of the High Seas 

Fleet. lt was1 therefore1 Inevitable thot the Novy assume the additiona 1 burden of 

carrying the war to the homeland of the enemy. ln short, the Novy.~ in seeking to 
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adequately fulflll the one role1 namely defence, was forced1 owing to the dictates 

of men and mo teri a 1, to assume the addltiona 1 responslbiiJ ty for the execution of the 

strategy of the offence. A strategy for whlch she had little enthusiasm rea !ising that 

lts demands jeopardized her obligation to conduct the defence of the entire Empire 

whi re fighttng the more genera 1 war at sea. 

Before becoming too deeply immersed in this discussion of Fisher's offensive 

strategie thought lt would be worth whtle to glanee at his attitude to such tools as the 

submarine boat and blockade polfcy. Sir John has been widely credited with an 

inability to realise thot the new technology of modem worfare precluded the use of such 

offensive strategems as those involved in close blockade pollcy. Fisher has carelessly 

been identified with that same vintage of naval thought which formed the basis ..for the 

archaic plans for naval offensive operations whlch Sir Arthur Wilson presented to the 

Commlttee of Imperial Defence in August 1911. ln point of fact Wilson did, not reflect 

Fisher's views. The reverse is true. Sir John had ploneered the submorine ,boat in the 

Navy. As earl y as the la te 1890's the looming signtfiœnee of the under-sea boat h(ld 

been apparent to hlm. During his tenure as Admirai...Commanding at Portsmouth, from 

1902 un ti 1 the autumn of 19041 Fisher had fostered the development of these new vessels 

committing them to the capable hands of Captafn Reginald Bacon - who was later to 

gain infamy as a leading member of the 'Ffshpond' and to distingulsh himself with the 

Dover Patrol during the war. ln October 19031 Fisher had produced a paper discussing 

'The Effects of Submarine Boots•, ln which he had asserted : 

As regards the Novy, (t must revolutionlze Naval Tactics for 
this simple reason - thot the present battle formation of ships 
in single line presents a target of such length thot the chances 
are altogether ln favour of a Whitehead torpedo hitting from a 
distance of severa! mrleso This applies specially toits use by 
the Submarine Boat •••• 

lt affects the Army, because, imagine even one Submarlne 
Boat wlth a flock of transports in sight loaded -each with sorne two 
or three thousand troops •. • • • 10 

10 - Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence1 Vol. 1, p. 282. 
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The Admirai was obvlously not unaware of the effect thot these new crafts would have 

not only upon the broader questions of the tacttcal organlzatlon of the Fleet, but also 

upon the continued signi.ficance of .the 'Invasion Bog~y• .. 

Sir John's grasp of the altered circumstances impliclt ln the rapldly changing 

technology of his profession dictated a reorientation ln his fundamental outlook upon 

naval strategie thought, and hls alx:Jndonment of the prlnciples of close blockode. ln 

fact ft seems that, as early as 1902, the Board had ali but abandoned such concepts in 

blockade tactlcs owlng very largely to the threat of surface launched torpedoes, and, 

to a lesser extent, the stlfl fargely unreallsed potentlal of the submarlne boat - if only 

as a defensive weapon. Followlng upon the completlon of the combined manoeuvres 

of the Channel and Mediterraneen Fleets ln 1902 the Board, which included Sir John 

as Second Seo Lord, had observed 

•• ~ thot the dlfficulty already recognlsed fn malntainlng 
the close blockade of a port fumlshed wlth torpedo-boots and 
destroyers, fs fully corroborated even where the blockadlng 
force is in respect of cruisers and destroyers numerlcally far 
superior .11 

Balfour's Sub-Committee on Invasion of 1903- 1904, which will be dealt with later, 

had reUed heavtly upon Ftsher's vfews wlth respect to the potency of the submarine 

boat as a weapon eminent) y sulted to the defence of the British Isles from invasion. 

Writing to Sir John early in January 1904, whlle the Sub-Commlttee was stiJl 

delrberatlng, the Prime Minlster noted : 

1 t is unnecessary to tell you how heartlly 1 am ln sympathy 
with your observations on the relation between Submarines 
and lnvasion. : indeed, my Paper on Home Defence, whlch 
1 thtnk was shewn you, ls largely based upon the considerations 
to whlch you refer. 12 · 

11 - Board of Admiralty conclusion on Joint Fleet manoeuvres, September 1902. 
Clted: Marder, A.J., The Anatomy of Brltbh Sea Power: 1880- 1905, 
{London, 1964), p. 369" 

12 - Balfour to Fisher, 3 Jan. 1904.. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 
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Sir John, in his turn, fully supported the Prime Mtnister, the benefactor of the new 

Fisher spirit whtch had flrst been injected into the Novy as early as the summer of 

1902, exclatmi ng ta Sandars : 

Yesu 1 thought the Prlme Mlnister's Paper on Invasion simpll 
splendld and lt further fortiftes me ln the opinion 1 have 
conslstently held of the inestimable beneftt of a Civlltan {as 
opposed to a technlc;fan or expert) belng ever at the head of 
anything - the subject being treated always gets looked at 
by a ctvlltan from an outslde point of vlew and you get an 
unbfased summtng-up .13 

lt must, of course, be kept ln mind that the 'Invasion Bogey• was intimately tied up 

wtth the who!e dispute over the relative merits of 'naval' v's 'milltary' defence. 

Needless to say 1 Fisher was pleased thot the Sub-Committee came down in favour of 

the Blue Water School. But the fact, neve.rtheless, remalns thot botli the 'services' 

were primarily concerned with self-interest ; it just so happened thot whereas the 

national fnterest coincided with the aspirations of the Senior Service, by the same 

token they were at odds wtth those of the new 'advanced' mi lltary figures. 

The concern over the possibilities of invasion was very closely related to the 

debate over the efficacy of the close blockade. Ntneteenth century-style blockade 

was merely the other side of the invasion coin. Howev.er, the matter of the continued 

effectiveness of the close blockade was settled 'once and for ali' followlng upon the 

completlon of the torpedo-craft manoeuvres which were conducted off Milford Haven in 

August 1904. The Commander-in-Chief of the torpedo-craft flofilfas had concluded: 

(1) Battleships and cruisers are not safe within the radius of 
action of hostile torpedo craft, even though protected by a 
forger force of destroyers thon is possible by thetr enemy. 

(2) Destroyers and torpedo-boots cannot be so effectively 
blockaded fn their ports asto prevent them sltpping out in 
one's and two's at night, and becomlng a danger to their 
enemy. 

13 - Fisher to Sandars, 3 Jan. 1904.. Balfour MSS, Add .. MS 49710 .. 
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(3) The existence of submarlnes ln a port makes a close 
blockQde at nlght, even by destroyers, Impossible, as these 
vessels are on clark nlghts practlcally fnvtstble, even when 
on the surface, and could attack and slnk blockadlng shlps 
with little rlsk of discovery .. 14 

The upshot of this type of thinklng flowered by the close of 1907 wtth a finn rejectlon of 

the prlncfples of close blockade on the part of the Admirai ty.. Blockade poltcy was to 

undergo a series of violent fluctuations during the next few years - especlally during 

Sir Arthur Wllson's brief tenure as Ftsher's successor. But lt would be weil to 

remember that in the course of an Admlralty Memorandum submltted to the Cabinet in 

Morch 1905 ft had been noted : 

Submarfne boats may In a broad sense be looked on as extending 
the defence of a port enormously beyond the range of gunfire, 
and as llnkfng the defences of ports along Jtmges of coast now 
locally undefended.15 

As yet the full potential of the submarine boat had not become apparent to the Board. 

Many hlgh-ranklng offfcers lacked enthuslasm for what was wldely regarded as the 

cowardly weapon of a weak power. Early troubles enaou.ntered by Bacon at Portsmouth 

coupled to Sir WIIUam White•s rather frlghtening experiences had somewhat dampened the 

enthuslasm of any but Fisher and his closest advisers. But ln spite of the setbacks the 

defensive value, at least, of the submarine boat was reeognised by 'even the most blgated 

of naval men' and this undentanding played a fateful role ln the re jection of the 

'Invasion Bogey' and the abandonment of the close blockade astrn instrument of war.
16 

WUh tne passage of the years the Admiralty came lncreaslngly to vtew the submarlne as 

a rellable offensive weapon ; Fisher's appreciation was evident early-on wtth the intro­

duction of the "011 Class type fn the 1907-1908 Estlmates. By the date of hrs retirement 

14 - N .1 aD. No. 754, December 1904. Clted: Marder, The Anatomy of British 
Sea Power, pp • 369 - 370. 

15 - •Submarfne Boots•, Morc:h 1905. Cabinet Pape.rs, Cab. 37/751 No .. 57o 

16 - Kemp, P .. K., H.M. Submarlnes, {l,.ondon, 1952) 1 P• 32 .. 
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on his slxty-nlnth blrthday ln January 1910 Sir John had managed to give the Novy 

some sixty undersea boats some of which were obviously designed for 'offensive' 

purposeso Unfortunately the record of his successors was Jess enviable, and little 

enthusiasm was evTnced in offfctal clrcles for the further development of this new 

concept in naval warfare. 

Viewed in the light of what has been said, there seems little llkelihood that the 

detailed plans which have recently been publtshed by the Head of the Naval 

Historical Branch of the Mlnistry of Defence, in happler days known as the Historical 

section of the Admhalty, are in fact any real indication of the true nature of Fisher's 

strategi c thought .. 
17 

The edi tor. of these pa pers, though on somewhat dfffering 

grounds, has tended towards much the same conclusion. 1 t appears that these 

extensive plans, which dealt with the problems of conducting naval operations against 

the North Sea and Baltlc coasts of the German Empire presupposing the establishment 

and maintenance of a close blockade, were drawn up at the Naval War Col lege, 

Portsmouth, durlng the autumn of 1906.. They were formulated by some of the leading 

members of the 'Fishpond' including Captaln G.A. Ballard, himself a former Director 

of Naval Operations, Captaln E.J. W. Slade, one time Commandant of Fisher's War 

College, Captain Maurice Hankey and, lastly, Julian Corbett" the eminent naval 

historien and a lecturer at the War College. lt has been suggested thot the 'plans' 

were in essence a smoke-screen, In fact something of a public relations promotion. ln 

the first place the 'plans' were far too detailed denoting precisely how many ships were 

to be involved in given operations and golng so far as to llst each vesse! by nome. Suc:h 

detail represented a complete departure from previous Admiralty planning experience. 

Further, Tt has been pointed out thot the 'plans• were wholly at odds wlth the potentiel of 

Fisher's revolution in materiel wholly dlsregarding the defensive role of both the 

submarine boat and the mine. lt might weil be added thot Sir John's resignation over 

17 - See : Fisher of Kilverstone" Baron {John A.), The PÇJijers of Admirai 
Sir John Fisher, ed. P .K. Kemp (Greenwich, 1964 1 Vol. li. 
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the issue of the dispatch of modem capital shlps to the Dardanelles underlined both 

his refusai to sanction the commencement of amphibious operations before the enemy 

fleet had been destroyed, and his reluctance to expose his dreadnoughts to the on­

slaughts of bath mine and torpedo in what vtas essentia lly an operation based upon the 

princlples of close blockade. These so-called plans did not reflect current naval 

thinking as shaped by Fisher, and thelr very existence c:oupled to their wide advertise­

ment constituted: a complete negation of Sir John's oft-repeated insistence upon the 

necessity for secrecy and the importance of the element of surprise ln warfare. 

Regardless, if these plans were genuine in their reflection of current strategie thought 

at the Admiralty, which is more than doubtful, their pertinence could not have long 

survived the revolution ln matE!riel which was, in terms of both the 'Dreadnought' and 

the submarine boat, coming increasingly to bring its weight to bear upon strategie 

considerotions. 

Fisher's secrecy, his refusai to dJvulge his actual planning, and his deception ln the 

divulgence of the so-called Portsmouth plans to varlous naval officers and members of 

the Cabinet, have ali served only to befog his real attitude to the supreme question of 

offensive strategy - namely his estimation of the contlnued efficacy of the principles 

of close blockade. This ambiguity permitted many of his contemporaries to bitterly 

assail hlm with what ore now known to be empty changes. His correspondance is 

littered wrth admonitions to his friends inststing thot his enemies must not be torpedoed 

with the truth lest ln the long run such publtctty damage the national interest in the 

event of war. ln view of Fîshe~smony secret statements both to the Cabinet and to his 

colleagues upon the implications of the development of the submarine boat with respect 

to the viobf lity of the close blockade as an instrument of modem warfare, it may only be 

concluded thot the ambigufty of a statement, such as the one thot follows, was designed 

intentlonally to offset beth the accusations thot hts mind was devoid of ali strategie 

planning as weil as those of whom he suspected of havtng sorne knowledge of just as to 

what exactly his real strategy for the offence entailed. For example in lote January 

1908, at the helght of his dispute with Beresford concemlng the war plans for the 

Channel Fleet, Fisher wrote to Sir Edward Grey noting ln part : 
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1 enclose the 188 pages of War Plans. 1 think you will find 
Part 1 the tlnest bit of strategical exposition you ever read • 
1 have marked out the features of Sir Arthur Wllson's War Plan • 
The lovely thing Is., 1 gave these War Plans personally to 
Lord Charles Beresford nearly a year ago • • • • How can the 
Cabinet express any opinion on Str Arth1-1r Wtlson's cardinal 
feature of 'sweeps' - ln which 1 for one cannot express my 
confidence ? Are the Cabinet going to decide whlch is right -
Sir A. Wilson who wants the British Battle Fleet far removed from 
the North Sea, or Lord Charles Betesford, who wants i t there ?18 

The main issue of Cabinet interference which Fisher goes on to discuss at length will 

be dealt with later ; but for the moment the salient points are : in the first place, thot 

Fisher presents here the Portsmouth Committee plans as genuine Admiralty policy currently 

in force within the entire service ; and in the second place, by noting Wilson's 

temporary support for the principles of the questionable 'observational' blockade 

Sir John attempts to subtly indicate that he himself still favours the more traditional 

form of blockade. Now, aside from the fact that Fisher by his own admission would 

never have revealed his real plans to anyone, let alone to Grey whom Sir John knew to 

be in favour of the Continental Strategy, and in view of Fisher's troubles with Beresford 

and his motley collection of duchesses and 'beacned' failures, it seems quite clear that 

the whole purpose of Fisher's unwonted·wooing of the Foreign Secretary and other members 

of the Cabinet was by way of endeavouring to drum up support for his faltering position 

and to scuttle Beresford's efforts to cajole Asquith into undertaking an investigation of 

Admiralty policy spanning the previous four years. Sir John fully realised thot regard­

Jess of the outcome of any such investigation, its very existence would so divide the 

service thot he would have no choice but to 'go under'. Nevertheless Fisher was without 

doubt a man of principle and he regarded it as his paramount responsibility to forestall any 

crisis which might force his hand and lead to a direct confrontation between the War 

Office and the Admiralty : he knew thot in such an event, given the rift within the 

service and the persona! attacks upon himself, thot the mi li tory policy had an excellent 

18 - Fisher to Grey, 23 Jan. 1908. Fisher of Kilverstone1 Correspondence 1 

Vol. Il, pp. 155 - 157. 
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chance of gaining the fonnal sanction of the Liberal-lmperialists withln the Cabinet. 
19 

Tl me proved Fisher to be correct. 

Furthennore, Fisher's statements upon the impracticability of close blockade 1 on 

the one hand, and lnvasion,on the other, were so numerous thot to suggest thot he 

developed his strategie ideas upon lines so blatantly atodds with the implications of 

the new technology whose broader significance he had been the first to recognise is 

arrant nonsense bred upon a blinding hate for Fisher and 'Fisherism'. ln writing to 

Mr. Balfour at the close of 1903 Sir John had clearly stated his undisputed variance 

with those who continued to advocate close in-shore operations ; discussing invasion 

and the value of the submarine boat in thot connection he had noted : 

• • • the development of the submarine boat has absolutely 
precluded the idea of a moss of transports approaohing any 
position where the .landing of troops is feasible. Only those 
who have seen a flotilla of submarine boots (as at Portsmouth) 
working out in the open sea can form the right conception of 
the revolution they have caused .20 

Statements concerning this 'revolution' appear throughout Fisher's letters and memoranda 

culminating, as they did, in his prophetie paper on the subject produced in June 1912 

which drew even from Mr. Churchill the incredulous response thot '1 do not believe thot 

this would ever be done by a civilized power'. Asquith was so stunned at the blood­

thirsty old Admiral's pronouncements to the effect thot under-sea boots would be employed 

in the indiscriminate destruction of defenceless merchantmen, thot he suppressed Fisher's 

memorandum from the Cabinet repeating his censorship early in 1914 when Sir John 

submitted an even more blood-curdling forecast of the destructive potentiel inherent in 

this new weapon. Even more signlfi ca nt were Fisher's remarks upon the outcome of the 

1913 fleet manoeuvres which had been curtai led owing to the extensive '!osses' of surface 

vessels at the hands of submarine boots ; writing to Julian Corbett in November of thot 

19 - Fisher to Kilverstone, Correspondence, Vol. Il, pp. 155, 159. 

20 - Fisher to Balfour, November 1903'[?] Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. Ill, p. 16. 
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year lord Fisher had noted : 

When 1 became First Seo Lord, everyone thought me a lunatic 
for devefoping the submarfne, and 1 had to hide the money in 
the Estimates. ln consequence NOW we have 3,000 trained 
submarine officers and men, and over 2 keels to 1 against 
Germany and MORE SO. lt's wonderful what they dld in 
these last manoeuvres. 21 

lt may only be concluded thot ln drowing up the Portsmouth Committee 'plans', and in 

their subsequent submission to Grey and others, Fisher was effectively providing himself 

and his secret planning with an 'insurance policy' 1 a policy dlrected agai-nst the 

crlticism of Beresford and his 'Syndicate of Discontent•. Having waded through this 

miasma of contradiction and duplicity, having considered Sir John's mania for secrecy 1 

and with the knowledge of the underlying principles which dictated his strategie thinking 

as revealed so amply in his papers and correspondance, it becomes evident thot the 

verdict returned sorne years ago by the most eminent authority on the history of the 

Royal Navyduring these crucial yearsmuststill hold true: thot 'between 1904and 

1914 there was evolved the blockade strategy of the War, thot of distant survei !lance 

by the main fleet in weil defended bases'. 
22 

But what of the Baltic project itself? The scheme was never either fully 

revealed or planned in detail. The reasons have already beeri explained. Churchi Il 

considered the scheme in his frustrated desire to find an offensive role for the Novy : 

but the scheme was never examined by the much heralded War Staff and, besides, 

Churchill weil realised, if a trifle lote, thot his actions with respect to the Continental 

Strotegy had effectively dealt the Admirolty out of any offensive contribution to a 

British war effort in Europe. ln its fundamentals, which were worked out by Corbett 

just before the War, Fisher's scheme cal led for a massive assault upon the Pomeranian 

21 - Fisher to Corbett, 29 Nov. 1913. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. li, pp. 494-495. 

22 - Marder1 The Anatomy of British Seo Power, p. 370. 
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coast at its point closest to Berlrn, together with the landing of masses of Russian troops 

ifavallable.
23 

Needless to say in rejecting the suggestion of Russia military 

conversatfons in the SprTng of 1914 Grey made no mention of Fisher•s Baltic aspirations; 

tt is doubtful as to whether Grey knew anything about them, and even if he did it takes 

little imagination to realise how unpolatable a view he would have taken at that juncture. 

Wrlting after the War Fisher freely admitted that the scheme was a rash and daring 

strategical concept. He realised that many vessels would fa li victim to mines and 

submarines; however, as Fisher pointed out, upon his return to the Admiralty in 

October 1914 he had specially ordered over 600 vessels to carry out this one plan, which, 

if successful would be weil worth a high percentage of loss since they were constructed 

of the cheapest possible materiels. lord Beaverbrook noted some years ago with respect 

to Fisher•s scheme : 

lt was impossible to say that the plan was impracticable, but 
it required a violent act of faith to believe in it and its 
consequences, involving immense preparations of quite new 
types of vessels. 24 

Sir John had not preached of the tremendous potential of submarines, nor of the 

declining, though still important, value of capital ships, nor of the future of air power, 

ali for nothing or without understanding the implications of his words for the future of 

the Novy. Besicles, the Baltic Scheme 1 unlike the Portsmouth Committee •plans• of 

1906, dld not of necessity cali for the use of the main fleet. Though, in point of fact, 

it would be free for Baltic service, Fisher emphasized that it would not be used in the 

1 • f h'b' • 25 
D h ' ' h r h actua execution o amp 1 1ous operations. eut per aps most tmportant 1s t e ra ct t at 

23 - See : Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), Records, (london, 1919), 
Corbett•s Baltic Paper, pp. 217-222. 

24 - Beaverbrook, Baron (Max W.), Politicians and the War, 1914 - 1916, 
(london, 1960), p. 99. 

25 - Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, Vol. Il, p. 359. 
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above ali Fisher's Baltic Scheme,unlike the so-called 'plans• for operations off the 

Gennan coast of 1906, depended entirely upon the initial successful outcome of a 

decisive action with the High Seas Fleet. Sir John had been irrevokably clear on 

the matter of this fundamental presupposition,upon whi ch a Il offensive opera ti ons were 

dependent,from the very outset. Writing to Viscount Esher, upon learning of his 

appointment as lord Walter Kerr•s successor, Fisher had made this point with sparkling 

clarity : 

There will be no time for anything •. War wi Il come like the 
Day of Judgment •. Suddenly ~ Unexpectedly ~ Overwhelmingly 1 

•• 

The supreme feature of sea-war is its abrupt, its dramatic 
suddenness! Fleets are always mobilized and ready for instant war! 
We strike even before war is declared (at least we ought to), and 
remember (above ali remembrances) thot an initial naval disaster is 
irreparable, irretrievable, eternel •. 26 

Given this essentiel presupposition of an early and a decisive fleet action, given the 

fact thot Fisher had calculated upon losing the greater part of an invasion fleet especially 

constructed far this one purpose, and given, above ali, the necessity for offensive 

planning if the Novy were to maintain its decisive preponderance over the enemy in the 

event of a fleet action - an action upon which everything for the future of England 

and of the Empire depended - then the Baltic Scheme was not merely justifiable but in 

a curious way was fundamental to the security of the nation and of the Empire. 

The Baltic Scheme lay, indeed, at the heart of Fisher's strategy for the offence. 

But it was never subjected to serious or meaningful scrutiny. The reasons for this failure 

have already been mentioned; it is impossible, now, to say what relationship the scheme 

had to contemporary reality. The irony, which must have been apparent to Fisher, of 

the Cabinet•s inabillty to choose between the 'military' policy, on the one hand, and 

the 'naval' poltcy, on the other, precluded any examination of the efficacy of 

Sir John's scheme. But to revea 1 the Scheme was to throw down the gauntlet to those 

26 - Fisher to Esher, ca. 23 Apr. 1904. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. 1, p. 310. 
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who supported the Continental Strategy. With Fisher at the he lm no decision, no 

direct confrontation was possible, for the advocates of the Continental Strategy, while 

powerful, were easily matched by the persuasive power and influence~ Sir John. 

When Fisher departed thot decision, if i t may be so termed, became a political and 

hence a practic(ll possibility. Viewed in the long term the decision togo to France 

had been implicit since January 1906 ; but so long as Fisher retained the naval 

initiative thot decision could not be made explicit. 

But what of the Novy as an institution during these years ? lt cannet be over­

looked thot Fisher's reforms and the methods thot he was forced to employ in order to 

achieve his ends stirred up much controversy. Doubtless, in point of detail, many of 

the complaints of the 'Syndicate of Discontent' were in themselves quite reasonable ; 

but when set against the backcloth of the relative position of the Novy within the 

defence establishment they paled· into selfish and pedantic sectionalism. 

The root causeofthe dissension which flourished in the service during the Fisher 

years was not the feud between the First Sea Lord and Commander-in-Chief of the 

Channel Fleet, but rather the violent,indelicate,methods thot Fisher was driven to 

adopt in order to make his reforms effective. Sir John had no reverence for the 

precedence of the Navy List, and his freely admitted 'favouritism' was based not upon 

the ingratiation of personality but rather the dictates of 'efficiency'. Given the terms 

of reference of those days, the men thot Sir John gathered around him in the 'Fishpond' 

were ali outstanding. naval officers. Charles Ottley, John Jellicoe, Regina Id Bacon, 

David Beatty and George Ballard - to mention but a few - were ali hand-picked 

asststants. Thts ability to unerringly pick out the best of the available talent was one 

of the major ingredients in Sir John's success. None.of them, despite the claims of 

the 'Syndicate of Discontent' were by any stretch of the imagination 'yes men'. Fisher 

had no place for those who opposed hlm, his work was too portentous and revolutionary 

to permit the luxury of dissent, with the result that many of the less influential supporters 

of 'Charlie B' soon found themselves hlgh and dry on the beach. 

The petty and dispicable conduct of the 'Syndicate of Discontent' very largely 
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negated whatever Inherent validity their objections contained. The Fisher - Beresford 

feud has been chronicled weil enough elsewhere. 
27 

lt might, however, be worthwhi le 

to examine the nature of the opposition to Sir John whfch emanated from some of the 

1lesser lights• ln the Beresford camp. The feud between the two Admirais provlded 

many of those dlsgruntled by Fisher•s regime with an easy and powerful rallylng-point. 

Carlyon Bellalrs, Doveton Sturdee and their following were little more thon disreputable 

political hacks, mlsflts ln the Fisher system. Notwifhstanding, there were. others in 

the service who, while opposlng Sir John•s reforms, managed to restrain themselves from 

the luxury of persona! attacks - thus enabling themselves to stay afloat. The opposition 

of men such as (Vice-Admirai) Dewar and (Admirai Sir) Herbert Richmond, while 

increasingly vociferous, remained always within the bounds of a professional disagreement 

rather thon extending itsel f i nto a persona 1 feud. 

lt is amusing to note thot Sturdee, the first war-time Chief of the Admiralty War 

Staff, which Beresford hod championed for so long, distinguished himself in thot position 

by his mediocrity. Richmond 1s opinion of Sturdee, whose ca reer with the •Syndicate• 

hod been launched ln the early Fisher yeors as Beresford•s Flog Captain in the Channel 

Fleet, was hardly flattering : 

Of Sturdee 1 hardi y know whot to think. He writes childish 
ideas in portentous lan~uage and oppeors to think himself a 
great tactician •••• 8 

Richmond had served on the War Staff under Sturdee prior to the war ; he hos since 

recalled thot Sturdee, in spite of his position, belonged to thot breed of naval officer 

who viewed careful staff work as unnecessary and considered strategy to be the concern 

solely of the olympiens who had achieved flag rank. Whereas Beresford had long odmired 

Sturdee and in writing to Lieutenant-Commander Bel loirs in February 1909 he had 

27 - See: Marder, From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, Vol. 1, pp. 76- 104. 

28 - Richmond, H. W., Portrait of an Admirai : Li fe and Letters of Sir Herbert Richmond, 
ed. Arthur J. Marder (London, 1952), p. 70. 
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enthusiastically noted : 

• . • Captain (now Admirai) Sturdee • • • is one of the 
very best men in the Servi ce • • • • 29 

Of course, Sturdee somehow managed to survive Fisher's wrath which was such thot 

Sir John placed him in command of the battle cruisers which he dispatched to avenge 

the loss of Cradock's Squadron at Coronel - a loss whtch was due largely to 

incompetent staff work •. True, Fisher was willing togo to any length to get Sturdee 

out of the Admiralty. Sturdee acquitted himself poorly at the Falklands in spite of 

the popular acdaim thot was showered upon him on his return to England. This was 

hardly Fisher at his vindictive best. 

Carlyon Bellairs had in the very early days been on friendly terms with Fisher, 

but dearly he came in time to feel thot his star would prosper better under the wing of 

Lord Charles Beresford - especia Il y in the event of his succeeding Fisher as First Sea 

Lord. Years later Beresford and the Syndicate were to take exception to the special 

powers and responsibi li ti es thot Fisher had .defined for himself upon becoming First Sea 

Lord. Yet in April 1905 Beresford had had the gall to write to the Prime Minister 

exulting : 

For the first time an order is given and printed thot someone 
is responsible for 'Organization for War', this is or ought to 
be the primary reason for having an Admiralty at ali •••• 
1 see thot the duties now assigned to the First Seo Lord are 
on the lines thot 1 laid down as imperatively necessary in the 
scheme for the foundation of a proper Intelligence Department 
at the Admiralty in 1887 • • • • lt is a fine delight for me to 
see ali the reforms 1 have advocated for so many years now being 
carried out • • • . Jack Fisher is rallying about and revelling 
in reforms ond doing grand work for the State. What a lot of 
money you would have saved, and how much more efficient the 
Fleet would have been now, if you had listened tome and gfven 
me an opportunlty ali these years.30 

29 - Beresford to Bellairs, 12 Feb. 1909. Bel loirs MSS, Letters: Private and 
Family. 

30 - Beresford to Balfour, 27 Apr. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49713. 
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If this type of self-adulation and evident hypocrisy is distresslng it becomes decidedly 

revolting when in.December of the same year Beresford is found writing to Bellairs 

describing Fisher as a 'nincompoop' and claiming the support of the entire Service in 

his opposition to the First Sea Lord. 
31 

Fisher had just been appointed as an additional 

Admirai of the Fleet on the Navy List, thus extending his active ca reer. 

With the passage of the years what small grain of validity there had been in the 

arguments of the Beresford 'School' was soon engulfed by a bitter unreasoning hatred 

for Fisher. Beresford's nauseating correspondence culminated in letters such as this 

one to Bellalrs of lote February 1917 : 

As a matter of fact, Fisher is now getting b 1500 a year 
at the inventions Committee, where he never goes, and 
when he does, he sleeps ali the time in an arm chair. The 
only way we can ever beat Fisherism Is to remove from the 
minds of the people thot he was a great adminlstrator. Thot 
was rammed home into th'e heads of the people for seven years 
by the pr.ess, as you know. As a matter of fact, Fisher is 
mainly responsible for the war, as he never would protect the 
trade routes, and our present position of grave danger is 
entirely due to him. 32 

ln reality, the feud within the Navy became irreversible only with the Govemment's 

formai recognition of Beresford and his hangers-on in deciding to act on their demands 

for an enquiry into Fisher's administration. Viscount Esher was infurlated by the 

Govemment's weakness and writing to Mr. Balfour in mid-April 1909 he observed : 

By ali accounts the Govemment are contemplating sorne sort of 
'enquiry' into the Admiralty. 

lt is inconceivable tome that they con be so foolish, and 
so weak. 

The 'Admiralty' - unltke the old War Office - has 
always been homogeneous with the Govemment of the day. 

31 - Beresford to Bellalrs, 12 Dec. 1905. Bellalrs MSS, letters : Priva te 
and Family. 

32 - Beresford to Bellalrs, 24 Feb. 1917. Bellairs MSS, Letters: Private 
and Family. 

lOO 



An 'enquiry' into the Admiralty is an enquiry into the 
executive Govemment. At least, so it appears to me. 

The 'Board' changes with the First Lord. lt ts not a 
body of permanent ci vi 1 servants • • . • 

As you know, 1 was strongly in faveur, some time ago, 
of Jacky resigning on 21 October (5 years from his taking 
office) and of his warning the Government of his intention 
lqst January. This he did not do. 

But now, in the face of attack, 1 have strongly urged 
him to watt till he is turned out by a file of marines. lt ts 

33 
the only possible course, if he wishes to dle a dfgnffied death. 

No matter how favouroble the findings of the Committee of Enquiry might have been, 

even if there had been no criticism of Fisher on the issue of the war staff, the fact 

remained that the Enquiry in formally recognising the Beresford clique precluded 

Fisher•s further service at the Admiralty and signal led the end of Fisherism within the 

Novy. Esher, in spi te of the effect which the enquiry hod hod upon him, was so 

upset as to peevishly write to Balfour upon its outcome : 

ft is concluded in his [Asquith'ij usual cold judiciol language, 
and as you wrll note contains no word of appreciation of the 
value of the naval reforms introduced by Selbourne which lie 
at the root of the policy which C.B. ottacked. 

1 imagine Jacky will be hurt at the want of direct support 
given to him, and C.B. will be furious. 

34 
So 1 suppose the Report fulfills ali 'political' requirements. 

Fisher departed and the Admiralty was effectively sterilised. But Sir John wos 

to remain a patent factor os the brains behind Churchill when the latter become First Lord 

in the autu,n ~f 1911.. The bitter opposition which raged throughout the rest of Fisher's 

life was in essence an overwhelming tribute to the great and foteful changes which he 

had wrought upon Admiralty policy and naval thought as a whole. With the passage of the 

years the issues of pre-1914 England receded os minds dimmed and those who had 

33 - Esher to Balfour, 13 Apr. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

34 - Esher to Balfour, 15 Aug. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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participated in these great events departed the stage of this ltfe ; yet the Fisher 

controversy raged as vehemently as ever. Commander Bel loirs prior to his death in 

1955 had been preparing a manuscript for a work on Fisher's life and times. The book 

was never cornpleted1 but a rough texf together with numerous notes scribbled down 

upon the spur of the moment has survived in his private papers. By way of emphasizing 

the smouldering bitterness of the rift which occurred within the Novy during these few 

crucial years of monumental reform perhaps this discussion may best be closed upon the 

note of the following acrid evaluation rendered by Bellalrs more thon twenty years 

after Flsher's death : 

To Cagliostro and still more to Machiavel li much may be 
forgiven for they belonged to their age. Fisher emphatically 
did not. His rank brutality, deceitfulness and sensuallty was 
of the worst ltalian period and utterly a lien to a profession 
renowned for a hlgh code of character whatever might be sald 
in derogation of its conservative instincts. 

He had a jungle mind with the single facet to the world thot 
Fisher must subdue in arder thot Fisher might survive and ali 
mankind1 even his sovekign1 must subserve Fisher and it was 
not the dictator's mind of a Mussolini adoring his ltaly or of a 
Hitler with the passlonate love for the ideal race but simply 
one thot could cry after me the deluge.35 

And so tt goes, on and on ; Bel loirs writes of the old Admiral's 'vehemence', of •hts 

lusts for women1 his zest for power', noting thot Sir John was 'good socially and bore 

spiritually', whlle concluding with the delightful observation thot Lord Fisher 'danced 

because there is so much sin mixed up in it'. This childish rancour would almost be 

amuslng tf it did not betray so deep and abidlng a hatred. Nevertheless1 it must be 

remembered thot both Beresford and Bellairs, however misguided, came in time to firmly 

believe thot Fisher was indeed the root of ali evil. A belief thot had disostrous con­

sequences for the Novy and the natfon. 

35 - 'Notes on Fisher'. Bellairs MSS. 
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Sorne measure of the fatal consequences of the Anti-Fisher campaign may be drawn from 

the following letters written by Viscount Esher, the one at the height of Sir John's 

power when the Service rift was only beginning to show itself and the other upon 

'Jacky's' tumble into enforced retirement. ln a note to Fisher of 18th Februory 1906 

Esher had observed : 

The more 1 see of the working of the Admirai ty the more 1 
llke it. The more 1 see of the working of the G. S. the 
Jess 1 like it. The French hove not disclosed their plans 
ashore, and l don't biome them. 1 say nothing will induce 
you to disclose your plans to anyone, and you are right. ln 
war you must take chances, and it is better to risk much thon 
lose the enormous advantage of surprise. 36 

The second, which speaks for itself in contrast to the letter of February 1906, was 

written to Balfour in lote December 1909 : 

There is a great deal of truth in Haldane's contention thot 
the weak point in our national armour just now is, not the 
materiel or personnel of the Novy, but the Board of Admiralty, 
its want of modern ideas, and its inefficient organization. 37 

Such was the impression which the feud had left upon so eminent and sympathetic an 

observer as Viscount Esher. ln any case, there was an almost universel sentiment in 

faveur of retiring Fisher, just as he had beached Beresford thus precipitating the 

enquiry, from active service and the institution of a period of calm within the Novy 

during which the breach could be healed. Thot story is not of immediate concern he re. 

What is important is the fac:t thot the rivalry coupled to the Government's vacillation and 

foi lure to support Fisher resulted in a fatal period of weakness at the Admiralty. A 

weakness which, as will be seen, was to manifest itself not only in the Navy's dealfngs 

with the Government as a whole but also in everyaspect of naval thought and administration. 

36 - Esher to Fisher, 18 Feb. 1906. Esher, Jou rna ls and letters, Vol. li, p. 145. 

37 - Esher to Balfour, 24 Dec. 1909. Balfour MSS, Àdd. MS 49719. 
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Fisher must not be blamed for the fatal outcome of the feud. Whatever his 

faults his contribution to the nation as a whole, arising out of his far-reaching and 

monumental reforms which fundamentally altered the strategic 1 demographie and 

materiel aspects of the Navy1 stood the test of time. A lesser man, a man respectful 

of empty prerogatives and obscurantist tradition 1 could not have accomplished thot 

which Fisher achieved. Nothing short of a Fisher, with ali his faults 1 would have 

sufficed in the monumental task of clearing out the old and bringing in the new. 

Without his faults, without his threats of 'turning wives into widows and homes into 

dunghi Il' 1 the re wou Id have been no revolution in the materiel and strategie outlook 

of the Novy. ln short Fisher,possessed and exercised the 'brutality' 1 as Sonar-Law 

termed it, necessary to administer effectively and efficient! y. 

Nevertheless this great period of 'unprecedented reform • was followed by the 

rule of weak men and empty ideas. What Esher so aptly described as 'political 

considerations' dictated the end of Fisherism within the Novy and the sacrifice of the 

Service to the requirements of political quietude. The beneficaries of the decline in 

Naval prestige were the new so-called 'advanced' military thinkers. The demise of 

Fisher signal led the flowering of the Continental Strategy which imperceptably moved 

into centre stage as the dominating calculation in the development of botha national 

and imperial defence policy. 
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CHAPTER FIVE 

AN EXPERIMENT IN SUPREME 

COMMAND: 

THE EXPERIENCE OF THE COMMITTEE 

OF IMPERIAL DEFENCE · 

There was no co-ordination, no co-operation between the people 
in charge of land and seo war, and defence. lt was obvious a 
clvilian cabinet cauld fonn no judgement, and 1 had the ideo, 
which was reolly original. 1 don't say thot out of conceit, - 1 
meon simply thot the Defence Committee had no precedent. lt 
started, and it has worked admirably from the very stort. 

The Rt. Hon. Arthur Balfour; 1927. 

The Politlctan will not commit himself. The Sailor ignores the 
Sofdier and the Soldier thinks of battleships in terms of transports. 

Viscount Esher ; 1910. 

THE broad sweep of forces and events thot have already been discussed must be drawn 

together in order once more to focos upon Mr. Balfour's Defence Committee. The 

grawing realisation thot war, and the preparation for war, could no longer be relegated 

to specifie wotertlght comportments had very largely been offset by those inherent 

differences in overall approach which precluded effective inter-service co-operation 

and co-ordination. The story of the relations between the Admiralty and the War Office 

must be told very largely wlthin the frcmework of the Committee of Imperial Defence. 

But it wasa negative relationship in whtch the Committee fulfilled no more thon a passive 
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role. The C .1. D. became a forum in which the two Services tended increasing ly to 

oppose one another. lt would be reasonable to suggest that both in the War Office 
l 

and at the Admiralty there was a general acceptance of the principle thot inter-service 

co-operation was desirable. However, ali such efforts at co-operation became in 

short order attempts by each to domina te the other. Each Service endeavoured to 

subordinate the other to its own particular interpretation of the strategie needs of the 

Empire. The variance in their reading of those strategie needs was so wide thot 

co-operation came of necessity to imply the twin concepts of domination, on the one 

hand, and subordination, upon the other. Of course, in reality the strategie needs of 

the nation and of the Empfre could only be fulfilled adequately if the supremacy of the 

Novy received due recognition not only from the Government but also from the soldiers. 

For an island power such a consideration was not merely essentiel, it was, indeed., 

'naturel'. Unfortunately the so-called 'advanced' mi li tory thinkers, who were coming 

to dominate the 'New Army', did not agree. lt has long been supposed thot the 

Admiralty was at faul.t in refusing to exploit the Cammittee of Imperial Defence as a 

forum for co-operation with the War Office ; and thot the War Office did ali within 

its powers to facilitate the task of the Committee in drawing the two Services together. 

On the surface both of these assertions had assumed some considerable degree of validity, 

though the reverse, in fact, was true. The War Office in preaching the merit of co­

operation through the medium of the C.I.O. had absolutely nothing to lose; in 

1903-1904 the position of the Army was such thot it could only move forward. The 

'new men' were seeking a positive role for their 'New Army', a role which they did not 

tumble upon until the advent of the Liberal Cabinet in the winter of 1905-1906. With 

the secret adoption of the Continental Strategy the Admiralty found its monopoly upon 

strategie considerations seriously challenged. The Novy, in short order 1 found itself 

fighting a holding rear-guard action 1 an action which was finally lost with the events 

of 1910 and 1911 thot swiftly followed upon Fisher's departure. ln essence the Admiralty 

had viewed the C.I.O. during those early days when no one had a kind word for the 

Army or the War Office as a mechanism whereby the Novy could ensure tight control 

over the nature of the military contribution to the defence of the Empire. However, 
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when the Army begon to 'thlnk for ttself' and produced a new generation of professional 

soldiers, the Admiralty discovered to Jts chagrin thot it had created a 'frankenstien•. 

The C.I.O. ln offerlng ltself as a potential forum for supreme planning new posed a 

very real threat ta the continued supremacy of the Novy in ali matters of defence 

poltcy. The Committee was control led by ministers whose sympathy new lay very 

largely with the type of strategie policies towards which the more 'advanced' elements 

of the • New Army• had already gravitated. Thus the Continental Strategy became an 

important factor in shaping the outlook of the leading political figures who controlled 

the Committee of Imperial Defence. The Admiralty, finding ltself outmanoeuvred, 

became increasingly introspective and obstructive. As has already been seen the Novy 

had every reason to fear the adoption of any independant military policy ; supreme 

command and inter-service co-operation and co-ordination had been viewed by 

Selbome's Board in terms which implied Naval control over ali strategie decisions~ 

Mr. Balfour had made it absolutely clear thot in ali matters involving the security of 

England and of the Empire Naval considerations had to be placed before ali else. But 

with the reorientation of England's international position after 1904, the advent of a 

group of outstonding ministers increasingly concemed with Continental affairs, and the 

rise of a new aggressive military faction ali of this changed. The C.I.O., became a 

council largely dominated by ministers who had committed England to a military role 

upon the Continent. And yet the Committee did not itself become a proponent of the 

Continental Strategy, largely because it too had elements within it, above and beyond 

the Naval interestsrepresented, which were not lnclined towards the strategie policies 

thot the Uberal-lmperialist faction embraced. ln short, the Admiralty, finding itself 

outmanoeuvred and outnumbered became obstructive ; the War Office, not daring to 

speak openly of its fu-ll Gspirotions, made use of the Committee, as far as it dared without 

revealing its intentions completely, to black the Admiralty's efforts to dominate the 

defence posture of the nation and of the Empire. And so the Committee became the 

forum for the struggle between the 'navalists' and the 'mllitarists' - a struggle which 

manifested itself directly over such issues as invasion and compulsory service, and 

implicitly in the more fundamental disagreement over basic national strategy. This 
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clash of lnterests rendered the Commlttee Impotent. 

The prospecta for Inter-service co-aperatlon and co-orâtnatton, ln the evolution 

of a national defence strategy consonant wlth Cabinet poltcy, had 1eemed encourcging 

durlng those daya of Intensive re-examlnatlon and re-organlzatlon of the defence 

structure which had followed upon the end of the Warin South Africa. At the close of 

1902 the then Secretary of State for War, St.John Brodrick1 fn the company of the First 

Lord of the Admlralty, the Earl of Selbome1 had presented to Mr. Balfour a 'Memorandum 

on the lmprovement of the lntellectual Equlpment of the Services' ln which the two 

Minlsters had urged thot some concrete steps be taken to satisfy the growing need for 

inter-service co-operation and co-ordination in the interests of Imperial defenceo This 

concem together with the evident interest of both Services in the work of the Esher 

Committee must have been most gratifying to Mr. Balfour. This memorandum had formed 

the initial platform from which the Prime Minister launched the War Office Reconstruction 

Committee - and, hence, the Commlttee of Imperial Defence. 

During the sp'ring· of 1904 bath the Admiralty and the War Office hod expressed to 

the Cabinet their enthusiastic support for the essentiels of the Esher Committee's proposais 

as regards the C.I.D. 1 and had enlarged upon their hopes thot the Committee would 

provide a common meeting ground where the Services could ensure their 'continued' 

mutuel co-operation upon ali strategie matters. 
1 

However, from the very outset the Admlralty and the War Office had odopted widely 

differing views upon the role of the C.I .. D. in the defence establishment. The Admirolty 

1 - 'Memorandum on the Proposais of the War Office (Reconstruction) Committee 
in respect of the Commfttee of Imperial Defence1

1 by the First Lord of the 
Admiralty the Earl of Selborne, 4 Mar. 1904. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 
37/69, No. 38. 

'Views of the Army Council with Respect to the Report of the War Office 
(Reconstruction) Committee', Memorandum by tJie Secretary of State for 
War H .0. Arnold-Forster, 28 May 1904. Cabinet Papers, Cob. 37/71, 
No. 72. 
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had tended towards the somewhat:· patrontalng attitude that the Commtttee was necessary 

ln arder to transmit the Naval strategie vlewpolnt to the War Office, thus enabllng the 

Anny to tatlor lts pollcies to fit those stmteglc needs. To a point the War Office had 

concurred wtth this vlew, although, qutte naturally, the Anny tended to take a sorne ... 

what more flattering view of the Importance of Us contribution. ln short, during those 

early years, the War Office regarded the C.I.O., at best, as a mechanism whereby the 

Anny would receive its fair shore, however small, of the responsibility for the defence 

of the Empire. 1 n the course of a memorandum to the Cabinet of May 1904 Arnold­

Forster hod clearly stated the War Office's views with regard to the significance of the 

C .1 • D. for the Army : 

Part 1~, Section 1., of the Report deols with the Defence Committee. 
As the Committee is presided over by the Prime Minister, its 
constitution is not prima ri ly a matter for the Army Council. The 
Council, however, hail with satisfaction the adoption of the proposais 
mode by the Reconstruction Committee and belleve thot they wlll tend 
ta facilitate the work of the War Office by making it more fully aware 
of the part whi ch the Army is expected ta play in ti me of war, and will 
also tend to produce even more effective co-operation than has hitherto 
existed between the two Services. 2 

The Admiralty's attitude was far more nonchalant; the Novy assumed that its task wos 

abundantly cleor to ali. The Board tended, rather, ta look upon the Committee os o 

clearing house wherein the soldlers could not only be kept under surveillance but also 

lnformed of the role which the Admiralty, albett in consultation with the C.l. D., hod 

decided it would be necessary for the Army ta fulflll. Writfng to the Prime Minister 

ln October 1903, at the outset of the great reforms, Fisher expressed his, and indeed 

very largely the Naval, expectatlon of the role the Defence Committee was to fill : 

1 t has been put at the very forefront that the organlzation of the 
War Office is intimately associated with our Navol Strength •••• 

You cannat disassociate the British Army from the British 
Novy •. For instance, whot would be the good of a British Army 
as big as thot of Germany If the Novy were insufflcient to keep 
command of the seo ? • • • 

2 - 'Vfews of the Army Council with Resf!>ect to the Report of the War Office 
(Reconstruction) Committee•, 28 May 1904. 
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What does this reasoning lead us to ? - Answer :-
Thot Naval and Mllitary requlrements must be considered together. 
lt must be One Service, and not two great Departments fightlng 
tndependemtly wtth the Treosurx to see what they con get, and the 
Treasury saytng If we give so mbch more to one we must take it off 
the other ~ We therefore are led irresrstibly to the conclusion with 
whfch we started thot the War Office must be reorganized on such 
lines as will ensure most intlmate joint Na~Val and Milltary action ; 
and the natural question thot arises is - con this imperative 
requlrement be met by any other method thon a single Cabinet 
chief as in Austria ? Con the Cabinet Committee of Defence be 
relied on to perform this function ? Will it not mean the triumph 
of the ablest representatives and not of the most necessitous Service ? 
11 Facta non Verba 11 fs the motto of the Novy - it is feared they 
would ldse in wordy warfare '. 3 

lt would seem thot Sir John's misgivings were placed in temporary abeyance during the 

coming months as the C.I.O. emerged as a mechanism of 'ensuring most intimate joint 

Naval and Military action'. However, this discrepancy in approach between the War 

Office and the Admiralty was most clearly defined during those early deys over the 

matterofentering the C.I.O. and itsmembership in the 'Lists' of the two Services. 

Strictly speaking such action was contrary to Balfour's conception of the Committee as 

having only one permanent member - namely the Prime Minister. Regardless, ft is 

an interesting commentary upon the War Office's faith in the efficacy of the C.l .,D. 

thot it sought to Include the Committee on the Army List. Clarke, writing to 

Mr. Balfour on this matter in lote September 1904, does not seem to have been unduly 

concemed over the constitutionol issue despite his association with the Esher Commfttee : 

1 send also a proof page intended to be the reference to the 
Committee of Defence in the Army List, and to follow thot detailing 
the Staff of the Inspecter General of the Forces. 1 have replled 
thot 1 would like your wishes in regard to this reference. 

1 have ascertained from the Admiralty thot Lord Selborne 
decided thot the Commfttee should not be referred to in the Novy 

3 - Fisher to Balfour, 'A Brief Precis of the Principal Considerations thot Must 
Influence Our Future Naval and Military Policy', 19 Oct. 1903. 
Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 
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Liat. ln thb case 1t aeems undeslrable that lt should appear 
ln the Army List, whlch mlght help to develop an ldea of 
special connectlon wtth the War Office. 4 

lt must be remember~d that Clarke was, hJmself, a soldler and had, no doubt, a 

considerable degree of sympathy for the Anny's seorch to find a meonlngful place for 

ttself ln the defence establishment. Perhops the C .1. D. mlght be the pa th that led to 

such an abode.. Tlme was to prove the soldiers to be correct. But ln 1904 the shoe 

was on the other foat, and the next day, ln the coune of a letter to the Prime Minfster, 

Selborne expressed in no uncertain ternis his disopproval of the War Office's move : 

Y ou rriay 1 ike .to know thot the Adm_i rai ty h~ve just .received 
a letter from the War Office, dated 3rd September, in which occurs 
the following paragraph : 

'The composition of the Committee of Imperial 
'Defence has not hitherto been shown in the 
• Novy or Army List, but i t is a matter of 
'consideration whether, now that a pennanent 
'Secretariat has been adcJed, it should 
'not be inserted. ln the Council's opinion 
'its inclusion is desirable, and they would 
'propose, so far as the Army Lists 
'are concerned,· to show the Commlttee after 
'the Department of the lnspector General 
'of the Forces. The Members of the Committee 
'as distinct from the Members of the 
'Secretariat, would be shewn by their official 
'designations only. 
This may be rlght or wrong, but as it is distinctly contrary to 

what you settled 1 thought you ought to be told at once.5 

Selborne clearly disliked what he regarded as an attempt by the War Office to inflate 

its own importance by increasing that of the Committee. 

By the same token virtually every initiative taken by the Defence Committee during 

those early years was at the prompting of the Admiralty - excluding, of course, the 

4- Clarke to Balfour, 27Sept. 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49700. 

5 - Sèlborne to Balfour, 28 Sept. 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49708. 
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question of the defence of the North West Frontler. The War Office was ln no position 

to lnltlate even the most general of prlncfples for not only was the Anny unlversally 

regarded as a del inquent requlrlng the steadying influence of the C .1. D. to shape tts 

behoviour, but also it lacked any overall strategie purpose of lts own from whfch to 

orlglnate any meaningful proposais advantageQUs to itself. Dùrlng those early years 

the 'new men' hod not yet come to the fore in the War Office, and the Army did not 

possess thot overall strategie purpose so necessary if its aspirations were to be shaped 

and channeled constructlvely. Of course, in Naval eyes the Army presented a very 

poor spectacle. Fisher' a experiences on the Esher Committee had not exactly been 

calculated to improve his opinion of his opposites across Whitehall •. Writing to 

Viscount Esher in November 1903, on his appointment t6 the .War: Office 

Reconstruction Committee, Sir John had observed : 

The mllitary system is rotten to the very core •. Vou want to 
begin ab avo •. The best of the Generais are even worse 

6 
thon the subâlterns, because they are more hardened sinners '. 

His work on the Esher Committee did nothing to soften Fisher's v.iews, 'inèleed his 

experiences during those months served only to confirm his view thot ali 'Generais are 

asses' •
7 

lt took more thon the reorganization of the War Office to erase the time 

honoured tradi<tions which prejudiced the nation in faveur of the Novy. Besides the 

very presence of Fisher, and indeed Esher, on the War Office Reconstruction Committee 

had left much of the country with the impression thot the Novy had been called in to 

redress the deficiencies wlthin the Army. This air of mill tory inferiorlty had been 

fmparted almost universally ; even Clarke in writing to Haldane in February 1905 

6 - Fisher to Esher, ca. 7 Nov. 1903. Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), 
Fear God and Dread Nought : The Correspondance of Admirai of the 
Fleet Lord Fisher of Kilverstone, ed. Arthur J. Marder (London, 
1952- 1959), Vol.. 1, p. 290~ 

7 - Fisher to Balfour, 'Submarines', April 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. 
MS 49710. 
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had noted a 

Vou have sald thot you wou Id vote 50,0001: a yeor ta 
anyone who would do for the Anny what Fisher has done 
for the Novy. 

1 am ready to do this and much more - for much more 
is requlred. 

And J don't want 50,0001: a year. 
As you will know 1 tt Js an easy thing to strîke 125 ships 

from the Novy List.. Shfps do not write to newspapers to air 
the fr grievances. 

What ls needed by l>ur mi li tory forces is infinitely larger 
in scope and enonnously more dffficult in execution thon 

8 
anything Fisher has done or wi Il have to do at the Admiralty. 

For the moment Clarke's flagrant misuse of his position must be overlooked ; the point 

emerges clearly enough thot the task of Army reform was viewed as being Inversely 

proportional to the somewhat tattered prestige of the mtlitary .. 

From the outset the Admiralty had sought to exploit the C.I.O. as a mechanism 

whereby War Office policy could be shaped to merry with Naval strategie thought. 

Writlng to Vlscount Esher in November 1-903 Fisher had stressed the role of the Anny as 

an adjunct to the Novy in the execution of combined operations : 

••• What 1 venture to emphasize is this : We cannot reform 
the Army Administration unttl it ts laJd down what the 
Administration is going to administer • ..•• Agaln, 1 say, 
the Reguler Annf {as distfnguished from the Home Anny and 
the lndian Anny should be regarded as a projectile to be 
fired by the Novy ~ The Novy embarks it and lands it where 
it can do most mischief •. • • • Consequently, instead of our 
military manoeuvres beJng on Salisbury Plain and its vicinlty 
(ineffectually aping the vast Continental Armies ~), we should 
be employing ourselves Jn jotnt novai and mllitary manoeuvres, 
embarking 50,000 men at Portsmouth and landing them at Milford 

\ 
Haven or Bantry Bay '. 9 

8 - Clarke to Haldane1 6 Feb. 1905. Haldane MSS, MS 5906. 

9 - Fisher to Esher, 19 Nov. 1903. Fisher of Kilverstone 1 Correspondance, 
Vol. 1, p. 291 .. 
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Wrltlng to Esher ln March of the followlng yeor Fisher once agaln urged the need 

for proctlcal experience ln amphibtous operations : 

Just bock from the Engltsh Channel and very enthusiastlc •. 
We rea lly must arronge to get the British Army to sea somehow 
or other ~ ••• 

But what t am writing aboutis - you must embarkao. 
Army Corps every year and glve them sea-training .1 0 

The War Office attitude was, as yet, sttll somewhat subservient as evlnced by 

Arnold-Forster's report on the "Year's work at the War Office" which he submitted to 

the Cabinet early in 1905. ln part the Secretary of State for War had noted at that 

time in looking' back over 1904 : 

1 considered it part of my duty to enforce the principles 
adopted by the Committee of Defence1 and to render the 
co-operation between the Army and the Navy closer thon 
ever before. ln thle pursuance of this ob ject joint Naval 
and Military manoeuvres were instltuted for the first time. 
A force of a Il arms was transported by sea from Southampton 
to the coast of Essex, under the convoy of a squadron of H .M. 
ships, and a landing on the coast was effected wlth the aid 
of the Novy. The operations proved very instructive, and 
the results have been embodied in a f.ull report. ln order 
thot full advantage may be taken of the lessons afforded by 
the manoeuvres, a joint Military and Naval Committee has 
been appolnted to study the various problems which arose in 
connection with the landing and embarkatlon.11 

This type of undertaking was a world apart from the strategie thought that underloy the 

Continental Strategy. 

Sorne measure of the favourable aspect of naval opinion with regard to the C.I.O. 

during those early years may be gleaned from the following letter which Lord Walter Kerr 

10 - Fisher to Esher, 10 Mar. 1904. Fllher of Kilverstone, Correspont.lence, 
Vo 1. 1, pp • 304 - 305 • 

11 - 'Summary· of the Year's Work at the WarOffice', Memorandum by the 
Secretary of State for War, 31 Jan. 1905. Cabinet Papers, Cob. 
37/7 4, No • 16 .. 
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wrote to Sir George Clarke upon his retirement as Fir~t Sea Lord in October 1904 : 

1 sever my association with the Defence Commlttee with very 
great regret. lt has been tome most interesting and Instructive 
work and Jt is not likely to be less so ln the future • • • • 1 
shall not cease· to take the greatest interest in its work so far as 
it is publically divulged. 1 am very thankful thot 1 was on the 
Committee long enough to see it properly established with yourself 
to conduct it. 12 

Fisher was by no meons peculiar in his support for the Committee, and when he stepped 

into Kerr•s shoes on Trafalgar Day he inherited a Board already sympathetic to his 

views upon the matter. 

The first signifi9;ant attempt to exploit the C .1. D. as a forum for inter-Service 

co-operation and co-ordination came in the summer of 1905. The move was prompted 

by the Moroccan crisis which, for the first time, had raised the possibility of England's 

involvement in a war upon the Continent. The nature of the military response has 

already been discussed at some length. Fisher had no intention of being caught out 

by the-adoption of any independent mtlitary policy. The proposai to fully exploit 

the CA. D. as a forum for co-operation and co-ordination had originoted at the 

Admir~lty and was designed clearly to drew the War Office into line with Naval 

strategie thought. Fisher forworded the Admiralty's proposais pr1vately to Mr. Balfour 

urglng the proper development of the C .1. D. into a viable co-ordinating body : 

lt would be of great advantage if schemes for various joint naval 
and military expeditions were to be prepared under the direction 
of the Prime Minister by the Naval and Mtlitary members of the 
C.l. D., and it would be advisable thot the Secretary of the 
C.I .• D. should be associated with them. This Sub-Committee, 
with the sanction of the Prime Minister, would cali to their 
counsels such officers as were necessary : thus, in case of war 
between Germany and France and England combined, for the 
scheme of an expeditionary force against Schleswing - Holstein, 

12 - Kerr to Clarke, 19 Oct. 1904. Sydenham of Coombe, Boron (George C.), 
Mx Wondng Life, (London, 1927), p. 176. 
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the Commander-ln-Chief of the Channel Fleet and presumably 
the General Officer ln command at Aldershot would be on the 
Sub-Comm i ttee • 13 

lt is of note thot an attached Admiralty Paper entitled 'British Intervention in the 

Event of France Being Suddenly Attacked by Germany'assumed thot any such amphibious 

operations pre-supposed the destruction of the enemy Fleet.
14 

A letter from Clarke 

to the Prime Minister of early July 1905 makes it clear not only thot Fisher's proposais 

for such a Sub-Committee had been of the utmost importance in the decision to present 

such a proposai to the C.l.D., but thot the Wor Office rad played no significant part 

in these initial discussions : 

1 enclose :-

A. The agenda for Thursday's meeting in which 1 have placed 
first the proposai for a permanent Sub.-.Ctee. to consider joint 
naval and milttary operations. The need for such a body.:.'bec:omes 
more and more pressing. There are many places in existence bath 
at the Admiralty & W. Office which require to be co-ordinated. 

B. A suggestion as to a reference for the Sub. -Ctee. 1 have drawn 
this up' in conjunction with Sir J. Fisher. 

C. Sir J. Fisher's views asto the composition of the Ctee. 

1 think would make a useful body. tt would bring in two 
youngish officers Captain Ballard R.N. & Colonel Callwel1, R.A. 
The latter has written two books on allied subjects, which prove 
hlm to be a student and a sound thinker. 15 

At the 76th meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence on 20th July 1905 the 

Prime Minister 1 following upon Fisher's urgings, proposed the establishment of the first 

13 - Fisher to Balfour, 'Admiralty Paper', summer 1905. Balfour MSS, 
Add. MS 49711. 

14 - Fisher to Balfour, 'British Intervention in the Event of France Being Suddenly 
A ttacked by Germany', Admira 1 ty Memorandum 1 summer 1905. 
Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49711. 

15 - Clarke to Balfour, 11 July 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49701. 
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permanentsub•comm1ttèe of the C.loD. to 'Considerand Prepare Schemesfor Comblned 

Naval and Military Operations'. ln part the minutes note thot Mr. Balfour explained : 

While it was unquestionably one of the functions of the Committee 
of Imperial Defence to see thot preparations were made to meet 
certain eventualities, the limited time thot members cre able to 
place at its disposai disqualifled the Committee as a whole from 
working out such schemes in necessary detai 1. Although the War 
Office and Admiralty have worked out in concert plans for 
expeditions dlrected against foreign possessions of strategie im­
portance, he believed thot more was required in arder thot the 
Admiralty and War Office should know exactly what would be 
required of them on the outbreak of war, and thot no time should 
be lost in taking executive action. To enable this to be clone. the 
Admiralty and the General Staff ought in peace time to be brought 
into the closest communication for this purpose ; and it was 
important thot machinery should be provided not only to frame 
schemes, but to sub jec t them to constant review, in order tnat they 
might always be in harmony with the conditions of the moment.l6 

At the. following meeting on 26th July these proposais for the establishment of a Sub­

Committee to examine possible combined operotions in the event of war were adopted 

with the following terms of reference : 

The abject of the Sub-Committee is to decide upon the practicabillty 
of various plans for combined naval and military action in certain 
contingencies, and to work out these plans in detail, so thot when 
the occasion arrives for giving executive effect to them, no time may 
be lost.17 

Translated into Naval terms the use to which this Sub-Committee was to be put was 

forcefully summed by Fisher in the course of a letter to Sandars of October 1905 : 

1 am very hot on this Commfttee for as 1 told Esher its the only 
engine ca ble of drawing the Arm out of its Quagmire "of one 
man wai ting on another '." Vou wi 1 see ow si! ent y i t wi 1 

16 - 'Minutes of the 76th Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 20 July 
1 905. C .1 • D. Pa pers, Cab o 2/1 • 

17 - 'Minutes of the 77th Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 26 July 
1905. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 2/1. 
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work a revolution ln the War Office •. They will be forced ta be 
ta be ready, forced ta get on, and forced ta co-operafê and finally 
forced ta be efficient •.18 

ln the course of an encldsed paper1 entitled 'Explanatory Memorandum as to the Objecta 

and Procedures of the Sub-Committee of the C .1. 0. Formed and Preslded over by the 

Prime Mfnlster', Sir John remlnded Mr. Bolfour's Prlvate Seçretary : 

ln preparing this statement the main point was to be borne in 
mlnd- often emphasised by'the Prime Minister hlmself ... thot 
under no circumstances was it contemplated thot Great Britain 
could or would undertake single-handed a great military 
continental war, and thot every project for offensive hostilities 
was to be subsidiary to the action of the Fleet, such as the 
occupation of isolated colonial possessions of the enemy, or the 
assistance of an ally by threatening descent on the hostile coast, 
or otherwise effectlng a diversion on his behalf .19 

lt would appear thot Fisher had been upset and alarmed by the suggestions that had begun 

to emanate from sorne of the 'new men' thot ln the event of England becoming involved 

in a war upon the Continent a direct military response would be necessitatedo 

There is no evidence thot this first permanent Sub-committee of the C.I.O. was 

ever convened. lord Hankey has stated that 'Balfour's sub-committee never took shape•.
20 

With the change of government of a few months later nothing more was heard of the 

committee. No report was ever filed with the C.I.O. Secretariat, and of ali the Sub­

committe~s spawned by the C.I.O. prior to the war that on 'Combined Naval and 

Military'Operations' alone has left no record of its proceedings amongst the C.I.O. 

Papers. Nothing more was heard of Admiralty-War Office co-operation via the medium 

of the C.I.O. until Viscount Esher proposed another similar, though more broadly based, 

Sub-committee at the close of 1909. 

18 - Fisher to Sandars, 10 Oct. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49711. 

19 - Fisher to Sandars, 'The Elaboration of Combined Naval and Military 
Preparation for War', 10 Oct. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add .. MS 49711 • 

20 - Hankey, Baron (Maurice P.), The Supreme Command, (london, 1961), 
Vol. 1, p. 62. 
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The demise of Mr. Balfour's Sub-Committee, at a tfme when the lack of such a 

body was becom(ng Jncreasingly apparent owlng to the prospect of lnvolvement in a 

European war, ls mute testament to the fact thot the Admlralty was beginning to 

suspect that it had over-played lts hand. No doubt any suspicions that Fisher might 

have harboured were confirmed at his discovery of the trend of events during the 

Conferences in Whitehall Gardens convened by Esher and Clarke over the Christmas of 

1905- 1906. At any rate, It is clear that Fisher had no enthusiasm for the Conferences 

whtch, as has been seen, he boycotted following his discovery of their leanings towards 

an independant raie for the Army. As Lord Hank.ey has noted the proceedings had much 

in common with the type of work expected of the formai Sub-Committee of July 1905. 

Hankey's facts on this point were, at best, second-hand, but nevertheless even to suggest 

such a similarity is explanation enough for Fisher1s apparent change of heart '.. lndeed, 

given the tremendous divergence in strategie thought, which developed between the two 

Services following upon the adoption of the independant military policy, such a formai 

sub-commlttee would have served only to exacerbate those differences and, in time, 

keeping in mind the inclinations of the Liberal-lmperialist faction, to ensure the adoption 

of the mi litary po licy. The very existence of such a sub-committee wou Id have forced 

the Government to choose between the 'navalists' and the 'militarists' - a choice it refused 

to take, and one which, indeed, never was squarely faced prior to August 1914. Further, 

such a sub-commfttee would have forced the Admiralty to reveal its strategie planning, in 

the hopes of offsettlng the Continental Strategy, so as ta win the official approval of the 

C.I.O. for the naval policy; whereas the Army in such a clash with the Novy could, as 

yet, not be sure of the sanction of the C.I.O. for the military policy.. Above ali the 

Llberal-lmperialtsts feared any open discussion of these various strategie alternatives lest 

the Liberal Party's recently won unity be split epart once again with fatal results for the 
21 

Govemment. Thus it was clearly to the advantage of ali concemed to ignore the demise 

21 - For a brief survey of the varfous shadings of Liberal vlews on foreign policy, 
see : Monger, G ., The End of Isolation : British Foreign Pollcy, 
1900- 1907, (London, 1963), pp. 257-261. 
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of Balfour•s Sub-Commlttee on joint planning. There 1s no more tel ling commentory 

upon the change ln the Admlralty's attitude towards the C.J.D. than the fact that in 

the summer of 1905 it had suggested the fonnation of an Anny-Navy sub-committee 

of the C.I.O. thus reveallng a confidence Jn the naval position whJch was visJbly to 

be rendered wholly unjustifiable only six months later. Henceforth the C.I.O. became 

the forum for the squabble between the •navallsfs' and the 'militorists'. The bright 

hopes of 1 904 had be en da shed. 

The advent of the Liberal Government marked little change in the relations between 

the War Office and the Committee of Imperial Oefence which remained on the whole 

cordial and without overt friction. With Hal da ne in Whitehall, the War Office had at 

its head an enthusiastic disciple of the C.I.O., as an organ fordefence co-ordination. 

The accession of Haldane had been welcomed by Sir George Clarke, who nurtured great 

hopes for the development of the Army under the new Secre<tary of Stote for War. As 

early as February 1905 Clarke had written to Haldane alluding to a possible future in the 

War Office : 

Vou will, 1 know forgive me for saying that in matters bearing 
on national defence a Liberal Government would not- on 
taking office - command great confidence. The numbers of 
peo'ple who would welcome an immediate change if they felt 
assured on this pointis very large ..... 

Am 1 not right in thinking that success at the W .0. may 
very probably be the crux of the next govt. At least success 
there would be a supreme advantoge to [one] .22 

Haldane's action in preserving the C.I.O. confirmed Clarke's goodwill and generally 

things got off to a fine start under the new Government. 

However, while relations with the Committee were no doubt:·cordiaJ they ,were, 

unfortunately, far from frank. The influence of the 'new men' in turning the War Office 

towards the Continental Strategy had opened up a gulf between the Army and the C .1. D. 

22 - Clarke to Haldane, 6 Feb. 1905. Haldane MSS, MS 5906. 
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Clarke, of course, had played a ma lor ·role. ln· the ·eventa·of December and, Jan~:~ary· 

and was full y aware of tne concrete foundatlon upon whlch the Independant mf Il tary polie y 

stood - namely the Staff Conversations. For the reasons whlch have already been 

dlscussed lt was not possible for the Foreign or War Offices to reveal the ConversatienJ 

to the Commlttee of Imperial Oefence. And so whlle Jt shortly became common 

knowledge ln the Committee thot the War Office was toylng wlth thoughts of direct 

mllltary lnvolvement in the event of a warin Europe, and lnasmuch as the vlews of the 

•new men• had begun to percolate down to the members of the C.I.O., such considerations, 

nevertheless, remained, as far as the Commlttee was concerned, upon no more thon a 

purely hypothetical basis. Thus the War Office was frequently driven to adopta tone 

which must otherwise have been ranked as blatant insincerity. 

Throughout the various C.I.O. enquiries tnto such matters as Invasion and the varied 

needs of Imperial defence prior to 1909, the War Office•s plans for direct participation 

in the event of a European war were never submitted, sti Il Jess was any intimation given 

of the Staff Conversations. Lord Hankey 1 whose somewhat questionable authority dates 

from his appointment in February 1908 as Naval Assistant Secretary to Sir Charles Ottley, 

has confirmed this conclusion which has been drawn from a study of the Papers of the 

Committee of Imperial Defence.
23 

This blockage in communication between the War 

Office and the C .1. D. resulted ln a continuing concern on the Commlttee with military 

involvement elsewhere thon upon the Continent. Thus Lord Morley 1 the Secretary of 

State for lndla, chaired a sub-committee on Indien Defence recommending the provision 

of an expeditionary force of 100,000 men to be dispatched to the North West Frontier in 

the event of war. A memorandum drawn up by the Secretariat in lote June 1908 contained 

the following notation : 

At the 98th Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence on 
30th May, 1907, the principle was accepted that this country 

23 - Hankey 1 The Supreme Command1 Vol. 11 p. 63. 
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should malntaln a mllrtary organisation capable of despatchlng 
100,000 men to lndla durlng the first year of war, and that the 
lndian Government should make preparations to recelve the 
number of retnforcements specifled ln the evidence given by 
Sir Beauchamp Ouff before the Sub-Commlttee of the Committee 
of Imperial Oefence which reported in May 1907.24 

Ouff was Ad jutant-General to Kitchener, at that time Commander-in-Chief in lndia. 

This concern, in effect, provided the Expeditionary Force with an official camouflage -

though, in fact, the War Office's increasing pre-occupation with the prospects of war 

in Europe was widely known though the details of its planning remained secret o 
25 

This 

artificiel standard drove the Committee as a whole to view the problems of the North 

West Frontler as more pressing than those of the Continent- officially at least. Thus 

Mr. Balfo_ur, who was unaware of these developments in the War and Foreign Offices, 

noted in his statement before the Sub-Committee on Invasion ln May 1908 : 

••• the trend of events has been to give the Germans sorne 
advantages in respect of invasion which were never possessed 
by the French, and if we were seriously involved with some 
other great naval and maritime Power, and felt ourselves 
obllged to denude ourselves of any large portion of our mllltary 
force, 1 should feel that we were in a more perilous position 
thon we have been for some generations. 26 

ln view of the firm Japanese Alliance, Mr. Balfour was, of course, referrlng to the 

event of a German attack while the British Army was involved with Russie in lndia. The 

Report of this Sub-Committee on Invasion, which was chal red by Mr. Asquith 1 was sub­

mitted to the C.I.O. in lote October 1908. ln considering the eventuallty of an 

invasion attempt whi le the Expeditionary Force was abroad the Sub-Committee had 

automatically assumed that its only conceivable employment lay in bolstering the lndian 

24 - 'Relnforcements and Orafts Required to be Oespatched to Indic Ouring the First 
Year of a War wlth Russie' ,2, Whitehall Gardens, S.W •1 24 June 1908. 
C.I.O. Papers1 Cab. 6/4/1/101 O. 

25 - Hankey, The Supreme Command, Vol. 1, pp. 63-64. 

26 - , 'Statement Made By Mr. A.J. Balfour Before the Sub-Commlttee on Invasion 
Friday, 29th May, 1908', 21 Whitehall Gardens, S.W., 29 May 1908. 
C.l. O. Papers, Cab. 3/2/1/43A. 
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Army on the North West Frontler. At the close of the Report under the headlng 

'Final Conclusions' lt waa obaerved : 

That ln the event of our betng engaged ln a war on the frontler 
of lndla whfch requlred 100,000 regular troops to be sent from 
the United Klngdom durlng the flrst year, the new organlzatlon 
of the Army at Home wtll secure that there will be left ln this 
country durlng the flrst six months a sufftclent number of regular 
and other troops to deal wtth a force of 70,000 men.27 

There was no suggestion whatsoever in the Report of the possibility of the Expeditionary 

Force being dlspatched to the Continent ; and yet it would be weil to point out that 

among the signatures affixed to the Report were those of Grey, Haldane, Lyttleton, 

Nicholson, French and Ewart. 

lt must not be thought thot these men were insincere, or that they did not genuinely 

believe that it was necessary to prepare for a clash wtth Russîa on the North West 

Frontler. But, on the other hand, neither moy it be assumed that they had not devoted 

much thought to the possibility of military involvement upon the Continent~ On the 

controry, they had, ali of them, first hand knowledge not only of the reorientation in 

military thought but also of the Staff Conversations. 

During those early years of Liberal rule little progress was made in the pursuit of the 

Staff Conversations. Huguet has cloimed thot he never once met Ewart in connection 

with the Conversations, who had succeeded Grierson as Director of Mi li tory Operations 

in July 1906.
28 

Nevertheless, itappears thot one year later, in July 1907, following 

upon Haldane's reforms the Initia 1 agreement wi th. the French Genera 1 Staff to provide 

two Army Corps, four Cavalry Brigades and two Brigades of Mounted lnfantry was revised.
29 

27 - 'Report of a Sub-Committee Appointed by the Prime Minister to Reconsider the 
Question of Oversea Attack', 2, Whitehall Gardens, S.W., 22 Oct. 1908. 
C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 3/2/l/44A. 

28 - Huguet, J., Britain and the War: A French lndictment, (London, 1928), 
p. 7. 

29 - 'War Office Memorandum on Action Taken since 1906', by General Sir 
William N. Nicholson, C.L.G.S., 6 Nov. 1911. British Documents on the 
Origins of the Wor, 1898- 1914, ed. C .. P. Gooch & H. Temperley 
(London, 1928), Val. Ill, No. 221 (b). 
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Under the terms of this revtsfon ft was agreed that the British Army would provide one 

Cavalry Dlvlston and six lnfantry Divisions. However, as the result of the ftndlngs 

of the Invasion Sub-Commlttee enqulry of 1907- 1908, which had established the six 

months - 70,000 men margln, the French were advised of a further revision reducing 

the lnfantry immediately available to four divisions. Clearly then, while douotless 

no detatled joint staff planning was undertaken, it would be mJstaken ta assume thot 

no steps were token to further the Conversations after July 1906. ·rhe influence of 

the •new men• was rapidly spreading throughout the Army as was evldenced by the 

large number of officers who porticipated in unofficiol staff tours in Northern France 

and Belgium during those years. 
30 

The opinion of the Army General Staff upon the 

nature of a future Franco-Germon war remoined unchanged during tnose yeors from thot 

first expressed in lote September 1905. A War Office minute of January 1907 

substontially reflected the views which the Staff had put forword some fifteen months 

earlier : 

the General Staff ••• after careful consideration of the 
circumstances, are strongly of opinion thot whether Germony in 
a war with France violates Belgion territory or whether she does 
not, our wisest course will be not to commit ourselves to 
independant operations in thot country but to land in Fronce ; 
to support the French left rather thon the Bel gion right. 31 

lt is interesting to note thot while in essence this opinion reflected the view presented 

to the C .1. D. in 1905, here, in an internai War Office minute, direct mention is now 

made of possible British involvement. This is a clear reflection of the ascendancy of the 

•new men• whi ch had become evident upon the conclusion of the Whitehall Gardens• 

Conferences. No formai submission to this effect was made to the C.l. D~, and, indeed, 

in the sense thot the view once again was expressed thot Belgium would not necessarily 

30 - Tyler, J.E., The British Army and the Continent, 1904- 1914, (London, 1938), 
p. 69. 

31 - •war with Germany in Oefence of Belgion Neutratity•, W.O., Jan. 1907. 
Cited: Guinn, P., British Strategyand Politics, 1914 to 1918, 
(Oxford, 196~, p. 14. 

124 



be vlolated, the opinion of the Staff remalned essenttally the same as thot of September 

1905. The addltional notation concerning the possible use of the Expeditionary Force 

arose as a direct result of the Conversations. This survey of the General Staff, though 

stlll differing wtth the expression of opinion of the Whltehall Garclens• Conferences on 
\ 

the matter of the violation of Belgian neutrality, had enabled Lyttleton's Staff to 

acquiese to the Conversations slnce both, admittedly offlcially for different reasons, 

judged initial operations in Belgium to be ill-advised. This 'French' frame of mind 

became ali the more reasonable in view of the Foreign Office's leanings towards direct 

aid•to France even in the event of Gennany violating Be1gium - leanings which were 

in no way dictated by strategie considerations. Whereas the General Staff a,dherred 

to the opinion that Belgian neutrallty would not necessarily be vlolated, and that there­

fore any plans for participation in a Franco-Gennan war should not be based upon the 

necessary 'cossus belli' of Belgium. The Whitehall Gardens' Conferences, on the other 

hand, while viewing Belglan involvement as inevitable dld not consider it advisable for 

the Expeditionory Force to undertake operations in Belgium from the outset Q Th us a Il 

concerned, the General Staff, the 'new men' and the Foreign Office, were quite happy 

with the 'French' flavour of the Conversations. 

But none of thfs was brought to the attention of the C.l. D. until the Christmas of 

1908. Late in October of that year Asquith, according to Hankey on Ottley•s suggestion, 

established a sub-committee 'to Consider the Military Needs of the Empire'. This ad-hoc 

sub--c.ommittee of the C .1. D. had been preceded by two si mi lar such bodies, one of which 

h~s already been discussed, to study the 'military requirements of the Empire as affected 

by lndia and Egypt'. This new sub-committee was, therefore, charged to consider : 

(a.) Any circumstances not already reviewed by the Sub­
Committee in which the British Anny might be called 
upon to operate either alone or with other Powers. 

(b.) The nature and extent of the demands that such operations 
would make upon our naval and military forces as at 
present cons ti tuted. 32 

32 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', (Tenns of Reference, October 22, 1908), 
2, Whitehall Gardens, 24 July 1909. C .. I.D. Papers, Cab. 4/3/1/1098. 
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ln practlcal terms this bolled down to an examlnatlon of the nature of England•s llkely 

role ln a Continental war agatnat Germany, and speclflcally the form of a possible 

mllttary contrtbutfon. ln the preamble to the final Report of thfs sub-commlttee lt 

was noted: 

Further Investigation lnto the possible theatres of war for the 
army was • o • desirable ln arder to give to the War Office 
such indication asto the general pollcy of His Majesty's 
Govemment with regard to the employment of a British mllltary 
force on the Continent of Europe, as would enable the General 
Staff to concentrate their attention only on such plans as they 
mlght be cal led upon to put into operation. 33 

At the outset of the enqulry Asquith, who had token the chair himself, 
34 

requested 

the Foreign Office, which Interestingly enough was represented at so Important an 

Investigation by Sir Charles Hardinge, the Permanent Under-Secretary, rather thon by 

Grey hlmself, to draw up a list of possible areas of confl ict upon the Continent. Referring, 

once agaln to the preamble of the Report it is interesting to note this comment : 

The countrles selected by the Foreign Office as being those to 
which, either owing to British foreign policy or on account of 
Treaty obligations, lt might be necessary to send a military 
force were France, Belgium, Holland, and Denmark.35 

That France should have been placed first upon this list, whether by the Foreign Office 

or the Sub-Committee, was instructive of the FrancophJie spirit that had permeated both 

the Foreign and War Offices, and illustrative of the general attitude prevailing at the 

time of the enquiry. As the Report made clear such a war could be occasioned only by 

33 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', 2, WhJtehall Gardens, 24 July 1909, 
p. 1. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 4/3/l/109G. 

34 - The other members of the Sub-Committee were :Lord Crewe, Sir C. Hardinge, 
Mr. McKenna, Sir J. Fisher, Rear-Admiral Slade (succeeded by Reer­
Admirai Bethell on becoming D.N.I. in March 1909), Lord Esher, 
Mr. Haldane, Sir J. French, Sir W. Nicholson, and Major-General Ewart 
with Sir C. Ottley as Secretary. 

35 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 1. 
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aggresslon on the part of Germany, and yet ln these fnltfal remarks no attempt was 

made ta link the possibi li ti es of mllitary ald to the question of Belgian neutrallty. 

The attitude within the Foreign Office had been largely shaped by the ever growing 

anti -Gennan faction headed by Sir Eyre Crowe with the support of Grey. Sir Charles 

Hardinge's presence on the Sub-Committee is of note in thot, while altve to the 

German threat upan the seas, he was, unllke Grey and ·crowe, not consumed with the 

Secretary of State's monolithic concept of an Angle-French alliance desig~d to offset 

the possibilities of Germany upsettlng the l::alance of power in Europe. Crowe's famous 

codification of this new alignment in England's foreign policy, which had been set 

forth for the Cabinet ln a memorandum of 1 January 1907, had contalned the following 

observation : 

When the signature of the Algeciras Act brought to a close the 
fint chapter of the conflict respecting Morocco, the Angle­
French entente had acquired a different significance from thot 
which it had at the moment of its inception ••• now there had 
emerged an element of common resistance to outside dictation 
and aggression, a unity of special interests tending to develop 
into active co-operation against a third Power.36 

This attitude on the part of the Foreign Office, coupled to Grey's support of the 

Convel'50tions, served only to encourage the Continental inclinations of the 'new men' 

in the Anny. Aside from the lack of interest exhibited by Lyttleton and Ewart, the 

Convel'50tlons were not pursued with notable enthusiosm in the foce of comparative 

French disinterest owlng to the Foreign Secretary's feors lest a seemingly over-zeolous 

and unwonted interest in committlng Englond ta France milltarily risk the rejection of the 

'Entente' pollcy at home. However, the naval crisis of 1909 was required ta even begin 

ta loosen these shackles. Grey's negative interpretation of every German move, together 

36 - 1Memorandum on the Present State of British Relations with France and 
Gennony', Foreign Office, 1 Jan. 1907, p. 10. Cabinet Papers, 
Cab. 37/86, No. 1 • 
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with his deep commitment to the 'Entente', must have been of Immense encouragement 

to the sol di ers. Thot Grey had become the captive of his own parochlalism becomes 

readi ly apparent from the following excerpt taken from a memorandum submitted to the 

Cabinet in the autumn of 1909 at a time when relations with Belglum had become so 

strained, conaeming the manner ln which Brussels was administering the recently 

annexed Congo, thot the possibllity of using force had been roised ; Grey was most 

upset at such a prospect, and noted to his colleagues: 

From the point of view of general policy, 1 regret exceedingly 
thot this question should have orisen. We do not wish to 
quarre! with Belgium. We shall get neither sympathy nor 
support from any Power except the United States, and 1 fear. 
thot the sympathy of even the United States will not go so far 
as to help us by action. We cannat expect France to help us, 
for she cannat afford to quarre! with Belgium, and throw her 
into the arms of Germany, which would vastly increase the 
difficulty of defending the French frontier in the case of a German 
attack. So delicate and difficult is the position of Fronce vis-O-vis 
Germany in this respect thot 1 should not think it fair to ask her to 
compromise herself, by giving us active support, if Germony came 
forward as the champion of Belgium. 37 

The corollary being that Anglo-French relations would become strained and the 'Entente• 

placed in grave ieopardy. T o Grey and the Foreign Office such a si tua ti on was 

intolerable, especially in view of the recent naval crisis. However unimportant and 

insignificant England's mtlitary copoblltty might have seemed in French eyes, nevertheless 

the adoption of the Continental Strotegy was for Fronce the only truly tangible advantage 

offered by the 'Entente' .. 

However, the 'new men• were dismoyed by the Foreign Office's caution ;: but, 

as they ascended the ladder of the military hierarchy their actions begon to precipitate 

matt:ers. Robertson best summed up the views of his fellow officers on this inactivity in 

37 - 'Memorandum', discussing the possibilities of using force against the Belgians, 
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, 19 Oct. 1909, p.2. Cabinet 
Papers, Cab. 37/101, No. 142. 

128 



recalllng after the War: 

We had to face the fact thot, whereas our foreign policy 
had gradually assumed a continental character, our military 
preparations had remained insular and almost parochlal. 38 

Of course, Robertson felt this to be no less true in 1914 ; nevertheless with the accession 

of Sir William Nicholson as Chief of the General Stoff ln 1908 events begon to move. 

Nicholson hod been ossociated with the C.I.O. from its earltest when as Director of 

Mtlttary Intelligence he hod given Mr. Bolfour's Committee his enthusiostlc support. 
39 

lt has been suggested thot Nicholson was very much under the Influence of Henry Wilson, 

supporting many of Wilson's ldeas including his advocacy both of compulsory service and 

the Continental Strategy. Regardless, Nicholson was not only a finn believer in the 

role thot the C.I.O .. had to play in defence co-ordination, but he also regorded the 

Continental Strategy as central to ali British military thought. lt was Nicholson who 

first revealed the details of the Continental Strategy to the C.l. D. ; Mr. Asquith's 

Sub-Committee enquiring into the 'Mtlitary Needs of the Empire' had provided him with 

the necessary forum • 

Vorious possible ways and means by whtch England could otd France in a war against 

Germanywere examined by Asquith's Sub-Committee; this particular Investigation 

fonned the heart and soul of the Committee's deliberations. The old General Staff 

Memorandum of September 1905was disinterred and quoted in the final Report in order 

to justify the CommTttee's refusai to regard the violation of Belgian neutrality as the 

necessary 'cossus bell JI. lt was noted in Section I of the Report: 

The decision of the question of whether Great Britain 
should intervene on behalf of France cannat, in our opinion, 
be left to turn on the mere point of violation of Belglan 
neutrality. We are strengthened in this conclusion by the 
opinion expressed by the General Staff as follows : "lt is con­
sidered generally unlikely that Belgium wi Il form part of the 

38 - Robertson, W .R., Soldters and Statesmen, (london, 1926), Vol .. 1, p. 45. 

39 - Johnson, F.A. 1 Oefence By Commlttee: The British Committee of Imperial 
Defence 1 1885 - 1 959, (london 1 1960), p. 54. 
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theatre of war durlng the flrst operations, as the prospective 
mllitary advantages to be gained by advancing through thot 
country do not seem to afford sufflcient justification for such 
a serious step as the violation of the neutralfty of Belgium, 
with its almost inevitable consequent polltfcal complications. 
lt undoubtedly appears quite possible, however, thot the tide 
of battle might bring about such a state of affairs asto make 
it almost imperative for one of the belligerents {more especially 
Germany) to disregard Belgium's neutrality 11 .40 

This reference to the opinion of the General Staff was in fact a verbOtim .extract from 

the Memon::tndum of September 1905. The hand of the Foreign Office is readi ly 

observed underlying this attitude, for as the Report was careful to point out : 

We were informed by the Foreign Office thot: 11 1n the event 
of Germany provoking hostilities with France1 the question of 
armed intervention by Great Britain is one which would have 
to be decided by the Cabinet; but the decision would be more 
easily arrived at if German aggression had entai led a violation 
of the neutralitr of Belgium 1 which Great Britain has guaranteed 
to maintain '.' .4 

The Report th en proceeded to re je ct out of ha nd any suggestion thot assistance to France 

should take the form of general naval support, noting : 

We do not ••. consider thot such pressure as could be exerted 
by means of naval force alone would be felt sufficiently soon to 
save France in the event of thot country being attacked in over­
whelming force. We therefore recognise the possibi 1 ity thot 
Great Britain's success at seo might only cause greater pressure 
to be brought to bear on France on land, and the latter country 
might have to make tenns with Gennany whlch would not be less 
stringent owing to the !osses suffered by her opponent at sea .42 

Having disposed of the 'navalist' viewpoint the Report went on to demolish a compromise 

proposed by Viscount Esher between the nova 1 argument which the Sub-Committee had 

40 - 'Report on the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Milltary Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 1. 

41 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p.l. 

42 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p.2. 
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rejected and the militdi'y solution which was becoming increasingly apparent as the 

logical corollary to their ob.iections. Esher proposed the adoption of the naval 

viewpoint, leavened however by the dispatch of a token force of six mounted 

brigades totalling sorne 12,000 men. Esher, it must be remembered, was weil aware 

of the fact thot the French General Staff regarded the entire Expeditionary Force as 

possessed of little more thon a moral support value in any case. Needless to say, the 

'new men' were not at ali taken with this suggestion as ls evidenced in the Report by a 

synopsis of both Sir John French's and the General Staff's objections to such a scheme : 

Neither Sir John French nor the General Staff were in 
agreement with Lord Esher's suggestion. Their objections to 
sending a mounted force such as he had proposed were chiefly 
of a technt<:al nature, since they did not consider such a force 
as homogeneous or capable of useful military action. The 
General Staff are of opinion thot command of the seo would not 
necessarily influence the immediate issue of a great land struggle, 
and might not be of use to the French at the time thot it was 
required. They further consider thot a military entente between 
Great Britain and France con only be of value so long as it rests 
upon an understanding thot, in the event of a war in which both 
are involved alfke on land and at seo, the whole of the available 
nova 1 and milita ry streng th of the two co un tri es w i Il be brought 
to bear at the decisive point. 43 

Here, surely, was the influence of the Foreign Office at its most obvious. For here the 

view, which had prompted Grey to accept the efficacy of the Staff Conversations, was 

openly and cl earl y stated. This extract from the Report, with its use of such terms as 

•a mi li tory entente•, must be retumed to in due course. 

Hoving rejected the 'navalist' arguments the Report tumed to consider the proposais 

for direct military involvement which hod been put forward by the Chief of the General 

Staff and the Director of Military Operations. On 3 December 1908 Nicholson had 

laid before the Enquiry the scheme whlch had been worked out foUowing .upon the Whifehall 

43 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on 
the Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 3. 
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Gardens• Conferences together with the subsequent alterations which had si nee been 
'44 

effected. Nicholson•s defensive Memorandum of6 November 1911 was not 

altogether trustworthy, containing a number of grave errors with respect to the nature 

of the development both of the Continental Strategy and the Staff Conversations prior 

to his succeeding Lyttleton as Chief of the General Staff. ln discussing the proposais 

of the War Office, the Report noted : 

Their proposai would involve the dispatch to France of an army 
of four divisions and a cavalry division 1 amounting in ali to 
about 110,000 men. ln view of a recent decision of the 
Committee of Imperial Defence thot, in the event of a warin 
which the regular army is dispatched for service abroad, two 
divisions shall be retained in this country until such time as 
the Territorial Force may be considered fit to take the 'fiel'd, 
the above force is the maximum thot it would be prudent for 
Great Britain to dispatch on the outbreak of war.45 

Jt was this proposai which clearly found favour with the Sub-Committee as is evidenced 

by the final Report; however, the decision asto whether or not the Continental Strategy 

was to be firmi y adopted as government policy was postponed. The reason for this 

failure to emulate the earlier decisive action taken with respect to the defence of 

lndia and the invasion question lay, in part at !east, in the vociferous opposition to the 

military viewpoint put forward by Fisher with the full support of the First Lord, 

Regina Id McKenna. Fisher's major counterproposal had lain in his advocacy of the 

decisiveness of commerce warfare - another point upon which he failed to agree with 

Mahon. However, the Sub-Committee had gone even further 1 noting in its final 

Report : 

Various schemes for the employment of the British 
force were considered by the Committee. lt was pointed 
out thot no relief could be given to the armies of France by 
any threat by the "British army to make a descent on the coast 

44 - See : 'War Office Memorandum on Action Taken Since 19061
, by General 

Sir William N. Nicholson, C.I.G.S., 6 Noe. 1911. British Documents, 
(London, 1932), Vol. VIl, No. 639. 

45 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on 
the Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 3. 
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of Germany, si nee the latter Power has ample troops both 
for watching lts own coasts and for an attack on France, and 
those detailed on the fonner service would not in any case be 
used for active operations. lt was further pointed out thot the 
Belgian anny is weak, and would be unable effectively to resist 
the violation of the neutrallty of Belgium by Germany ; and 
since the British force could not be concentrated and ready to 
take the field until twenty days after the order to mobllize had 
been given, thot force could be more effectively used as a re­
inforcement to the French left thon in co-operation wlth what 
wou Id probably be a broken or di spi ri ted army. 46 

Thus ali of Fisher•s hopes for amphibious operations, and the whole question of sending 

the Expeditionary Force to Belgium, essentially os an extension of the fleet, were 

scuttled in one feil swoop. Though, at the close of its deliberations on the nature of 

possible military aid to France the Sub-Committee did throw out a sop on the issue of 

Belgium which served, in fact, only to underline the •french• flavour of these proceed­

ings : 

The plan to which preference is given by the Genera 1 
Staff is therefore one in which the British force shall be con­
centrated in the rear on the left of the French army, primari ly 
as a reserve. The possibility of its being co lied upon to cover 
Antwerp has not however been lost sight of, and plans wi Il a Iso 
be worked out for landings in Belgium with a view to this operation.47 

Not only was this view at variance with those of the General Staff and of the Whitehall 

Gardens• Conferences, but in fact it was at issue with the whole tenor of the Report 

os has already been shown. No such planning was ever evolved. Fisher was not blind 

to the direction in whièh the Sub-committee was moving ; in writing to Captain 

Thomas Crease, his war time Naval Assistant as First Seo Lord, in mid-Apri 1 1919 

Sir John gleefully noted : 

46 - •Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire•, 24 July 1909, pp. 3-4. 

47 - •Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire•, 24 July 1909, p. 4. 
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••• Lord Esher tells me he remembers a furtous meeting on 
December 3, 1908, of the Commlttee of Imperial Defence, of 
which he is going to send me a resume from his notes, when 1 
had a row wlth the Soldlers headed by Field-Marshal Nichplson 
and Sir John French as to their wanting to land in Fn:rnce. Of 
course if our Expedftionary Force, with the Fleet supportlng it1 

had gone to Antwerp ••• then the Germans could not hove gone 
on to Paris ~ and the Novy would not have been cal led 'a sub­
sidiory Service' ••• in the House of Commons ~ On the other 
hond, the Soldiers would not have been mode Vlscounts and Field­
Marshols.48 

Fisher's outburst served to drag the inter-service disagreement over the Continental 

Strategy into the open1 resulting in Asquith's hasty adjournment of the meeting '. 

The Sub-Committee then proceeded to make a series of minor excursions enquiring 

into possible a id to Hollond and Denmark in the event of German invasion. ln noting 

that aid would be useless to the Dutch unless they were willing to co-operate in the 

defence of their country the Report concluded : 

••• the General Staff should work out plans in such detail 
as may be practicable, in order that we may be prepared to 
assist the Dutch in the manner indicated by the General 
Staff • • • • 49 

On the recommendation of the General Staff similar proposais for the assistance of the 

Danes were re jected by the Sub-Committee in view of the difficulties of the amphibious 

operations which would be necessary, the proximity of Germany to Denmork and the 

corresponding distance from the British lsles.
50 

Put in somewhat cruder:terms, the 

General Staff wanted no part in any undertaking involving amphibious warfare, an 

undertaking which wholly negated the fundamental deSire for military independence 

48 - Fisher to Creose, 19 Apr. 1919'. Fisher to Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. Ill, p.~79. 

49 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire~, 24 July 1909, p .5. 

50 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Military Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 5. 
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upon whleh the genesls of the Continental Strategy had been bullt. 

Whfle lt ls true that the Sub-Commlttee had lJ'èfusecf' to deeislvely ehoose between 

the 1navallsts• and the 'militarists• on the Issue of ai ding France in the event of war, 

nevertheless its members did conelude in thelr Report : 

(a) The Committee, in the first place, desire to observe 
thot in the event of on ottack on France by Germony, 
the expediency of sendlng a mllitary force obrood, or 
of relying on naval meons only, is a motter of policy 
which con only be determined when the occasion arises 
by the Government of the day. 

(b) ln view, however, of the possibility of a decision by the 
Cabinet to use military force, the Committee hove 
exomined the plans of the General Staff, and ore of opinion 
thot, in the initial stages of a wor between Fronce and Ger­
many, in which the Government decided to ossist Fronce, 
the plon to which preference is given by the General Staff 
is a voluoble one, and the General Staff should occordingly 
work out ali the necessory details. 51 

The influence of the Foreign Office in guiding Asquith's Sub-Committee towords 

fovouring the Continental Strotegy wos once ogoin reodily apparent os evidenced in the 

fi no 1 Report : 

We hove heord from the Foreign Office thot the French 
ore onxious thot Great Britoin should be able to offord them 
substantiel milltary assistance, and thot such assistance, if 
gronted at the immediate outbreok of wor, would be of immense 
moro 1 va 1 ue to them • 52 

The conclusions of the Sub-Committee were loter presented by Nicholson in the course 

of his Memorandum of November 1911 to justify the subsequ~nt enlorgement of the 

Staff Conversations which took place following Henry Wilson's oppointment to the 

Operations Directorote in the lote summer of 1910.
53 

Whtle innocently discussing 

51 - 'Report of the Sub-CommHtee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Militory Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 4. 

52 - 'Report of the Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Militory Needs of the Empire', 24 July 1909, p. 3. 

53 - 'Wor Office Memorandum on Action Token Since 1906', British Documents, 
Vol. VIl, No. 639. 
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the Conversations, Nicholson v-las very careful to omit the fact that they had ac:tuaiJy 

never been revealed to the C.I.O. as a whole. The very failure of this Sub­

Committee Report of July 1909 to make any direct reference to the Staff talks Ï$ proof 

enough that they were regarded as a 'touchy' subject. Part (a) of the above quoted 

conclusion read from the ventage point of hindsight world indicate a reference to the 

hypothetical nature of the Staff Conversations ; but read without that knowledge it 

appears simply as an innocent reference designed to ensure the Government's freedom 

of choice between the proposais of the 'navalists' and the 'militarists'. Further it is 

now known thot this phraseology concerning freedom of action was generally used in 

impressing the hypothetical nature of the talks upon the French Government. More 

important was the Report's reference to a 'military entente' which could only indicate 

thot sorne form of military arrangement had been added to the diplomatie 'entente' of 

1904. Once ogain viewed with the advantage of hindsight this becomes readlly 

apparent. 'Thot the members of Sub-Committee had deliberately suppressed their 

knowledge of the Staff Conversations becomes even more apparent when their veiled 

references in the final Report are linked to the evidence given by Hardinge before the 

Sub-Committee on 3 December 1908; making a direct reference to the Conversations 

the'\Permanent Under-Secretary had noted in passing : 

. • . the only grounds upon whi ch the French couJd ba.se any hopes 
of mi li tory assistance were the semi-official conversations 
which had taken place between the French Military Attaché 
and our Genera 1 Staff. 54 

This extract from the minutes of the Sub-Committee's first meeting must upset the belief 

thot Asquith was unacquainted with the existence of the Staff arrangements prior to 

August 1911 - unless, as is possible, he had dozed off during the hearingsl. A situation 

54 - Cited: Mackintosh J.P., 'The Role of the Committee of Imperial Defence 
Before 1914', The English Historical Review, 1962, Vol. LXXVII, 
p. 497. 
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whlch was hardi y 1 lkely ln view of Flsher's explosion whlch occurred at the same 

meeting • Regardless, i t was this revel.ation by Hardinge which could posslbly 

explain Grey's absence from a Sub-Committee upon which the Foreign Secretary 

ought norme lly ta have played a dominant role. This delibera te withholding of the 

knowledge of the Conversations from the C.I.O. as a whole itself explains much of 

the reason why Asquith took no decision on the central question of choosing between 

the naval and mllitary policies. Any such decision would not only have provoked 

the bitter enmity between the Services, but, perforee, it v-.ould have led to the 

revelation of the Staff Conversations to the entire C.I.O. and no doubt intime, owing 

to the resultant internai crisis, to the Cabinet itself. Asquith's great reluctance to 

bring on sucha cnsiS:Jsreadily under.standable in view of the only too obviously 

papered-over cracks in his Government's solidarity and unity of purpose. 

Thus matters stood in the summer of 1909. No decision had been taken on the 

most important issue of national defence before the country. The Government was 

paralysed1 and its Liberal lmperialist faction frustrated and disappointed with the in­

action of the Prime Minister's Oefence Committee. Mr. Asquith, driven increasingly 

to compromise to the satisfaction of neither side 1 was in no position to exercise the 

influence of the C.I.O. in the manner which Mr. Balfour had envisaged. The War 

Office seeing it had the sympathy but not the support of the Committee was unable to 

make any constructive use of what wa, supposed to be the supreme organ for defence 

planning. Oissatisfied, feeling thot his great work at the War Office was being 

frittered away whi le the C .1. D. sot numbed and unable to act decisive! y, Mr. Hal da ne 

begon to cast a round for a more effective organ of supreme comma nd. He discovered 

the Oefence Ministry. 

ln turning towards the naval aspect of this discussion one is struck, as with everything 

else dealing with the Novy, by Sir John Fisher's monopoly of the Admiralty's relations 

with the Committee of Imperial Defence during these years. From the outset those 

relations had been somewhat querulous. The relative position of the two Services with 

respect to the C .1 . D. has a 1 rea dy be en discussed ; however, qui te a part from the 
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distance ereated by the fundamental disagreement aver basle strategie posture which 

had begun to develop towards the close of 1905, Fisher was further estranged by 

Sir George Clarke's conduct both as Secretary to the Committee and as a disciple of 

the Continental Strategy. But this hod not always been the case ; writing to Sandars 

baek in those days when the Navy's pre-eminence wos sti Il unchallenged Fisher had 

exulted : 

You have exactly hit off the situation '. Also 1 think you 
are right about the Permanent Secretary. Now about Clarke 
and this is very spec:ially private the one place in the whole 
wide world he is specially bom for is Permanent Secretory of 

55 
the Cabinet Defence Committee at 65,000 ayear (he's worth it !). 

Fisher had expressed these same sentiments in the course of a letter to Viscount Esher 

written at a time when the Reconstruction Committee was working at 'full steam' on 

its proposais for a revamped Defence Committee : 

There is one place and one place only for Clarke, and 1 entreat 
you to support this through thick and thin, and thot is 'Permanent 
Secretary for Organisation'. These ore his own words to me as 
the object of his ambition, because he himself feels his own 
special fitness . . • • He would be the head of the permanent 
staff of the Defence Committee • . . . 56 

But if Clarke was one of 'those d - d professional soldiers' for whom Fisher had 

nothing but praise at this juncture, then here also must be found the key to their 

subsequent estrangement. Quite apart from the fa ct thot CJarke was to flagrantly abuse 

his position as Secrettary, it must be remembered thot both .as a soldier and a reformer 

he was unlikely to be content for long with the support role assigned to the Army by the 

Board of Admiralty. Besides, whatever Fisher's passing sentiments may have been, the 

55 - Fisher to Sandars, 10 Nov. 1903. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 

56 - Fisher to Esner, 7 Dec. 1903. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. 1, pp. 292- 293. 
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fact remalns nevertheless that he had a fundamental lack of confidence ln thè mllttary 

mi nd, preferring al ways the nova 1 species as was evidenced by this extra ct from a 

latter to Esher of lote May 1904 : 

What a providentiel thing it is that you are at hand to watch 
over things •. •rhe Lord bless you and preserve you •. • Ottley 
is coming to see me directly he can. He wi Il kéep Clarke 
right. ln rea 1 ity, Ottley is superior to Clarke and wi Il be an 
immense success. 57 

Of course, what Fisher implied here was thot Ottley, who up to this point had served 

as Assistant Director of Navql Intelligence, and who hod been one of Fisher•s chosen 

few white Sir John had sot on the Board as Second Seo Lord, was to be inserted into 

the Secretariat of the C.I.D. in order to make sure thot the Committee kept its station 

not straying into the lanes of the Admiralty•s freedom of executive action. Some 

measure of Ottley•s reputation and stature may be gleaned from this letter from the 

First Lord to the Prime Minister of mid-NK:ly 1904 which, in view of later correspondance, 

clearly referred to Ottley : 

For 1:500 1 con give you a commander and will of course pick 
out the best man 1 con. Lord Wa 1 ter is rather disturbed : he 
hoped the sa lary wou Id enable us to send you a Capta in and 
we had a first rate man in view ; but 1 presume you have 
del iberately adopted a scale which would exclude Captain 1s 
rank ? 58 

Backed by Fisher, Kerr and Selborne, Captain Ottley's star was on the ascent and being 

a man of means he was not deterred by the marginal salary. Furthermore, as Selborne 

noted in a letter of mid-May 1904 to Sandars,such an appointment was ideally suited to 

Ottley since he lacked the necessary sea-duty in order to get on much further at the 

Admiralty; and going to seo was out of the question since, as Selborne put it, he 

•suffers from sea-sickness so badly now thot he has had to give it up• 
59 

. And so on 

57 - Fisher to Esher, 26 May 1904. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. 1, p. 317. 

58 - Se 1 borne to Ba 1 four, 12 May 1904. Ba 1 four MSS, Add. MS 49707. 

59 - Selborne to Sandars, 19 May 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49707. 
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17th May 1904 Selborne, firmly lodging the Admiralty's foot in the door of the 

C.I.O. Secretariat, wrote to Mr. Balfour: 

1 have much p!easure in recommending 
Capta in Charles Langdale Ottley M. Y .0. as Naval Assistant 
Secretary to the Committee of Imperial Defence. He is at 
present Naval Attaché in Paris and he is the man who 1 should 
before ali others select for the post. The pay, b 500 p.a. 
inclusive, is inadequate for a Capta in 1 & therefore r do nof' 
conslder the post one to which under ordinary circumstances 
a Capta in cou Id be appointed. 

But Captain Ottley has private means, he is very keen to 
abtain the appointment for the sake of the intèrest of the work, & 
he has volunteered to accept the sa lary of b500 and ask for nothing 
more: 

Under these circumstances 1 unhesitatingly recommend him 
to you. 60 

Such was the support received by Ottley in taking up his new appointment in June 1904. 

However, Ottley's fortunes were such thot when Fisher became First Sea Lord in 

October 1904 he pressed hard to get Ottley back as his Director of Naval Intelligence. 

lt would seem thot this campaign by Fisher marked the beginnings of the more superficial 

troubles which were in time to give way to a deep cleavage on fundamentals between 

C .1 • D., the War Office and the Admirai ty. Wri ting to Mr. Ba lfaur on this matter in 

mid-November 1904 Clarke had noted : 

1 understand thot Lord Selborne had spoken to you about 
the withdrawal of Captain Ottley to become D.N .1. next year. 
He will be a great Joss because he has much varied experience 
& he possesses..exactly the ki nd of mi nd which is needed. If, 
however, the best interests of the country are served by his­
translation there can be no question of its wisdom. 

But the circumstances are peculiar. Capta in Ottley has 
no further sea ca reer. The post of D. N .1 • has hi therto be en 
held always by officers who would later command our fleets. 
Three years, in this post, constitute one of the most valuable 
experiences thot an Admirai can have had. rs it not C? P.ity to 
waste this experience on one who can never commanda fleet? 

60 - Selborne to Balfour, 17 May 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49707. 
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1 feel sure that this vlew will appeal to many offlcers of the Navy, 
who also will thlnk that the D.N.I. 'ship should not be held by a 
captain who has never had a sea-golng comma nd. 61 

This type of blatant Interference whlch went far beyond mere advice was not only 

wholly uncalled for and damaglng to the office of the Secretary of the Commlttee, 

but it was indeed downright unconstltutional • Needless to say Clarke's objections 

soon found their way back via that universel 'father confesser' Mr. Balfour, to 

Fisher confirming the Admiral's suspicions that Clarke was overstepping his role 

and endeavouring to drive the C.I.O. into a position of executive authority. 

Sir John adopted a negative outlook on ali such actions and his withdrawal of Ottley 

was, perhaps, a measure of the poor view he took of the Committee's attempts to 

expand beyond the bounds of its advising capacity, a capacity which Fisher had en­

visaged as a tool for keeping a tight grip on the soldiers. Selbome made the 

Admiralty's attitude towards Clarke's behaviour absolutely clear in a letter to the 

Prime Minister of lote November 1904 : 

To you 1 say thot 1 have appointed Ottrey to be D.N .l. 
for the reason thot 1 believe it to be quite the best appointment 
1 con make. Of course 1 have neglected the candidates Clarke 
puts forward and a great many others too. 

Clarke is quite entitled to lament the loss of Ottley - He 
is not entitled to cri ti cise my appointments at the Admira lty. 1 
resent his interference and 1 beg he wi Il mi nd his own business. 62 

Here, indeed was the nub of the matter; and Selborne's unusually forceful choice of 

words underlined how seriously the Board disapproved of Clarke's attempts to extend 

the influence of the C.I.O. to within the Admiralty. Of course, in Fisher's eyes 

'interference' was 'constituted' by any attempt on the part of the Committee to wield 

..any influence whatsoever contrary to the wishes of his Board. At best Fisher regarded 

the C .1. D. as 'no more thon a clearing house from which diplomatie and naval policy 

could be disseminated to the War Office and the other departments of state. And the 

61 - Clarke to Balfour, 18 Nov. 1904~ Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49700. 

62 - Se 1 borne to Ba 1 four, 22 Nov. 1904. Ba 1 four MSS, Add. MS 49708. 
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strategie c:orollary to that pollc:y, as far as the Admiralty was c:oncerned, was itself 

a foregone c:onc 1 usi on. 

Vlscount Esher's position in this row whic:h was developing between his two former 

colleagues, was somewhat ambiguous. His strong views on the nec:essity of naval 

supremacy and the freedom of action of the Admiralty have already been noted ; 

nevertheless he was, by this juncture, beginning to lean towards Haldane's later 

proposai for the establishment of a Ministry of Defence. This divergence in Esher's 

attitude must be attributed largely to his bellef in the importance of the Fleet, while 

at the same time feeling the necessity of reinforcing the 'Entente' and set against his 

broader desire for fully co-ordinated defence planning. Writing to the Prime Minister 

in mid-September 1905 Esher had reflected his concem for this struggle between the 

Admiralty and the Secretariat which was by now beginning to make itself felt quite 

sharply : 

1 am sure that in future ali questions of organization 
both for the Navy and the Army wi Il have to be the work 
of the Def. Cttee. Administration will take ali the time of 
the Admiralty and the Army Council. 

Jack Fisher would kick at this notion at present - but 
he will come round tait. 

Two years ago as C.-in-C. at PortsmQuth he snapped his 
fingers at the 'Board of Admiralty' and urged every C.-tn-C. 
to do likewise. 63 

Now he pipes a very different tune,. the dear old thing. 

lndeed, the 1dear old thing' was becoming increasingly petulant with what he regarded 

as Clarke's insubordinate perversion of the whole purpose of the Defence Committee. 

ln reality, Clarke's appointment as Secretary had been a mistake from the outset; not 

only did he lack the finesse and tact which was to be associated with his successors, 

but as a senior civil-servant, and a founding-father of the Cômmittee, Clarke considered 

that he had the necessary prestige to lead, rather than merely to encourage,. the 

63 - Esher to Balfour, 10 - 17 (?) Sept. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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development of the C.I.O. towards those broader goals which he espoused. Ooubtless, 

with the passage of the years Clarke's hopes were to find fruitton, but the process of 

that evolution required over twenty years of patient and unspectacular advances which 

taken together formed a major development in the executive organs of supreme comma nd. 

Had Clarke adopted a more self-effacing and moderate outlook, lt is possible that 

viable defence by committee might have become a reality somewhat sooner. The 

Fisher-Clarke feud was merely symptomatic of Clarke's overall attitude, which clearly 

was not compatible with the requirements of his very delicate office. 

Clarke's criticism of Fisher's Navy went far beyond his disapproval of its strategie 

organization r his tactlessness led him to interfere in such matters as internai reform and 

. administrative organization. A letter to the Prime Minis ter of lote November 1905 

reveals the manner in which Clarke managed to create problems both for hhnself and the 

entire Committee ;. objections which were, in any case, of little concern for the higher 

direction of war and served only to hamper the development of the C.I.O. for no good 

reason : 

The idea of combining the executive naval officer & 
the naval engineer in one man is, 1 am convinced, most 
dangerous. Two most exacting professions cannet be thus 
comblned, & the idea violates ali modern practice when 
specialization ln scientific thinking is becoming more and 
more rigorous. 

1 wrote a strong letter from Australie to Lord Selborne 
on this subject, & the arguments ln his reply were easy to 
refute.64 

The context of Clarke's objections, surprising in themselves coming as they did from a 

technical services officer, are of no immediate concern here ;. though, in fact, the 

so-called 'Selborne Scheme' first introduced by Fisher as Second Seo Lord in 1902 

proved to be one of the truly outstanding 'Fisher Reforms' which, with modifications, 

64 - Clarke to Balfour, 25 Nov. 1905. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 
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has survived as the bas.ls of ali offtcer training in the Royal Navy down to the present 

day. But Clarke's who le tone may instructively be compared wlth the tact which 

marked Lord Hankey's yearsat the C.I.O. qnd ln the Cabinet Secreiariat. Hankey's 

tremendous 'staylng-power' and ublqultous influence must very largely be attributed 

to his scrupulous avoidance of direct critictsm of those who control led the levers of 

power. A letter to Mr. Balfour of lote December 1914 revealed a wholly different 

tone from thot adopted so freely by Clarke : 

1 had twenty minutes talk with Lord Fisher this moming. 
He is as keen as ever on mlning the enemy's coast, but he says 
thot his Chief of Staff and the First Lord are so strongly opposed 
toit thot he con do nothing. He wants me to write something 
on the sub ject. But, a 1 though 1 am os strongl y convi nced os he 
is of the imporiance of mining, and con, 1 believe, moke an over­
whelming case for it, 1 find it rather a delicate matter to intervene 
in so domestic an Admiralty question. 65 

lt might weil be added that emerging os he had from relative obscurity to head the 

Secretariat as Ottley's Successor in February 1912, Hankey had no illusions concerning 

'his place, a realisation which enabled hlm during those early years to develop a tact 

which was to keep hlm entrenched behind the scene in the 'halls of power' for over 

twenty years. 

However, the Fisher-Clarke feud did not reaiJy.begin to raise steam until after the 

conclusion of the Christmas 1905 Conferences in Whitehall Gardens. Clarke's role in 

these talks which had led to the Staff Conversations clearly placed him at daggers-drawn 

with the Admirai. lt ls interesting to note thot the so-called 'Naval Conversations' 

were never followed up by the Foreign Office as were the ialks with the French General 

Siaff. Writlng to Bertie in mld-January 1906 Grey had noted that 'it appears thot 

Fisher has long ago taken the French Naval Attaché in hand and no doubt he has ali 

naval plans weil prepared' •
66 

Although, writing to Haldane on 8th January urging 

65 - Hankey to Balfour, 29 Dec. 1914. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49703. 

66 - Grey to Bertie, 15Jan. 1906. British Documents, Vol. Ill, No. 216. 
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him to consider plans for possible mllitary Jnvolvement upon the Cabinet, the Foreign 

Secretary had observed : 

A situation might arise [soora in which popular feeling might 
campel the Govt. togo to the help of France & you might 
suddenly be asked what you could do. 

Fisher says he is ready, by which 1 take it he means that 
his ships are so placed that he can drive the German fleet off 
the sea into shelter at any time ,67 

Which comment not only assumed that there wou Id be no fleet action but also thot 

naval staff talks were unnecessary. This aspect of Grey's thought during those early 

days of his administration and of the Conversations, provides a revee ling insight of 

the essentially 'military' light in which he regarded beth the Entente and the nature of 

Germany's menace to the hegemony of Europe and the future security of England and 

of the Empire. Grey never enquired further into the state and progress of the 'Naval 

Conversations', which had, in fact, never proceeded beyond a single meeting between 

Fisher and the French Naval Attaché, Mercier de Lostende1 which had been highlighted 

by a series of inconsequential platitudes revealing Fisher's distaste for any serious ioint 

planning with the 'Ministere de la Maritime'. 
68 

Fisher's estrangement from the Defence Committee following upon the events of 

early 1906 has already been discussed at length elsewhere in the study. However, 

Clarke' s close association wi th these developments 1 and his freely expressed annoyance 

at Flsher's intransigence 1 served not only to further separate the Admiralty and the 

C.I.O. but1 also, to further exacerbate the persona! feud. Writing to Esher very early 

in the new year Clarke had peevishly noted thot Fisher had 

..• no idees except thot of smashing the German fleet and 
thought that the co-operation of the French Fleet was not 
required except thot French submarines should co-operote 
from Dunkirk with ours. • • • Ali this is quite wrong.69 

67- GreytoHaldane, 8Jan.1906. HaldaneMSS, MS5XJ7. 

68 - Manger, The End of Isolation, p. 245. 

69 - Clarke to Esher, 2 Jan. 1906. Cited: Manger, The End of lsolation 1 p. 244. 
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Needless to say Clarke's attitude was readlly apparent to Fisher and was made ali 

the more so when he attempted togo over Sir John's head in appeallng agalnst the 

poltcy of non co-operation to the Flrst Lord, the second Baron Tweedmouth ; however, 

this move proved unfruitful, prompting Clarke to bttterly note after the War : 

Lord Tweedmouth was not Jn good health and was unllkely 
to mitigate the crude schemes which Slr John Fisher was 
constontly evolving JO 

Here, as has already been seen, Esherand Clarke parted at the cross-roads thus 

ensuring Clarke's deepening bitterness and eventuel retirement from the Secretariat~ 

Thereafter Fisher's attitude towards the Defence Committee deteriorated rapidly 

with Clarke's persona! antagonism blocking ali efforts to ameliorate the increasingly 

strained relations. Writing to Tweedmouth early in July 1906 Sir John poured his 

heart out conceming Clarke's interference, betraying his fears that the C.! .D. was 

becoming too powerful and that it had embarked upon a conspiracy with the War Office 

to usurp the traditional power and influence of the Board of Admiralty in matters involving 

the security of England and of the Empire : 

On reflection 1 think the most objectionable feature of the 
Treasury Memorandum (which, if not written by Sir George Clarke, 
is inspired by him) is the suggestion it contains to transfer the 
responsibility of the Admiralty to the Committee of Imperial Defence 
in regard to the highly technical and purely professional question of 
comparative naval strength into which enter highly complex questions 
of detail., and 1 don't see how the Board of Admiralty could possibly 
acquiese in this abdication of their functions. lt's entirely another 
matter for the Cabinet to settle matters of high policy and give their 
directions to the Board of Admiralty accordingly, but the Committee 

, of Defence is in no way constituted to settle either matters of policy 
or de~rtmental questions of relative naval and military strength. 

Unfortunately, every Secretary for War has brought his depart­
mental business to the Defence Committee as the only way of subduing 
his departmental opposition, but you have a united Board of Admtralty 
who are prepared togo any length you like in your support, and 1 am 
perfectly sure they will ali unite against any reference to the Committee 
of Imperial Defence .71 

70 - Sydenham of Coombe, My Working Life, p. 189. 

71 - Fisher to Tweedmouth, 9 July 1906. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vo 1 • Il, p. 83. 
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Of course, Fisher was wrong. But glven the context of his times, the threat from 

across the sea, the desires of the 'new men', the re-orientation towards thé Continent, 

and the basic threat on the home front to the continuai supremacy of British sea power, 

Fisher's attitude was at least understandable, even perhaps, justifiable. 

Fisher's solution to this impasse which had developed between the Admiralty and 

the Committee of Imperial Defence wasfran!~ly,if somewhat brutally, summed-up when 

he served notice to Tweedmouth that 'the sooner we send Clarke to die of yellow fever 

as governor of some West lndian island, the better •. • But, of course, Fisher's concept 

of a 'solution' implied the necessity of drawing the teeth of the Committee, of rendering 

it impotent. Clarke's ideas were perhaps somewhat premature and the manner in which 

he expressed them was, no doubt 1 tac tl ess ; but 1 nevertheless 1in essence mu ch of what 

he sa id and proposed was both true and in time to be proved correct. 

During the late summer of 1906 Fisher embarked upon a determined campaign to get 

rid of Clarke ; writing to Esher in mid-August he made his intentions clear whi le at the 

same time promising at least to remain on speaking terms with the C.I.D.: 

.•• grieved of course still about Clarke not going 1 but 1 
promise you to make the best of it •.. part of my disappoint-
ment is thot Ottley would be so very excellent in Clarke's 
place - a great loss to me persona lly at the Admira 1 ty 1 but 
he is THE man for thot place and 1 thank God, in the Novy we 
have literally scores to choose from to take Ottley's place.72 

Fisher's apparent change of heart1 albeit very thinly veiled, had been brought about by 

the King's displeasure with .his handling of relations with the Defence Committee. 

However, Esher was not to be fooled and writing dolefully to his son early in September 

1906 he noted : 

••. Fisher has promised to be good, and to come bock to 
the Defence Committee. The King took him to task and for 
the present he has bùried the hatchet. Clarke and he, however 1 

are bound to fa li out again 1 and especia lly as Clarke is ali agog 
against the • Dreadnought' .73 

72 - Fisher to Esher 1 19 Aug. 1906. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, Vol. 11, 
p. 133. 

73 - Esher toM. V. Brett, 3 Sept. 1906. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), Joumals 
and Letters, ed. M.V.Brett (London, 1934), Vol. Il, p. 179. 
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Esher•s forecast was not far off the mark ; although the •cossus belli' of the next round in 

the feud was provided not by the Dreadnought controversy, but, rather, arase as the 

result of a C .1. D. investigation into the strategie feasibility of forcing the Dardanelles. 

The C.I.O. findings were based upon a General Staff appreciation which, together with 

the observations of the Directorate of Naval Intelligence, was submitted to the 

Secretariat just before Christmas 1906. The Staff appreciation, which had been based 

upon findings made by Sir John French during the preceeding summer stated in part : 

• • • i t must be ta ken for granted thot, if ever an attempt to 
force the Dardanelles is made, the work will have to be under­
taken by a Joint Naval and Military expedition having for its 
abject the capture of the Gallipoli Peninsule and the destruction 
of the forts which at present deny entrance to and exit from these 

74 waters • . . . 

Ottley finding himself largely in agreement with these views had made use of the 

opportunity to press the 'navalist' argument even in this limited sphere : 

The Director of Naval Intelligence is generally in agree­
ment with the General Staff Memorandum, and fully concurs 
asto the great risks involved in a joint naval and military 
enterprise against the Gallipoli Peninsule ..•. 

ln order to facilitate a task of this orduous and difficult 
nature, the first necessity is, in the opinion of the Director of 
Naval lntell igence, to frequently practise joint naval and 
military manoeuvres such as the rapid throwing on shore of a 
mllitary force in the presence of on enemy, under cover of the 
guns of the fleet _75 

However Clarke did not agree and backed by Sir Charles Hordinge and Lord Cromer he 

mointoined thot the Straits could indeed be seized by a naval force upon its own initiative 

74 - 'The Possibility of a Joint Naval and Military Attack Upon the Dardanelles', 
Memorandum by the Genera 1 Staff, 19 Dec. 1906. C .1 • D. Po pers, 
20 Dec. 1906, Cob. 4/2/9 2B. 

75 - 'The Possibility of a Joint Naval and Military Attack Upan the Dardanelles', 
Remorks of the D. N .1. on the General Staff Memorandum. C .1. D. 
Popers, 20 Dec. 1906, Cab. 4/2/9 2B. 
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without milltary assistance. This blatant opposition constituted botha flagrant abuse 

of the office of the Secretary to the C.I.O. and a direct attack upon the competency 

of the First Sea Lord and his assistants. Esher's change of heart with respect to Clarke 

was becoming increasingly apparent to Fisher who was pleased with his notation of early 

September 1906 thot 'there is nota word in the DQrdanelles paperwith which 1 disagree•.
76 

Earl ier thot summer Fisher had made his stand on the question of the Dardanelles in 

writing to the First Lord : 

The forcing of the Dardanelles is, in the first place a military 
operation, as sketched out in Ottley's paper herewith, and with 
the oltered conditions of Germon supervision and Germon hondling 
of the Dardanelles defences, and Germon mines and Germon 
torpedoes, 1 agree with Sir John French thot we cannat now repeot 
Sir Geoffrey Hornby's passage of the Dardanelles, and even if we 
get passage, there is the getting bock •••• 77 

As a coptoin Fisher hod sailed the Dardanelles with Admirai Hornby in 1878; in 1906, 

Sir John not only recognised the tocticol and strategie implications of the torpedo whose 

praises he hod sung for over thirty years, but forecost the role thot Germany might play 

in denying the Straits to the Royal Novy ; and in 1915 he wos 'to bitterly oppose the 

Dardanelles odventure which was to prove such on awful miscalculation. However, 

Sir George Clarke did not agree. 

Clorke's interference in wholly internai Admiralty affoirs - especiolly the 

building programme - infuriated Fisher. Clarke's voice joining the chorus of criticism 

about the alleged lack of naval plans was also"''nnoying. But his opposition to the 

design and strategie precociousness of the 'Dreadnought' was, for Fisher, the lost shaw. 

Clarke's behaviour had been inexcusable at the best of times - but in attacking the 

'Dreadnought' he courted. disaster. While no doubt the 'Syndicate of Discontent' hod 

glibly clossified the 'Dreadnought' with the submorine os another of 'Fisher's Toys' , it 

76- Eshertofisher, 5Sept.1906. Esher, JournalsondLetters, Vol. li, p.181. 

77 - Fisher to Tweedmouth, 27 July 1906. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol4 Il, p. 84. 
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wos too much for Sir John to have to face the opposition of the C.I.O. as weil. 

Esher fully supported FTsher•s stand on this matter from the outset, os this letter of 

early September 1906 illustroted : 

... " Jt Js· no offair of Clarke's. Thot question must be left to 
the Admiralty. The Defence Committee might just as weil take 
up a new type of Field Gun. ln point of fact Clarke did meddle 
with tha t question too _78 

But in trying to tum Campbeii-Bannennan against Fisher and his new heavy ship building 

programme, Clarke sealed his fa te. ln the spring of 1907 Clarke was •sent to rot• -not 

qui te .in the West lndies, but to Bombay - as Fisher had been urging for some time. 

However, before he was made aware of this change in his fortunes Clarke had written 

to Mr. Balfour in early April 1907 noting : 

r have been spending a little time on board ship looking 
into na"val matters. There is from want of organization in the 
Navy, & there are tendencies at work, which will go very far 
towards undermining the efficiency of the Fleet. If changes 
are not made, the Germanmenace will, within a few years, 
be came rea lly serious, in spi te of our numeri ca 1 superiori ty of 
shipsJ9 

Such categorical criticism of one of the great departments of state was inexcusable even 

in advising the Prime Minister, but for the Secretary of the C .1. D .. to be found wri ting 

in such a tone to the Leader of the Opposition was itself astounding. Clarke was not 

informed of his posting to lndia until mid-July, and writing to Mr4 Balfour a month 

earlier he had summed up his indiscretions in a nutshell : 

The hopeless muddle to which our naval forces in home waters 
have been reduced, if combined with military chaos, would 
make one most anxious .. 80 

Clearly Clarke was unable to see that he had placed himself in an untenable position as 

the result of his oft-expressed opposition to Fisher and his naval policiess Even had 

78 - Esher to M. V. Brett 1 3 Sept. 1906. Esher 1 Joumals and Letters, Vol. Il 1 

p. 179. 

79 - Clarke to Balfour, 6Apr .. 1907. BalfourMSS, Add. MS49702. 

80 - Clarke to Balfour, 20 June 1907. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49702. 
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Clarke been right, lt was not his place to 'take sldes• publtcally orto so freely offer 

his advlce ln su ch a tactless manner. 

Wfth Clarke's departure and replacement by Ottley as Secretary nonnalcy was 

restored to the relations between the Admiralty and the C.I.O. However, if relations 

were once more cordial they never achieved again the frankness thot had marked the 

very early days of the Defence Committeeo ln engineering Ottley's appointment 

Fisher's clear purpose had been to ensure thot the Committee was kept clear of ali 

explosive issues1 lest by some miscalculation the independent military pollcy might 

recelve the endorsement of the Col o Do lt seems clear thot Fisher had sought to use 

Ottley in arder to sterilise the Defence Committee ; however1 Ottley1 who was not 

the accomplished politicien thot Sir John had been forced to become1 refused to allow 

sectional interests to divert him from his duties. Fisher's hopes did not materialise 

due largely to Ottley's scrupulous neutrality and to the tremendous pressure which was 

increasingly being placed upon the Committee by the soldiers and diplomats. 

Ali semblance of co-operation between the Admiralty and the C.I.O. disappeared 

during the lote summer and autumn of 1907. Fisher's refusai to co-operate with 

Lord Morley's sub-committee on lndfan defence and Mr. Asquith's Invasion comtnittee, 

had stemmed from his central fear thot such enquirie.s posed a threat to the continuance 

of the Navy's supremacy in the defence establishment. Writing to Fisher lote in August 

1907 Viscount Esher had exploded with anger at the Admiral's foolishness in refusing to 

co-operate with the C.I.O. in reopening the invasion issue: 

What on earth do you mepn by maintaining a paper written by 
Balfour for the Defence Committee is 'purely an Admirai~ 
business' ? and tai king of an 'irresponsible sub-committee' ? 

{a) Mr. Balfour1s original memorandum was a Defence 
Committee Paper, and his speech in the House of Commons 
was based upon it, and not upon any Admiralty decision. 

(b) The Commhtee of Imperial Defence, of which the 
Prime Minister is the chief, and its sub-committees, if appointed 
by the Prime Minister, are every bit as 'responsible' as the Board 
of Admiralty, of which the First Seo Lord is the Chiefo81 

81 - Esherto Fisher, 29Aug. 1907. Esher, Joumalsand Letters, Vol. li, p. 247. 
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However, Campbeii-Bannerman refused to put up wtth such nonsense and at Haldane•s 

urging he ordered Fisher to adopta more co-operative attitude. This action served 

only to alfenate Fisher who while going through the motions was by now beginning to 

see the C.I.O. in a somewhat Jess attraèlive light. Nevertheless, for the moment 

the spark remained and writing to Ottley in lote January 1908, during the Invasion 

Enquiry, Sir John cunningly sought to persuade him to move the Committee in faveur 

of the Novy: 

We have got to safeguard Balfour and justify previous decisions 
of the Defence Committee or Its great authority will be shaken, 
but whether 11.. tons a man or 3 tons a man, the moss of transports 
is in either casé great, and such a huge target when at sea as could 
not escape us. 82 

Of course, Fisher•s alarm was unfounded ; conscription was not seen as the solution to 

the Invasion score as advocated by Lord Roberts and the more dubious members of the 

National Service League. Balfour•s earlier findings were confirmed by the Asquith 

sub-committee enquiry with only a few minor modifications. 

Nevertheless the support and co-operation of the earl y days was no more. The 

C .1. D. became a thom in the Admiralty's si de, a thom which the Navy did its best to 

ignore ; but it was not to be ignored. Esher in a Journal entry of la te November 1907 

concerning the first meeting of the Invasion Sub-Committee had pretty weil summed up 

Fisher's attitude : 

Fisher was full of wrath. 1 said to him that he was fond 
of quoting Mahan's famous passage about Nelson's storm -
tossed ships, upon which the Grand Army had never looked, 
which stood between it and the dominion of the world ; and 
it should remind him thot the Defence Committee, upon which 
he wished he had never looked, stood between him and a Royal 
Commission to enquire into the state of the Navy.83 

However, intime the Committee was indeed to undertake such an enquiry, and in so 

doing damned Fisher irrevokably. 

82 - Fisher to Ottley, 28 Jan. 1908. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vo 1 • Il, p • 160 • 

83 - Jou rna 1, 27 Nov. 1907. Esher, Jou mals and Letters, Vol. li, p. 263. 
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CHAPTER SIX 

1 NVASION AND COMPULSION : 

THE SCHOOLS AND 

THE POLITICS OF DEFENCE 

Great Britain's battles must be fought and won on the enemy's 
terrltory and against an army raised and maintained on the 
modem National principle. 

Spenser Wilkinson, 
'Britaln at Bay' ; 1909 • 

• • • many words will have to be spaken, many votes voted, 
and perhaps many blows struck before the British people wl Il 
submit to such an abridgement of their liberties, or such a 
drag upon their commerce. lt will be time to make such 
sacrifices, when the Engllsh Channel has run dry. 

Winston Churchill, 
•The Story of the Malakand Field Force'; 1898. 

THROUGHOUT the years down to August 1914 the invasion question played an important, 

Stabiliz:Jng and, yet, controversial role within the defence establishment. The interest 

which was evinced early on by the Defence Committee ln the problem was to please the 

'new men• in detracting somewhat from the responsibiltties of the Senior Service, but in 

later years, as the Continental Strategy took on a more definite form, invasion was to 

prove as mu ch an embarrassment to the Army as i t had been to the Novy. l t was then 

thot the Novy, partly out of genuine concem and partly due toits political instinct, 
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reversed itself ln supportlng the milltary arguments of a few years earlfer cal ling for 

the retention of forces which otherwise the Anny would now have preferred to devote 

to the Continental Strategy. Thus the invasion issue was as it were an outword mani­

festation and reflection of the more general struggle within the defence establishment. 

The C .1. D. never wavered during these changes of heart within the two Services and 

thus in many respects the invasion enquiries revealed the Defence Committee at its 

best. Invasion as a problem of national defence was the anly aspect of policy which 

the Defence Committee was to consider in its entirety. Nevertheless, in treating the 

problem in a self-contained vacuum, in failing to relate it to the other great issues of 

national defence, the C.I.O. was ultimately to foil in its more general responsibiHties 

very largely because these other problems, notably the Continental Strotegy 1 had in 

themselves not been occorded the necessary careful consideration. 

The great debote over invasion had long been one of the hardy perennials of the 

defence establishment, poinstokingly cultivated each time the international situation 

threotened to boil over. Without exception the various 'scores' oroused serious 

apprehensions qui te without relation to any actual possibilities of success they could have 

ever hoped to enjoy. Traditionally, of course, France had loomed as the most likely 

Power to attempt an invasion of England. Hence the great fortified ports on the south 

coast. However, during the decode orso before the Great War Gennany came 

increasingly, indeed exclusively, to replace France os the most obvious perpetrator of 

a 'boit from the blue'. ln a country whose government and people exhibited a singular 

Jock of concern for such matters as international relations and defence policy, it wos the 

threat of invasion which alone was capable of sparking the national interest and encouroging 

popular debote. 

However, the wor which raged between the supporters of the two schools became much 

more intense generating a truly acrimonious debate during these yeors prior to 1914. Under­

lying this sudden increose ln the tempo of unrest lay a new questioning of the continuing 

ability of the Novy to safeguard the shores of England from the scourge of foreign invasion. 

ln essence, there lay three fundomental couses behind these doubts : first, there was the 

fear engendered in the hearts of many by the rising tides of seo power in every major 
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country on the globe - through more especially by the steady growth of the High Seas 

Fleet; secondly, in spite of Fisher's great reforms and innovations which had placed 

the Royal Navy at its apogee of materiel power, many were disheartened by the 

Be res ford feud causing them to lose confidence in the continued a bi 1 i ty of the Navy ; 

and, finally, there was a slncere doubt on the part of a number of distinguished 

soldiers - especially Lord Roberts - concerning the continued efficacy of naval 

defence. This latter doubt, coupled to the growth of interest in Continental warfore 

among the younger officers, led many to support Roberts' campaign for National Service -

though in fact much of his backing came from those 'new men' who were seeking a 

conscript force for uni versai use. There were, of course, other lesser causes - notably 

(Admirai) Sir Reginald Custance's stand that a proper home defence army would release 

the Navy for operations further afield ; as a leading figure in the 'Syndicate' Custance's 

doctrine of the 'manacled fleet' became another well-honed barb with which to prod 

Fisher. 

The protection of herself and of her Empire from direct foreign incursion was the 

most pressing and, indeed, the most readily apparent of England's defence needs. 

Mr. Balfour, a 'Blue Water' man to the core, had readily understood the necessity of 

clearing up this matter from the start. Writing after the War, of the early enquiries of 

the Committee of Imperial Defence, Balfour noted : 

We begon on the particular subject - the defence of 
these Islands • • • • 1 

ln February 1903 the Prime Minister had set the C .1. D. as a who le to work upon the 

invasion question - just two months after the reconstitution of the old Defence 

Committee of the Cabinet. This investigation into the oldest of the 'bogies' was continued 

intermittently throughout 1903, sharing the honours with the North West Frontier, 

culminating in a Draft-Report submitted to the Committee by Balfour himself in mid­

November. 
2 

This, the first of three such enquiries which were to be c~nducted before 

1 - Cited : Dugdale, B.E., Arthur James Balfour, First Earl of Balfour, 
(London, 1936), Vol. 1, p. 365. 

2 - • Draft Report on the Possibil ity of Serious Invasion : Home Defence', 
ArthurJamesBalfour, 11 Nov.1903. C.I.O. Papers, Cab.3/l/18A. 
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the War, had been undertaken on the presupposition thot France remained the most 

obvious potential aggressor, and hence the probable invader. ln the course of the 

enquiry the two schools had presented their respective arguments, which were to alter 

very little in future years and as such will be dealt with in discussing the subsequent 

Invasion enquiries of 1907- 1908 and 1913- 1914. Balfour•s conclusions clearly 

favoured the naval point of view which 1 of course, earned him the enthusiastic support 

both of Fisher at Portsmouth and Selborne in Whitehall. 
3 

Speaking in the House in the 

aprJng of 1905Mr. Balfour had noted with respect to the outcome of this enquiry: 

We have not gone into generalities about the command of the 
sea or the superiority of our Fleet1 or this difficulty or thot 
difficulty ; we have endeavoured to picture to ourselves a 
clear issue which is very unfavourable to this country 1 and 
have shown at least tÇ> our satisfaction thot on thot hypothesis, 
unfavourable as it is, serious invasion of these islands is not an 
eventuality which we need seriously consider.4 

However, the enquiry of 1903 had in many respects been unsatisfactory particularly in 

terms of any long-range appreciation of the invasion question. ln viewing France as 

the aggressor, the Committee had been thinking very largely in terms of a colonial war 

involving England in war with Russia on the North West Frontier arising out of a Franco­

British conflict invoking the terms of the Dual Alliance. This preoccupation with lndian 

defence motters hod led to the ineluctable conclusion thot in the event of war the strength 

of the Army would be required for service in lndia,that the war would be fought upon the 

frontiers of the Empire and not in Europe, and, finally 1 thot in any case the Novy was 

strong enough to defend the British Isles from direct assault. 

Field-Marshal Lord Roberts was, however, profoundly dissatisfied with what he regarded 

as Bolfour•s prejudiced conclusions1 and his attitude had most emphatically not been 

sweetened by the pe:remp:to.ry treatment he had received at the hands of the Esher Commi ttee. 

3 - See: Balfour to Fisher, 3 Jan. 1904. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49710. 

4 -

Fisher to Sandars, 3 Jan. 1904. Balfour MSS 1 Add. MS 49710. 

The Porliomentary Debates (Authorised Edition), Vol. 1461 4th Ser. 1 

11 Moy 1905, Cols. 76 - 77. 
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Towards the close of 1905, by which time Arnold-Forster had wholly estranged not only 

the soldlers but also his colleagues in the Government, Roberts raised the invasion issue 

once aga in pressing on Balfour the urgent need for a national service home defence army. 

Once again his pleas on behalf of the 'boit from the blue school' met with no success 

and at the Slst meeting of the Defence Committee, late in November 1905, Roberts 

tendered his resignation so as to be free to openly campaign for his cause before the 

country .. 5 

And so commenced a decade of agitiation largely sponsored by the National Service 

League which, while never attaining direct success, did much to condition the country 

and its people to the concept of coercion. The League, founded by Leopold Amery in 

mid 1905,
6 

and headed in its later years by Lord Roberts, undertook an extensive pro­

pagande programme flooding the country with pamphlets, dispatching speakers to every 

nook and cranny in the country, while Roberts himself, the centre of ali the attraction, 

stumped the length and breadth of Britain on an exhaustive schedule of 'one-night-stands' 

in spite of his advanced age. 

Coercion as an extremeJy contentious political issue in the Eng!and of pre-War 

Europe had two distinct and very different aims. There was, in the first place, the 

official platform of the League demanding a minimal perlod of military training be 

imposed upon ali men between eighteen and twenty-four years of age so asto prepare and 

train a home defence army. And, secondly, there was a strong movement within the 

league and among its supporters and sympathisers for the adoption of a Continental style 

national conscript army upon a full-time non-restricted, basis. 

lncreasingly with the passage of the years the invasion bogey was coming to provide 

the supporters of the League with a respectable base from which they could press for the 

5 - 'Minutes of the 81st Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 
25 Nov. 1905. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 2/1. 

6 - Amery, L.S., My Political Life, (London, 1953), Vol. 1, p. 214. 
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adoption of a universal conscript principle. This somewhat clandestine development 

was by no means remarkable in that most of the 'new men' fully understood that in 

universal service lay the solution to the nightmare of finding a method of imparting 

military capabillty to the Continental Strategy. Lord Fisher, on the one hand, and 

Lord Kitchener, on the other, had never ceased to underline the obvious - nomely 

thot the Expeditionary Force was as nothing compared to the armies of the Great 

Powers, and its annihilation would pass unnoticed in the more general bloodbath of a 

full-scale military action. Early in September 1911 Esher noted in his journal of the 

23rd August meeting of the Defence Committee : 

The strange thing is thot Kitchener was asked to attend 
and refused. He sent ward to Haldone thot he was sure the 
Germons would beat the French, and he would have no part 
in any decision which the Ministers might think fit to take .. 
Thot if they imagined he was going to commond an Army in 
France, he would see them damned first .7 

By way of underlining this active concem with the nature of the wars of the future or 

indeed England's ability to fight once again the campaigns of the post, the following 

extract from a speech made by a novice M.P .. on the occasion of the debate on 

St. John Brodrick's Army Estimates for 1901 - 1902 is of sorne relevance : 

Sir, lt is against this Army increase thot 1 protest, first in the 
interests of economy, secondly in the interests of the Fleet. 1 
complain of the increase in Reguler soldiers, and particularly 
of the three army corps which are to be kept ready for 
expeditionary purposes. 1 contend thot they ought to be reduced 
by two army corps, on the ground thot one is quite enough to 
fight savages, and three are not enough even to begin to fight 
Europeens. A European war cannat be anything but a cruel 
heartrendering struggle, which, if we are ever ta enjoy the bitter 
fruits of victory must demand, perhaps for several years, the whole 
manhood of the nation, the entire suspension of peaceful industries 
and the concentrating to one end of every vital energy in the com­
munity. 1 have frequently been astonished since 1 have been in this 

7 - Journal, 6 Sept .. 1911. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), Journals and Letters, 
ed .. Oliver Viscount Esher {London, 1938), Vol. Ill, p. 58. 
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House to hear wlth what composure and how glibly Members, and 
even Mlnisters, talk of a European war. 1 wi Il not expatiate on 
the horrors of war, but there has been a great change which the 
House should not omit to notice. ln former doys, when wars orose 
from Individuel couses, from the policy of a Minister or the passion 
of a King, when they were fought by smoll regular armies of pro­
fessionol soldiers, and when their course wos retarded by the 
difficulties of communication and supply1 it wos possible to limit 
the liobi li ti es of the combotants. But now when mighty populations 
ore impelled on each ether, each individuel severally embittered 
and inflomed - when the resources of science and civilizotion sweep 
oway everything thot might mitigote the ir fury, a European war con 
only end in the ruin of the vanquished and the scorcely less fatal 
commercial dislocation and exhaustion of the conquerors. Democrocy 
is more vindidive thon Cabinets. The wors of peoples will be more 
terrible thon those of kings. 8 

Clearly then there were a number of responsible figures who entertoined serious misgivings 

conceming the future both of worfore and military involvement upon the Continent. A 

few years eorlier Churchill, in his first book, hod observed : 

We hove for sorne yeors odopted the •short service system•. lt is a 
continental system. lt has many disadvantages. Troops roised under 
lt suffer from youth, wont of training and Jack of regimentol associations. 
But on the Continent it has one paromount recommendotion : lt provides 
enormous numbers. The active army is merely a machine for monufoctur­
ing soldiers quickly 1 and possing them into the reserves, to be stored 
untfl they are wanted. European nations deal with soldiers only in 
masses. Great ormies of men, not necessorily of high standard of 
courage and troining, but ormed with deadly weapons, ore directed 
ogoinst one onother, under varying strotegical conditions. Before they 
con rebound thousands are slaughtered and a great bottle has been won 
or lost. The average courage of the two nations may perhops have been 
decided. The essence of the continental system, is its gigontic scale. 

We have adopted this system in ali respects but one, and thot the 
vital one. We have got the poor quality, without the great quantity. 

8 - The Parliamentary Debotes (Authorised Edition), Vol. 93, 4th Ser., 
13 May 1901, Cols. 1571 - 1572. 
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We have by the short service system, lncreased our numbers a 
little, and decreased our standard a good deal. The reason that 
this system, whlch is so weil adapted to continental requlrements, · 
confers no advantage on us is obvious. Our army is recruited by 
a voluntary system. Short service and conscription are inseparable. 
For thts reason many stem soldiers advocate conscription •••• 

Without conscription we cannet have great numbers. lt should 
therefore be our endeavour to have those we possess of the best 
quality; and our situation and needs enforce this vlew. Our soldiers 
are not required to operate In great masses, but very often to fight hand 
to hand. These campaigns are not fought in temperate climates, and 
civilized countries. They are sent beyond the seas to Afrfca or the 
lndian frontier •••• 9 

Churchill hod, of course, a political and a family tradition to safeguard; but, nevertheless, 

his concem and Kltchener•s obstinacy revealed a degree of unrest and foreboding in the 

implications of the Continental Strategy which must not be overlooked .. 

Kitchener had the good sense and the grace not to press the issue after August 1911 

realising full weil that the temper of England, especially an England govemed by a 

Liberal Ministry, was os unsympathetic as he was himself to the acceptonce of coercion 

as a national necessity. Kitchener viewed milltary adventures upon the Continent as 

foolhordy. and detrimental to the broader responsibiltties of the Army in Imperial defence. 

However, others, notably Henry Wilson, did not agree with Kitchener and pushed hard 

for universel military service hiding, as they did, behind the respectable facade of the 

National Service League. On the one hand, Wilson•s behaviour in this respect was a 

disservice to Holdane and Seely, but on the other, it revealed his concern over the 

Continental Strategy•s mllitary capacity - though his contlnued support for thot strategy 

i.n the fèlcl!!l of the failure to secure universel conscription was a disgracefuf testament to 

the manner in which he permltted his 1political' goals to override his professional 

responsibilities and good sense. 
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The strategie posture of England and the Empire underwent a dramatic change with 

the advent of the 'Entente' poltcy, the outcome of the Russo-.Japanese War and the 

rtstng menace of Gennany both within Europe and on the seas. This reorientation in 

England's International position was completed in the lote summer of 1907 with the 

conclusion of the colonial agreements which taken together fonned a partial Anglo­

Russian reconciliation along the lines of the 'Entente'. These events led Roberts to 

press for a reopening of the invasion question. ln the company of Repington, 

Sir Samuel Scott and Lord Lovat, Roberts approached Balfour in an effort to secure a 

polttical base for their activities. However, Balfour, not to be trapped, decided to 

pass on their arguments to Campbeli-Bannennan in order to have the matter re-examined 

by a further Defence Committee Enquiry. ln the course of a memorandum, which he 

later discussed before Mr .. Asquith's Sub-Committee on Invasion, Balfour made it quite 

plain thot he regarded the efforts of Roberts' clique as a direct attack upon his previous 

stand on the matter and thot they had sought his recantation so as to bolster the cause 

of national service.lO However, Balfour neatly side-stepped the Issue noting as he 

recalled in his memorandum : 

But 1 expressed my willingness to forward the new facts to the 
Committee of Imperial Defence, and 1 was confident thot they 
would reexamine the problem impartially.ll 

Thus Roberts had fa lied in his bid to draw Balfour away from the impartial non-political 

attitude which he had declared to be his position in considering Haldane's Army Refonns. 

This second invasion enquiry undertaken by the C.l. D. was delegated to a powerful 

sub-committee, chaired by Mr. Asquith, 
12 

which was appointed in November 1907, 

10 - 'StatementMade by Mr. A.J. Balfour before the Sub-Committee on Invasion, 
Friday, 29th May, 1908', 29 May 1908. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 3/2/1/43A, 
p. 3. 

11 - 'Statement Made by Mr. A.J. Balfour before the Sub-Committee on Invasion', 
29 May 1908, p. 3. 

12 - The other members of the Sub-Committee: Lloyd George, Grey, Tweedmouth, 
McKenna, Haldane, Crewe, Esher, Fisher, Slade, Lyttleton, Nicholson, 
French, Ewart, and Ottley as Secretary. 
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although no offfc:fal ac:tton appears to have been taken on the Commlttee at this date. 

Fisher, hlmself a member, was very far from pleased and, as has been seen, attempted 

to obstruc:t the work of the Committee. Toking unkind advantage of Balfour's 

temporary indisposition, Fisher wrote to this star witness of the Enquiry lote in November 

1907 lamenting : 

1 am sorry to hear thot you have a c:hill but it struck me 
as a fine chance of sending on sorne papers. We've got the 
Invasion Bogey ln hand which 1 thought yoJJ had laid at rest 
forever. 1 hope we shall smash it completely this ti me. 13 

Fisher's hopes were, however, only to be partially fulfilled - a fact which hardly 

served to endear hlm to the Commlttee or vice-versa. 

Lord Roberts, with the support and counsel of Colonel Repington, presented the 

revised view of the 'boit-from-the-blue' faction in view of the altered international 

position. Roberts, who had sense enough not to totally alienate the members of Asquith's 

Committee in suggesting thot the fleet could in fact be destroyed, concentrated his 

arguments upon the possibility of an attempted invasion at a time when the fleet might 

either be caught off-guard or else have been lured away by an enemy diversion. 

Roberts and Repington maintained thot Germany was capable of obtaining temporory 

command of the seo for a period of sufficient length so asto allow the disembarkation 

of upwards of 200,000 enemy soldiers upon the shores of England. Balfour, however, 

did not agree ;. and in the course of his statement, before the Sub-Committee Enquiry, 

of lote May 1908 he observed thot the 'boit-from-the-blue' argument depended upon 

'what 1 may cali a double surprise', and noted : 

lt turns upon an act of deliberate treachery directed against 
the fleet, immediately followed by a surprise invasion in the 
region of the Firth of Forth, or the northem parts of this island. 
1 observe thot sorne of the Admlralty witnesses seem to think thot 
the attack on our fleet by treachery, in time of profound and 
unclouded peace, is so atrocious an outrage on the comity of 
nations and the practice of civilized warfare thot we may put 

13 - Fisher to Balfour, 29 Nov. 1907. Balfour MSS, Add .. MS 49712 .. 
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tt out of account. 1 am afratd 1 cannot accept that vlew. 1 
do not thlnk any nation would do lt gladly or wlth a llght heart, 
but 1 am certalnly not convTnced that if the Germans saw that 
such a violation of the usages of ctviltzed countries made the 
difference between failure and success they would adopt lt without 
hesitation, though possibly with reluctance ; and If they did adopt 
lt, and it was successful~ 1 do not belleve that the horror of the 
civi llzed world, however loudly It might be expressed, would be 
of the smallest value to the lnhabltants of these islands.l4 

Fisher was certainly of much the seme kidney as Balfour ; writing to Viscount Esher 

back in April 1904 he had enunciated his own doctrine of the exercise of seo power: 

The supreme feature of sea-war is lts abrupt, lts dramatic 
suddenness ~ Fleets are always mobtlized and ready for instant 
war ~ We strike even before war Is declared (at least we ought 
to), and remember (above ali remembrances) thot an initialncaval 
dtsaster is irreparable, irretrievable, eternal ~ 15 

Repington1 who had closely observed the course of the Russo-Japanese War, noted in his 

testimony thot in spite of the Russicm Fleet the Japenese had been able to successfully 

carry out a number of extensive amphibious operations. However, in vlew of the_ nopeless 

dlsarray of the Russian shlps and the baleful ineptltu.te of their officers:and ratirigs, 

this was not altogether a realistic appreciation ; a fact which Mahon had no doubt taken 

into account in observing thot 'Steam navies have as yet made no history whfch con be 

quoted as decisive in its teaching ~ Fisher was quick to note thot the Intelligence 

Directorate of the Admiralty would easily note the assemblage of the vast numbers of 

transports necessary to land an effective Invasion force, 
16 

and added thot despite 

Replngton's mesmerizatfon wfth recent events in the Far East the technological develop­

ment of under-sea warfare had rendered plans for close In-shore operations unrealistic, 

and thot therefore in the event of the diversion of the battle fleet the outcome would 

14 - 'Statement Made by Mr. A.J. Balfour before the Sub-Committee on Invasion', 
29 May 1908, p. 5. 

15 -

16 - The success achieved by 'Room 40' during the War was to bear out this confidence. 
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by no means be catastrophic. Further, Fisher argued, that even ln the unlfkely event 

of a secret concentration of shipping and the successful diversion of the fleet the 

Admiralty•s wireless facilities would enable the immediate recall of its ships, addlng 

that a diversion would not only weaken the transports• escorts but would be met by a 

force proportional to the threat posed. 17 There was, of course, the further consideration 

raised by the 'blue water• adherents Tn pointlng out that it was not sufficient merely to 

gain temporary command of the sea if an invasion force was to be sustalned successfutly 

upon enemy soil. Continuing with his analysis of the Roberts-Repington representation 

Mr. Balfour noted : 

••• Colonel Repin.gton•s plan requires the Gennans not only 
to risk their 150,000 men, which they might be ready to do, but 
to risk the whole of their fleét • • • • l do not·believe that in 
time of profound peace the Germons would think of risking not 
only their men but their fleet in whot every sailor would regard 
as an almost impossible attempt. 1 gather from the evidence 
given before, and the papers submitted to1 the Sub-Committee 
what is indeed obvious to the lay mind1 that for an inferior fleet 
to station itself ln the narraw waters of the Channel in close . 
proximity to the ports where British submarines and British torpedo 
craft, to say nothing of British ships of battle and British cruisers, 
are to be found in overwhelming numbers, would be an absolutely 
suicidai operation ; and 1 should doubt whether any Gennon Admirai 
could be induced to doit. If he did it seems tome that he would 
do much more than rJsk - he would ensure the destruction of - his 
fleet, and he certainly would not ensure the absence of our ships, 
whether stationed In the Channël or in the Thames, from the place 
selected for disembarkation in time to deal effectively with the 
i nvadi ng anny. 18 

Balfour then proceeded to outline the imposstbility of the degree of secrecy upon which 

Repington's plan was based. ln summing up his views Balfour concluded upon a note 

which was to radically alter the earlier decision of the Defence Committee and which was 

17 - See : Hankey, Baron (Ma uri ce P .. ) 1 The Supreme Comma nd, (London, 1961) 1 

Vo 1 • 11 pp • 66 - 68 • 
Marder1 A.J. 1 From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow1 (London, 1961), 
Vol. Ir pp. 350 - 351 • 

18 - 'Statement Made by Mr. A.J. Balfour before the Sub-Committee on Invasion•, 
29 May 1 908, p. 6 • 
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also to cause much dlfflculty ln the future : 

••. Colonel Replngton's plon in time of peace ls one whlch 
is very unllkely to be adopted by the German$, and has no chance 
whatever of success if tt was adopted. Sut 1 on the other hand, the 
trend of events has been to give the Germons some advantages in 
respect of invasion which were never possessed by the French, and 
ifwe were seriously involved with some other great naval and mari­
time Power, and felt ourselves obliged to denude ourselves of any 
large portion of our mi li tory force, 1 should feel thot we were in a 
more peri lous position thon we have been for some generations. 19 

Unfortunately none of these arguments had taken into -consideration the implications of 

Fisher's fleet redistributions, underlined by the First Seo Lord on the Sub-Committee, 

which were in time to remove the battle fleet from the Channel entirely. 

The Enquiry came to a close in the autumn of 1908 issuing its Report to the Defence 

Committee la te in October. Supporting Balfour's representations the Report noted : 

The Committee consider thot the possibility of a surprise 
attack being made upon this country during normal diplomatie 
relations is not sufficiently remote to be ignored. They agree 
with Mr. Balfour thot if the German Govemment believed thot 
the adoption of such a plan made the difference between fat lure 
and success it is conceivable th at they might resort to it .20 

The Committee also recognised F~sher's redistribution policy, where both Repington and 

Balfour had failed to so do, in noting : 

.•. the strength of our fleets in Home waters is sufficient 
to safeguard us agoinst any contingency thot may be considered 
reosonobly probable, and thot the scheme of redistribution of the 
fleet which is now in progress is groduolly having the effect of 
placing more of our ships in the North Seo and thereby rendering 
our position still more secure.21 

19 - 'Statement Made by Mr. A.J. Balfour before the Sub-Committee on Invasion', 
29 Moy 1908, p. 7. 

20 - ' Report of a Sub-Committee Appointed by the Prime Minister to Reconsider the 
QuestionofOverseaAttack', 2, Whiteholl Gordens, 220ct. 1908. 
C.I.O. Popers, Cob. 3/2/1/44A, p. 4. 

21 - 'Report of a Sub-Committee Appointed by the Prime Minister to Reconsider 
the Question of Overseo Attack', 22 Oct. 1908, p. 5. 
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ln rejectfng 'the plan of attack suggested by Lord Roberts' as being 'not a feaslble one' 

the Commfttee based lts view on a refusai to accept the fundamental presupposition that 

Germany could exercise the necessary command of the sea. ln disposing of Lord Roberts' 

plan the Report observed : 

The Committee do not believe that Germany could be 
isolated for the requisite number of hours from the whole of the 
civilized world. They consider thot this is not under modern 
conditions a possible operation, and thot the very attempt to 
stop communications would destroy secrecy in a country which 
is getting more and more commercially connected with every 
corner of the world, at a time when every corner of the world is 
in telegraphie communication, wireless and otherwise with London. 

The Committee consider thot Lord Roberts' plan does not 
sufficiently allow for the difficulties and delays thot are inseparable 
from the handling of a large convoy of transports which have never 
been previously manoeuvred together. They are of opinion thot 
whatever the German battle fleet did in the throat of the Channel, 
the time required to concentrate and then cross the North Sea, makes 
it incredible thot we should be unable to seek out and successfully 
attack the transports.22 

Needless to say these remarks served to wholly alienate Roberts and his following ; 

however, the Committee succeeded also in annoying Fisher by insisting thot in time of 

war 

..• there will be left in this country during the first six months 
a sufficient number of reguler and other troops to deal with a 
force of 70, 000. 23 

This figure of 70 1 000 being considered the minimum number 'as will make it impossible 

for him to evade our fleets'. The corollary to which was thot a fon:e of our 70,000 

men could be dealt with at seo whereas one of fewer thon the stipulated figure if not 

destroyed at seo could be met and matched on land by two divisions of the Reguler 

22 - 'Report of a Sub-Comm i ttee Appo i nted by the Prime Mi nister to Reconsider the 
Question of Oversea Attack', 22 Oct. 1908, p. 7. 

23 - 'Report of a Sub-Committee Appointed by the Prime Minister to Reconsider the 
the Question of Oversea Attack', 22 Oct. 1908, p. 9. 
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Army with the assistance of the terrltorials. Haldane was very largely content wlth 

these conclusions which had closely adhered to the proposais set forth in Balfour•s 

Memorandum of the previous May ; writing to Balfour1 shortly after his hearing by the 

Sub-Committee1 Haldane had noted his satisfaction : 

Y our evidence before the C .1. D. Sub-commtttee was most 
helpful. 1 think that the Army and the Novy are likely to 
agree in accepting what you satd as a basis on which they 
con agree • • • .24 

ln the course of a letter to Esher written a few days prior to his hearing before the Sub­

Committee Balfour had stressed his concern over the necessity of the retention of a capable 

military force to safeguard against invasion : 

The only possible criticisms 1 have .•• are (a) saying that 
•the Army is not required for Home Defence', though true, as 
you mean it, is according to my views, rather too absolute. 
We certainly do not require anything like our present force for 
home defence ; but a Home Army is, as we ali admit, essentiel 
if only to compel an enemy, if it intends to invade, to invade 
in force.25 

Roberts, dissatisfied with this outcome, determined to press the issue unless the findings 

of the Sub-Committee were published. Repington, who enjoyed playing both sides of 

the fence, 26 wrote to Haldane in mid-November 1908 noting : 

1 regret to say thot the three noble lords Roberts, Milner, 
and Lovat, are not satisfied with the focus of your letter which 
they read differently from my interpretation and make out that 
the position will remain muchas it was before, if their reading 
is correct. 

Lord Roberts, consequent! y 1 is writing to Lord Crewe to-day 
to say thot if the latter wi Il state definitely that we have to be 
prepared to meet an invasion by 50,000 to 100,000 men, he 1 

Lord R., will abandon the debate. 1 had to come away before 

24 - Haldane to Balfour, 7 June 1908. Haldane MSS, MS5908. 

25 - Balfour to Esher, 23 May 1908, Esher, Journals and Letters, Vol. Il, p. 314. 

26 - See : Fisher to H. R. H. The Prince of Wales, 16 Oct. 1907. Fisher of 
Kilverstone, Correspondence, Vol. Il, p. 147. 
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the final draft was made, but 1 thlnk thot la the general 
purport. lt ls the best l cou Id do. 1 do not know whether 
the government wll 1 grant this requeat. Ali 1 feel aure of ls 
thot If the govt. do not see thetr way to mc;1ke auch a statement 
the debate will come off •••• 27 

However, the Defence Commfttee was not to be blackmailed, Roberts made his speech 

dTrectly Jmpllcating Germany on 23rd November and the campaign for National 

Service intensified o 
28 

Many of the 'new men•, including both Wilson and Nicholson, viewed Holdane•s 

reforms os a concrete step towards the day when the electorote would be prepored to 

sanction a conscript ormy os the basis for the entire mtlrtory establishment. ln many 

cases this attitude was openly expressed leodlng those opposed to such ill-considered 

opinions to view the National Service League with an even more joundiced eye thon 

it deserved. Roberts hlmself, who hod at first tumed down the Presidency of the 

leogue,29 fearing the broader aspirations of such bockers as Leopold Amery, had, 

following upon the Agadir crisls, been moved sufficiently to feel his woy towards 

favouring the development· of militory establishment bosed upon the Continental 

principles of coercion and moss. ln the course of a speech at Manchester delivered in 

lote October 1912 Roberts hinted broadly at this reorientation in his thinking : 

If this Empire is to keep obreast of the rapid and tremendous 
developments amongst the world-Powers around us, something more 
is necessory, and the necessity increoses with every year, olmost 
with every month. lt is the necessity for on Army strong enough 
to ensure the mobility of our Novy, and strong enough olso to make 
our strength felt on the moinland of Europe, should we ever appear 
there os the armed ally of another Power, as we were on the the 
verge of doing last autumn .30 

27 - Repington to Haldane, 20 Nov. 1908. Haldane MSS, MS 5}()8. 

28 - The Porliamentory Debates (Authorised Edition), Vol. 196, 4th Ser., 23 Nov. 1908, 
Cols. 1683, 1685. 

29 - Ropp, T ., 'Conscription in Great Britain, 1904- 1914: A Failure in Civii-
Military Communication ?•, Military Affoirs, Vol. XX, Summer, 195S, p. 71. 

30 - Roberts of Kandahar, Earl (Frederick S.), Lord Roberts• Message to the Nation, 
(London, 1912), p. 10. 
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Nevertheless, to the public at large the lnterest ln the National Service campafgn lay 

very largely in the curfoslty engendered ln seeing this grand old gentleman, a haro 

decoroted with the natlon's supreme battle honour ln spite of his Field-Marshal's baton, 

and eastly the most respected military figure in contemporory England. 

Roberts and his following failed to comprehend the efficacy of the Navy•s stand 

on invasion very largely because they neither understood nor recognised the essentiel 

factors which governed the exercise of seo power. Regardless of the number of first 

line troops thot the War Office might be able to moss for the protection of England 

from Invasion, the Grand Fleet, as it finally evolved in August 1914, would be forced 

to remain at its station ln the upper reoches of the North Seo so long as the High Seos 

Fleet remained in being, and without their battle fleet the Germons, as everyone 

admltted, could entertain no hopes for the invasion of the British Isles. Roberts com­

pletely fatled to understand thot the vital stake at issue was not the successful enemy 

invasion of England, but rather the loss of the Initiative at seo to thot enemy. For 

once the soverelgnty of those waters, through which passed England's li fel ines to the 

outside world, had fallen into alien and unfriendly hands, the war at seo had been lost 

and England defeoted - utterly. As Fisher put it so often 'its not invasion we have to 

fear, its STARVATION' . 

ln view of the advanced state of naval preparedness and the technological develop­

ments which favoured the defender at seo - the military at great cost were to learn a 

similar lesson upon the land - the invasion question was in fact a redundant 'bogey• • 

The retention of the two divisions was in fact wholly unnecessary and as will be seen, was 

to occasion a series of unseemly contradictions of policy both in the War Office and at 

the Admhalty. Fisher was fond of quoting St. Vincent's remark thot their retention was 

designed 'to olloy the fears of the old women of bath series'. Admirai SirHerbertRichmond, 

one of the Navy's outstanding junior officers prior to the War, has recalled : 

Invasion, though feared by sorne, was never an actual 
danger ln vlew of the British superiority at seo ; but the feor 
led to the retention of numbers of troops in England even as 
lote as the third yeor of the war.31 

31 - Richmond, H.W., Statesmen and Seo Power, (Oxford, 1946), p. 283. 
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Responslble opinion ln Germony before the War was wholly ln agreement wlth Fisher, 

Richmond and the 'blue•water L·school ln general. 32 

lndeed, a handful of officers in Gennan mllltary circles dtd freely advocate the 

invasion of England. However, it was a view at variance with the Kaiser's opinion 

and his long enduring Anglophile conduct ta say nothing of the opposition of the Great 

General Staff. Those who pressed forward such plans very shortly feil from favour as, 

for example, when in 1905 General von der Goltz was passed over as the most likely 

successor to Schlieffenfor this reason. ln any case, few general officers believed thot 

the problems of successful Invasion were sunnountable. The most senior responsible 

offlcers, in concert wlth their opposttes in Whitehall, supported the 'blue-water' views 

upon invasion. ln both cases invasion was regarded as a realistic strategie principle 

by the younger men. The Great General Staff understood,. whereas von der Goltz and 

his followers such as von Edelshelm did not, thot the essence of successful combined 

amphibious operations lay ln gaining and holding the initiative at seo. To achieve 

so fundamental a precondition necessitated even heavier, indeed vastly more extensive, 

experiditure upon the Novy at the inevitable expense of the land forces. The German 

generais already considered thot much too much of the defence budget was being 

frittered away upon what Mr. Churchill so succtnctly,. if a trifle undiplomatically, 

described as the lux ury of the fleet. The genera ls, qulte correct! y, did not consider 

thot the dubious advantage to be achieved in the unlikely event of vlctory in what was 

essentially a non-strategie theatre, was worth the sacrifice of the military backbone 

whlch was indeed the raison d'être of the German Empire. lt was,. ln short, Fisher's 
33 argument. 

Opinion in the country was almost totally opposed to Roberts' campaign. Prosperity, 

social refonn and the continuing confidence of the generol public in the Novy accaunted 

32 - See: Vagts, A., Landing Open:rtlons, {Harrisburg, Pa., 1952), p. 471. 

33 - See: Edelsheim, F. von, Operations Upon the Sea (1901), {New York, 1914), 
Vagts, landlng Operations, pp. 469-492. 
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largely for the fallure of hts efforts to move the people. Wrltlng in 1912, Mr. Balfour 

explained, in a somewhat thin and laboured argument, his deep opposition to conscription 

as the basis for the military establishment: 

••. whatever else we must have a voluntary anny.. Vou 
cannat raise soldiers by conscription, and then send them to 
tropical countries on the other side of the world, and if we 
ever come to conscription one of the most serious dangers 
wi Il be i ts effect on voluntary enlistrnent. 34 

1 t is a commentary on the true nature of the i nterest of th ose who backed Lord Roberts 

thot Balfour had found it necessary to refute arguments advocating coercion for the 

Anny as a whole. Writing in 1910 Esher had betrayed his fears for the continued 

expertise and professionalism of the Anny if it were subjected to conscription.
35 

His 

growing opposition to the Continental Strategy and its implications had led Esher to 

openly volee his lack of confidence in the milttary capacity of the Expedltionary Force 

as the heart of the Entente policy and he had urged Asquith to reject the 'mtlitarist' 

lobby in favour of the nation's tradltional reliance upon seo power and amphibious 

operations. 
36 

Sir Edward Grey, caught up in his refusai to accept the implications 

of the 'Entente' policy, put forth the view thot not only would the transitlonal period of 

the change over to conscription provide Gennany with an opportunity to strike at France 

while the British mllltary establishment was in a state of chaos, but thot such a step would 

be interpreted, and not without justification, in Potsdam as blatantly aggressive in 

character.
37 

Viscount Haldane, a finn 'navalist' on matters of invasion, opposed 

coercion both on political and economie grounds ; however, he was realist enough to 

admit thot such a measure might weil become necessary in the event of involvement in 

34 - Cited: Ougdale, Arthur James Balfour, Vol. Il, p. 79. 

35 - Esher, Viscount (Reginald B .. ), To-Day and To-Morrow, (London, 1910), 
pp. 29- 34. 

36 - Esher, Viscount (Reginald 8.), The Influence of King Edward and Essays on 
Other Subjects,. (London, 1915}, po 192. 

37 - Grey of Fallodon, Vtscount (Edward), Twenty-Five Year, 1892- 1916, 
(Toronto, 1925), Vol. Il, p. 56 .. 
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a major war ln Europe.
38 

None of these leadlng figures of pre-War England had any 

sympathy wlth the official platform of the Natlonol Service League, reallsing as they 

dtd the signtficance of the exerc!se of sea power and the profound necessity of retain­

ing that initiative for thelr country. As the young Winston Churchill had told the 

House sorne years earlier : 

Wlthout a supreme Novy, whatever mtlltary arrangements we 
may make, whether for foreign expedltious or home defence, 
must be utterly vain and futile • • • • Sir, the superiority of 
the Novy is vital to our national existence. That has been 
said before. No one will deny thot or thank me for repeating 
'the obvious. Yet this tremendous Army expenditure directly 
challenges the principle, and so those who advocate it are false 
to the principle they so loudly proclaim.. For 'the main reason 
'thot enables us to maintain the finest Novy in 'the world is thot 
whereas every European Power has to support a vast Arrny first 
of ali, we in this fortunate, happy island, relieved by our insular 
position of a double burden, may tum our undivided efforts and 
attention to the Fleet. Why should we sacrifice agame in which 
we ore sure to win to pJay a game in which we are bound to lose? 39 

The members of the Cabinet and of the Government, regardless of their political shading, 

whether Little Englander or Liberal-lmperallst, were ali aware of their dependence upon 

the sea and of the ultimate importance of a strong and healthy naval establishment. Naval 

expenditure duri'ng their administration of 'peace, retrenchment and reform' had risen 

by over twenty millions to the 1::51,550,000 set forth in the 1914- 1915Estimotes.
40 

ln rislng to meet the great 'defensive• requirements of the nation these polltical legatees 

of Bright and Cobden felt ail the more justified in rejectfng the odious concepts of 

National Service and overseas conscription, and ln judging the financlal burdens involved 

38 -

39 -

40 -

Hal da ne of Cloan, Viscount (Richard B.), An Autobi:f,raphy, (London, 1929), 
p. 195. Haldane of Cloan,. Vlscount (Richard B. , Before the Wor, 
(London, 1920), po 168 .. 

The Parliamentary Debates (Authorised Edition), Vol. 93, 4th Ser., 13 May 1901, 
Col. 1.94. 

1Statement of the First Lord of the Aclmtralty Explanatory of the Estimates, 
1914- 1915', Cd~ 7302,. 1914, p. 9. 
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as reprehensible not only to the taxpaying public but a Iso to their far•reachlng 

programmes of social equàiization and improvement. 

At the War Office both Nicholson and Wilson were 1conscrlptlonlsts 1 
; however, 

a study eonducted for Haldane by the C.J.G.S. in 1910 confirmed the fear expressed 

by many that coercion was impractical for the Regular Army if for no other reason thon 

the chaos which such a reorganisation would enta il. 41 
A War Office Memorandum of 

early November 1910, presumably prepared by Wilson and Nicholson contained at 

least a hint of the General Staff's dlssatlsfactlon with the stipulation that two divisions 

be retalned at home durtng the first six months of war so as to off-set any temptation 

for the enemy to attempt invasion durlng the mobtiJ:zation and training of the Territorial 

Force - a: stipulation whlch the Wor Office as a who le had welcomed two yeors before. 

This change in attitude on the part of the General Stcff reflected the growing importance 

of the Army ln the Defence Establtshment and heralded its efforts to have this restreint 

upon the Continental Strategy removed durlng the summer of 1911. ln their 

Memorandum of November 1911 the General Staff had observed: 

So long ., ... as our naval supremacy is assured against 
any reasonably probable combinotion of Powers, Invasion is 
impracti cable. 

At the same time, ho~ever, lt ls:considered by His Majesty's 
Govemment thot an Army for Home Defence ought to be sufficient 
in numbers and organl:zatlon ta campel an enemy who contemplates 
invasion ta come with 10 wbsttmtial a force as will make tt impossible 
for him ta evade our fleets. 42 

41 - Maurice, F., Haldane, {London, 1937), Vol .. 1, p. 270. 

42 - 'Memorandum on the Prtnciples Goveming the Defence of the United Kingdom', 
Submitted by the Anny Council for Approval, The General Staff - 4 Oct. 
1910. C.I.Do Papers, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 3 Nov. 1910, 
Cab. 3/2/1/48A, p. 4. 
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This reference to the opinion of 'His Majesty's Govemment' would certalnly seem to 

suggest thot wh lie the General Staff concurred it did not necessari ly agree ; in vlew 

of la ter events su ch an interpretation would appear at least to have sorne val idity. 

The degree of common ground between the War Office and the Admiralty in opposlng 

Roberts' campatgn was readtly apparent in an Admlralty Memorandum of late 1910 

prepared for the use of the War Office ln refutlng the clalms of the Nationa 1 Service 

Leagueo At the conclusion of the Paper the Admiralty had noted in observing the 

tremendous risks that the enemy commander-ln-chief would have to undertake in 

attempting an invasion of the British lsleu 

Taking ali these facts into consideration, he would probably 
decide as the Admiralty have done, that an invasion on even the 
moderate scale of 70,000 menis practically impossible. 43 

Although it must be added that at precisely this moment when Henry Wilson was turning 

the General Staff away from the two division stipulation, Arthur Wilson, at the 

Admiralty, was in· the process of reversing Admiralty policy realising that it played 

into the hands of the advocates of the Continental Strategy. During the Churchi Il 

years, the Admiralty, though subordinated to the Continental Strategy, was to develop 

Arthur Wilson's pollcy lnto a genuine reservation concemlng the invasion problem partly 

in view of the, albeit questionable, outcome of the 1912 and 1913 manoeuvres. lt is 

also probable that following upon Agadir wlth the mounting tension throughout Europe, 

and the growlng hysteria concerning defence preparations generolly, that those trends 

were reflected by these new doubts wlthin the Novy. Churchill himself was to 

rodically alter his earlrer 1economist1 outlook on the invasion problem ; in the course 

of a Cabinet Memorandum on 'BrHlsh Milltary Needs' of June 1908 - while the In­

vasion Sub-Committee was sitting - he had maintained : 

lt should ••• be rememb_ered tnat if it be necessary at any 
time to send an expedltionary force out of the country 1 th~ 

43 - 1 Notes Supplied by the Admiralty for the Use of the War Office in the Debate 
th at was to have taken place Tn November, 1910, in the House of Lords 
on a Motion by Lord Roberts•, Cd. 5539, 1911 • 
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mobtllzatton of a portion of the fleet, and the lnc:reased 
vlgtlanc:e whic:h would naturally be exerc:ised by the Admtralty, 
ought vastly ta mlntmlze, If not effec:tlvely to remove, ali 
dangerofa 1boltfrom the blue•.44 

However, when burdened wlth the •Power of Admlralty1
, and surrounded by lesser 

men thon Fisher, the Radical tumed lmperiallst rec:anted and in the course of a further 

Cabinet Memorandum drawn up In the summer of 1913 - just prior to the naval 

manoeuvres, with the assistance of the First Seo Lord and the Chief of the Admiralty 

War Staff, the First Lord noted : 

We feor thot unless this adequate milftary force is maintained 
in Great Britain, Naval operations will be greatly hampered 
and complicated • • • • We therefore hold thot at ali times 
the military force retained in the British Islands should not fall 
below the strength necessary to deal with a concentrated in­
vasion of 70, 000 men. 45 

ln the course of an eorlier survey ln Aprtl 1913 of England's general naval position 

Churchill had explic:itly voiced the Admiralty's refusai to guarantee against invasion 

regardless of where the fleet happened to be : 

If we .... survey the situation as it may be from the 
outbreok of hosti IIties, we must contemplate the following 
possibllitles : ftrst, thot on, or immediately before, the 
outbreok of war a sudden attempt is made to land a force, 
which may amount to 20,000 men, at sorne point or points 
on the British coast, with a view to preventing a British 
army being sent to the Continent ; secondly thot after the 
was has been declared, the Germons will assemble a large 
number of sui table transports at Hamburg, Emden, Wilhelm­
shaven, or Kiel ••• thot they may in the course of a month 

44 - •A Note upon British Military Needs1
,. by the Rt. Hon. W.S. Churchill, 

27 June 1908. Ca bi net Pa pers, Cab. 37/94, No. 89. 

45 - UntitledAdmiralty Paper on Oversea Attack1 , by W .S. Churchill,. 
H.R.H. Prince Louis of Battenburg - First Seo Lord,. and Sir Henry Jackson­
Chief of the Naval War Staff1 25June 1913. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 
37/116, No. 43. 
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fi nd opportunltles of accumulatJng on British 1oll upwards 
of 70,000 or 80,000 men, and malntaln ali the tlme the 
menace of a sttlllarger number; that they wtll use their 
battle fleet in conjunctlon with some movements of transports 
so as to take advantage of the fact that the emergence of the 
Gennan battle fleet wou Id produce an Immediate British naval 
concentratfon wtth consequent denudation ln other quarters ; 
and thot a variety of combinatlons exist which tt would be 46 
open to the Gennans to adopt for executing the above design. 

This novel argument of invasion by Increment would suggest thot Churchllf's concern 

over the invasion question was really quite genuine, a concern whtch the ostensible 

results of the 1912 and 1913 fleet manoeuvres did little to assuage. 

The 1912 manoeuvres, which with those of 1913 will be discussed in due course, 

so alarmed the 'boit-from-the-blue' school, and so disturbed Churchill, In splte of 

the absurd conditions under which they had been conducted, thot the whole issue of 

invaslon was once again referred to the Defence Committee early in 1913. The matter 

had been briefly raised during the 12lst meeting on 7th January 1913, following upon 

which the Secretariat had fonnulated the following tenns of reference 1 

••• to consider whether any new factors have arisen which 
necessltate a reconsideration, and, if so,in what respect of 
the conclusions on the question of invasion approved by the 
Committee of Imperial Defence at the lOOth meeting held on 
22nd October1 1908.47 

These tenns were discussed and apparently approved at the following session of the 

Committee early in February. This, the 122nd meeting, was typical of the manner 

ln which Asquith suffocated and choked the C .. l .. D .. by overloading lts membership.48 

On this occasion no fewer thot twenty-flve personages - excluding the Secretary -

46 - 'Admlralty Notes', 14 Apr. 1913. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/115, No. 23, 
PP• 5-6. 

47 - 'Standrng Sub-Committee of the Commlttee of lmpertal Defence & Attack 
on the British Isles from Oversea', 2, Whltehall Gardens, 15Apro 1914o 
C.I .. D. Papers, Cab. 3/2/5/62A. 

48 - 'Mfnutes of 122nd Meeting of the Commtttee of Imperial Defence', 6 Feb .. 1913. 
C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 2/3/2. 
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attended. 
49 

lt might weil be added that in spi te of this unwie~dly number seve rai 

of the more 'regulai'' members, notably Grey and Lloyd-George, were not lncluded, 

ln discussing the tenns of reference for thls Enquiry Churchill noted: 

• • • he understood th at i t was not 1 ntended to cha Il enge the 
general conclusions arrived at in 1908. The general basis had 
not altered from the point of view of the Admiralty .5.0 

ln other words the Admiralty wanted the Enquiry in arder both to fonnally constder 

the results of the 1912 and 1 as tt turned out, the 1913 manoeuvres as weil asto refute 

the suggestions emanating from the Directorate of Military Operations thot the Navy 

was solely responsible for Home Defence and thot it was essential thot the entire 

Expeditionary Force be dispatched to France upon the outbreak of war. Wh ile 

Repington suggested thot this new Enquiry was designed to remove the two division 

stipulation, it seems quite clear thot the opposite was in fact the case. 
51 

However 

nelther Esher nor Asquith had much sympathy with this move and, 5
2 

indeed, it seems 

thot A~quith's action had very largely been prompted by the increasing agitation of the 

National Service league and his persona! dlslrke of the Continental Strategy. 

Charac:teristically non-committal Asquith had merely noted in discussing the terms of 

reference for the Enquiry at the l22nd meeting : 

••• tt would be convenient if the Admiralty and the War 
Office would prepare for the use of the Standing Sub-Committee 
memoranda reviewing the changes in conditions which had taken 

49 - Aside from Asquith, the following were present: Morley, Harcourt, Churchill, 
Battenburg, Jellicoe, :Jackson, Samlfel (Pos.tmaster-General), King 
(Secretary to the Post Office), Nicolson, Colonel J. Allen (Defenc:e 
Minister of New Zealand), Crowe, Fisher, Haldane, McKenna, Crewe, 
Seely, Henderson (Director of Milltary Training), Buxton (President of the 
Board of Trade), Runclman (President of the Board of Agrlculture) 1 Smith 
(Pennanent Secretary to the Board of Trade) 1 Chalmers (Permanent Secretary 
to the Treasury) 1 Guillemand (Chainnan of the Board of Customs and 
Excise), Esherand A.K. Wilson. 

50 - 'Minutes of 122nd Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence 1
1 6 Feb. 1913, p.l8. 

51 - Journal, 14 Feb. 1913.. Esher, Journals and Letters, Vol.lll, p. 118. 

52 - Esher to Asquith, 25June 1913. Esher, Journalsand Letters, Vol. Ill, pp.l24 -125. 
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place alnce the enqulry whlch waa held ln 190&.
53 

The official War Office stand on Invasion remaf~ed unchanged under Seely now that 

Haldane had passed on to the Woolsaék. Wrlaon, who regarded Seely as 'damned 

Incompetent•, had been unable to convert the polltlc:al leadership of Asqulth's 

Government, whtch he 10 deapJsed, to his vlewpolnt. Seely's only comment upon 

the establishment of this new Enqufry was thot the War Office 

••• knew generally thot many of the naval factors had been 
modified slnce 1908, but thot they dld not know what the 
Admiralty consldered their cumulative effect to be. Without 
such knowledge It was dlfficult for them to say anythlng new 
on the sub ject. 54 

Regardless, the Enquiry proceeded with both the Admiralty and the War Office presenting 

somewhat confused cases each being weil aware of the possible ramifications of their 

arguments.. Henry Wilson was aware of the abhorrence wlth which many vlewed the 

Continental Strategy and had therefore to play his hand carefully in placlng the burden 

of Home Defence upon the Admlralty lest such arguments persuade the Committee to 

deflate the importance of the Anny and lead in turn to a serious questioning of the 

Continentol Strategy. He had always to keep in mind the manner in whtch the 1908 

decision had helped to ralse the Anny's position within the Defence Estoblishment. The 

Admiralty, on the other hand, whJie entertaining serious doubts on the whole question 

of Home Defence and invasion had no desire to see the Anny ÎJsurp the tradftlonal role 
55" 

of the Senior Service. The outcome of the 1913 naval manoeuvres further confused 

the Admiralty's. resolution on fts abillty to deal effectively with an enemy initiative 

against the east coast. 

Regardless, by the autumn of 1913 the bulk of the work of the Enquiry had been 

completed and, greatly to the Admiralty's satisfaction, the decision of 1907- 1908 

53 - 'Minutes of l22nd Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 6 Feb. 1913, 
p. 18. 

54 - 'Minutes of 122nd Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 6 Feb. 1913, 
p. 18. 

55 - Esher to Asquith, 25June 1913. Esher, Joumals and Letters, Vol. Ill, 
pp. 124- 125. 
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rec:elved, vlrtually unaltered, the 1nlhll obstat• of the C.I.O. Wrltlng to Esher early 

ln Oc:tober Haldane expressed his c:onc:urrenc:e wltk the projec:ted flndlngs of the 

Enqulry notlng 1 

Asquith has shown me c:onfidentlally a flrst sketch of our 
our Invasion Commfttee Report. 1 t seemed to be as good as 
c:ould be. No nonsense ln it .56 

ln mid-April 1914 the formai Report of the Sub-Commlttee was lodged with the 

Secretariat containlng the unanimous findlngs of its members. The only substantiel 

alteration effected on the 1907 - 1908 findings was the addftion of a paragraph 

speciflcally noting : 

••• the Territorial Force, whtch according to the existing 
mobillzatlon sc:heme provldes the bulk of the Home Defence 
army, was never intended to be, and is not sufficlently 
tralned when first moblltzed to secure conditions 3 and 4 and 
requires the support of regular troops un tl 1 su ch ti me as 1 t ts 
fit to take the field. ln the earller stages of a war, if the 
interests of Home Defence only are considered Jt ls undesirable 
to leave less than the e~ivalent of two divisions of reguler 
troops in this country. 57 

ln the Report•s final section entltled •Summary of Recommendations• this stipulation 

c:oncerning the retention of two divisions, which had not been specifically stated in the 

1907 - 1908 Report although It had been assumed in the Report of the Sub-Committee on 
58 

the •Milttary Needs of the Empire• of July 1909, was stated even more emphatically: 

The milltary Home Defence Scheme should be based on 
the assumption that, ln the event of the despatch of an 
Expeditionary Force oversea, the equivalent of tWo divisions 

56 - Haldane to Esher, 13 Oct. 1913. Haldane MSS, MS ~10. 

57 - •Attack on the British Isles from Oversea•, 2, Whttehall Gardens, 15Apr. 1914, 
p. 25. 

58 - •Report of the Sub-Commlttee of the Committee of Imperial Defence on the 
Milttary Needs of the Empire•, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 24 July 1909. 
C .1 .. D. Papers, Cab. 4/3/1/1 098 • 

179 



of regular troops will be retalned in the United KJngdom •••• 
59 

On the whole the declslon to uphold the earlter flndlngs of the Commlttee was 

wtse - though ln realtty the decision had been prompted more by the jumbled poli tics 

of the defence establishment thon by genulne strategie considerations. Even Fisher 

was pleased notJng ln a letter to the Prime Mtnlster of early May 1914 : 

1 fully concur in 62-A, whlch conftnns the decision we reached 
on the 22nd October, 1908, thot invasion is impracttcable so 
long as our naval supremacy ls assured against any reasonable 
probable combination of Powers.. If we pennanently lose 
command of the seo, then whatever may be the strength and 
organizatfon of the Home Force the subjection of the country 
is inevitable .60 

As an aslde, tt is interesting to note thot ln fact Fisher's reference to the •tnevitable 

subjection of the country• which had appeared in the 1908 Report had now been altered 

ta read 'the position of: the country would be desperate•.
61 

And so ended the series of pre-War investigations conducted by the Committee of 

Imperial Defence into the invasion question. ln many respects these enquirles had 

represented the Defence Committee at its best. Firm and sensible decisions had been 

taken on each occasion. National Service had been rejected as the foundation around 

which to organize an effective system of Home Defence.. These sub-committees had not 

considered the question of conscription for the Regular Army; however, it is a sad 

commentary upon the Jack ofccohesion· in defence policy thot the full implications of 

the Continental Strategy had never been appreciated ; for had such an appreciation 

been reallsed, resulting in a recommendation thot the Regular Army be based upon the 

prlnciples of coercion and moss, it would have sharply contrasted with the findings of 

59 - 'Attack on the British Isles from Oversea•, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 15Apr. 
1914, p .. 25. 

60 - Fisher to Asquith, Early May 1914. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. Il, p. 504. 

61 - 'Attack on the British Isles from Oversea•, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 15Apr. 
1914, p. 25. 
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the 1908 and 1914 enqutrles, ali of wnlch nad baldly stated that ~ff·we permanently 

lose command of the sea, whatever may be the strength and organizatlon of the Home 

Force, the position of the country would be desperate (the subjection of the country 

to the enemy ts inevitable)•. The possible advantages of a National Service force 

for Home Defence, let alone a foreign service conscrfpt army, were far, very far, 

outweighed by the appalling spectre of the inevitable results consequent upon any 

reduction in the strength of the Royal Navy and the resolution of England's belief 

in sea power. 
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

THE PIVOT OF DECISION 

Comparatively, the Novy is vital and the Anny a plaything '. 
lt is not invasion we have to fear; its starvation '. The sense 
of proportion is being !ost sight of by the Public. The Army is 
a plutocracy and ru les society. The Novy is poor and democratie. 

Admirai of the Fleet 
Lord Fisher of Kilverstone; March 1910. 

Meantime, in these years of preparation, Wilson in England, 
promoted to the key part of Director of Mllitary Operations at 
the War Office, was working out plans in the minutest detail -
plans whlch made the British Anny an appendage of the French, 
and which were so elaborately organised thot any alternative 
course was hardi y possible when war came. His arrangements 
were in 1914 to become a rope round Britain's neck thot could 
not be loosened. The tightness of these ti es was only realised 
by other sol di ers, and her statesmen, when the emergency came. 

Coptain B. H. liddell Hart ; 1965 • 

LORD Fisher's enforced retirement from the Board of Admiralty lote in January 1910 had 

been intehded to remove not only one of the major stumbling blacks in the way of the 

effectiveness of the Committee of Imperial Defence, but a Iso to lay the way open for a 

Clefinite expansion and solidification of the Continental Strategy. Many responsible 

figures hàd regarded Fisher's departure as essentiel for the internai stability of the Novy. 
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Asquith 1s recent committee of enquiry had formally registered the Beresford feud as a 

major public scandai ; further, as Viscount Esher noted at the time, regardless of its 

outcome the enquiry was itself a direct reflectian upon the integrity of the Government.
1 

However, others, notably Haldane and Esher, had recognised thot Fisher•s removal held 

far deeper implications for the future of national defence as a whole. Both Haldane, 

and to a lesser extent Esher, believed thot the whole future of !ntegrated defence 

planning turned upon the resignation of Fisher. lt is clear thot, following upon the 

indecisive outcome of the •Sub-Committee on the Military Needs of the Empire' which 

had reported in mid-July 19091 both Esher and Haldane had come to realise thot the 

Defence Committee had ground to a halt1 deadlocked over basic defence principles, and 

thot the Admiralty•s attitude was largely to biome for this situation. Haldane was very 

much olive to the political differences and persona! animosities on the Committee which 

were also in no small way responsible for its Jack of decisiveness1 whereas Esher adopted 

the narrower view coming intime to believe thot with Fisher safely reHred the C.I.O. 

would once again be able to move forward. Haldane•s diagnosis was far more reallstic. 

Both Esher and Haldane insisted upon a new Board of Admiralty wllling to 

co-operate with the General Staff and the Army Council for a common purpose in placing 

the British Army safely upon the Continent. Co-operation with the French Army and 

committal to the heart of a European campaign were issues which neither gave much 

thought to in the face of the Admiralty•s refusai to co-operate upon the most elementary 

related logistical problems. lt would be quite wrong to suppose thot either Esher or 

Haldane desired to commit England to flghting the wars of France, or thot they wished to 

see the Army replace the Novy as the orbiter of the country-s defence posture. On the 

contrary, both were sincere adherents of the 1 Biue Water School•, and, indeed, both 

regarded the B.E.F. as an expeditionary force rather thon an army. ln time Esher came 

to understand the full implications of the Continental Strategy realising thot its successful 

execution involved not a handful of troops such as provided by the Expeditionary Force, 

1 - Esher to Balfour1 13 Apr. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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but rather a vast conscri pt army.. Du ring the four years precedi ng the War Esher was 

to constantly reiterate his theme : either Great Britain decides to adopt the principles 

of compulsion in order to provide the necessary military capability implicit in the 

Continental Strategy, or else she abandon that allen strategy embracing in its favour 

her traditional reliance upon the efficacy of sea power and comblned operations. As 

Esher so clearly underlined, there was no folly comparable to the adoption of a 

strategie principle at variance with one's capability. If compulsion was viewed as 

economically and politically unfeasible, then, Esher argued, the Government must 

adopta strategie principle in concert with the country's immense capability upon the 

oceans. Writing in 1912 Viscount Esher had summed up ali of these considerations in 

observing : 

The BoE.F .. 's basis is an lneradfcable belief in the sea, and in 
the sea, and in sea power, as the only weapon that Great Britain 
can safely and effective! y employ for the purposes of de fen ce. 2 

Esher understood thot the despatch of the B.E.F. to France involved a military commitment 

far deeper thon a Il but a very few had rea 1 ised. 1 n short, the Entente had turned the 

Expeditionary Force into an embyronic army. And yet the B.E.F. remained nothing more 

thon an expeditionary force throughout these years in spite of the growth and eventual 

adoption of the Continental Strategy. ln truth the Government never really took a firm 

decision on the matter of direct military involvment in Europe. For a strategie decision 

divorced from any appreciation of tactical capability is a decision divorced from reality1 

and is, in reality, not a decision. 

Throughout his years of Liberal Cab~net !ife Haldane had remained a convinced 

supporter of the 'Blue Water School'. Mindful of his polttical life, and appreciative of 

the importance of sea power, Haldane consistently opposed aH demands for compulsion 

both for Home Defence and overseas expeditionso His bellef in sea power was so 

2 - Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), The Influence of King Edward and Essays 
on Other Sub jects, (London, 191$, p .. 158 .. 
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fundamental that he faHed to appreciate the full implications of the Continental 

Strategy, and he was never able to understand precisely at what Henry Wilson was 

driving. Wilson was a prominent advocate of compulsion for, unlike his more short­

sighted colleagues, he knew that the B.E.F. was incapable of fulfilling the true 

implications of the Continental Strategy. However, Wilson was able to reconcile this 

insight with his conscience in believing that when war came it would be short and shorp, 

that the role of the B.E.F. would be restricted to bolstering morale, and thot when peoce 

came the existence çf a British Army in being would be a tremendous political odvantage­

not only to the politicians but perhaps also for the soldiers. 

Haldane had been largely instrumental in precipitoting the Beresford Enquiry's 

criticism of Fisher for the lack of an operational planning division at the Admiralty. 
3 

This bogey, which was to prove so polltically advantageous over the course of the next 

two years, 
4 

enabled Haldane to convince Esher of the necessity for Fisher's departure. As 

has already been seen, Haldane's sklllful manipulation of the War Staff issue had indeed 

turned Esher against Fisher. However, as Fisher left office in the mi dst of a storm of 

'Calculated lies •.. as thick .•. as the leaves in Valambrosa', 
5 

Haldane did not over­

estimate the fruits of his victory. He was very much olive to the fact thot the Defence 

Committee was crippled equally by the lack of unity and stability within the Government. 

Therefore, as has been seen, 
6 

Haldane begon to canvoss his ideas on the creation of a 

Defence Ministry designed to remove ali but the most profound strategie decisions, and 

squabbles, from out of the range of the gaze of his pocifist and 'Little Englander' 

colleagues in the Cabinet and on the Defence Committee .. Fisher,who remained cool towards 

3 - Marder, A.J., From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, (London, 1961), 
Vol. 1, p. 205. 

4 - See Appendix Ill, 'The Admiralty War Staff' . 

5 - Fisher to Balfour, 2 Nov. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49712. 

6 - See above page 15. 
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Haldane for the rest of his life, delighted in deriding this idea and took much pleasure 

in accusing 1 Napoleon B' of harbouring demented visions ôf grondeur·. 
7 

Nevertheless, 

Fisher genuinely feared Haldane's proposai, realising thot whereas the Defence Committee 

could be rendered impdtent by the elever exploitation of its inherent weaknesses and 

divisions, a Defence Ministry would usurp ali executive power from the Board of Admiralty. 

Viscount Esher, while sympathetic towards Haldane, had no desire to abandon the 

principles of defence by committee without further effort. Esher, who had an under­

standable and lndeed justifiable distrust of the Liberais on matters of defence 1 seems to 

have clung to the committee pr!nciple in the belief thot Mr. Balfour would short! y be 

returned to office on the heels of the Constitutional crisis. 
8 

ln any case Haldane's 

proposais were ill-received, not least by Asquith, many sharing Fisher's suspicion thot 

the Secretary of State for War was attempting to orrogate to him~elf executive powers 

which no one, not even the Prime Minister, had hitherto possessed. Esher remained a 

firm exponent of the committee principle O$ a mechanism whereby the Prime Minlster 

could be so briefed as to become in effect his own minister of defence. Writing to 

Mr. Balfour in the lote summer of 1910, when the prospects for the immediate demise 

of Asquith's Government were bright, Esher had noted : 

• • • the Prime Minister should be the 'Minister of Defence' for 
only he con co-ordinate ali the departments concemed in the 
immense business of providing for the defence of the Empire. 9 

These views had prompted Esher lote in 1909 to propose the revival of Mr. Balfour's 

defunct co-ordination sub-committee set up durin:g the summer of 1905. He felt thot such 

a sub-committee, if convened on a regular and frequent basis, could be used to Impose the 

unity of purpose which had hitherto been so lacking in the defence establishment. With 

7 - See : Fisher of Kilverstone 1 Baron (John A.} Fear God and Dread Nought g 

The Correspondance of Admirai of the Fleet Lord Fisher of Kilverstone, 
ed. ArthurJ. Marder(London, 1952 -1959), Vol. li, pp. 278,3091 

375-376. 

8 - Esher to Balfour, 31 Dec. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

9- EshertoBalfour, 16Aug.1910. BalfourMSS, Add. MS49719. 
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Fisher hfmself 'on the beach' such a proposai seemed to have a good chance of 

implementation. Writing to Mr. Balfour la te in December 1909 Esher had expressed 

his hopes on this matter : 

1 told you thot we were trying to geta sub-committee of 
the Committee of Imperial Defence appolnted to sit weekly and 
work out the details of decisions already settled by the full 
committee. This work is most essentiel, as the ability to carry 
out suddenly the settled plans of the executive Govemment, 
based upon the Committee of Imperial Defence r'eports, depends 
upon the details belng understood and joJntly worked out by the 
Anny and the Admiralty. 10 

However, Esher had already discovered the most vociferous opposition to this mildest of 

proposais from the one quarter which he had expected to be quiescent - the chastened 

Board of Admiralty. 

Fisher had been created Baron Kilverstone on the occasion of the King's birthday 

early in November 1909. With Fisher's approval McKenna had proposed thot 

Admirai Sir Arthur WtJson be appointed to fiJI his post as First Seo Lord. Wilson had 

recommended himself both to Fisher and McKenna as the officer most likely to achieve 

success in healing the rift which the feud had opened up wJthin the fleet, and yet also 

as a man unllkely to tamper with 'Fisher's Novy'. ln short he was seen as an ideal 

compromise caretaker candidate. Wilson had, besides, a fine naval reputation ; 

Sir Almeric Fitzroy, the Clerk of the Privy Council, extravagantly cast him as 'the 

greatest naval figure since Nelson'. 
11 

The frequently repeated claim thot Fisher and 

Wislon were as close as two pins, and thot Wi lson's activities as First Seo Lord merely 

reflected Fisher's policies, does not stand up either in terms of the facts, which have 

already been presented here, conceming Fisher's strategie thought, or in considering 

Sir John's true relations with Wilson after his retirement early in 1910., Writing to 

McKenna, who was to remain very close to Fisher during the succeeding two years, just 

10 - Esher to Balfour, 24 Dec. 1909. Esher, Viscount (Reginald B.), Journals 
and Letters, ed. MoY. Brett (London, 1934), Vol. Il, p. 428. 

11 - Fitzroy, A.W., Memoirs, (London, 192~, Vol. Il, p. 422. 

187 



the day before he was raised to the peerage, Sir John had noted with respect to Wilson's 

proposed appointment : 

1 wasn • t sweet on i t at fi rst, as Wilson is su ch a stonewa Il . 
However, you made a good point, which converted me, in 
saying that for two yeart a stonewall was desirable. 12 

Early agreement over Wilson's appointment was soon shattered as it was discovered in 

short order thot the new First Sea Lord was even more obdurate~ thon Fisher had been 

during his worst days. Before the year was out Esher had discovered thot Wilson 

intended to perpetuate his predecessor1s opposition to the C.J.D, 
13 

Writing to Balfour 

at the close of 1909 Esher had noted : 

Froncis K [Knollys }!ays he doesn't know whether it is 
Fisher who influences Wilson, or Wilson Fisher, but it is 
evident that they hove ogreed to shut down as mych as 
possible on the work of the Defence Committee. 4 

This critlcism was a trifle hard on Fisher, though in substance Esher was qui te correct 

about Wilson. The new First Seo Lord, who hod effective! y taken over at the Admirolty 

by mld-December, mode it clear from the outset that he would have even Jess to do with 

the Defence Committee thon had Fisher - refusing even to humour it as his predecessor 

had done so from time to time. Wrtting agoln to Mr. Balfour on Christmas Eve Esher had 

spoken his mind on the prospects of the effects of Wilson's attitude upon his efforts to 

revivify the Defence Committee : 

Haldane .•• and the W .0. warmly approve. So 
does E. Grey - so does Asquith. So did McKenna. But 
Wilson, who is at the Admiralty now every day has objected 
and cannot see thot the Committee of Imperial Defence has 
anything to do with the general planning of naval and military 
operations except in certain contingencies. He maintains 
that these are matters whrch should be left to the Chief of the 
General Staff and the First Sea Lord to discuss and arrange 
between themselves. 

12 - Fisher to McKenna, 8 Nov. 1909. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. Il, p. 217. 

13 - Esher to Balfour, 24 Dec. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

14 - Esher to Balfour, 31 Dec. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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·rhis of course is putting the clock bock some years. If 
Asquith acquiesced in this view, it would strike a very severe 
blow to the Committee of Imperial Oefence. lt would certainly 
strengthen Haldane•s plan for a •Minister of Oefence• who should 
control both services. 15 

ln point of fact Asquith did not acquiesce, but then neither did he act on Esher•s 

proposais for strengthening the C .1. 0. in order to increase its influence over the 

Services. As usuel Asquith was forced by the instability of his Government, the 

opposition of the Admiralty, and his own persona! disinterest, to do nothing. Balfour 

who shared Esher•s disappointment in Wilson, in a letter of la te Oecember 1909 expressed 

his support for his colleague•s efforts to bolster the tottering influence of the Oefence 

Committee : 

From what 1 have heard of Wilson his attitude does not greatly 
surprise me ~ but it is certainly unfortunate. Of course there 
are certain technical details of joint naval and military operations 
which must be worked out by the Admiralty and the General Staff. 
But the Prime Minister and the C.I.O. must surely have some 
security that the plans a~reed to in principle can be immediately 
carried into execution. 1 

lt is intere5ting to note that already Fisher had begun to mellow in his attitude towards 

the C.I.O. - in direct contrast with Wilson•s hardening. Writing to Esher in mid­

December 1909 Fisher had surprisingly noted : 

Ottley saw me about your Technical Committee and 1 gave it 
con amore to McKenna, who is warmly with you, but kindly 
never let th.i.s out, as 1 am absolutely sure that he is right to 
express no opinion ti Il Wilson joins him. 1 have no idea of 
Wilson•s line on it. No one will get round him.1? 

ln part this sudden reversai of opinion by Fisher may be explained by the fact that having 

been 1kicked out•, as he put it, Fisher de,termined to use his seat on the C.I.O. as a 

15- Esher to Balfour, 24 Oec. 1909. Esher, Journalsgnd Letters, Vol. Il, p. 428. 

16 - Balfour to Esher, 28 Oec. 1909. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

17 - Fisher to Esher, 14 Oec. 1909. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vo 1 . Il , pp. 283 - 284 • 
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platform from which he hoped to influence both Admiralty policy as weil as the more 

profound questions of national defence. Deprived of the power of office, and excluded 

from the central halls of government, Fisher had already begun to see the •Auleric 

Council 1
, as he had been fond of calllng the C.I.D., in a somewhat more favourable 

light. Lord Fisher, who regarded ali that Haldane recommended with not a little 

suspicion, also realised that Wilson•s obaurate attitude towards the Defence Committee 

could weil lead to disaster. Writing to Ottley from his retirement at Kilverstone in 

Norfolk early in 1910 Fisher pointed out: 

Wilson won•t see that the Defence Committee is a •guiding• 
power and England•s •Ali ln all 1 if properly worked. His 
policy of leavlng the Defence Committee severely clone 
would kill it and bring in the Minister of Defence he so 
dreads •. The bulwark against Haldane•s ambition is the 
Defence Committee. lhe only Minister of Defence is the 
Prime Minister, and the only way he can exercise that power, 
with his multitudinous work, is by having a secretariat such as 
is provided by the Defence Committee. George Clarke saw 
that, but wanted to put on the Prime Minister•s clothes, and 
so got booted out •; 18 

This was a very different Fisher ; nevertheless, his motivation was other than that of 

concern for the integrity of the principles of the committee system. Writing to Esher 

a month orso later Fisher made it clear that he still viewed the C.I.D. as little more 

than a necessary minimum : 

•.. Asquith obviously does not see the fallacy of Wi lson•s 
reasoning, which as you very acurately observed would ktll 
the Defence Committee as a whole in its GUI Dl NG, but not 
in its administrative or executive power, which are non-existent 
and inimical toits existence. But its •GUIDING• power is 
England•s •ali-in-ali•, if only its sufficiency and efficiency 
could be digested •. 19 

18 - Fisher to Ottley, 25 Feb. 1910. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vo 1 • Il , pp. 209 - 21 0. 

19 - Fisher to Esher, 24 Mar. 1910. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vo 1 • Il, pp. 315 - 316. 
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Stripped of ali this verbiage Fisher1s message was reolly simplicity itself ; and writing 

to Alfred Gardiner, editor of the 1 Daily News1 which had frequently done bottle on 

behalf of Fisher and 1Fisherism 1
, early in the following year he betrayed his real 

interest in the Defence Committee g 

Secret. 1 am more powerful now in the Committee of 
Defence thon when 1 was First Seo Lord. 1 had masters 
then, now 1 have none and 1 hove a platform. 20 

The old Admirai had not turned over a new leof. 

However, Wilson was firmly in the saddle and the Government, faced with the 

Constitutional Crisis and a renewed onslaught by the 'economists', was unable and 

unwilling to effect the changes which Haldane and Esher hod earlier demanded4 The 

yeor 1910 was one of stagnation in the Committee which busied itself with matters of 

Imperial defence carefully avoiding ali issues involving fundamental strategie decisions. 

lndeed, the most contentious issue touched upon throughout this twelve-month period 

was the esta bi ishment of a small committee in lote March under the auspices of one of 

the three permanent sub-committees of the C .1. D. to 'enquire into the question of the 

Oversea Transport of Reinforcements in tlme of war'. ln spite of the findings of the 

1909 Sub-committee and the clear leanings towards the Continental Strategy on the 

part of many on the Defence Committee, Asquith charged the members to conduct their 

investigations within the following terms of reference : 

The routes which should be followed intime of war or emergency 
by reinforcements proceeding from the United Kingdom or self-
governing Colonies to lndia, Egypt, or other destinations, and 

21 
the nature of the protection to be afforded them during the voyage. 

Once again lndia was proving a useful substitute for the real problems of national defence 

facing the Committee. The Sub-Committee did indeed consider the passibilities of 

involvment in a war with Germany but was careful not to mention the problem of aid to 

20 - Fisher to Gardiner:, 19 Jan. 1911. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondence, 
Vol. JI, p~ 351. 

21 - 'Report of the Standing Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence 
Appointed to Enquire into the Question of the Overseo Transport of Reinforce­
ments inTime ofWar', 2, Whitehall Gardens, 16 June 1910. C.I.O. Papers, 
Cab. 4/3/1/116B. 
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France inits Report submltted to the C.l .. D .. in mid-June.. Furthermore in considering 

such a war the Report made no mention of requi ring troops for use in Northem Fra nee, but, 

as the followlng extmct from that Report rev~ls1 lndia hàd once agqin been sHpulatecl as 

the possible theatre of hostilities : 

ln order to obtain a ruling asto whefher any defini te guarantee 
of safety could be given, the Sub-Committee requested the 
Admiralty to infonn them 1 as a test case, whether, in the event 
of a war between Great Britain and a comblnatlon of Germany 

. and Ausfria,. troops could be safely transported from the self-
22 

governing Dominions to (say) lndia or the Mediterraneen area. 

This elabora te over-playlng of the lndian defence problem had gone so far asto become 

qulte ludicrous ~ Regardless of these absurd stipulations the Admiralty clearJy dlsplayed 

Ifs displeasure with these activities of the C .1. D. Replyrng to this query on behalf of 

his st~periors. Admirai Bethell coldly observed : 

1 am commanded by their Lordships to state thot when the 
positions of the German and Austrian ships are known approxi­
mately, as they probably would be when war is imminent or 
actually in progress, an opinion could easily be given asto the 
amount of rlsk incurred in transporf.irig troops from any parti cu lor 
self-goveming Dominion to lndia, Egypt, or Cyprus, but without 
this Information no opinion their, Lordships ;could give would be 
of any value .23 

Unfortunately,Wt!son wos noted for his inabillty to see the amusing side of any set of 

circumstances.. Clearly he wos not willlng tollumour the Defence Commfttee orto act out 

the charade. Wilson lacked Fisher's zest for playing with his opponents. lt is interesting 

thot this sub-committee was chaired by Viscount Esher, and had been no doubt, regarded 

22 - •Report of the Standing Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence 
Appolnted to Enquire into the Question of the Oversea Transport of 
Reinforcements inTime of War', 16 June 1910, p.S.. 

23 - • Report of the Standing Sub-Commtttee of the Committee of Imperial Defence 
. Appolnted to Enquire into the Question of the Ovetsea Transport of 

Reinforcements inTime of War•, 16 June 1910, p. 5. 
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by hlm as at least a step in the right direction. Much more interesting is the fa ct that 

Fisher and French were also members of the committee. 
24 

As with most other events 

on the Defence Committee's calendar for that year this Sub-commHtee was itself an 

exercise ln the inane - and its members were not unaware of this facto Regardless, 

the cold blast dellvered at this juncture by the Admiralty seems to have effectively 

blocked off ali further discussion on inter-Service co-operation at Whitehall Gardens 

for the remainder of the year. And the continuing squabble over the necessity of 

keeplng troops in England to guard against invasion, which at this time the War Office 

supported and the Admiralty opposed, did not serve to improve Wilson's already tattered 

relations with the Defence Commlttee. 

Wflson's decision to 'close down' on the Defence Committee was in the long run 

to have extremely serious consequences both for himself and the Service. For the 

First Sea Lord's action merely postponed the solution to the problem posed by the lack 

..Pf inter-Service co-operation ensuring that the solution, when it came, would be far 

more drastlco However, Wllson's tinkering wlth the fundamental principles of Fisher's 

strategie organization was of no less significance and itself contributed in large measure 

to the eclipse of the Navy within the defence establrshment during those last few years 

before the war .. 

Without doubt Sir Arthur Wilson was an outstanding deck officer with a fine, if 

somewhat overrated, reputation., During his tenure as First Sea Lord his scrupulous 

fairness and devotion did much to heal the rift within the Service. But as a naval 

admlnistrator he was a disaster ; and his failure at the Admlralty was ln time to be re­

flected throughout the fleet. Wilson's fatlings as a naval administrator and his inabHity 

to deal with his political chiefs gave rise to a severe estrangement between the Government 

and his Board. But,perhaps more significantly, his technical lgnon::mce, his lack of 

24 - The membership was as follows: Esher (Chairman), Hardinge, Fisher, 
Bethell (D.N.I.), Ewart and French with Ottley as Secretary. 
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sympathy for the changes wro.ught upon naval architecture and tactics by science and 

technology, resulted in a period of !l"eactnon and bockwardness at the Adm!raltyu Wilson 

had never approved of Fisher's great materiel reforms - stHI less of the tactHcal 

revolution which they hod imposed upon naval thoughtu As Sir John had noted nn wr&Hng 

to Arnold White, the naval joumalist, in lote April 1906 Wilson is 'deadly opposed to 

me atid my views'.
25 

However, unUke ~eresford 1 WB!son d~d not bear any grudge 

against Fisher and therefore refrained from participation in the great feud which so 

divided the service during Sir John's years as First Sea Lord. Wilson, aga!n un!Ike 

Fisher, had a closed mind subscribing to the view thot flag-rank alone qual!fied an 

officer to consider the 'higher' aspects of naval warfore. Wrlting to Mw. Balfour lote 

ln September 1910 Esher deprecated th.e efforts of Wi!son's regime upon the Admiralty 

noting : 

Haldane - who fs not a Fisherite by any means - was lamenting 
yesterday the change thot has come over the Board of Admîrolty. 
No doubt the 'service' may have benefitted, but the dooll'S of the 
Admlralty are closed to ali new Jdeas and new developments.26 

Here Esher had placed his finger at once bath upon the benefit and the fin jury of Wilson's 

regime upon the Novy as a whole. 

Perhaps Wtlson's most notable retrogression Jay in his distrùst and lack of respect for the 

submarine boat. He regarded. these vessels together with their weapons as 'underhand 

and unfair' very largely dlscounting their value. Wilson, like Fisher1 was a great one 

for secrecy 1 and as far as the former F!rst Sea Lord knew his successor was as much1 and 

more so, against the principles of close blockade as he was himself. ~ndeed, Wilson hod 

gone so far early in 1908 asto propose the removal of the Battle Fleet from the North Sea 

altogether thus placlng it outside the range of enemy submarines and torpedo craft. 
27 

25 - Fisher to White, 26 Apr. 1906. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. li, p. 81. 

26 - Esher to Balfour, Sept. 1910. Esher, Journals and Letters, Vol. ! !1 1 p. 25. 

27 - Fisher to Grey, 23 Jan. 1908. Fisher of Kilverstone 1 Correspondance 1 

Vol. Il, pp.J55-157. 
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However 1 this se ems ta have be en one of Wi 1 son 1 s many passi ng moods, wi th the re su 1 t 

thot on becoming First Seo Lord his basic dilsbellef in the efficacy of under-sea boots 

led him to revive the now long dormant strategy of the close blockade of the Hellgoland 

Bight. Thot this move was no mere ruse is evident in view of his cessation of the sub­

marine programme, his behaviour before the 114th meeting of the CommHtee of Imperial 

Defence, and his substitution of a wholly different strategie atmosphere at the Admirolty. 

This departure from the strategie outlook of Fisher's Board was evident ta Captain 

{afterwards Admira 1) Mark Kerr, one of Fisher's 'chosen few', upon his retum ta the 

Admiralty as Prince Louis of 8attenberg 1s Private Secretary upon the latter0s appointment 

as Fi rst Seo Lord : 

On arriva 1 (9t the Admiralty] he ~ttenberi! told me thot 
the War Plan against Germany ••• hcid been superceded by one 
thot was plain suicide, and which paraded our battle fleets in 
two separate squadrons up and dawn the North Seo off the German 
ports and exits, regardless of the fact thot submarines, destroyers1 

mines, and aircraft had come into being as offensive weapons.28 

ln this llght it is readi ly understandable asto why Wilson did not encourage the 

submarine programme. Fisher made much of the failure of his successors1 including 

Churchill, to appreciate,the offensive-defensive potentiel of the submarine. Writing 

ta Jellicoe early in January 1911 1 shortly before his departure for the Continent both 

for a holiday and as a means of tactfully disassociating himself from Wilson's poiicies, 

Fisher had noted : 

••• the gravity of the case lies in the hard fact thot hardly 
anyone but yourself ••• clearly realises the immense alteration 
both in tactics and strategy which the development of the sub-
marine now causes. 1 am quite sure A.K. Wilson don't realise 

29 
it, from our conversation together when he was last at Kilverstone. 

28 - Kerr, M. 1 Prince Louis of Battenberg, Admirai of the Fleet1 (London, 1934), 
p. 239. 

29 - Fisher to Je Il i coe, 1 0 Jan. 1911 • Fisher of Kilverstone 1 Correspondance 1 

Vol. Il, p. 349. 
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ln the second of his two volumes of reflections on his life and times Lord Fisher recalled 

that when he had left the Admiralty in 1910 the Navy possessed sorne sixty-one submarines, 

but that by his return in 1914 the under-sea service had dwindled to fifty-three vessels :
30 

ln fact Fisher was not altogether correct in his figures,there being sixty in 1910.and sixty­

four j~ 1914,1-
3 

though the essérice of his remarks cannofbe,denied. 

Consonant with his revival of the close blockade Wilson adopted a set of plans 

for combined operations directed against the Kiel Canal and the estuary of the Elbe 

which closely reflected the Portsmouth Committee•s 'plans for circùl.ationt of late 1906. 

Wilson was, of course, a conflrmed supporter of the 'Blue Water' principles and his 

views on the general rules for the conduct of land forces in time of war were in concert 

with virtually ali responsible naval opinion; early in 1910 he stated: 

_ The primar}r obje'ct ·in a war with .a g:reat maritime power, from 
a Naval point of view, must be the destruction of her fleet1 and 
Naval opinion on any proposed action by the Army must be main!)': 
determined by the extent to which it helps or hinders that object.32 

However1 in establishing a close blockade as the guideline for ali naval operations 

designed to draw the enemy•s battle fleet into decisive action, Wilson courted the 

piecemeal annihilation of his own fleet at the hands of the enemy's auxi!nary submarine 

and surface torpedo craft. ln particular he risked the loss of his fleet support vessels 

which were to be involved in a close off-share blockade while the battle fleet, unprotected, 

ranged itself in the open sea providing an ideal target for submarine commanders and under­

water mine-loyers. Wllson's failure to act on Haldane's demands for the establishment of 

a truly effective operational planning staff at the Admiralty led early in 1910 to a series 

of articles in 'The Times' by Sir James Thursfield, the Naval correspondent. There had 

30 - Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), Records, (London, 1919) 1 pp .. 180, 186. 

31 - Kemp1 P.K. 1 H.M. Submarines, (London1 1952), pp. 31 1 37. 

32 - Bradford, E.E. 1 Life of Admirai of the Fleet Sir Arthur Knyvet Wilson, 
(London 1 1923), p. 235. 
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been sorne considerable debate as to whether lt would be wise to publlsh Thursfield's 

vlews which had been wrltten the previous autumn. Ottley, in particular, deprecah~d 

thelr publication feeling that such criticism would only strengthen Wilson's opposition. 

La te ln December 1909 Ottley wrote to Hal da ne counsell ing caution and admonishing 

him for encouraging Douglas Haig's memorandum on the formation of a Naval War Staff : 

1 have read these articles and agree in the main with ali that 
has been said : indeed 1 may say that in conversation with 
Thursfield 1 have made no secret of my own strong views on 
the question. But 1 as to the expediency of publ ishing these 
articles 1 am by no means so clear.. 1 dread any appearance 
of a seeming desire to coup, criticise or coerce the Admiralty, 
orto put them in a côrner, with a white sheet and a candie. 
The Board are still smarting under what they conceive to have 
been an undeserved criticJsm (in the lest para :of the Beresford 
Enquiry Report). They are in a hyper-sensitive mood, and from 
something that 1 heard at the Admiralty a few days ago, 1 am 
afraid that they did not at ali relish the 'Naval War Collage• 
paper prepared by a mllitary officer, of which you now so kindly 
send me a copy • 33 

Thursfield articles did ali the damage which Ottley had forecast and more so. Wilson 

selzed the opportunity to write a memorandum in defence of his stand against the 

establishment of a war staff and, at the same time, made use of the occasion to advance 

his plans for a Naval offensive while denigrating the Continental Strategy : 

lt is certain that if a British force is landed on French soil to assist 
the French Army, it cannot be withdrawn without great damage to our 
pride and national honour 1 and the tendency wi Il be to make increasing 
sacrifices in men and materiel to support it. 

Hence if a force is once landed on French soil the Novy can expect 
to get very little, if any, support from the Army in carrying out its 
main objective, orid joint action of any kind against the enemy will 
become impossible. The Novy will also have the responsibility of pre­
venting raids, and the panics arising therefrom thrown on it in an increasing 
degree. 

During the progress of a war many places on the coast may acquire an 
importance qui te unforeseen in peace, and will require additional protection. 

33 - Ottley to Haldane 1 11 Dec. 1909. Haldane MSS, MS 5908. 
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Places where destroyers may ftnd lt convenlent to anchor whlle waltlng 
for orders, open ports wh! ch tt ts found advtsable to turn lnto 
temporary bases, anchorages where merchant shlps have taken 
temporary refuge in consequence of reports, true or false, that 
an enemy's cruiser is at large, may ali requlre protection. ·rhese 
and many other causes wi Il crea te demands for troops on the coasts 
which it is probable there would be great difficu!ty in meeting with 
practically the whole Regular army out of the country .34 

Here Wilson stated for the first time an argument which was very shortly ta become 

fundamental to the Admtralty's inherent objections to the Continental Strategy. 

Hitherto the Navy had always opposed the view that the fleet alone could not ensure 

the defence of the British Isles and that U required to be augmented by the provision of 

an army for Home Defence. The Admiralty had long regarded this argument as the flrst 

step towards conscription whlch ln due course1 it was feared, would lead ta the adoption 

of a Continental style mass anny for use overseas. The 1907-1908 Invasion Sub-Commlttee 

Enquiry, as has been seen, had successfully skirted this issue In recommending the 

retention at home of two divisions of the B.E.F .. during the early stages of a war. This 

decision had pleased nelther party particulc:nly ; however, it had established, on the 

one hand, the prlnciple thot Home Defence w~s at !east in part the responsibility of the 

War Office, and, on the other, thot coercion was not considered as a suitable means of 

providing an effective military force for the protection of the British Isles against 

invasion. Wilson was now inslsting that the Navy was not capable of meeting the require­

ments of Home Defence unless the entire Expeditionary 'Force be retained at home ta be 

used, as soon as the situation had clarifled, for combtnèd operations at the Admhalty's 

discretion. lt is of note, however, that Wilson, in the preface of the second edition 

of lan Hamilton•s short book refutlng the arguments of Roberts and the National Seii'Vice 

League, had stated thot coastal destroyer flotillas could ea.sily deal with any invasnon 

force even if the battle fleet were absent. lnterestingly enough he suggested thot the 

34 - Cited : Bradford, Wilson, pp. 235- 236. 
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submarlne boat, whic:h had originally been deslgned for c:oastal defenc:e, mlght not be 

equal to the task.
35 

However, Wilson was wflling to admit that posstbly the submarine 

did have some contribution to make to coastal defence; Sir George Clarke recalls 

Wilson observing to him some ti me in 1910 : 

.... even supposing that .Dy some extraordinary c:hanc:e the 
transports were able to reach our coasts, their presence must 
be known when they arrive there, and long before half the 
troops c:an be landed the transports would be sunk by submarines 
and destroyers whic:h are stationed along the coast for that 
purpose.36 

Regardless, Wilson's statement was a neat reversai of poltcy J a reversai which the War 

Office, ln the person of the 'other Wi !son', was shortly to imita te in maintaining that 

Fisher's old insistence upon the abillty of the Navy to safeguard the British Isles from 

invasion unassisted was indeed correct, and that therefore the entire Expedltionary Force, 

ali six infantry divisions, must be immedlately despatched to the Continent upon mobilisation b 

Having sald ali of this, Wilson then proc:eeded to outline hi$ plans for am.phlbiou.'!i 

operations based upon the prlnciple of a close blockdde designed to harass the enemy by 

land and eventually to draw his battle fleet lnto a decisive engagement at sea. Having 

demanded the Expeditionary Force be retained to meet the needs of Home Defence, and 

having in any case dismissed the Continental Strategy as loglsttcally unfeasible, Wilson 

expanded upon his plans for amphlbious operations : 

The alternative to this scheme the Continental Strategy is 
joint action by the Army and the Navy with the one main object 
in view, the destruction of the enemy's fleet, both Naval and 
Mercantile. 

Schemes of this nature were considered and discarded on the 
ground that no relief could be given the Armies of France by any 
threat by the British Army to make a descent on the coast of 

35 - See : Marder, From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow1 Vol. 1, p. 351. 

36 - Cited: Sydenham of Coombe, Baron (George C.), My Working Life, 
(London, 1927), p .183. 
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Germany, since the latter power has ample troops bath for 
watching its own coasts and for an attack on France, and those 
detalled to the former service would not in any case be used 
for active operations. 

This statement requires consideration. The principal coast 
fortifications are manned by the Naval ArtiJJÎ:HY,ir and these would, 
no doubt, be kept fully manned. Other fortifications, such as 
Borkum, Sylt, and the land forts round Wilhelmshaven, Swinemunde, 
Dantzic, etc., would be manned by Fort Artlllerymen, but the numbers 
a llotted to this is not known. 

Our information as to the numbers of the field army thot would 
be really kept on a war footing on the coast is very uncertain. There 
is a vast difference between an army thot con be mobilized if required, 
and one thot is actually kept on a war footing and complete in every 
detail. lt is certain thot enemy industry will be suffering from want 
of men 1 and it is not likely thot they will keep more men mobilised on 
the coast thon appears necessary for safety. lt would be interesting to 
know how many men of the 9th Army Corps, for example1 which is 
believed to be allotted to the North Coast1 are either employed or in 
some way connected with the great ship-bui !ding firms, and the effect 
of their absence on these industries. 

1 f our Army is once comm i tted to action with the• French they will 
know thot they have nothing to fear, and the Coast Army con be used 1 

either as Reserves for the Main Army or return to thelr occupation as 
required. To keep these men mobillsed would of itself be a blow to 
the resources of Germany. 

If the Army decides to act with the Novy, one division embarked in 
transports, and acting with the Novy, would keep the whole Coast Army, 
whatever its strength, on the move, and compel them to keep it fully 
supplied with transport and stores, and above aiLwith ski lied officers who 
they would very much prefer to employ with the main army. 

Wflhelmshaven 1 Bremerhaven, Coxhoven, and the Kiel Canal con ali 
be threotened by o mllitary force, oeting in conjunction with the Novy in 
a woy thot could not be ignored by the enemy, since if not defended by a 
reolly efficient and mobile field army in addition to their garrisons, any 
of them could be captured, and even if no octuol success is gained, the 
mere fact of keeping this field army in motion must tend to exhaust their 
resources. 37 

lnterestingly enough Wilson did not at this time submit these proposais and arguments to the 

Defence Committee for consideration. Quite opart from his more general boycott of the 

37 - Cited : Bradford, Wilson, pp~ 237- 238. 
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C.I.O., no doubt Wilson was not unaware of the manner ln whlc:h they were llkely to 

be recelvect. This memorandum was, however, to reappear, as a C .1. 0. Paper, in 

August 1911 supposedly 'in response' to a. plea from the Direc:torate of Military 

Operations for the firm adoption of the Continental Strategy.
38 

Sir Arthur was to 

rec:eive a rather rude -awakening. 

Neither time, nor the elementary necessity of first destroying the enemy's fleet 

if close in-shore operations, let alone blockade were to be undertaken, deterred 

Wilson. As late as August 1914 Wilson wa.sadvocating the close blockade of the 

north German coast; writing to his former Chief of Staff, Admirai Sir Edward Bradford, 

shortly after the outbreak of war, Wilson revealed his continuing Jaith in the efficacy 

of close blockade from both the military and naval viewpoint: 

Mines and submarine attacks are the main risks to be feared. 
The risks of the former depend on the success of the minesweepers 
in sweeplng a channel for the fleet togo in by, and the latter, 
though a very real danger, can be reduced by a screen of destroyers 
looking out for periscopes with fnstructions to rom directly they see 
them, and the ships could have their nets out as soon as they reach 
thefr stations for bombardment. 39 

lt might weil be added thot these remarks had been prompted by Churchi !l's proposais 

for a close blockade of the Heltgoland Bight in order to cover the passage of the 

Expedltionary Force to France. The First Lord had a penchant for making polltical hay 

out of technical issues which he seldom understood. Fortunately Wilson and 'Winston' 

were blocked by the weight of senior professional opinion both at the Admiralty and 

throughout the fleet - flag officers who owed their present positions to Fisher and 

'Fisherism'. As a case in point, Jellicoe, writing to Admirai Sir Frederick Hamilton, 

38 - 'The Military Aspects of the Continental Problem', Remarks by the Admiralty 
on Proposai (B) of the Memorandum by the General Staff (130-B), 2, 
Whitehall Gardens, 21 Aug. 191L C.I.D~ Papers, Cab. 4/3/2/1318. 

39 - Wilson to Bradford, 19 Aug. 1914. Bradford, Wilson, p. 240. 
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noted ln May 1915: 

Sir A. K. Wilson made the most ludlcrous proposais earl y 
ln the war and we ali doubted hts aanlty. l despalr when 1 
thlnk of the uses to whtch the Grand Fleet may be put .... 
1 know that Sir A.K.W. ts no match at ali fora polltlclan, 
eVën'Were his own vlews sound. The least appeal placed on 
the scare of duty wtiJ cause hlm to agree to anythlng. He 
never asserted hlmself as lst S .. L.. even with McKenna. He 
ë'ëiiainly won't with W .. C. He will never consult with the 
other S.L. •s. Ali this 1 ~newirom 2 years with him on the 
Board. 1 am really in despair, and 1 know qulte weil thot 
every flag offlcer will be the same, Bradford more thon anyone. 
Sir A .. K. was never a strategist - a bri !liant handler of fleets 
but nothing more. We a Il used to pray thot war would never 
come wh fie he commanded the Channel Fleet .. 40 

Fortunately for the Novy and the nation Wilson declined to sérve at the Admlralty under 
41 

anyone but Churchill. 'Winston' had, however, departed. 

Happlly for England Wilson•s strategie thought and planning was to be discredtted 

and rejected in the course of the 'reformation' at the Admiralty which followed upon 

the ll4th meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence in August 1911. WJison's 

dated outlook on strategie questions was, however, largely Instrumental ln preclpitating 

the semi-offlcial adoption of the Continental Strategy by the Defence Committee. The 

First Sea Lord's strategie thought was so plainly ill-suited and without reference to 

technical capability thot the C.L D. was no longer able to play the 'mllftarists' off 

agalnst the •nova 1 ists' ; Wilson was an isolated figure "and his views were accepted 

neither within the Service or in the defence establishment as a whole. And yet strangely 

Wilson remained a highly respected naval advisor retaining consideroble influence at the 

Admirolty until his retirement a month orso before the Armistice. But for his persona! 

dtsincllnation Wilson, viewed always as a man of integrity, would have succeeded Fisher 

as First Seo Lord following the crisis of May 1915. Asquith, who was never one to 

40 - Jellicoe to Hamilton 1 19 May 1915a Cited: Marder, From the Dreadnought 
to Scapa Flow, Vol. Il, p. 282. 

41 - Fisher to Jellicoe1 21 May 1915. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. Ill, p. 244 .. 

202 



become unduly concerned with defence matters, had by this juncture of the war lost 

much of this self confidence and will power~ writing to Mr. Balfour, the new First 

Lord, late in May 1915Asqulth noted: 

Fisher deserted hts post, without leave or warnlng, at a time 
when the stress of war, and the appearance of the German War 
Fleet ln the North Sea, made tt his imperative duty to remain at 
his duttes: at any rate unttl a successor was duly appointed. Strictly 
speaking he ought to be shot : in any case it is a crime which ought 
not to be condoned, and sti Il Jess to be rewarded. 

The suggestion thot Sir A. Wilson should become lst Sea Lord, 
with Jackson as an additiona! Lord, to be his raide] and possible 
successor 1 seems to me to be not a bad one. 4T 

Prlor to his appointment the Earl of Selbome, one of the finest First Lords in recent 

history and an old friend 1 had written to Balfour urging : 

1 am firmly convinced thot you cdnnot improve upon Fisher 
for Fi rst Sea Lord. 

Wilson 1 am sure would fail there-disastrously. You cannat 
take Jellicoe away from the Grand Ffeet. The only possible men 
thot 1 can see on the list are Lambton and Jackson, very different 
men but each with quallttes. But neitner up to Fisher. 43 

Again in a second letter of the same date Selborne urged Balfour to disregard Fisher's 

outburst in the form of the famous ultimatum to Asquith in which, among other things, 

Lord Fisher had demanded effective equality with Kitchener and a pledge thot Balfour 

would not be made First Lord ; nevertheless Selbome was not shaken in his faith writing : 

1 have just heard thot Fisher made an ass of himself this 
moming and wrote a quite indefensible letter to Asquith and 
that Asquith practically sacked him there and then. 

What unimaginab!e folly of Fisher '. • • • 1 feel so sure 
thot Fisher is the best available thot 1 am very anxious he should 
not become barred. Wilson would be really disastrous~ 44 

42 - Asquith to Balfour, May 1915. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49692. 

43 - Sel borne to Balfour, 19 May 1915. Balfour MSS 1 Add .. MS 49708. 

44 - Selborne to Balfour, 19 May 1915. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49708, folio 28. 
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The followtng day Sel borne wrote once again in hts efforts to ensure Wilson•s exclusion 

from the Boa rd : 

Wilson ls a very bad administrator. 1 never dld a better 
day•s work in my life thon when 1 ·removed him from the 
Admirolty where he was an uttar fai lure, and a misc:hievous 
failure too1 to command at sea where he was really great. 

Thot 1 know - -
This 1 do not know, but 1 have heard it from so many 

senior naval officers sJnce the war begon, Jncluding Fisher 
htmself1 thot 1 cannat help believing there ls truth in tt. 

They ali say thot he ls a dange rous adviser now 1 thot 
having always been obstinate in his old age he refuses to 
recognise how much matters have changed in the last ten 
years, thot nothing will Induce him.to admit thot the submarine 
is a grave danger to ali ships of war, and thot he has been 
constantly urging that Jellicoe should be ordered to attack the 
forts of Heltgoland with the Grand Fleet, which seems tome 
stark staring madness. 45 

ln reply Balfour, whose appointment was still in the air, noted: 

1 am sarry you take so low a view of Wi !son. 1 am afra id from 
ali 1 hear thot he is a poor administra tor., Do you think he would be 
a poor adviser on what is, after ali, the most important matter during 
the war, ncmely naval strategy? 1 have heard very àlarming accounts 
of his wi Id advice when we were on the verge of wor with Germany in 
1911 . 46 

Wilson, however, refused to serve under anyone other thon Churchill - perhaps he felt 

his schemes had at least some chance with •Winston• and he no doubt recalled the 

sympathy which the First Lord had evinced for his ideas a few months earlier - and so 

the crisis died away. But bath Selborne•s and Balfour•s observations were interesting in 

terms of the overall impact of Wilson•s days at the Admiralty, before the war, upon the 

Service and those closely connected with it. Wilson•s conduct at the Admiralty laid 

the way open for the final consolidation of the Continental Strategy and the subordination 

of the Novy to the dictates of the military planners. The stolid weakness of Wilson was 

to be followed by the strength and vi gour of Churchi Il. Under Winston Churchi Il, though 

45 - Selborne to Balfour, 20 May 1915. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49708. 

46 - Balfour to Selbome, 20 May 1915. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49708. 
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eventually ln spite of hlm, the principles of an offensive strategy founded upon sea 

power were to receive their death knell. 

During these early months of Sir Arthur Wilson's regime of reaction at the Admiralty 

the War Office had remained relatively somnolent and inactive. Haldane himself 

during the early part of 1910 had been deeply immersed in the Constitutional Crisis and, 

following upon the accession of George V which had placed the House of Lords problem 

in abeyance, he had had to face a concentrated onslaught from the National Service 

League directed against the Territorial Force - still an extremely tenuous body .. 

Thus the Secretary of State for War had no time to consider 1he broader questions of 

national defence policy and supreme command which had been so pressing a few months 

earlier. Sir William Nicholson and Sir John Ewart, as has already been seen, were 

not altogether enthused with strategie questions and in the mi dst of the attack on the 

Territorials had little incentiNe either to move forward with the Continental Strategy or 

to precipitate a cd:Si6 w~th tne Adnùralty over the issue of a co-ordinated national defence 

policy. As has been seen, the Admira1ty"sboycott of the Committee of !mperool 

Defence had resulted in the elimination of ali discussion of controversial issues -

especially those involving the higher organizati.on of defence planning. There was, 

in fact, an uncanny aura of inaction and stagnation in view of the events of a few months 

earlier which, it had seemed, were bound to precipitate the crisis in the defence 

establishment thot aJone cou.ld impose sorne s.emhlance of ordet' and unity of purpose upon 

the Services. 

However, while Haldane was no doubt .too busy to take sedous action on the broader 

questions of national defence, he cleorly mointained a proper perspective on events1 

glving considerable thought to the future. Wrttlng to Viscount Esher in the spring of 

1910 Haldane had noted : 

1 have arronged with French and Nicholson this morning about 
making K. [Kitchener] Inspecter Gen. of the Overseas Forces. 
French qui te a9rees. 1 have olso got sorne way about Wi lsan 
for D.M.O. 4 

47 - Haldane to Esher, 18 Apr. 1910. Haldane MSS, MS 5109. 
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Haldane regarded Major-General Henry Wilson as an outstandlng offlcer and a true 

representative of the 'new army' • ln Henry Wilson both Haldane and Esher had 

found a soldier deeply eommitted to the Continental Strategy and very muc:h alive to 

the menace posed by Germany to the peace of ali Europe. Hisappointment to the 

Staff College had proved an unqualified success and a sound vindic:ation for the support 

both of Haldone and Esher which hod been forthcoming when Lyttleton hod sought to 

black his oppointment. Wtlson's vlsits to France and his newly cemented friendship 

with the French Genen:~l Staff through Foch were no doubt factors of considerable 

importance in hls oppointmento To assume thot Haldone hod pressed for Wilson, as 

Director of Militory Operotions, in ignorance of his strong views on the necessity of 

giving France direct mllitary support in the event of a war with Gennany, would be 

untenoble.. Whot wos probobly not known, indeed it c:ould not hove been known at the 

time, wos thot Wilson in due course was to cultivate a blind devotion to the couse of 

France. This devotion was to deepen the degree of Englond's commitment to France -

but it wos not responsible for turning the Entente into a military alliance. Thot had 

olready been accomplished. The initiation, early in 1906, and continuation, under 

Wilson 1 of the Staff Conversa'tions had most certainly tied the honour of Englond to 

France's international position. The depth of Wilson's persona! involvment1 his blind­

ness to the folly of France's soldiers, and his refusai to essert British interests were 

without doubt most unfortunate and irresponsible actions on his part. lt is possible thot 

had Wilson been more objective, and had he insisted upon the full divulgence of French 

mi li tory planning thot the whole policy of the Continental Strategy might hove been 

reconsidered by the CQbinet. This was Wilson's mis-conduet; he did not commit 

Englond's honour to France, but he refused to take the opportunity of re-evaluotlng 

thot commitment and possibly of 1'e jecting it white the opportunity stUJ existed. This 

Wilson·did not do ; and his inaction substantially intensified the degree of England's 

c:ommitment to the preservation of the integrity of France .. 

However, this 'persona!' slde of Wilson's chorocter could not have been known in 

· the lote summer of 1910. Wi !son 's an ti -German attitude wos common throughout bath 

the Army and the Novy and was most certainly not couse for comment .. Wully Robertson, 
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who succeeded Wilson at Camberley, has recalled this general flavour within the Arrny 

and noted thot as Commandant he made lt his business to instll the •German fact• deeply 

lnto the mlnds of his charges. 
48 

Of course, Henry Wilson was a consuma te pol itician. The re can be no doubt thot 

Wilson, as with so many of the •new men•, harboured a bitter jealousy of the Novy and 

its prominent plo:ce within·the defence establishment, Apparent! y he had once valued 

the fleet at precisely five hundred soldiers. 
49 

Certainly Wilson was blinded by his 

professional self-centredness to the peculiar strategie needs of England as a great 

maritime Empire spread out a cross the entire globe. His uncompromising belief in the 

Continental Strategy, based upon France, centred around his appreciation of the 

essentiel features of the Schlieffen Plan ; and yet, while disapproving of French strategie 

and tactical conceptions, he was careful never to press his views too forcefully. Wilson•s 

devotion to France, his insistence upon the development of an independant military 

strategy as the only method of liberating the Army from the dominance of the Navy, led 

him to press for direct military involvment upon the Continent regardless of the 

circumstances or possible consequences. As far as the French General Staff was concerned 

the Metz-Epinalline was the most suitable front along which their absurd belief in the 

offensive at ali costs could be best putto effect. The offensive as a strategy, or rather 

a 'non-strategy', based upon the will of the common sol dier for victory, dictated in 

practice a preponderance of strength upon the right wing of the French armies. Wilson 

recognlsed this folly, but rather thon demanda revision in strategie deployment as the 

priee for British participation he preferred to look the other way. lt has even been 

suggested thot this weakness on the French left convinced Wilson of the vito! importance 

48 - Robertson, W.R., From Prlvate to Field-Marshal, (london, 1921), p. 178. 

49 - See : Tyler, J. E ., The British Army and the Continent, 1904 - 1914, 
(London, 1938), p. 99. 
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50 
of sendlng the 8. E. F. to north-western France. As far as the French were concerned 

the whole areo from Maubeuge to Arras would lie for to the north of the main theatre of 

conflict in the event of war. ln short they looked upon the B.E.F. as a tool solely of 

proponganda and diplomatie va lue, wi th the possibi 1 ity of its use as a reserve ormy. !t 

was indeed a token force commondlng little 'mflltary' attention or respect. Wilson 

behaved, and wos therefore so treoted, as an eager suppliant anxious to be given a 

role in the grand design for victory. Wilson's attitude orose from a combination of 

persona! instability and professional ambition based upon a wholly 'military' 

appreciation of England's international position. But nevertheless the seed of Wi lson's 

actions had been planted and nourished by his political chiefs following upon their 

underwriting of the Continental Strategy as initiated by the soldiers at the Whrtehall 

Gardens' Conferences. 

Henry Wilson took up his appointment as Director of Military Operations at the War 

Office early in August 1910. Sorne measure of his general outlook, and his positive, if 

a trifle alarming, attitude towards England's military needs, may be gleaned from this 

entry in his Diery concerning a visit to the British Embassy in Paris shortly after his 

appointment : 

There is much thot 1 will change here, and, 1 suppose, in the 
other Milttary Attach~s. They appear tome to be dea ling with 
details and peace1 and not with war.51 

Wilson had come to the War Office charged with developing the Continental Strategy 

in concert with the French General Staff. On arrivai he soon discovered thot no concrete 

arrangements existed for the mobilization and transport of the Expeditionary Force to France. 

50 - See: Collier, I.B., Brasshat: A Biography of Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, 
(London, 1961), p. 104. 

51 - Diary, Autumn 1910. Wilson, H. 1 Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson: 
His Lifeand Diaries1 ed. Charles E. Callwell, {London1 1927), Vol.l, 
p. 86. 
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This he set out to remedy completlng ali but the arrangements for naval support prlor to 

August 1911 • This proceu together with Wllson•s frequent vislts to France and his 

long consultations wlth Huguet received the flrm backlng both of Haldane and Grey as 

the following extract from Wllson•s dtary of lote January 1911 cl earl y indl cotes : 

Haldane asked me to lunch at 28 Q.A. [Queen Anne•sJ Gate. 
No one els.e there ...... 1 told hlm exactly what 1 thought of the 
state we were in 1 and 1 said it was disgraceful and could be and 
should be remedied at once.. He said thot Nick had already been 
to him about the railways and thot he (Haldane} had seen Grey 1 'Ond 
Grey agreed we could go to the rallway companies. This is good •. 
On the Whole 1 was satlsfied and feel 1 have done a good day's work. 
1 don't think Haldane is told the truth by the Council and my impetuosity 
and determination to get something done1 coupled with very plain 

52 
speaking, carried the day. Nous verrons. This is only the beginning. 

Here, at the beginning, Wilson must be left to be returned to in discussnng Agadir and 

afterwards. 

Towards the close of 19101 in sp1te of the renewal of the ConsJltufional Crisis though 

perhaps because of it1 both Esher and Haldane turned once ogoin to consider the motter 

of supreme command. With the advent of Wilson at the Wor Office concem over the 

Admirolty's non-co-operation had intensified. Writing to Mr. Balfour in mid-August 

Esher had noted : 

StiJl, in spite of ali thot has happened since 1904, Ministers and 
Seo Lords, etc., cannat get the i dea out of thei r heods t~ot you 
con fight a great war in woter-tight compartments . . • . 53 

ln October of 1910 Asquith in failing to persuade Holdane to occept the seals of the 

lndia Office wos mode owore of the Secretory of State's desire to go to the Admirolty in 

arder to institute on operatlonol planning division and generolly to brlng the Admirolty 

into co-operation with the rest of the Defence Establishment. 5
4 lt oppears thot Holdane 

wos endeavouring to create a wholly unofficiol quosi-Defence Ministry in seeking to get 

52 - Diary, 11 Jan. 1911. Wilson 1 Llfe and Diaries1 Vol. 1, p. 92. 

53 - Esher to Balfour, 16 Aug .. 1910.. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719 .. 

54 - Maurice, F.B., Haldane, (London, 1937), Vol. 1, p. 276. 
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himself transferred to the Admlralty.. However, faced wlth another election and the 

whole bitter debate over the Parltament Bill, the 'economist• attacks against McKenna, 

whlch had ralsed the possibllity of a vacancy at the Admiralty, faded away and Haldane's 

opportunity had1 for the moment, receded. Nevertheless, la te ln January 1911, at 

the 108th meeting, Haldane, with Esher's support, was able to inch his way forward 

succeeding in persuading the Committee of Imperial Defence to establish a Sub­

committee for the 'co-ordination of departmental action on the outbreak of war'. 
55 

This was a far cry both from Haldane's Defence Ministry and Esher's proposed 

Sub-committee for lnter-departmental co-operation. Contrary to Esher's hopes, 

Lord Hankey has recalled thot the Sub-Committee was very seldom convened delegating 

much of tts work to the Secretariat,
56 

which in time was to produce the War Book. This 

new Sub-committee, like those which had preceded it, devoted its labours and energies 

to the multiferous trivia involved in the preparation for war. lts accomplishments, 

limited as they were, proved to be most useful when put into operation upon the outlook 

of warin August 1914. But, nevertheless, the Co-ordination Sub-Committee was itself 

a prime example of the manner in which the C.I.D. managed so often to deftly skirt the 

great unresolved,questions of fundamental defence posture. Of course, Arthur Wilson 

refused his co-operation even here, 
57 

with the result thot when the crisis of the lote 

summer of 1911 finally precipitated decisive action with respect to those unresolved 

fundamental issues the Admiralty's position was exceptionally weak. 

However, for the moment thot Final decision hung in the balance. With the passage 

of each day Arthur Wilson rendered the Admiralty's claim to sole responsibility for the 

formulation of ali defensive-offensive strategie planning increasingly untenable. 

55 - 'Minutes of 108th Meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence', 26 Jan. 1911. 
C.I.D. Papers, Cab. 2/2/2. 

56 - Hankey, Baron (Maurice P.), The Supreme Command, 1914- 1918"" (London, 
1920), Vol. 1, p .. 119. 

57- Hankey, TheSupremeCommand" Vol.l, pp.120-121. 
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Henry Wflson's operatlonal control at the W'ar Office was, as he put it, 'breaking up• 

the Indolent ways of Nicholson and Ewart and brlngJng closer the day when a final 

decision on baste national defence posture could no longer be postponed. Asquith more 

than ever was unable to act on these matters - even had he wanted to. 1 t seems 

clear that Haldane had been pressing hard for a major overhaul of the Board of Admiralty; 

however, in view of the 'push' of the Unionists and the •puiP of the •economists' 

Asquith dared take no action lest such an jntemal crisls spread to his Cabinet whlch 

had already been seriously weakened in the country by the disappolnting outcome of the 

two general elections of 1910. But events were moving very fast, the War Office was 

consoltdating its position of strength while Arthur Wilson's administration at the Admiralty 

was increasingly courting opposition - not least from within the Navy itself. But 

nothing could, or would, move Asquith unless the consequences of inaction loomed 

heavier and blacker than the consequences of decision. Asquith did not move ; however, 

events dtd. The tacit decision of the summer of 1909, submerged and blurred by the 

Constitutional Cri sis and the renewed obstruction of the Admiralty 1 was ta be endorsed 

and acted upon during the summer of Agadir. Once aga in a cri sis in the affairs of 

Europe was to consolidate and clarify a trend ln England's national defence policy which 

had been apparent for some years. 
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CHAPTER EIGHT 

A CHI EVEMENT 

ln the years preceeding the war of 1914 .... 1918 military opinion 
in England feil completely under the domination of French 
strategists and the amphibious form of warfare came under a cloud. 
The doctrine of •concentration at the decisive point• was carried 
to the extreme. Not a single British soldier other thon those 
needed in garrisons would ever serve elsewhere thon in France .. 
Upon this rock of opposition to diversionary action by amphibian 
means the Dardanelles expedition was wrecked . • . . Every principle 
thot had governed the old strategists in the use of the forces of the 
country and of the tacticiens who employed them was reversed. 
Continental campaigns took the place of amphibion operations. 

Admirai Sir Herbert Richmond; 1941. 

THE sighting of the Imperial Ensign of the Reichsmarine off the sleepy little port of 

Agadir, just south of Cop Rhir on the Moroccan coast~ early in July 1911 was, with 

the passage of time, both to cohere and consolidate those trends in England's foreign 

and defence policies which had been cast upon the streets of Tangier and forged in such 

unlikely places as the German Consulate at Casablanca. The Agadir Cri sis, as it came 

to be known, offered a respite to Mr. Asquith•s colleagues from the domestic stresses and 

strains in which they had been so deeply and to bitterly involved since the bringing 

down of the Budget in the spring of 1909. This new episode in North Africa was to bring 

on a crisis in Anglo-French relations, to gravely threaten the Entente seriously alarming 

Grey and his staff at the Foreign Office, to reaffirm, ultimately, the treaty of friendship 
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with France at the seme time deepening and enlarging England's mi li tory and diplomatie 

commitment to the cause of thot country, and, as an unexpected bonus, to forestoll a 

threatened general railway strike. For Viscount Haldane, as he had now become, the 

crisis provided the long awaited opportunity to discredit the Board of Admiralty and the 

necessary leverage with which to demand more realistic practical measures to ensure 

sorne modicum of effective inter-Service co-operation and co-ordination. For 

Henry Wilson the crisis presented a turning point in the evolution of the Continental 

Strategy enabling him to intensify arrangements with the French General Staff and to 

per5uade his political chiefs to secure sorne definite action on the Defence Committee 

with regard to basic defence policy. 

Lote in July 1911, on the eve of Lloyd George's celebrated speech at The Mansion 

House on the 21st, Wilson journeyed to Paris in arder to conclude his arrangements with 

General Dubail, the Chief of the General Staff, for the concentration of the 

Expeditionary Force in northern France. ln a joint memorandum of 20th July it was 

agreed, subject al ways to the sanction of the government of the day, thot the en tire 

B.E.F. was to be deployed in aline centred upon Cambrai running north to Arras and 

south to St. Quentin. 
1 

Such an arrangement wou Id seem to have been in keeping with 

Wilson's concern over the possibilities of a major German incursion north of the Meuse. 
2 

However, in view of what Wilson was later to tell the C.I.D. this projected deployment 

of the B. E. F. deserves cl oser attention. Wi lson's visit to Paris had been preceded only 

by a matter of hours by the dismissal of the French Commander-in-Chief designate, 

General Michel. Michel's strategie outlook had been wholly at variance with thot of 

1 - 'Memorandum of Meeting Held on July 20, 1911, BEltween General Dubail and 
General Wilson', WarOffice, 21 Aug. 1911. British Documents on the 
Origins of the War, 1898-1914, ed. G.P. Gooch and H. Temperley 
(London, 1932), Vol. VIl, No. 640. 

2 - See : Collier, 1. B., Brasshat : A Biography of Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, 
(London, 1 961 ) , p • 116 . 
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Du bail, Grandmaison and Foch. These latter, representing the cream of the fast 

rising 'offensive' school, had engineered Michel's dismissal in order to make way for 

the adoption of their strategie views an the role of the French Armies in the 'coming' 

war with Germany. Michel's plan of operations had been based upon his balanced 

appreciation of the strategy most 1 ikely to be adopted by his opposites in Germany. 

Michel, therefore, had planned to deploy the bulk of his forces, sorne 500,000 men, 

along a fifty mile front centred upon Valenciennes extending north to Lille on the 

extreme north-east frontier of France. 
3 

ln essence General Michel hod planned to 

sit tight on this line awaiting, with his fresh troops, arrivai of the German forces, 

exhausted, over-stretched and disorganised having marched across the breadth of Belgium. 

On the basis of such a plan the British concentration around Cambrai, roughly forty 

miles behind the front lines of the main French Armies, would have taken the form of 

an emergency reserve.
4 

Such an arrangement was in keeping both with Wilson's concern 

over possible German operations in Belgium and with the French view thot the British 

presence was largely of moral value having a marginal, and indeed unreliable, military 

potential. However, with Michel's demise the strategie conceptions of the 'offensive' 

school came to the fore as expressed in the new Field Regulations issued in the spring of 

1912 : 

The teachings of the post have borne the ir fruit. The French 
Army, reviving its old traditions, no longer admits for the 
conduct of operations any other law thon the offensive. 5 

Or, as Sir Basil Liddell Hart was to put it somewhat more succinctly years later, 'the 
6 

strategy of the bull had replaced thot of the matador' . 

3 - Fuller, J.F.C., The Decisive Botties of the Western World, Vol. Ill, 'from 
the American Civil War to the End of the Second World War', (London, 
19:6), p. 189. 

4 - See map, page 215 . 

5 - Cited: Watt. R.M., Dore Cali it Treason, (New York, 1963), p. 29. 

6- Liddell Hart, B.H., Foch :ManofOrleans, (London, 1931), p. 64. 
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lt is not possible to categorically state thot the agreement of 20th July was actually 

drawn up on the basis of Michel's strategie thought, although, as will shortly be seen, 

the evidence to support such a view, whlle not wholly conclusive, points very clearly 

to such a consideration including, as it does, not only Wi lson's words on the matter but a Iso 

the fact thot the 'offensive' strategy had not yet been worked out in detai 1 - though 

when this task was completed in the autumn of 1911 the concentration a rea of the B. E. F. 

was ahanged being moved further south and east. 

However, it is certain thot by 12th August Wilson had been mode aware of the 

'alterations' in the 'official' opinion in French military circles to the effect thot it was 

now considered highly improbable thot Germany would viola te Belgian soi 1 north of the 

Meuse. 
7 

To return to the map, it is clear that the British concentration around Cambrai 

was not only very far to the west of the theatre of operations, as envisaged by the new 

'offensive' school, but also, being north of the Oise-Sombre-Meuse line, was deployed 

more obviously for operations on or near the Belgian frontier NORTH of the river com­

plex - cleorly not in keeping with the views of the new French school. Furthermore, 

since it is clear thot by 12th August Wilson knew thot the French planners no longer 

considered operations north of the Meuse to be even likely, it is of note thot neither in 

his Memorandum of the 12th, nor in his 'lecture' before the Defence Committee eleven 

days loter, did the D.M.O. mention the precise area for the proposed concentration of 

the Expeditionary Force. However, perhaps of most signlficance was the fact thot early 

in the outumn of Agadir, as the French Staff begon to evolve the details of what was to 

become known as Plon XVII, the Expedltionary Force was re-assigned a concentration area 

doser to the frontier which was clearly intended for operations SOUTH of the Meuse being 

positioned below the Oise-Sombre-Meuse river complex. This new front stretched from 

7 - 'The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem 1
1 Memorandum by the General 

Staff, 12thand 13thAugust 1911. C.I.O. Popers1 15Aug. 1911, 
Cab. 4/3/2/1308 . 
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Maubeuge in the north to Hirson in the south. 
8 

Such a position reflected the French 

Staffls opinion thot the German movement would not only be confined to the south of 

the Meuse but would also be relatively light except in the extreme south of Belgium ; 

further, in view of the justified refusai of the French to rely on the presence of the 

Expeditionary Force, and their feelings thot in any case it had little military potential, 

such a deployment on the extreme left flank essentially weil to the north of the antici­

pated theatre of conflict was only to be expected. However, Wilson was not 

acquainted with the details of the new deployment until weil after the meeting of 23rd 

August. Wilson received his first detailed briefing on these changes from Huguet earl y 

the following September ; in a diary entry of the 9th Wilson noted ~ 

He told me where the French G .S. want us togo • . • • This 
is the fi rst ti me 1 have been told. 9 

At the end of the month Wilson journeyed to Paris once again in order ta receive a 'full 

briefing' from Joffre and his Chief of Staff, de Castelnau. ln his diary entry for the 

day of the meeting Wilson observed that '1 never spent a more interesting morning', but 

added thot· 'sorne of their cal cu lotions are different to mine', namely, as he noted, the 

French view thot no German operations were to be expected north of the Meuse. 
10 

Wilson was clearly unsure of himself in handling various queries concerning possible 

operations north of the Meuse, which had been raised by sorne of 'those ignorant men' 

on the Defence Committee. lt is clear thot Wilson had, by this date, been made aware 

thot with Michel's dismissal the French military did not consider operations in northern 

Belgium to be probable in the event of a German advance through that country. However, 

it is equally clear, not least from Wilson's own evidence, thot the D.M.O. could not 

have been in a position to know the exact nature of the new concentration to be assigned 

to the B.E.F. under Plan XVII. This explains Wilson's confused statements in answering 

8 - See: Tyler, J.E., The British Army and the Continent, 1904- 1914, 
(London, 1938), pp. 123 - 124. 

9 - Diary, 9 Sept. 1911 • Wi !son, H. H ., The Li fe and Di aries of Sir Henry Wilson, 
ed. C.E. Callwell (London, 1927), Vol. 1, p.103. . 

10 - Diary, 29 Sept. 1911. Wilson, Life and Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 105. 

217 



questions concerning operations north of the Meuse which hitherto he had taken for 

granted, and his foi lure to volunteer information on the exact area of concentration 

for the Expeditionary Force. Continually stressing the opinion thot the French did not 

consider operations north of Maubeuge where the Sanbre eut across the Franco-Belgian 

Frontier Wilson, pressed on the matter of railway time-tdbles by the Home Secretary, 

did mention thot the concentration would be in •the neighbourhood of Maubeuge•. 
11 

Now this clearly was not in keeping with the terms of the 20th July agreement, and it 

is known thot the French Staff did not work out the dispositions under Plan XVII in 

sufficient detail to reassign the concentration area for the B.E.F. until the autumn of 

1911. Wilson•s reference to Maubeuge was, therefore, clearly based upon his estimate 

of where the new French strategie directives were likely to base the B.E.F. lt must be 

remembered thot Maubeuge, situated as it was on the Sambre, was regarded as the 

terminal point of operations in the north just as Belfort was so regarded in the south. So 

Wilson simply used it loosely calculating thot the Expeditionary Force would be concen­

trated under the new plans on the extreme left flank of the French Armies. lt might be 

added thot had Wilson known the details of the new concentration, which was in fact 

impossible, their divulgence on 23rd August could have served only to strengthen his 

case. Poor Wilson, faced with the C.I.O. session he had so long awaited, clearly was 

determined not to show a weak face at so crucial a meeting, and, therefore, he hasti ly 

improvised upon the details of the 20th July agreement in order both to bring his ideas 

and the true area of British concentration into line with the reorientation in French 

thinking. Above ali Wilson was determined not tolet the opportunity for the official 

adoption of the Continental Strategy by the Defence Committee as presented on 23rd 

August, to slip through his fingers. What emerges from these events is the fact thot 

11 - •Committee of Imperial Defence :Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 
191P, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 11 Sept. 1911. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 
2/2/2. p. 7. 
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Wilson, in arder to ochteve his wtder aspirations, hod not only been forced to sacrifice 

his views on possible movements tothenorth of the Meuse but also wos to allow himself, in 

the course of the next few months, to be lui led by vague French promises of providing 

heavy military forces to caver possible Germon operations in southern Belgium. Writing 

to Grey lote in August Sir Francis Bertie enclosed a report made by Colonel W. E. Fair­

holme, the British Military Attach~ in Paris, on a meeting he had had with Joffre, who 

had replaced Michel, on the 24th - the day after the Defence Commi ttee session. 1 t 

is clear from Fairholme's report thot the British concentration had not been fixed, indeed 

he writes of Joffre mentioning Douai as a possible concentration point! But even more 

significant were Fairholme•s remarks to the affect thot whereas Joffre had not yet made 

up his mind, or rather had it made up for him by de Castelnau and Grandmaison, about 

Belgium, he was convinced thot the Germons had to invade Alsace-Lorraine in force for 

it was potently clear thot if the French Armies won these provinces their populations would 

rise to support the French cause. Therefore, Joffre said, the main French effort would 

have to lie to the south. Fairholme, who clearly approved of the new French offensive 

spirit, 
12 

rounded off this report in noting, with a straight face, thot Michel's projected 

manoeuvres in northern France had been cancel led owing to an outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease . 
13 

As it turned out Plan XVII, of which it must be assumed for Wilson's 

sake thot he knew very little, placed the northernmost French Army, Lanrezac's Fifth, far 

to the south of Maubeuge centred behind Verdun with headquorters at Rethel on the Aisne. 

A recent biographer of Wilson has, in his defence, gone so far asto maintain thot the 

Director of Military Operations was wholly misinformed by the French General Staff 

concerning the true emphasis which had been placed upon operations to the south of 

Verdun, 
14 

where four of the five French Armies of August 1914 were to be massed, by 

Plan XVII . 

12- BertietoGrey,8Sept. 1911; encl. FairholmetoBertie7Sept. 1911. 
British Documents, Vol. VIl, No. 644. 

13 - Bertie to Grey, 25 Aug. 1911 ; encl. Fairholme to Bertie, 24 Aug. 1911 . 
British Documents, Vol. VIl, No. 641 . 

14 - Collier, Brasshat, pp. 116, 123- 124. 
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This excursion into the alterations in the creas of concentration for the Expeditionary 

Force nas been necessory in order to underline Wilson's lack of candour with himself 

during these crucial weeks, and the persona! rather than professional nature of his 

dealings with the French. As will be seen two of England's most celebrated of amateur 

strategists were to differ with Wilson's views during the Defence Committee meeting of 

23rd August - views over which Wilson himself clearly was of two minds, and views 

which at thot time had been hastily improvised after the signature of the 20th July 

agreement in Paris. Thot agreement had been based upon a concentration at Cambrai 

and yet Wilson spoke vaguely on 23rd August of a railhead in 'the neighbourhood of 

Maubeuge'. Clearly the 20th July meeting must have been based on Michel's plans 

and the subsequent changes in the concentration of the Expeditionary Force - not 

completed until September 1911 - had been hastily improvised by Wilson in accordance 

with the reversai of French military opinion which had as yet been unable to suppJy him 

with the necessary revised details - hence the omission ofany such information from the 

General Staff Memorandum of 12th - 13th August and Wilson's reticence on the matter 

before the Defence Committee ten deys later. ln short Wilson had signed the agreement 

of 20th July upon the basis of a strategie concept wholly at variance with the appreciation 

which he presented to the Defence Committee one month later. These events are to be 

kept in mind in considering the broader issue of the outcome of Agadir upon the develop­

ment of a sound national defence policy based upon a viable organ of supreme command. 

The international crisis had, by early August, assumed a most threatening aspect 

prompting Viscount Haldane to take the lead in ensuring a close liaison between those 

who shaped and directed the Entente pol icy and those who were responsible for giving 

thot policy strategie reality and technicaJ capability in the event of war. With this 

thought in mind Haldane organized a lunch to get these officiais together for 9th August, 

the day before the Parliament Bill was to receive its third reading in the Lords. His guests 

on this occasion were Grey, Eyre Crowe and Henry Wilson. The absence of 

Sir William Nicholson was perhaps a commentary upon his rather passive attitude towards his 

duties as Chief of the Imperial Genera1 Staff. The truth of the matter was that the 

Directorate of Military Operations retained the initiative on ali strategie questions, and 
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under Henry Wilson- the Directorote had bronched·out into virtually every department in 

his quest to get action upon the implementation of the decisions arising out of the joint 

staff arrangements. Wilson, never one to be lured by Haldane's table - probably the 

best in London, recorded his rather poor impressions of the meal in his diary ~ 

After a long and, 1 believe, ineffectual talk, the chief 
points 1 made were three : First, thot we must join the French. 
Second, thot we must mobilise the same day as the French. Third, 
thot we must sendOTrsix divisions. These were agreed to, but 
with no great heartiness. Eyre Crawe advanced proposais to send 
the Territorlals. No afficers, no transport, no mobility, no com­
pulsion togo, no discipline, obsolete guns, no horses1 etc. ! Even 
Haldane sald it wouldn't do. 1 was profoundly dissatisfied with the 
grosp of the situation possessed by Grey and Haldane .15 

Nevertheless encouroged by the renewed interest in the Continental Strategy, and hopeful 

of the prospects of a decision being taken at last, Wilson got down to work, with Nicholson's 

approval and probably on Haldane's instigation, drofting a detailed memorandum for the 

Defence Committee on the efficacy of the Continental Strotegy to which he appended an 

appendix, under his own signature, emphasising the absolute necessity of sending the 

Expeditionary Force to France if the French Armies were to prevail and underlining the 

utmost importance of getting it across the Channel and into the field without the slightest 
16 

delay. 

lt must be assumed thot the part of this War Office Memorandum which appeared 

under Nicholson's signature was at !east Inspired1 if not actually written, by Wilson. 

For the C.l.G .S. was, of course, dependent upon the Director of Military operation for 

his information and, in any case, the views expressed1 for example on the question of the 

extent of the probable violation of Belgium, were so patently in keepfng with the views 

of the French 'offensive' school thot they could only have been transmitted by Wilson. 

lt was common practice for the D.M.O. to drew up memoranda on strategie matters which 

15 - Diary, 9 Aug. 1911 • Wi ]son, Li fe and Dia ries, Vol. l, p. 99. 

16 - 'The Mi litary Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12th August 1911, Appendix, 
p. 5. 
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were to be issued under the signature of the C.I.G.S. Besides, in this case the views 

expressed rn Wilson•s appendix were generolly reflected in the body of the Memorandum 

itself. As has already been seen, the C.! .G.S., due partly to the nature of his dual 

office and partly also to the actuel weakness of the pre-War Chiefs of the General 

Staff, had not taken over the actual overall direction of millitary planning. ln the course 

of a pr!celess memorandum of November 1911 Nicholson went to great lengths to point 

out thot he had had absolutely nothing to do with the development of the Continental 

Strategy having left this matter entirely in the hands of the Directorate of Militory 

0 . 17 
perat1ons. 

The Wilson-Nicholson Memorandum of 12th- 13th August went to great pains to 

emphasise the current military belief thot seo power and its exercise had absolutely no 

offensive value. Therefore, they argued, in view of the unfortunately limited size of 

England•s military establishment - both Wilson and Nicholson were, of course 1 in favour 

of compulsory service - it was essentiel to aid France promptly before Germany could 

bring the decisive advantage of her weight of numbers to bear : 

• • • it must be pointed out thot, though England possesses a 
powerful novy, the military force thot she has immediately 
available for continentol intervention is comparatively small ; 
and as seo power exercises only an indirect influence on land 
operations on a large scale, England con only assist France to a 
very limited extent in promptly resisting a German invasion. Thus, 
for exemple, Trafalgar gave us unquestioned command of the sea, 
but thot victory did not prevent Napoleon from pursuing his course 
of conquest in Central Europe, though it rendered England safe 
from invasion. 18 

The nature of these details are irrelevant here, though this blindness of Wilson towards the 

role of seo power in history has since prompted Sir Basil Liddell Hart to comment: 

17 - •war Office Memorandum on Action Taken since 1906 1
, by General 

Sir William N. Nicholson, C.I.G.S., 6 Nov. 1911. British Documents, 
Vo 1 • VIl, No • 639. 

18 - •The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem•, Memorandum by the General 
Staff, 13 Aug. 1911 1 p. 1 • 
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lt is deplorable thot the holder of the post in the War Office 
most directly concerned with strategie problems should have 
ignored the influence of seo-power and the part played by 
economie and political factors in the history of his country's 
wars. 19 · 

ln his Appendix to the Memorandum Wilson, underlining the urgency of aiding France 

upon mobilization, observed & 

The very marked superiority in German numbers cannot be 
brought into play at the commencement of the compaign, and 
it is this difficulty on the German side which enhances the value 
of our 6 divisions and cavalry division. 20 

This theme constontly reasserted itself throughout the Paper concluding with Wilson's 

exhorta ti on ~ 

The dote and hour of mobilizotion ••• rests with His 
Majesty's Government, but it is essentiel thot the Secretary 
of State for Wor should be fully awore of the difference it 
will make to the course of the campaign whether we mobilize 
early or lote. lt is scarcely too much to say thot the difference 
moy be thot of vic tory or defeot .21 

Wilson's appreciation - based on French military opinion - of Russio's contribution 

during the crucial opening weeks of wor was wholly negative. He underlined thot the 

beltef in Russia's inability to bring immediate pressure to bear in the east would serve 

only to intensify the strength of the German pressure upon France. ln this connection 

Wilson noted : 

lt is probable thot Russio would try and assist her ally 
France by active operations, and it is possible thot she might 
cause Germany a certain amount of inconvenience by trying to 
overrun East Prussia with the masses of cava 1 ry (about 450 squadrons} 
which she keeps in European Russia ; but Russia would not have a 

19 - Liddell Hart, Foch, p. 62. 

20 - 'The Mi 1 i tory Aspect of the Conti nenta 1 Problem •, 12 Aug. 1911, Appendix, 
P• 5. 

21 - 'The Mi li tory Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12 Aug. 1911, Appendix, 
p. 5. 
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serious force in Po land un ti 1 about the 28th or 30th day of 
mobilization, and then she could probably only put 40 mobile 
divisions in the field .22 

Towards the close of his remarks Wilson elaborated upon this theme somewhat more 

fully and emphatically : 

The intervention of Russie does not materially affect the 
French position on the French and German frontier, at ali 
events du ring the earl y days of the war. 1 t is probable thot 
Russie might increase her divisions by the 60th day of mobilization, 
by which time Germany might find it necessary to move troops 
from her western to her eastern frontier. 23 

Wilson's appreciation was doubtless logical and reasonable ; however, as with so many 

other things Wilson was hidebound by the accepted French military appreciation of the 

matter. ln fact these appreciations turned out to be wrong, for Rennenkampf's First 

Army Corpsactually crossed into EastPrussiaon 17th August 1914achieving almost 

immediately a victory over Mackensen's Army Corps. And, of course, rightly or wrongly, 

before the close of August Moltke had detached two army corps and a cavalry division 

from his Second and Third Armies on the extreme right wing of his forces in the west. 

The whys and wherefores of these actions by both the Russian and the German Staffs are 

of no concern here but merely under!ine Wilson's straight-jacketed mind which had become 

so subservient to the pronouncements of his French colleagues thot it never occurred to him 

thot even if they were correct the unexpected, the ability of friend and foe to trangress 

the 'rules', had always to be considered, to be carefully weighed in any strategie cal­

culation. 

ln calling for the immediate dispatch of ali six infantry divisions, rather tho~ the 

four de ci ded upon by the C .1 • D. in the summer of 1909 as the re su 1 t of the 1907 - 1908 

22 - 'The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12 Aug. 1911, Appendix, 
P• 5. 

23 - •The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12 Aug. 1911, Appendix, 
p. 6. 
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Invasion Sub-Committee Enquiry, this Memorandum sounded an altogether new note 

reflecting the recent agreement between Dubail and Wilson. lt is interesting thot, 

in discussing possible additional military aid, Nicholson had noted : 

• .. • should the struggle be prolonged1 and should His Majesty's 
Government be prepared to employ native troops in Europe, l see 
no reason why 2 or 3 divisions, with perhaps 1 or 2 cavalry brigades, 
should not be .spa red from lndia as a reinforcement to the French 
Army.24 

Here, in talking of reinforcing the French Army rather thon the Expeditlonary Force, 

Nicholson once again revealed thot· the insistence of the General Staff upon an 

'independent' British military participation was little more thon a sap to the politiciens. 

Further references to the possibility of a protracted confllct occurred throughout the 

Memorandum including at least a hint at war time conscription in the preamble where 

Nicholson had spoken of 'the military force •• " immediately available for continental 

intervention' as being 'comparatively sma Il'. Either way, whether the war was to be 

short or long and drawn-out, the soldiers covered themselves, excusing their faflure to 

veto the Continental Strategy on the grounds of technical incapability. ln fact early 

ln September 1911 Wilson recorded a meeting with Lloyd George in his diary1 noting: 

1 asked him if he would give us conscription, and he said that1 

although he was entirely in favour of a ballot, yet he dore not 
say so until war broke out, which 1 told hlm was too late.25 

Too lote or not, lt was a glaring commentary on Wilson's double standard of thinking. 

Lastly, in discussing this Memorandum, it is necessary to examine Wilson's detailed 

appreciation of the mobilization timetable as contained in his Appendix. Underlining 

what has already been said, Wilson noted ~ 

France ••• con place 34 divisions at or near the line Belfort 
on the ri~ht to Maubeuge on the left on the 9th day of mobi IT­
zatlon.2 

24 - 'The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem', Memorandum by the General 
Staff, 13 Aug. 1911, p .. 2 .. 

25 - Diary, 11 Sept. 1911. Wilson 1 Life and Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 103. 

26 - 'The Military Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12 Aug .. 1911, Appendix, p. 4. 
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Belfort -Maubeuge had clearly superceded the Ulle-Avesnes1 Hirson-Rethel and 

Montmedy-Belfort !Ines as arranged in descending order of importance by General Michel. 

Throughout his Paper Wilson refers constantly to the 'frontier from Belfort to Maubeuge•. 

ln discussing the poss1bility of German operations north of the Meuse, north of the 

terminal point of the French llne at Maubeuge, Wilson revealed something of his former 

fears and betrayed the source of his subsequent efforts to persuade the Belgians to 

actively oppose the German invader in the north so asto discourage him from any thoughts 

of crossing the Liege-Namur Une : 

The Belgians, who might tolerate the passage of German troops 
through thelr territory south of the Meuse, would in ali probabtlity 
fight the Germons if the latter crossed to the left bank and moved 
on Brussels. Moreover, to advance ~ cheval of the River Meuse is 
a somewhat risky operation, and the fort of Huy and the fortress of 
Namur add considerably to the difficulties.27 

Wilson, as has already been seen, offered no information as regards the British concentration 

for, as yet, the Director of Mi li tory Operations dtd not know the details of the new dis­

positions. Finally, coming down to earth and bock to the problems of administrative 

chaos Nicholson concluded the substance of the Memorandum with a plea for Admiralty 

co-operation, noting : 

As regards the naval aspect of the problem, what we ask from 
a military point of view is thot 1t shall be possible safely to transport 
troops and supplies across the Channel ••• and thot the Novy will 
protect the United Kingdom from organized invasion from the seo. If 
thot cannot be done the scheme falls to the ground.28 

·rhis General Staff Memorandum was submitted to the Secretariat in Whitehall Gardens 

on l5th August. Haldane 1s interest was apparent for in his diary entry for thot day Wilson 

noted : 

27 - 'The Mili·tary Aspect of the Continental Problem', 12 Aug. 1911, Appendix, 
p. 5. 

28 - 'The Mi 1 itary Aspect of the Continental Problem', Memorandum by the General 
Staff, 13 Aug. 1911, p. 2. 
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Holdone sent for me eorly this moming. 1 found Nick in 
the room. Holdone soid he hod hod a useful dinner lost night 
of Asquith, McKenno, Grey and Churchill. He hod told these 
ignorant men something of wor, with the result thot Asquith 
orronged for Q smoll special meeting of the C.I.O. for to-morrow 
week. Holdone and Nick come down to my room and 1 showed 
them my mop. This wos a revelation. Loter on, Winston Churchill 
olso come over to my room, and Haldone come a second time olso 
Nick and Ottley. Winston hod put in a ridiculous and fantostic 
poper on a wor on the French and German frontier, which 1 wos able 
to demolish. 1 be lieve he is in close touch with Kitchener and 
French, neither of whom knows anything at a Il about the subject. 
Sti Il, some good was done this day. 29 

Churchill's •rïdiculous paper' had been completed two doys earlier on the 13th, seemingly 

on the basis of the General Staff and Admiralty Papers here under discussion. The Home 

Secretary 1 no doubt blushing over his sudden interest in the affairs of the 'Ministry for 

Slaughter• was core fu 1 to note from the ou:tset : 

The following notes have been written on the assumption thot 
the issue set forth at (a) on p. x of the Report of the Sub-Committee 
of the C.I.O. on the Military Needs of the Empire, 1909, has been 
considered by the Government, and thot a decision has been arrived 
at to employa British military force on the continent of Europe. lt 
does not prejudice thot decision in any way.30 

ln itself this opening remork constituted almost an explicit criticism of Wilson and his 

attitude towards the Continental Strategy as outlined in the General Staff Memorandum. 

Wilson•s reaction to Churchill 1s Paper was understandable in thot it assumed the French 

would not be so foolish os to throw away their advontages in communication and supply 

by adopting the offensive. 

The French have therefore, at the beginning of the war, no option 
but to remain on the defensive, both upon the ir own fortress 1 ine 
and behind the Belgian frontier; and the choice of the day when 

29 - Oiary, 15Aug. 1911. Wilson, Life and Oiaries, Vol. 1, p. 99. 

30 - •Milltary Aspects of the Continental Problem', Memorandum by Mr. Churchill 1 

13 Aug. 1911 . · C .1. 0. Papers, 4/3/2/1328 • 
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the first main collision will commence rests with the Germans1 who 
must be credited with the wisdom of choosing the best possible day, 
and cannot be forced into decisive action against the ir wi Il, except 
by sorne reckless and un justifiable move on the part of the French .31 

Churchill had then proceeded to forecast thot French military weakness would become 

evident in the face of the German advance and thot therefore 

The balance of probabillty is thot by the twentieth day the 
French armies will have been driven from the line of the Meuse and 
will be fol ling back on Paris and the south. Ali plans based upon 
the opposite assumption ask tao much of fortune. 32 

Therefore, Churchi Il proposed, the only sound method of defeating the German Army was 

by attrition and exhaustion as its li nes were lengthened unti 1 by the fortieth day its forces 

would be so extended thot the opportunity to counter-attack should then be seized and at 

that moment the entire Expeditionary Force together with 1301 000 lndian Army and 

Territorial Force troops should be thrown against the Germons in helping the French to 

turn the tide. The needs of Home Defence, he argued, could be met by conscripting a 

force of half a million men which if necessary could be sent overseas with Parliament's 

permission. This, he wrote, was a far more sensible li ne of action thon thot propased 

by the General Staff which he envisaged as dispatching England's milltary resources to 

be 'frittered into action piecemeal'. The Home Secretary concluded this altogether damning 

survey of Wi lson's plans in observing with respect to his own proposa ls thot 'no lesser 

steps would seem adequate to the scale of events'. ln view of the close similarity 

between Churchill's appreciation and Michel's plans1 their vehement rejection by Wilson 

i llustrated once aga in his barometric reaction to the changes of French mi Il tory opinion. 

The Admiralty's formai response to the General Staff Memorandum was lodged with 

the Secretariat of the Defence Committee on 21st August; 
33 

this Paper had, as has already 

31 - 'Military Aspects of the Continental Problem', Memorandum by Mr. Churchill, 
13 Aug. 1911, p. 2. 

32 - 'Military Aspects of the Continentol Problem', Memorondum by Mr. Churchill, 
13 Aug • 1 91 1, p • 2 • 

33 - 'The Mflitory Aspect of the Continental Problem', Remarks by the Admiralty on 
Proposai (B) of the Memorandum by the Generol Staff (130-B), 2, Whitehall 
Gardens, 21 Aug. 1911. C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 4/3/2/1318. 
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been noted, been in existence ever since the early attacks upon Sir Arthur Wilson's 

Board dating from early in 1910.
34 

lndeed, Churchill had had the benefit of its use 

in drawing up his Memorandum of 13th August.
35 

Needless to say the Admiralty took 

an extremely frosty view of the General Staff plans ; in merely submitting an old 

Admlralty Paper, which made no attempt to cope with the War Office•s queries 

concerning transportation for the Expeditionary Force and Home Defence, the First Sea 

Lord openly betrayed his disinclination to discuss such matters either with the War Office 

or the Defence Committee. 

And so from the magnificence of Haldane•s excellent table and outstanding cellar, 

and in the face of a further serious threat to the continued peace and prosperity the 

country, the Committee of Imperial Defence was summoned into an extraordinary secret 

session at the offices of the Secretariat in Whitehall Gardens on the morning of 23rd 

August 1911. This session marked the 114th meeting of the Committee and Asquith's 

slxteenth in the chair since becoming Prime Minister - comment enough upon his true 

concern over defence issues. Just a few days earlier the Commons had1 on rising, passed 

an Official Secrets Bill through its second and third readings without debate owing to the 

grave nature of the international situation. Lloyd George, a sudden convert whose 

Radical hackles had apparently been raised by the highhandednessof Kiderlen-Wachter, 

had managed only on the day before to bring the management and union representatives 

together thus averting the threatened national railway strike. 

Before discussing the proceedings of this somewhat overrated 114th session of the 

Defence Committee it is necessary first to examine Asquith's invitation list. The Prime 

Minister, ever mindful of the deep divisions within his Cabinet, and Viscount Haldane, 

aware of the necessity of reveallng the details of Anglo-French military planning at this 

meeting if any decision or even tacit recommandation in favour of the Continental Strategy 

34 -

35 -

See above : pp. 197 - 201. 

See: 1Military Aspects of the Continental Problem•, Memorandum by 
Mr. Churchi Il, 13 Aug. 1911 • 
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was to be adopted, were both meticulously careful to strike off the names of the 

Pacifist and Little Englander members who regularly attended. These, namely 

Viscount Morley, Mr. Louis Harcourt and the Earl of Crewe, were therefore not invited 

to this secret session, and neither was Viscount Esher who had, by this juncture, begun 

to publically express his doubts concerning the wisdom of a military commitment within 

Europe and whose influence at court was still considerable. However Hankey, painting 

his idyllic picture of defence by committee1 has maintained that the absence of these 

four •regular' members of the Defence Committee was no doubt due to their being away 

from London taking advantage of the unusua lly warm summer weather. 

On calling the 114th meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defence to order on the 

morning of 23rd August in the old first floor room at 2, Whitehall Gardens, which 

Disraeli is said to have used for Cabinets, Asquith found at the table with him a very 

select group of ministers and professional advisers: Lloyd George, Grey, Churchill, 

McKenna, Sir Arthur Wilson, Rear-Admiral the Hon. Alexander E. Bethell - D.N.I., 

Haldane, Nicholson 1 Henry Wilson, General Sir John French - lnspector-General 

of the Forces, and Ottley as Secretary; Major-General Sir Archibald Murray - Director 

of Military Training, 'a Iso attended'. 
36 

The presence of the Chancellor of the Exchequer 

was essentiel to any such discussion ; however, Lloyd George's attendance was doubly 

signiflcant in view of his recent pose in the classic cast of the outraged self-righteous 

Radical invoking the memory of the best (or worst) of England's liberal tradition in foreign 

pollcy. On the other ha nd, Churchi Il 's presence does deserve somewhat closer attention -

especlally in view of subsequent events. This is not the place to enter into a discussion 

of the character which underlay and shaped this remarkable man - a character second 

only in contemporary to England perhaps to the colour of Jacky Fisher - yet H was 

Churchill's character and emotion which held the key to his change of heart. More will 

be said of Churchill in due course, but for the moment it is sufficient to note that following 

36- 'Minutesofthe ll4thMeeting, August231 1911' 1 p.l. 
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upon Fisher's removal from the Admiralty Haldane's correspondance had become quite 

inti mate with his col league at the Home Office. ln fact writing to E·dward Goulding, 

afterwards 1st Baron Wargrave and one of Fisher's major cohorts in the Common~,early 

in 1910, the old Admirai had obliquely referred to the unholy alliance between the 

'economists' and Haldane in the latter's quest to gain control of the Admiralty and 

establish sorne form of a Defence Ministry : 

Don't mention this, but McKenna himself has tald me last 
Sunday thot Lloyd George 1 Winston, and Haldane (the new 
Trinity) are bent on kicking him out •••• 37 

However, more immediately, Churchil !'s hackles had been raised by the Agadir Crisis, 

and as he has recorded : 

1 now begon to make an intensive study of the military 
position in Europe. 1 read everything with which 1 was supplied. 
1 spent many hours in argument and discussion. The Secretary of 
State for War tald his officers to tell me everything 1 wanted to 
know.38 

ln fact it now seems clear thot Haldane had picked out his precocious colleague, already 

'weil known' in military circles for his impetuous fracas with Lord Kitchener, as the most 

suitable member of Asquith's altogether unsuitable Cabinet to succeed him at the War 

Office on his own translation to the Admiralty replacing McKenna. As early as August 

1910 Viscount Esher, writing to Mr. Balfour, had, in humourously noting Haldane's 

tactics in passing unscathed across the Exchequer, observed : 

Haldane came over on Sunday for the day from Cloan. He 
has been staying with L. George, and they went together to the 
Welsh Manoeuvres. 

By 'this deviee' old Haldane seems to have got out of him 
ali the money he wants for next year. 

Haldane talks of leaving the W.O. should the Government 
survive the next session, and going to the Local Government 

37- FishertoGoulding, 15Jan.1910. FisherofKilverstone, Baron(JohnA.), 
Fear God and Dread Nought: The Corres ondence of Admirai of the Fleet 
Lord Fisher of Kilverstone, ed. Arthur J. Marder (London, 19.52- 19!Y 1 

Vol. Il, p. 285. 

38 - Churchill, W. S., The World Cri sis, (New York, 1923), Vol. 1, pp. 49 -50. 
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Board to deal with the 'poor law'. 
He thtnks thot Winston would be his successor at the W .0. 

and Bums go to the Home Office. 
But he seems very doubtful asto whether the fort will be 

able to stand etther the sh.ock of a settlement by the Conference, 
or thot of lts breakdown. 

Then his fear is thot George Wyndham, or whoever you send 
to the War Office may begin tinkerlng with the o~anization of the 
Army. 

l told him 1 felt sure there was no fear of thatr and thot you 
would concentrate ali 'Defence Schemes' ln your own hands, and 
that your First Lord of the Admlralty and Secretary of State for Wor 
would be instruments of your policy and not its masterso 

Thot this was the true [purpos~ of the Commi ttee of 1 mperia 1 
Defence, i.e. thot the Prime Minister should be the 'Minister of 
Defence' for only he can co-ordinate ali the departments concerned 
in the immense business of providing for the defence of the Empire. 39 

Doubtless Haldane foiled to disclose his aspirations with respect to the Admiralty knowing 

Esher's suspicions conceming his desires to expand his persona! power over the defence 

establishment. Regardless, Hal da ne saon pushed the Local Government Board to the 

bock of his mind, turning dawn olso an offer of the lndia Office informing Asquith at 

the time of his desire togo to the Admiralty. 

The Prime Mtnister commenced the proceedings of the 114th meeting with a brief 

restatement of the findings of the 1908 - 1909 Sub-Committee Enquiry on the 'Military 

Needs of the Empire' informing his Usteners thot 

. • . he had ca lied the Committee together os the European 
situation was not altogether clear, and it was possible thot It 
might become necessary for the faestion of giving armed support 
to the French to be considered. 4 

Referring to the General Staff Memorandum,. discussed above, Asquith noted thot the 

important points which now differed from the situation in July 1909 were 

••• thot we should mobi 1 ise end di spa teh the who le of our 
available reguler army of six divisions and a cavalry division 
imtnediately upon the outbreok of war, mobilising upon the same 

39 - Esher to Balfour, 16 Aug. 1910o Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

40 - 'Minutes of the l14th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p .. 1. 
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day as the French and the Germanso lt was further suggested 
thot odditional reinforcements, consisting of two or three 
divisions of British and native troops might be drawn from lndia, 
and possibly the seventh division from the Mediterraneen and 
South Africa 6 

Lastly the General Staff asked from the Admiralty an 
assurance thot the Expeditionary Force could be safely transported 
across the Channel and from the other directions indlcated in their 
paper, and thot the Novy will protect the United Kingdom from 
organised invasion from the seo .. 

As regards these last two points, the Admiralty Memorandum 
.... did not give a categorical reply. 41 

This latter point was, of course, the crux of the matter and explained the real purpose 

of the meeting - to decide the basis of national defence policy in its broadest aspect, 

and not, as Sir William Nicholson later claimed, merely to reexamine the earlier 

Defence Committee decision thot two divisions of the Expeditionary Force were to be 

retained for Home Defence during the eorly months of a war. Though, admittedly, in 

view of Wilson•s committal - it was nothing less - of ali six divisions at his secret 

meeting with Duball of 20th July, this was itself an important matter. Nevertheless, 

in the course of h1s Memorandum of early November 1911 Nicholson was to note with 

a perfectly straight face : 

ln April last, when the recurrence of tension between 
France and Germany seemed not improbable, the possibility 
of at once dispatching six instead of four Divisions besides the 
Cavalry Divislon came under consideration, and revised tables 
for the larger force with accelerated dates of mobi 1 iso ti on were 
worked out •••• lt was recognlsed by the General Staff thot 
the alternative scheme would have to be referred to the Committee 
of Imperial Defence for consideration and it was submitted to the 
Committee of Imperial Defence on 23rd August last1 the Prime Minister 
prest ding and Sir Edward Grey, Mr. Lloyd George, Lord Haldane, 
Mr. McKenna, Mr. Winston Churchill and the First Seo Lord being 
present wi th other members o At the meeting doubt was expressed 

41 - •Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 2. 
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by sorne of those present as to the prudence of adopting the 
alternative scheme, more particularly ln connection with 
our requirements of home defence, but no conclusion was 
arrived at.42 

True, no decision was arrived at - but then this discussion consumed only a fraction 

of the session, at which much else more was discussed than Nicholson would have one to 

be lieve. 

Asquith's somewhat cryptic comment upon the failure of the Admiralty to respond 

either to the General Staff's request for transport and naval protection on the Channel 

crossing, or to the requested guarantee thot the Novy would assume the responsibili ty 

for Home Defence, had underlined the nonchalance and, indeed, the disdain with 

which Sir Arthur Wilson had treated this whole affair - so perfectly i llustrated by his 

submission of an old Admiralty Paper. However, Sir Arthur was certainly by no means 

evasive in his response to Asquith's verbal comments, noting : 

••• the reply of the Admiralty to the first question was thot 
the Novy could spore no men, no officers, and no ships to 
assist the Army. The who le force at the disposai of the 
Admiralty would be obsorbed in keeping the enemy within the 
North Sea. Ordinarily the Navy would furnish transport 
officers and protecting ships. The~e could not be furnished 
in these circumstances. The Channel would, however, be 
covered by the main operations, and provided the French pro­
tected the transports within their own harbours, the Admiralty 
could give the required guarontee as to the safety of the 
expedition • 43 

However, on Nicholson's response that the protection thus afforded was sufficient 

assuming, of course, 'the ungrudging assistance' of the Transport Department of the 

Admira lty 1 McKenna interrupted with the terse observation that such an arrangement 

was ali very weil but thot 

42 - 'War Office Memorandum on Action Taken since 1906', by Genera 1 

SirWilliam N. Nicholson, C.I.G.S., 6 Nov. 1911. British Documents, 
Vol. VIl, No. 639. 

43 - 'Minutes of the ll4th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p.2. 
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••• that assistance could not be given during the first week 
of war~ The whole efforts of the Admiralty would be absorbed 
ln mobilising the Navy, and the Transport Deportment esP.ecially 
would be fully occupied in taking up Fleet Auxiliories.44 

Nicholson retorted suggesting thot If the Admiralty would study the events of the 

Russo-Japonese War they would observe that the Japonese had surrendered the whole 

matter of transport at sea to the mi litary outhorities, who had carried through these 

operations 'without difficulty'. Bethell supported McKenna on the time issue where­

upon the First Lord apparently quite casuolly informed the assembled company that 

'he heard of this scheme now for the first time'. So Nicholson then proceeded to 

point out for McKenna's erudition that 

••• in accordance with the conclusion arrived at by the Sub­
Committee as set out in paragraph 20 (b) of their report dated 
the 24th July, 1909 (C.I.D. Paper 109-B), the General Staff 
had worked at the details of the scheme with the Deportments 
of the Admiralty concerned. The Director of Naval Intelligence 
had laid down that to ensure the safety of the transports their 
courses must lie west of a line drawn from Dungeness to Cap Gris 
Nez. The sea transport of the force had been worked out with 
the Director of Transports in detail day by day. 45 

Whereupon the First Sea Lord joined the First Lord in observing thot 

••• the scheme had not been brought to his notice. He had 
understood that a scheme for dispatching the expeditionary force 
had been mooted, but thot it had been abandoned.46 

lt is, perhaps, understandable that Sir Arthur Wilson would not have been informed of 

these developments by his subordinates whom, in any case, he treated with a lordly 

disdain - os has olreody been mentioned with reference to Jellicoe who hod served 

upon Wilson's Board until the previous December as Third Sea Lord and Controller4 No 

Jess remarkable wos the state of relations between Wilson and McKenna who remained a 

44 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 2. 

45 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 2. 

46 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 3. 
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confirmed 'Fisherite' in every respect.
47 

This inconsistencyand confusion was in 

fact a microcosm of the appalling state of affairs throughout the defence establishment, 

of the right hand not knowing what the left was doing - or undoing - which had so 

concerned Balfour, Esher and Haldane. 

Bringing his colleagues back to the point under discussion Asquith observed thot as 

long ago as the 1908 - 1909 Sub Committee the War Office had laid singular stress 

upon the time element and that he was 'surprlsed 1
, in view of the short duration of 

the Channel crossing and the fact thot France would be a friendly shore, uthat the 

Admiralty were not prepared to guarontee the safety of the transports'. !n response to 

this criticism from the Prime Minister McKenna retreated informing the Committee that 

••. the First Sea Lord would examine into the questions raised 
48 

He regretted thot there should have been any misunderstanding. 

Lord Hankey has fairly accurately refought this opening skirmish of the 23rd August 

session recalllng in his memoirs: 

• . • a deplorable impression was created in the minds of the 
Prime Minlster and those of his colleagues who were not immediate 
parties to the controversy. 49 

Clearly then the first round in Haldane's bid to gain Asquith's support and backing for his 

proposed transfer to the Admiralty had gone in the Secretary of State for War's favour 

directly to the detriment of Sir Arthur Wilson, McKenna and the entire system - let 

al one the strategie thought - currently prevai ling at Admiralty House. 

Passing over the problem of invasion the Prime Minister proceeded directly 'to ask 

the Committee to consider the desirability of carrying out the operations proposed by the 

General Staff' cal ling upon the Director of Military Operations to take the floor. 

47 - See: Marder, A.J., From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, Vol. 1, 
'The Road to War, 1904- 1914', (London, 1961), p. 213. 

48 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 3. 

49 - Hankey, Baron {Maurice P.), The Supreme Comma nd, (London, 1961), 
Vo 1 • 1, p • 70 • 
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Henry Wilson's delivery was, as both Hankey and Churchill have recalled, both 

forceful and striking leading Haldane to write to the General shortly after the meeting 

telllng him : 

You did admirably to-day. Lucids'find lfeal grip, your 
exposition made a real impression. 

Wilson's lecture before the C.I.D., differing little as it did from his General Staff 

Memorandum of a few days earller, requires little additional comment. ChurchiiPs 

account erred upon the si de of generosity in recalling that the D.M.O. offered no 

opinion as to whether or not the Germons might possibly violate Belgium north of the 

Meuse, being content merely to admit that this was an imponderable, or, as Churchill 

put it, it was 'the only part of the German plan which could not be foreseen' •
51 

HoweverJ' in fact replying to the Home Secretary's query conceming possible German 

movements north of the Meuse Wilson had actually stated: 

.•• to do this the Germons must enther infringe the neutrality of 
Holland or take Li~ge. This fortress was strong, but normally its 
garrison was very weak - 700 to 1,000 men - which was quite 
inadequate to defend it. lt was possible, therefore, thot the 
Germons might take ft by a coup de main. But they could not hope 
to capture Huy or i<lamur or Àntwerp in the same way. That portion 
of their force advancing along the left bank, thot is north 1 of the 
Meuse would accordingly have to guard its right against the fortress 
of AntwerpJ' and if it had entered Belgium through Dutch territory 
without having captured Li~ge, it would have to mask that fortress1 

whi le in its further advance it would be separated from lts main body 
by the fort of Huy, the fortress of Namur and by the River Meuse. 
This would be dangerous. Moreover, although the Belgians would 
posslbly be content to protest agaJnst the violation of their southem 
provinces, they would most certainly fight If the Germons were to 
Invade northern Belgium as weil. The Belgian field army would 
number 80,000 men. 

On the whole front the broad result was thot although the 
Germons could deploy 84 divisions against the French 66 and the 

50- Haldane toWilson 1 23Aug. 1911. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries1 Vol.l 1 p. 100. 

51- Churchill, TheWorldCrisis1 Vol.l,p.54. 
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garrlsons of their frontier fortresses, the Gennans could not concentrate 
their superior force against any one point~ Our 6 divisions would 
therefore be a material factor in the decision. Their materlal value1 

however1 was far less than their moral value1 which was perhaps as 
great as an addition of more than double their number of French troops 
to the French Army would be. This view was shared by the French 
General Staffo52 

Obviously WUson was now leaning towards the revised French appreciation of which, 

as yet, he had not managed to convince himself, any more than he had been able to 

reconclle himself to the strategie vlews of the 'offensive' school. ln response to 

Churchill's unrelenting pressure on this matter of operations to the north of the Meuse 

Wilson stated even more emphatlcally that 

••• the march through Northern Belglum was a dangerous 
operation, and would require so many men to mask the Belgian 
Army and the Belgtan fortresses thot if the figures were carefully 
examined, it would be found thot in present circumstances no 
advantage and a good deal of risk would accrue to the Germons 
by taklng this course.53 

However, at this juncture Sir John French put his oar in 1 noting : 

••• he had always understood that the object which the Gennan 
General Staff had in view when they decided to fortify Metz, was 
to enable them to send larger forces through Belgium to turn the 
French left. The war garrison of Metz was 70,000, and there were 
51,000 men there in peace. Any French advance would now have 
to be made between Metz and Strasburg, and would no longer be 
worth while attempting ~54 

Such heretlcal deviation from what had so recently been enthroned as orthodox French 

mllitary thought contained the germ of Sir John French's subsequent efforts to retum to 

the Belgian mllitary orientation whtch had now been so long abandoned. These remarks 

would also explain why Wilson had suspected that Churchill was being 'primed' by French, 

52 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting., August 23, 1911', p. 5 .. 

53- 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August231 1911', pp. 5-6. 

54- 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August23, 1911', p. 6. 
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who 'knows nothing about the subject' • 
55 

Regardless, both Churchill and McKenna expressed their approval of French's 

commentary upon Wilson's appreciation, and the Home Secretary pressed home his 

own v[ews, discussed above, counsel!ing retreat so asto draw the enemy out and 

exhaust him. On questionfng Wilson more closely on the matter of German operations 

north of the Meuse Viscount Haldane was informed thot 

• • • the country between Li lie and Maubeuge was simi lar to 
the country round Birmingham. 1 t was a Iso worth no ti cing th at 
there was not a single good road - there were roads - in the 
difficult piece of country between Givet and Mézières, so thot 
troops movi ng north of this district wou Id be separated from those 
moving south of i t. 56 

Lloyd George, who supparted Wilson's strong reservations concerning operations north 

of the Meuse, now turned the discussion to the Director of Military Operations' 

appreciation of the sequence of events thot would ensue in the event of the French 

being driven bock and forced to withdraw. Wilson, somewhat nonplussed at befng 

questioned on plans fer a French retreat which was in itself unthinkable, struggled in 

his reply, noting : 

••• it depended upon so many unknown factors thot it was very 
difficult to prophesy what course the French might take, and he 
had no knowledge of what the views of the French General Staff 
on the subject were. One thing he thought was falrly certain, 
and thot was thot the French Field Army would not retire towards 
Paris, but would base itself upon the richer southern provinces, 
leaving Paris to be defended by lts own _garrison of 250,000 men. 
As to the Germons, they would not invest Paris ttll they had 
dlsposed of the French Field Army. The garrison of Paris was 
immobile. The other French fortresses were only intended to break 
up the German advance. When the French Field Army was destroyed, 
the rest must follow, and France would be conquered.57 

55- Diary, 15Aug .. 1911. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 99. 

56 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 6. 

57 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', pp. 6 - 7 • 
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The First Sea Lord thereupon interjec:ted observing that ln such an eventuality his 

fears of logistical dislocation were certain to be realised. Nicholson dissented 

stating that he anticipated no 'serious difflculti and that the plans had been drown 

up ln the greatest detaiL 

Asquith, an accomplished commlttee c:hairman adroit at keeping tempen from flaring 

up, swiftly moved his colleagues on to a consideration of the relative strengths and 

weaknesses of the French and German Armies. Henry Wilson, wholly in character, 

remarked that 'he would prefer to commanda French Army rather than a German one 1
• 

Sir John French thereupon observed that the French lacked the confidence of the German 

soldiers and were without a single national rallying point such as provided by the person 

of the Kaiser. Considering developments in French mi litary circ les since the Dreyfus 

affair French's comment was not without sorne considerable cogency. Haldane added, as 

was only to be expected, that in his experience 'the German Army was a perfect machine'. 

However, not to be fobbed off by Asquith, Churchill reverted to his questioning on 

the matter of the role of the Expeditlonary Force in the event of the French Armies being 

forced to retreat; lnterestingly, Churchill continued to phrase ali of his remarks on the 

assumption of a German advance to the north of Maubeuge. Wilson, who had clearly 

not even considered the matter of retreat, said that he thought that perhaps the B.E .. F, 

in that event might return to its initial supply base at Amiens. This brought the trend 

of the discussion back to the problem of Belgian violation north of the Meuse, leading 

McKenna to note : 

.•• he did not think the Germans would hesitate to infringe 
Dutch neutrality as weil as Belgian, If respect for it was in­
convenient to their military operations. 58 

However, commenting upon Henry Wilson's rebuttal, Grey informed his colleagues: 

58- 'Minutesofthe 114thMeeting, August23, 1911', p. 8. 
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• • • a threat to blockade Antwerp in the event of the 
Belgians allowlng the Germons to Jnfringe their neutrality 
unopposed might influence them ta resist. 59 

Sir Arthur Wflson expressed his agreement with the vlews of the Foreign Secretary ; 

however, before further comment was forthcoming Churchill, ever persistent, had 

returned to the matter of the proposed line of retreat for the Anglo-French forces in 

the event of severe German pressure, and, more especlally, what did the General 

Staff envisage as the probable movements of the Expeditionary Force in such 

circumstances. Again Wilson's reply revealed the total Jack of thought given to the 

question of retreat, indeed to the who le question of an alternative strategy even in 

this limited sphere ; he merely noted : 

••• the unknown factors were so numerous thot a certain 
reply could not be given. But we ought, undoubtedly, to 
retain touch with the French left.60 

French disagreed, very properly insisting upon the importance of ensuring thot the left 

flank of the Expeditionary Force be kept in constant touch with the Novy at ali events. 

Churchill, in expressing his agreement with French's views and his re'jection of those of 

Wilson, drew the polnted reportee from Nicholson 'thot simi lar operations had often 

fallen to our lot before - for instance, under Marlborough' • This was really strlking 

rather low; however, mention of Marlborough probably led McKenna to play devil's 

advocate in stating thot 'ln his view if a British force were sent at ali, it should be 

placed under French Command', and therefore any discussion of what llne of action the 

Expeditionary Force was to adopt in retreat was really quite immaterial. Churchill 

'disserted emphatically', feeling : 

ln his view, in the clrcumstances contemplated, our 
proper course would be to withdraw west of Paris, where 
we should count for more thon we should in the south .61 

59 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 8. 

60 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 8. 

61 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 8. 
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Henry Wilson, no doubt despairing of this most amateurish of the amateurs,. disogreed 

with the Home Secretary, saylng thot the Germons 'could hardly foi!' to surround so 

small a force. McKenna, hoping no doubt to exploit this disagreement to the advantage 

of the Admiralty 1 expressed his agreement with General Wi lson•s vlewpoint re jecting 

Churchill's assertion thot the B.E.F. could retreat to the sea. Lloyd George, a curious 

bedfellow for the General, as has been seen, supported the D.MoO .. rejecting French's 

admonition thot lt was better to risk being eut off from the French left thon to jeopardise 

the Expeditionary Force's communications with the sea, adding thot in any case 'war 

could not be waged without risks'. Of course, lloyd George seized upon this typically 

careless remark and echoing his struggles with the soldiers of later years pointed out thot 

there were risks and there were risks. Nicholson threw in his weight at this juncture 

notlng : 

••• it was hardly possible to contemplate thot immediately upon 
a retreat taking place, we should sever our connection with the 
French. We wou Id be obliged to conform genera li y to the French 
movements. 62 

Whereupon French attempted to smooth the ruffled feathers on ali sldes observing : 

••• he did not understand why it should be assumed thot a gap 
between our Army, retiring along its own communications, and 
the French Army must inevitably occur. The French li ne of 

63 
retreat might weil lie more to the west thon we had so far assumed. 

This entire discussion was1 in short1 an exercise in the inane - no one knew what the 

French General Staff proposed to do in such an 'unlikely' event. However1 not to be 

put off, lloyd George noted 'thot the point was1 what course we were to pursue if the 

French did retreat southwards '. Wilson, real ising the dangerous waters into which the 

discussion had devolved, flnally admitted thot 'he did not pretend to know what the 

62 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 9. 

63 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 9. 
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intention of the French General Staff might be' ; whereupon Churchill essentially 

suggested that it was his business as D .M .0. to know these things and 'suggested 

that it might be desirable to discuss the question with thé. French Genera 1 Staff'~ However, 

McKenna suggested that such action might have undesirable repercussions, and Grey, 

doubtless envisaging a threat to his 'miJitary entente' quickly came to McKenna's 

support and sought to turn the discussion away from this somewhat delicate matter1 

whlch if pressed too far could possibly have led to an over-extension and reaction 

against the Entente poltcy : 

ln any case, he thought that the first matter to settle was whether 
proposed action in the first phase of the campaign was practicable, 
and whether it was likely to achieve valuable results. He en~uired 
when the first general action was calculated to take place. 64 

McKenna que ri ed as to whether it was a matter of the French not bei ng wi Il ing to fight 

without the support of the Expedltionary Force.. Again, no doubt seeing another 

dangerous llne of argument opening up1 Grey eut in noting : 

••• we must postula te that the French intended to fight. The 
point was whether our tntervzntion would make the difference 
between defeatand victory. 5 

Needless to say this raised an extremely touchy and contentious point leading Asquith to 

eut off the discussion observing : 

••• the point which the Cabinet would have to decide was 
what we were going to do lfwe resolved to commit ourselves 
to the support ~f] the French against German attack.66 

Taking up the Prime Minister's eue Haldane suggested that 'the Committee were now 

acquainted with the probable effect of our military intervention' • However, Lloyd George 

was not content to leave matters at that point and1 disregardlng Asquith and Haldane, 

64- 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August23, 1911' 1 p. 9. 

65 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 9. 

66 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 9. 
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he questloned General Wilson querying his appreciation of the probable shape and 

nature of Russlan assistance. After sorne lengthy discussion along these tines 

Lloyd George raised the possibi 1 ities of transporting Russian troops to France. On 

being informed by the First Sec Lord of the impossibility of the Baltic passage, the 

Home Secretary suggested that the Dardanelles route might offer a viable alternative. 

However, Asquith interjected that in his view 'the passage of the Dardanelles was an 

i.nsupera-ble difficulty•. Grey supported the Prime Minister noting 'the Turks were in 

close relations with the Germens, and we certainly could not force the Dardanelles 

in these circumstances•. On this rather dismal and prophetie note. Asquith adjourned 

the Committee for lunch, having managed to guide the proceedings a long without undue 

friction deftly keeping the discussion away from the broader and more contentious 

questions of underlying po licy. Lord Hankey has recalled this momin~fs session noting : 

••• there was no doubt that Henry Wilson had made a profound 
impression, which 1 am the more ready to admit because he had 
entirely fei led to carry conviction in my mi nd. 67 

On reassembling for the afternoon session Haldane questioned Sir Arthur Wilson on 

the crucia 1 question as to wh ether or not the Admira 1 ty was pre pa red to undertake the. 

safe transport of the Expeditionary Force to France within the time anticipated by the 

General Staff. Probable to Haldane's surprise and no doubt to his chagrin the Admirai 

amicably observed 

••• that he had not enquired into the matter, but he thought 
that the Admiralty could carry out this service without serious 
dl ffi cul ty. 68 

Asquith then called upon the First Sec Lord stating that •the Committee would now like 

to heer the views of the Admira lty'. Wilson's exposition constituted in effect a simple 

restatement of the old 1910 Admiralty Memorandum, to which he added a brief preamble 

67 - Hankey, The Supreme Command, Vol. 1, p. 80. 

68 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911' , p. 10. 
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stating thot whereas the Novy could provide a finn guarantee against invasion no such 

promise could be made with respect to raids, taking into account the consequent public 

concern which would tie the Novy to the east coast in the event of the absence of ali 

reguler troops from the country. Having dealt with the General Staff proposais in 

this summary fashion, Wilson proceeded to open his statement with the observation 

thot 

The poiicy of the Admlralty on the outbreak of war 
war with Germany v..ould be to blockade the whole of the 
German North Seo Coast. The important portions of this 
were the estuaries of the Elbe, Weser and Jade .. 69 

5o saying, the First Seo Lord then proceeded to detail his views on the type of operations 

envisaged by the Admlralty but revealed no actual war plans. Having completed his 

statement of close blockade Wi !son then ou tl ined his plans for a floating armada comprising 

at least a portion of the troops of the Expeditionary Force, which was to be paraded up 

and down the North Seo Cqast, landing occasionally to threaten and posstbly to seize 

various German strong points, including the Kiel Canal and Wilhelmshaven. The 

C.I.G.S. at once launched into the First Seo Lord reminding his colleague of the 

tremendous danger posed to troop transports from torpedo attack citing Sir Arthur's own 

Appendlx in lan Hamllton's recent book attacking the National Service League in which, 

as has been seen, Wilson had discounted the credibility of an invasion of England owing 

to the efficacy of surface and undersea torpedo defence. However, Wilson brushed his 

cogent remark oside in stoting thot the circumstances of his plans were not the same as 'we 

should have command of the seo'. Changing his tack somewhat, and with French's 

support, Nicholson observed thot the efficiency of the German rai lway system would 

render any troop investment of a point on the coast un tenable. However, whi le agreeing 

with their point concerning German troop movements Wilson asserted thot the guns of the 

battle fleet would support and sustain forces which had been thrown ashore. Churchill, 

69- 'Minutesofthe 114thMeeting, August23, 1911', p.11. 
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seizing upon his assertion, expressed his dissent noting : 

••• that would appear to involve keeping the Fleet very 
close to the shore and would e~ose the ships to the fire of 
shore guns and torpedo attack. 70 

And, from the military point of view1 Nicholson cuttfngly remarked : 

The truth was that this class of operation, possibly had sorne 
value a century ago, when land communications were indifferent, 
but now, when they were exce lient, they were doomed to fa i lure. 
Wherever we threatened to land the Germons could concentrate 
superior force. None of these places, so far as he cou Id understand, 
had any essentlal importance for the naval operations. Asto the 
fire of the guns of the Fleet, he thought fts effect was overrated. lt 
was difficult enough for field artillery, who were trained and armed 
for the purpose, to give support to other troops just where and when 
it was useful, the ships would flnd it hard to discriminate, even 
oetween friend and foe. 71 

Drawing the First Sea Lord out still further, on what was apparently already an occasion 

when tempers had flared,. Churchi Il observed : 

••• if the troops landed were dependent upo"]~he guns of the 
Fleet, the Fleet would be tied to those troops. 

ln response Churchill drew the damning reply from Wilson that 

••• the ships would in any case be tied to the coast by the 
necessity for blockadlng it .73 

Nicholson again referred his colleagues to the Admiralty statement pointing out thot 

large numbers of men were required for amphibious siege operations as evidenced by the 

Japanese experience at Port Arthur ; French added thot a prolonged period at sea 

would have adverse effects upon the condition of the transport herses ~ lt is interesting 

that whereas Fisher•s Baltic proiect had depended entirely upon a prior decisive action 

at sea between the two battle fleets, Wilson now openly stated that ali subsequent 

70 - 1Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 12. 

71 - 1Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', pp. 12-13. 

72 - •Minutes of the ll4th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 13. 

73 - •Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 13. 
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operations, incluping •a successful Fleet action•, were subject to 'these operations 

in the North Sea'. As Nicholson had suggested Wflson was indeed somewhat dated in 

his thinking. Haldane soid that such operations on the North Sea coast would neither 

hinder the Germens nor help us. Churchill questioned the advisability of employing 

the battle fleet in 'these narrow waters' and expressed his doubt in the wisdom of 

Wrlson's plans to seize Heligoland describing tpem at best as involving 'a very 

difficult and costly operation•. Realising that the entire discussion of amphibious 

operations was wholly at variance with the General Staff opinion Nicholson interrupted 

asking : 

••• if the Admiralty would continue to press that view 
even if the General Staff expressed their considered 
opinion that the military operations in which it was pro­
posed ta employ this division hl the B.E.F., as requested 
by A.K. Wilsor!J were madnessJ4 

Whereupon Grey tactfully threw his support to Nicholson while endeavouring to conceal 

his anxlety and concern over the threat posed by the Admiralty proposais to the 

preservation of the Entente policy • 

• • • the problem which they had to solve was how to 
employ the Army so asto inflict the greatest possible 
amount of damage upon the Germans. So far as he 
could judge, the combined operations outlined were not 
essentiel to navaJ success, and the struggle on land would 
be the decisive one J5 

This statement revealed how deeply Grey was committed to the 1military entente•, for 

he refused now even to allow that military operations could be successful in any but the 

main theatre of conflict. With the First Sea Lord clearly on the defensive, Churchill 

pressed home the advantage asking : 

74 - 1Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 13. 

75 - 1Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 14. 
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••• whether the very close blockqde outlined and the 
landlng of troops, wlth the consequent risking of ships in 

76 
narrow waters and agalnst forts was essential to our strategy. 

ln reply Wilson defended his strategie pollcy stating : 

•• ~ali the experience of recent manoeuvres showed that 
close blockade was necessary. Any other policy would 
require a greatly increased number of destroyers. The 
safety of our Fleet depended upon preventing the German 
destroyers from getting out. He wou Id add thot the 
intention of the Admiralty to arder this close blockade was 
one whi cb it was · ab~olut~ ly essentiaJ to keep secret. : lt was 
not even known to the Fleet. The occupation of the places 
he had indicoted would enable our destroyers to lie near to 
the shore. 77 

lt might just be added thot in 1914 German plans for breaking down the strength of the 

Royal Novy were based upon intelligence of this so-called secret, whose tenets had, 

fortunately, passed out of fashion at the Admiralty by thot time. The discussion then 

wound its way through vorious other detailed mi litary criticisms of Admirai Wilson's 

proposais; however, Churchill was soon pressing the blockade issue once again leading 

the First Seo Lord1 in explaining the necessity of close observation so as to keep enemy 

vessels at anchor, to state : 

••• if destroyers knew the position of a Fleet accurately they 
were almost certain to meet with success at night. If a destroyer 
got within 3,000 yards of a battle-ship at night H coùld sink itJS 

To which Nicholson shot bock : 

••• the creeks and islands ali along this coast were so numerous 
thot it seemed to hlm that nothing short of the occupation of the 
whole coast line by our troops would be of much service.79 

Besicles, the corollary to Wilson's argument was that enemy torpedo craft could easily 

dispatch a fleet engaged in close blockade. 

76- 'Minutesofthe 114thMeetlng, August23, 1911', p.14. 

77 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p,. 14. 

78 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 14. 

79- 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August23, 1911', p. 14. 
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Keepfng the Commlttee to the busT ness of the day 1 Asquith asked the First Sea Lord 

to state the Admlralty's objections to the proposais presented earlier by the D.M.O. on 

behalf af the General Staff. Summing up his earlier statements, Wilson observed : 

••• the Admirai ty felt confident that troops would be requtred 
to second the efforts of the Navy 1 and a Iso he did not kn~w 
whether the number of troops which would remain in the United 
Kingdom after the departure of the 6 divisions was sufficient to 
insure thot raids would be immediately overwhelmed. Moreover, 
in addition to the points already to be held on the east coast1 others 
such as Great Yarmouth, Blyth, and Grimsby might be found to 
require military protection when war broke out.80 

McKenna, heartily supporting his chief adviser, expanded upon his previous criticism of 

the General Staff timetobles noting : 

••. the absence of the British Army from this country would1 

undoubtedly, have a great moral effect upon the English people, 
and there would be a great danger of interference with the 
freedom of action of the Fleet. There was no real danger of 
invasion, but many weil known officers and others had declared 
repeatedly throughout the country thot we were not safe from 
invasion and there was, therefore, considerable risk of panic on 
the outbreak of war. Thot would resul t in great pressure bei ng 
brought to bear upon the Government to tie the Fleet to the 
defence of our coast. The mora 1 effect upon the English people 
would be so serious as to be disastrous. ln addition the strain 
upon the Admiralty of having to pravide the seo transport required 
by the Army immediately upon the outbreak of war v'.?uld, assuredly, 
hamper the initial operations of the Navy.81 

Noting thot the invasion issue had once again been raised, Asquith cogently remarked thot 

it was not a question to be bickered over, but, rather, was to be considered in terms of 

'whether they were to depart from the conclusion come to in 1908'. Haldane, apparently 

unwilling to involve himself in the controversy, merely stoted the si:;.e of the non-reguler 

force available for Home Defence expressing no opinion asto whether or not the two 

80 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 231 1911', p. 15. 

81 - 'Minutesofthe 114thMeeting, August23, 1911', p.15. 
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infantry divisions· of the Expedrtionary Force should be retained at home during the 

early months of a war.. French, on the otber hand, without hesitation stressed his 

disagreement witb the conclusion reached in 1908, noting : 

•.• the Territorial Force had made considerable progress in 
efficiency since 19081 and he considered thot they would be 
abre 'to dear with any·attack which thé Admirai ty considTfzd 
probable, certainly within a month of their embodiment. 

McKenna, aware of the increasing tenuousness of the Admiralty's position, seized 

upon French's concluding qualification and called up tbe arguments of the National 

Service League to bolster his cause, commenting 

o ... tbat eminent Anny officers expressed publicly a contrary 
opinion, moreover they were now discussing the proposai to 
denude t+ae country of reguler troops in the first week of war. 83 

Lloyd George again threw his weight behind the Generais, while Haldane made use of 

the opportunity to hawk the Territorials without actually commltting himself either way 

on the matter of the retention of the two infantry divisions for Home Defence, in fact 

replying to McKenna he stated thot 'he had no wish to withdraw' from his earlier 

opposition to any downward revision of the hitherto accepted opinion thot an enemy might 

be able to land as many as 70,000 troops 'upon these shores'. Churchill, adopting the 

Admirolty argument thot invasion was not possible1 'enquired why the Admiralty tho~,.~ght 

thot there was so much danger from raids in view of the very close blockade which it 

was prepared to maintain'. Commenting on Wilson's reply thot there was a danger thot 

the High Seas Fleet might manage to effect a temporary break out, Churchi Il noted thot 

such a development was, he thought,'exoctly whot our Novy most desfred'. At this 

point Sir Archibald Murray joined the Committee and in reJponse to Haldane's questioning 

he stated thot the Territorial Force was quite up to dealing with the raids envisoged by 

the First Sea Lord. However, Sir Arthur objected feeling thot the Director of Military 

82 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911', p. 15. 
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Training was taking too sanguine a view of the stote of preparedness of the Territorials., 

while McKenna reiteroted thot 

.•• if the assumption thot our militory plans for Home 
Defence must be based upon the possibility of invasion by 
an enemy not exceeding in strength 70,000 still held good 1 

ît would surely be most unwise to give the people of this 
country such cause for alarm thot the measurements of the 
Fleet would be paralysed.84 

On further questioning McKenna stoted thot such a development might prevent a 

movement of the Fleet to the Channel via the Irish Sec should the Admiralty deem such 

a step necessary. lt would seem thot the First Lord and First Sec Lord were in the 

unfortunate position of having to contrive a case upon the spur of the moment,. Haldane, 

refuting these arguments, referred once again to the Appendix by the First Sec Lord in 

Sir lon Hami lton•s recent book. But aga in McKenna dissented arguing thot the quototions 

Haldane had read to the Committee d.id not caver the matter of raids as against concerted 

invasion. Nicholson seized upon the excerpts read by Haldane to point out thot the 

First Seo Lord 1s views on the impossibi lity of the invasion of England 

••• constituted an odequate criticism of the Admiralty•s proposais 
to land troops upon the German North Sec coast. While there was 
far greater certainty of our troops being overwhelmed by superior 
force should they succeed in effecting o landing. 85 

. Asquith, perhaps in an effort to evert the looming threat of an open clash between the 

First Sec Lord and the C.I.G.S., turned the discussion away from the direct context of 

Home Defence beek towards the Continent asking General Wilson what 1the !eaet fe-r'"'' 

was •with which we cou id hope to intervene on the Continent effective Il. Wilson 

replied 

• thot the view of the Genera 1 Staff was thot our who le 
available strength should be concentrated at the decisive point, 
and thot point they believed to be on the French frontier. The 

84 - •Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August 23, 1911 1
, p. 16. 

85- •Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August231 1911 1
, p. 17. 
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moral effect of sending 5 divisions would no doubt be a !most 
as great as the dispatch of six.86 

Again, there was no mention of the actuel areas of concentration for the Expeditionary 

Force. Nicholson added 'thot from the military point of view it would be better to 

send 4 divisions thon none' • However, French and Murray- perhaps alanned by 

Nicholson's somewhat passionote remàrkt- did not volee their agreement b\Jt instead 

continued to press for the immediate dispatch of the entire B.E.F. on the outbreak of 

war. Forced into this corner McKenna openly and bluntly disagreed both with the 

soldiers and his Cabinet colleagues on the Committee, objecting 

••• most strongly to the denudation of the country of ali 
regular troops in the early days.87 

Now 1 for the first time, Haldane took a firm and explicit stand upon this issue noting 

••• thot in his view, if we had nothlng to fear but small 
raids, the risk of denuding the country of reguler troops 
cou Id be taken. 88 

Coming as it did, at the very end of this important meeting, Haldane's statement would 

seem to lend support to the view thot he had 'staged' this decisive session in order to 

discredit the Admiralty in the eyes of his Cabinet colleagues. 

There was no more to be said on the matter, with Haldane's remark both sides had 

shot their bolts and very clearly they were fundamentally at odds with one another. To 

ali intents and purposes Haldane's statement brought the meeting to a close ; no more was 

said on the invasion question as Asquith at once turned the discussion towards a consideration 

of the problems likely to be encountered in transporting Indien and Colonial troops to the 

European theatre. The First Seo lord noted thot transport via Suez was out of the 

question owlng - significantly enough - to his desire to bring 'the Mediterraneen Fleet 

86 - 'Minutes of the 114th Meeting, August23, 1911', p. 17. 

87- 'Minutesofthe 114thMeeting, August23, 1911', p. 17. 
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to home waters'. Nicholson expressed his strongest disapproval of such a pollcy noting 

thot a voyage via the ~pe would entai! a 'consequent Joss of condition ••• upon 

horses and mules' • 'But', Admirai Wilson added, the C.I.G .S. was overlooking the 

fact thot regardless even the Cape route 'would involve the wfthdrawal of a great many 

ships from the trade routes' so as to provlde the necessary transport and protection. No 

doubt realising thot this discussion was serving only to further exacerbate matters, and 

thot even here there was no common ground for agreement, Asquith wisely decided to 

cali a hait and adjourned the meeting. 

Lord Hankey has recalled, and the minutes of the meeting confirm, thot no decision 

was arrived at and no resolution adopted upon any of the Issues thot had been raised. 

However, before tuming to discuss the developments which followed upon this meeting, 

sorne additional comment upon the course of these hearings of the General Staff and 

Admiralty strategies for national defence would be useful. Most striking was Asquith 1s 

unruffled reception of the fact thot the General Staff had undertaken joint preparations 

with the French ; this would, at the very !east, indicate thot the Prime Minister, 

contrary to his own later statements and the more generally accepted view, 
89 

was in 

fact in possession of prior knowledge concerning the Staff Conversations - indeed thot 

he had not been dozing durlng Hardinge's statement before the 1908 - 1909 Sub­

Commlttee on the 'Military Needs of the Empire•. The complete Jack of intercourse 

between the First Lord and the First Seo Lord, whlch had been revealed early on in the 

meeting, was also strtking and indicative of the secretive nature and narrow outlook of 

Wilson's regime at the Admiralty ; Fisher, always one to plck the brains of junior 

officers, had grown to trust and confide in McKenna in splte of an initial coolness during 

the latter's early days as Tweedmouth's successor - a succession which was in no way 

smoothed by the new First Lord 1s reputation as a ranking 'economist'. McKenna, as 

has been noted, found Wilson to be 'difficult' and, like Fisher, appears to have adopted 

89 - See: Jenkins, R., Asquith, (London, 1964), p. 243. 
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a 'hands off' attitude, so as not to stimulate fresh controversy within the Service, 

while patiently awaiting the Admiral's retirement whlch would become mandatory in 

March of the followlng year (1912)o The strength and earnestness of Lloyd George's 

support for the Generais and thetr Continental Strategy was also notabre 1 stemming 

in part, perhaps, from his dislike of McKenna and their recent bitter squabble over 

the 1911 - 1912 Naval Estimates - though, as has already been discussed, the 

Chancellor of the Exchequer most certainly had deeper motives. Grey's strong 

support for General Wilson's argument, again, was symptomatic of his fears for the 

continuance of the Entente policy which had already been challenged once during that 

summer of Agadir. Churchill's role in criticising both the General Staff and Admiralty 

proposais was interesting, indicatlng, perhaps, his early tendencies towards 'amateur 

strategy', his healthy refusai to bow down before the 'ineluctablè' opinion of professional 

adviser51 and his complete immersion in the fascinating problems of reconciling policy, 

intention and strategie and technical capabi lity. ln fact, the Home Secretary may be 

said to have dominated the meeting leading his Cabinet colleagues in cross examining the 

Servicte representatives on the Committee. Sir Arthur Wilson's failure to disclose any 

detailed plans contrasted markedly with the proposais, and the method of their 

presentation, put forward by the Director of Mllitary Operations; indeed, qui te apart 

from the strategie principles involved, this contrast probably did much to prejudice the 

Admiralty's case in the eyes of the Committee. lt is an interesting oside upon the 

First Sea Lord's administration to note that whereas General Wilson presented the case 

for the General Staff, Admirai Bethell, his opposite at the Admiralty, made no contribution 

whatsoever to these proceedings epart from his comments at the opening of the meeting on 

the transport question ; once again the First Sea Lord had revealed his absolute refusai to 

delegate authority or to permit his advisers to think for themselves and the benefit of the 

Service as a whole. To Fisher secrecy was merely the means to an end, he had no 

hesitation in seeking advice, and by no stretch of the imagination could he have been 

described as narrow-minded. Clearly Fisher was rather 'shallow' on strategie matters, 

but, nevertheless, he fully appreciated the techn.ical Implications of his great materiel 
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innovations upon the broader questions of naval strategy. His failure to translate 

these insights into a unified strategie policy was, as has been seen, dictated only in 

part by his much advertised, and wfdely exaggerated, adherence to the need for 

secrecy in such matters. Wilson on the other hand was, as has already been 

discussed at some length, a somewhat stolld sai lor prone to a monolithic and in-

flexible committal to prlnciple. Finally some additional attention must be drawn to 

Haldane's silence during the meeting and his refusai to commit himself openly to l'he 

General Staff proposais unttl the very close of these proceedings. No doubt 'our 

philosophicc:rl friend', as Campbeii-Bannerman had been fond of calllng him, hc:rd sat 

and 'purred' content to leave the Generais to do energetic battle on behalf of the War 

Office. lt ls of note that the c:rttack upon the Admiralty wc:rs left very largely to 

Nicholson who, interestlngly enough, was due to retire as C .. J .. G .S. early in the 

following yec:rr. To .speculate further, ft is of some note that Sir John French, who had 

kept his remc:rrks to a minimum - indeed he had opposed some aspects of the Continental 

Strategy, had alrec:rdy been selected as Nicholson•s successor. Placing these observations 

in the framework of Haldane's desire togo to the Admiralty, and coupling them to his 

non-committal attitude during the meeting, there would appear to be some not in­

considerable merit in the view that Haldane, antlcipating Asquith's later objections, had 

meticulously endeavoured on 23rd August not to estrange the Senior Service by indulging 

ln persona 1 attacks, and had refused to show his ha nd on polie y un til the last minute 

feeling by that juncture that the Admiralty had sufficJently discreditt:!d Itself in the eyes 

of his collec:rgues. 

Before leaving this discussion of the proceedlngs of the 114th meeting of the Defence 

Committee tt Is to be noted that whereas the 1908 - 1909 Sub-Commfttee on the 'Milltary 

Needs of the Empire' had charged the War Office with the development of plans for 

operations not only ln France but also ln Belglum and Holland, no attention had been 

glven to these latter cases and no question had been ralsed conceming them on 23rd August. 

Mr. Asquith's opening comments during the meeting had been drawn up in the official 

minutes upon the tltle 'Action to be Taken in the Event of Intervention in a European War' 
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but no mention had been made of military operations other thon in France. ln effect, 

as has a 1 rea dy be en se en, the 1908 - 1909 Sub-Comm i ttee had disco rded the even tuali ty 

of operations in Belgium. Earlier, in April 1911, Ottley had raised the question as 

to whether the fortifications which the Dutch were propostng to build overlooking the 

Scheldt at Flushing might not prejudice possible British military a id to Antwerp in the 

event of war. However, in his memorandum, Ottley dtd note : 

1 t ls hardly conceivable that ln present circumstances1 

we are likely to be called on alone to aid the Belgians 
in preservation of the integrity of their country. Should 
thot be the case1 we should1 of course1 be confined to 
Belgian ports as landlng places ; but, in the more probable 
contingency of our acting in co-operation with Fronce, 
alternative landing places would be open to us, and might 
even be preferable on broad military stroteglcal grounds. 90 

Of course the latter view was, indeed, the case. Although it was never expllcltly 

stated thot ln no circumstances in the event of a Franco-German war would the 

Expeditionary Force be dispatched to Belgium, nevertheless, the implication was 

certainly present in 1909 and very clearly so in 1911 • As it was, apparently on the 

basis of earlier Admiralty objections, the Committee at its llOth meeting 1 early ln 

May 1911, confirmed Ottley•s prognostication noting that • the fortification of Flushing 

does not affect British interests materially• • 
91 

Although the Belgian question was to 

be raised once again before the War, there can be little doubt thot in reaHty both the 

Foreign Office and the General Staff had written off direct military intervention in 

Belglum as a serious possibility at the very latest by the spring of 1911 • 

No •decision• had been taken. 1 n tru th none was necessary for such decisions as 

had been taken had been implicit as far bock as 1906 and more recently since the 1908- 1909 

Sub-Committee Enquiry - as Grey weil knew. The Admiralty had made an ass of itself. 

90 - •Dutch Coast Defences•, Note by the Secretary, 2, Whitehall Gardens, 
3 Apr. 1911. C.I.D. Papers, Cab. 4/3/2/1253, p. 2. 

91 - •committee of Imperial Defence: Minutes of the llOth Meeting, May 4, 1911•, 
C .1 • D. Pa pers, Cab. 2/2/2. 
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Profoundly impressed with the thoroughness of the General Staff proposais, and lacking 

any constructive alternative/ the Ministers had no choice but to accept the Genera ls' 

plans as the basis for the country's national defence policy. Regardless of his private 

mlsgivings1 Asquith's actions, following the adjournment of the meeting, made it clear 

that the Prime Minlster had fi na lly 'declded' to face and to accept the fait accompli 

perpetrated so many years earlier by the so{diers and since sustained by the Foreign 

Office. The crisis in England's foreign and defence policies, together with the 

shattering of the unity of the Cabinet, which could weil have occurred had Fisher 

remained as First Sea Lord and been able to put the case, a far sounder case1 for the 

Navy on 23rd August, is explanation enough as to why the old Admirai had been 'kicked 

out'. Haldane had fi na lly achieved what he has sought for the post two years to attain. 

With Fisher gone, and now with naval strategie thought thoroughly discredlted, the Power 

of :'AdmiroJty. se.emed within his· grasp. Asquith ... no Jess, would have been appalled 

at the prospect of an open clash between Fisher and Haldane1 a clash ostensibly over 

strategy but in reality concerned with the much broader issue of effective supreme 

command ; lndeed1 had Fisher remained at the Admiralty or even in a position to directly 

influence naval pollcy it is more than doubtful thot the 114th meeting could, or would1 

ever have been held. As It was1 fortunately for Haldane, Fisher was not only in 

fundamental disagreement with Admirai Wilson's strategie vlews but, because of this 

disagreement1 the old Admirai had exi led himself to the Continent. As far as Asquith 

was concerned1 If a decision was absolutely necessary on defence policy,which he doubted, 

that decision had to be subordfnated to the unity of his Cabinet, and the strenuous opposition 

of any section of the defence establishment - opposition around which the Radical 

element could rally - had to be eliminated. Sir Arthur Wilson was, as has been seen, 

not at ali popular in t~e Fleet and his departure, which was in any case imminent, could 

be accomplished wtth little difficulty or popular opposition. Thus Asquith's overriding 

political concem - which must neither be minimized nor unduly censured - tai lied 

wlth Haldane's insistance upon a uni fied defence policy. And so with the invaluable 

aid of the dlplomats1 and benefitting from Haldane's fundamental belief in the need for a 

viable supreme command, the soldiers had1 in the summer of Agadir1 achieved the goal 
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upon whlch they had gazed wlth a slngular flxity of purpose since the demise of the 

Unlonlst Government six years before. 

Wastlng no tl me and takfng advantage of the affect of these events upon Asquith 's 

minci, Haldane 

..... lntlmated to the Prime Mlnfster that he would not 
continue to be responsible for the War Office unless a 
Boarcl of Admlralty was cafled lnto being which would 
work tn full hannony wtth the War Office plans, and ' 
would begin the organlzatton of a proper Naval War 
Staff .. 92 

Once more the war staff Issue - while no doubt professionaJiy vaJid in itself - was 

provlng a useful political lever in Haldane's quest for a unifted supreme commando 

Asquith, having no alternative but to express hts agreement wtth Haldane's analysis 

of the state of affalrs at the Admiralty, wrote to the Secretary of State for War shortly 

after the C .. J .. D .. session of 2Brd August, noflng : 

Sir A. Wllson's 'plan' can only be descrtbed as puerile, 
and 1 have dismissed tt at once as whoU y impracttcable. 

· The impression left on me, after consldePJtion of 
the whole discusslon1 Is (1) thot, ln prlnclple1 the 
General Staff scheme Is the only alternative but (2) that 
tt shou(d be llmited In the flrst instance to the despatch 
of 4 divisions .. 93 

Thot Asquith entertained serlous misgivings conceming the wisdom of the Continental 

Strategy ls apparent even here J in speaking of the 'only alternative' he revealed the 

classic quandry of the statesman caught between the 'ineluctab:l.e' oracular pronouncernents 

of his professlonai 'advJsers'. Wlthout further ado, Haldane, reverting back to his 

suggestion of the prevlous October, now proposed thot his experience and success at the 
. 94 

War Office sutted hlm ldeally for the position of Ftrst Lord of the Admtralty.. Asquith 1 

92 - Churchlfl, The WorJd Crisis1 Vol .. 11 p .. $. 

93 - Asquith to Haldane, 31 Aug. 1911.. Haldane MSS1 MS 5]()9 .. 

94 - Haldane of Cloan, Vlscount (Richard B .. )., An Autobiography1 (London, 1929)1 

P• 230. 
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however,. was not altogether enamoured of this proposai offlcia!ly objecting on the 

grounds thot such a development would const!tute an overt indication of the Govern­

ment's lack of confidence in the Senior Service,. and a grave blow to the already 

depleted prestige of the Admiralty. lt mlght be added thot Asquith was1 perhaps, 

unwilling to permit Haldane to establish what for ali practical purposes would be a 

de facto Ministry of Defence thereby appropriating to himself wholly new powers 

hitherto unexercised even by the Prime Mlnister o Besides1 close at ha nd was Churchi Il 

exercising every art of persuasion so asto attain for hlmself the 'Power of Admiralty', 

as this most recent Radical was fond of te!'ming it1 which he now so coveted. As Esher 

put Jt in the course of a letter to Sandars1 following upon Churchi ll's appointment to 

succeed McKenna, of lote October : 

Winston has bee11 intriguing for.1months to get 
to the Admiralty. He wants to institute great reform there 
• • • . This will be highly beneficiai, for the Admiralty 
Js in a totten state. 95 

Esher was to become one of the new First Lord's most ardent supporters. lt ls not 

within the scope of this work to attempt to explain why Churchill, a Radical in the 

'worst• Liberal tradition, had suddenly assumed station in the van of the Liberal .... 

Imperia 1 !st forces - a background which in itself no doubt influenced AsquUh's 

choice. lt might, however1 at leest be suggested thot the underlying factor behind 

Churchill's change of heart was at once both very shallow and yet profound; 

Lady Violet Bonham Carter1s observations upon Churchill's frame of mind during his 

years at the Admiralty contain., perhaps, the key to his character and the germ of his 

conversion ~ 

He felt to the quick the traditional glamour of his new 
office, the romance of seo power1 the part thot it had played 
in our island history 1 the conviction thot it was today the key­
stone of our safety and survive L He revel led in its technology 
and enjoyed its symbols - White Ensigns1 anchors, even the 
turtles which had now become his perquisite and gave a new 
significance to turtle soup ~. 96 

95 - Esher to Sandars, 25 Octo 1911. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 

96 - Bonham Carter, V., Winston Churchill As 1 Knew Him, (London, 196~, po 239. 
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Or 1 as onother observer wrote seme yeors ego Winston Churchi Il at the Admira 1 ty wos 

1 the hoppiest mon in Englond 1
• 
97 

ln foct, os with so much else involving this 

remorkoble mon - a mon so very similor to Fisher, he wos driven by his emotions, 

engulfed by the colourful, and mode prisoner by the 'idee'. Churchill the Radical 

hod, indeed, controcted a 1very octive 1 virus of the diseose of Empire. 

However, Asquith, never one to move without coreful consideration of the 

ramifications of his proposed line of action, sot tight refusing to commit himself 

for over six weeks. Eorly in September he retreoted to Archerfield, his 'Shangr:i-La' 

in Scotland, to ponder the difficulties of reconciling the remaining Rodicals in his 

Cabinet with the pressure building up from Haldane and the whole problem of the 

Continental Strotegy. Revee ling samething of his trend of thaught, he wrote to 

Haldone eorly in September noting : 

The arguments os put in the W .0. letters ore, of course, 
cene 1 usi ve os aga i nst Sir A. W. • s Sc he me. 1 hope, however, 
thot we moy not have agoin to consider the contingency. 

J.M. [John MorleiJ hos confidentiolly been told of the 
meeting of the Sub-Committeè~; 1 wonder by whom ? He is quite 
the most impossible col league thot con [Piogue] a Cabinet. 98 

lt would .seem thot Asquith, in his reference to a Sub-Committee, wos olreody endeovouring 

to concocta story to cover up the secret and select session of 23rd August. Further 1 it 

is cleor thot the Prime Minister hod viewed the meeting os a necessory evi 1 brought on by 

the internotiona 1 cri sis, which, now on the wane 1 led him to hope thot the whole motter 

might once aga in be dropped. Nevertheless, pressing his odvontoge, Haldane 

bomborded the Prime Minister with chopter and verse concerning the Admirolty•s sins, 

and writing in lote September he underlined the problems of deoling with the Senior 

Service in any monner ether thon by moking full use of the cudgels provided by the 

97 - MocGregor Dawson, R., Winston Cihurchill At The Admirolty1 1911 - 1915, 
(Toronto, 1940), p. 13. 

98 - Asquith to Holdone, 9 Sept. 1911. Holdone MSS 1 MS :909. 
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outcome of the 114th meeting : 

1 have shown Nicholson McKenna•s letter privately and 
1 enclose his observations on it" 

You will see from them thatwhen the C.I.O. met on 
Aug. 23rd we had good reason to belleve that the transport 
programme of the Admlralty was almost complete and it was 
a surprise to us here to know that the princlple wasin doubt, 
and that we might not be able to get our troops across without 
delay. Whan no answer came to our letter of 2!1h Aug. we 
were dtsmayed. You will see how full and prolonged had been 
the previous communications. The answer had now reached us 
but only on 20th September. 

We have certainly not delayed by changes, the material 
modifications having been notlfled by the General Staff in May. 
On August 12th we dtd notlfy our desire to use part of Boulogne 
in addition to Rouen and Havre and Admirai Groome accepted 
the read justment without demur. 

Anyhow it is ali right now, and the dtfficulty is over, and 
the Admiralty have been very helpful. 99 

lt seems clear, however, thot Churchill has been quite correct in stating that Asquith 

had already definitely made up his mind on summoning the two rivais to Archerfleld 

lote ln September.
100 

Nevertheless, Haldane, at !east, remained unprivileged by 

any knowledge of the Prime Minister•s intended course of action. For on 2nd October 

Haldane, now back at Cloan - Asquith was at Balmorol - wrote a lengthy letter to 

Grey in which he contlnued to seek his support; this letter is worth quoting 'in extenso• 

for it reveals Haldane•sanxJety, the depth - which he laterdenied - ofhisdesite to 

go to the Admirolty, the manner in which the wall staff issue was utlltsed as a pâlitical 

crutch, and most important his concem for the absolute necessity of a unifled and 

intelligent direction of defence poltcy as a whole : 

My dear Edward, 
1 have not told you of my visit to Archerfield, and the 

discussion about the Novy. 1 went there to meet Winston. , 

99 - Haldane to Asquith, 28 Sept. 1911. Haldane MSS, MS 5i09. 

100- See: Churchill, The World Crlsis, Vol. 1, p. 66. 
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1 saw Asquith first and he said thot Winston was immensely 
keen togo himself to the Admiralty. 1 said thot so far as 
1 was concerned, the prospect of moving my house, and of 
the yacht1 were distcsteful. Bùt it was not a question of his 
or my likings. lt was the gravest issue the Govt. had in 
front - a problem more urgent thon thot of any social reform, 
and the only real point was how the existing situation eould be 
changed. Germany had studi ed our nova 1 psychology, and the 
old Fisher cry of 'seek out and destroy the enemy's fleet ; this 
is the objective of the British Novy and has been ever since the 
Seven Years War and before it' • This cry had been heard by 
Germcny who was meeting it with the Kiel Canal and by other 
highly scientific methods. What was needed ~a(]a new 
objective for the Novy here, if it was to be really effective. 
The Admira 1 ty, which was very conservative, must have a better 
intellectual basis. To build up c:m adequate War Staff was a very 
difficult thing. If the Admirais were hostile they cou Id make it 
an affai r of mere Vv'O rds. The essence of such a scheme was the 
spirit and earnestness in tcking thought of the heads. Such a statc 
of things could not be brought about by drivlng these powerful Admira!s, 
but only 1 more Socratio, by gentle leading. This 1 had found from •· 
my experience of working out such a Staff at the War Office, a far 
easier task. At first the new General Staff had been unreal and it 
was only as we ali got permeated by the spirit, in the course of our 
studies of foreign Army Organization and of our own defeds, thot 
it became an affair of spirit and not of letter. Now the Admirais 
could only be led if the person who was entrusted with the task had 
knowledge and experience of this special problem - unless much 
delay and at !east temporary errer was to be faced. 

1 certainly should have been merely groping had 1 been called 
on to attempt it without 5years of training. Would Winston be better 
off 1. 1 t was not only the War Staff but the War Coll ege and the system 
of Naval Staff training thot had to be dea lt with. 1 did not need to 
teri him - Asquith - thot whatever decision he came to 1 would do 
my best wherever 1 was, and persona lly 1 did not ask for any change. 
But tome the problem in front was one of the utmost gravity. Germany 
would now concentrate on the naval situation between her and ourselves. 
1 felt thot, for more reasons thon one 1 1 could help here - 1 brusked 
oside ali notion of the Lord Chancellorship, which Asquith referred to 
in passi ng. The interest of the state was the on ly thi ng thot ma ttered. 
He asked me to see Winston first alone and then with him, and to put 
ali this to Winston. 1 did so without mincing matters. Winston was 
very good - reasoned thot if he went there he would work closely 
with me at the War Office, in the spirit of his father who had a lways 
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said thot there ought to be a common administration. 1 felt, 
however, thot, full of energy and imagination as he is, he 
does not know his problem or the vast field of thought thot has 
to be covered. Moreover, though 1 did not say this to him, 1 
felt thot it was only a year since he had been doing his best to 
eut down McKenna's Estimates, and thot the Admirais would 
receive the news of his advent with dismay. For they wou Id 
think, wrongly or rightly, thot as soon as the financial pinch 
begins to come, eighteen months from now 1 he would want to 
eut down. He is too apt to act first and think afterwards -
though of his energy and courage one cannet speak too highly. 

Asquith has taken the whole matter into consideration -
thot a change must be made is cl eor. 1 do not think it is vanity 
thot makes me wish to leap into the gulf. lt is the desire to 
make use of what 1 have learned in the last five years. 1 believe 
1 con lead and persuade the Admirais and thot 1 have a better 
chance of success thon he will get. If soit is not a question of 
this persan or thot - the situation is too grave, and in case 
Asquith consults you 1 want you to know what 1 think. lt wou Id 
be better if W. does not wish to leave the Home Office for the War 
Office thot McKenna should simply exchange with me. But the 
best would be, 1 am pretty sure thot W. should go to the War 
Office - 1 shall be in London about Thursday of next week. 

Ever yours, 101 
H. of C. 

ln reply a few days later, Grey indicated his support for his old friend adding thot in 

any case Asquith was stili in Scotland and had not consulted him upon the matter. 
102 

However, Asquith, faced by. Morfey's opposition to the Continental policy which he 

managed to assuage only after lengthy conferences with Grey and two full Cabinets, 
103 

was determlned on his course of action feeling thot Churchill would not only pose less 

of a threat to his own power, but thot his appointment would be more acceptable beth 

to the Admirais and to the Radicals. Writing, therefore, to Haldane on lOth October 

101 -

102 -

103 -

HaldanetoGrey, 20ct.1911. HaldaneMSS, MS 5'109. 

Grey to Haldane, 5 Oct. 1911. Haldane MSS, MS 5909. 

See : Jenkins, Asquith, pp. 244- 245. 
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the Prime Minister rejected his petition : 

1 have thought much of the things which we discussed at 
our last talk, and 1 went carefully over the ground at Balmoral 
with Knollys and the King. They certainly agree as to the need 
for a change at the Admiralty. 

The idea of your removal there was naturally very attractive 
tome, and (as you will readlly believe) ali my persona! prepossessions 
were and are ln its favour. The main and (in the long run) deciding 
factor with me, in a different sense, had been the absolute necessity 
of keepi ng the Fi rst Lord in the H • of Commons. We sha Il have to 
encounter there our own U.tt]e Navy men, the experts, such as they 
are, of the official opposition, and, as our plans develop, the spokes­
man of the discontented Admirais and the old class of nattai specialists. 
The position can, 1 am convinced, only be held by a Minister who can 
speak with full authority,not:merelyasthe head of the department, but 
as the person ftnancially responsible for the new policy. 

lt is with very great reluctance that 1 have been driven to this 
conclusion, but 1 know that 1 can trust you to give not only co-operation 
but much needful inspiration and guidance to Churchill in a task for 

104 
which he has many of, but by no means ali, the required qualifications. 

Having no choice but to accept the inevitable, Haldane made it his business to 

take up Asquith's invitation to counsel Churchi Il and, indeed, he was to be instrumental 

in shaping severa! of the new First Lord's refonns at the Admiralty. Esher. wos .soniewhat 

alanned at this course of events, upset by the triumph of the Continental Strategy, and 

dismayed at the manner in which the Haldane -Churchill tandem threatened to supercede 

the functions of the Defence Committee. Nevertheless he was able to take sorne 

comfort in Asquith's indecision which he had so often despaired of in the past .. Writing 

to his son, Maurice Brett, early in October 1911, just prior to Churchill's appointment, 

he noted : 

The Prime Minister came to my room this morning ..... 
His views would astonish dear old Pussy [Haldane] and the General 
Staff. If they, as they do, think thot the ir strategie plan would be 
feasible, they are highly mistaken.105 

104 -

105 -

Asquith to Haldane, 10 Oct .. 1911. Haldane MSS, MS 5909. 

EshertoM.V. Brett, 40ct. 1911. Esher, Viscount(Reginald B.), Journals 
and Letters, ed. Oliver Viscount Esher {London, 1938), Vol. Ill, p. 60. 
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However, ln his journal entry for the seme date Esher had underlined the causes behind 

his own estrangement from his colleagues on the Defence Committee, and in particular 

he criticised Asquith's chronic inability to grasp the significance of the trend of events 

which had been forced upon him during the post few months : 

..• we talked about the General Staff scheme of landing an 
army in France. The Prime Minister is opposed to this plan. 
He will not hear of the despatch of more thon four Divisions. 
He has told Haldane so. 

But, 1 reminded him thot the mere fact of the War Office 
plan having been workeàout in detail with the French General 
Staff (which is the case) has certainly committed us to fight, 
whether the Cabinet lfkes it or not, and thot the combined plan 
of tne iwo General Staffs holds the field. lt is certainly an 
extraordlnary thing thot our officers should have been permitted 
to arrange ali the details, trains, landing, concenfn'ltion, etc., 
when the Cabinet have .hever-been consulted .106 

Again, writing to Grey early in September, Asquitn had prewricated, noting : 

Conversations such as that between Gen. Joffre and 
Col .. Fairholme seem tome n:~ther dangerous; espec:lally the 
part which refers to possible British assistance. The French 
ought not to be enc:ouraged, in present cincumstances, to make 
their plans on any assumptions of this kind .107 

Seemingly Asquith was Incapable of bring,lng himself to face the implications of his 

decisions, or to understand that the intrf,cate pre-planning of modern war forbade the 

postponement of decision, pre-planning which, unless rigorously supervlsed and 

co-ardlnated from above, held wrthin itself the potential of prejudiclng thot dedsion 

and rendering it meaningless. ln reality Asquith's 'decisions' were not decisions in 

the acc:epted meaning of that word but merely formai recognitions of trends reversible 

only at the cost of Cabinet solldarity.. Unllke Bal four, Asquith lacked the authorlty 1 

106 -

107 -

Journal, 40ct. 1911. Esher, Journalsand Letters, Vol. Ill, po 6L 

Asquith to Grey, 5 Sept. 1911. Grey of Fallodon, Viscount {Edward}, 
Twentl-Five Years, (Toronto, 192~, Vol. 1, p .. 95. 
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drive and originallty to be at the bottom of ànd to .contro.l the· great mov.ementS of.his 

age ; as Haldane has recalled, Asquith was not a thpughtful innovator but rather an 

accompllshed organizer. Asquith, as it were, stage"'''TJanaged the great forces of 

his times whlch were to so profoundly shape the future of England ; he played his 

difficult role by ear conscious always of the weakness of hi.s own position and of the 

internai stresses and strains of his Cabinet. The breakdown in polltical control lay 

not so much with Asquith's charocter, although he was a weak man, but rather with 

his bitterly divided Party and his own inabillty to appreciate the urgency of the 

pressing problems of defence which to hlm appeared unimportant, annoying and of 

little slgnificance. Asquith's faultwas one of ignorance, no~of indecision. Hence­

forth the problems of defence co-ordination were to be greatly mlnlmlsed, however, this 

achievement had been exacted at the priee of a strategie posture quite without relation 

to the nation's physical and technical capability. 
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CHAPTER NINE 

AFTERMATH 

1 have always noticed thot whenever a Radical takes to 
lmperialism he catches it in a very acute form. 

Churchl Il, House of Commons ; 
May 1901. 

For the moment Great Britain has ceased to be a free agent, 
and has parted with the guardianship of her own soul. Her 
honour is pledged ta France and Russia, although there may 
be no written parchment or attested treaty. 

Viscount Esher; 1912. 

Winston Churchill is a public danger to the Empire. 

Admirai Sir John Jellicoe, 
H .M .S. Iron Duke ; May 1915. 

WINSTON Churchill arrived at the Admiralty on 25tla0ctober 1911 charged with taking 

the Admirais in hond, of ensuing close co-operation with the War Office in the develop­

ment of the Continental Strategy, and the institution of an operational planning body for 

the Senior Service. Before the year was out he had dropped Wilson from his board 

replacing him with a suitably pliant Admirai - Sir Francis Bridgeman. Churchill's 

translation to the Admiralty was not as remarkable as has been widely assumed. Of 

course his appointment had taken place under very special circumstances ; McKenna, 

his predecessor as First Lord, had also hailed from the Radical benches and moreover had 
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built himselfa fine reputation at the Treasury as an 'economist'. However, Fisher's 

magnetism had converted McKenna into a staunch 'navalist' leading him frequently 

to do battle on behalf of the Service during his years as First Lord. The same could1 

perhaps, be iSOÏd of Churchill who was in many respects a replica of Fisher whom he 

had first met at Biarritz in April 1907. Churchill had been deeply influenced during 

those early days of contact with Fisher, days which were to provide the basis for their 

la ter collaboration. 1 t must be remembered thot, however successfu 1, Chu re hi Il 

remained extremely impressionable, and if anyone may be said to have moulded his 

strategie thought orto have fi red his imagination with the power and ma jesty of the 

seo, thot man was Fisher. 

Churchlll's impatience to get down to work dismayed both Asquith and Haldane 

who better appreciated the difficulties thot lay ahead and, above ali, the need to tread 

lightly in dealing with the Admirais. A few days after being informed of his appointment 

on lOth October, over a week before he assumed his new responsibilities, Churchill had 

apparently been bombarding the Prime Minister with memoranda on the establishment of a 

war staff and the other changes he contemplated for the Admira lty. Churchill's head long 

rush occasioned Asquith to note in writing to Haldane : 

1 have returned Winston's papers with red-marked 
criticisms in the margin and have told him (1) thot he must 
proceed in co-operation with yourself and Ottley and (2) 
thot there is no necessity to bring his changes into 
operation at so early a date as lst Jan.l 

Regardless, Churchill pushed ahead heaving Wilson and most of his Board over the side 

in establishing the Admiralty War Staff on 8th January 1912o
2 

Almost as his first act upon arrivai at Admiralty Arch Churchill took up his pen and 

wrote to Fisher begging the old Admirai to descend from his lofty pedestal to become his 

1 - Asquith to Haldane, 14 Oct. 1911. Haldane MSS, MS 5909. 

2 - See: Appendix Ill, 'The Admiralty War Staff'. 
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persona! adviser at the Admiralty. Lord Fisher had discreetly exiled himself to the 

Continent during the winter of 1911 to await Wilson's mandatory retirement due in 

March 1912. This decision had no doubt been the result, in part at least, of the 

fact thot his seventieth birthday had been marl<ed 'by a greater moss of telegroms and 

letters thon when in the full swing of fighting life' •
3 

Fisher had felt his position was 

untenable in view of his refusai to interfere with Wilson's administration ln spite of his 

strong deprecation of the manner in which his successor was handling matters at the 

Admiralty. However, Lord Fisher, as his voluminous correspondance reveals, kept 

fully in touch with events, knowing, for exemple, of the secret Defence Committee 

session of 23rd August before it had even been held.
4 

Of course his special intimacy 

with the McKennas was a particularly valuable fount of lnfonnation - though by no 

means his only source. Basking in the famous resort centres of the Continent, including 

Bad Nauheim, Lucerne and Venice, and hiding himself away in his 'find' at Pallanza 

'Jacky' renewed himself and replenished his energies. However, after sorne ten months 

of relative inactivity, the old Admirai was pleased indeed to receive the homage and 

petition of the new First Lord which caught up with him at Lucerne lote in October : 

1 want to see you very much. When am 1 to have this pleasure ? 
Vou have but to indicate your convenience and 1 will await you 
at the Adiniralty. 5 

Secretly Fisher crossed over to England and spent an invigorating weekend with Churchill. 

So impressed was Churchill with the old Admirai thot he was almost driven to beg Fisher 

to return to Whitehall as First Sea Lord.
6 

However, Jacky, had no desire to play second 

3- FishertoWhite,28Jan.l911. FisherofKilverstone, Baron(JohnA.), 
Fear God and Dread Nought g The Corres ondence of Admirai of the Fleet 
Lord Fis er of Kilverstone, ed. rt ur J. Marder London, 1952- 1951) 1 

Vol. 11, p .. 300. 

4 - See: Fisher to McKenna, 20 Aug. 1911. Fisher of Kilverstone, 
Correspondance, Vol. li, p. 380. 

5 - Churchill to Fisber, 250ct. 1911. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. Il, p, 301. 

6 - See ~ Churchill, W.S., The World Crisis, (New York, 1923), VoL 1, p. 77. 

269 



fiddle to Churchill realising only too weil thot his own position had been seriously 

weakened in the country. Besicles, ChurchiJIIs advocacy of laying the feud finally 

to rest by creating Beresford an additionaf Admirai of the Fleet on the retired list 

stood between them. 
7 

Fisher journeyed bock to the fleshpots and between his astound­

lng feats of endurance on the dance floor he establlshed a vast flow of correspondance 

with Churchill dealing with every aspect of naval affairs. Churchill recalled these 

letters after the War noting ~ 

Ali were dashed off red hot as they left his mi nd, his strong 
pen galloplng along in the wake of the imperious thought .. B 

These letters provided the basis for ChurchilPs mat6riel innovations, his key personnel 

appointments, Fisher's dire warnings on the potentiel of submarine warfare and directed 

the return of Sir John's 'observational' blockade. Fisher even had advice to offer on 

the functions of the War Staff.. However, these were merely the details of Churchill's 

administration at the Admiralty and they will, therefore, not be discussed further. The 

Churchill years before the war were remarkable largely for the strategie and organisational 

changes wrought at the Admiralty thus bringing the Senior Service into closer co-operation 

and harmony with the Army and its Continental Strategy - a strategy which now boasted 

the seal of approval - however grudgingly - of the government. 

Whatever may be said of Churchill's later addiction to the amphibious form of warfare, 

the fact cannat be escaped thot the Fhst Lord put nothing in the way of closer co-operaticm 

with the War Office. On the other hand, his activities in this direction were most 

emphatically not remarkable for their :z:eal.. Nevertheless Sir Arthur Witson's concepts of 

an offensive - defensive strategy for England of close blockade went over the side with 

the rest of the Board. No attempt was made to replace the loss and the Novy was to 

7 - See :Memorandum by Sondars on a conversation with Esher1 9 Novo 1911. 
Bol four MSS, Add .. MS 49719. 

8 - Churchill, The World Crfsis, Vol., 1, p. 77. 
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be without any offensive strategy for three and one half years. Fortunately for England 

the Llberal Cabinet was unable to bring itself to make the Continental Strategy into a 

viable practical principle truly capable of the role whic:h it sought to fulfill 1 with the 

result thot no attack was launched upon the Naval Estimates which were further helped by 

the addi ti ona 1 Novy Law of 1912. 

However, this new era of co-operation and sweet reosonableneu became a threat 

to the continued !ife of the Defence Committee which Holdone, for one, seems to hove 

written off by this june ture as on experiment in fat lure. Esher, perhops more thon 

anyone but Balfour, wos very much .olive to the dangers of rule by personality as weil 

as the importance of including ali affected orgons of government in the councils of 

co-ordination. Viscount Esher proposed, therefore, thot the Co-ordination Sub-Committèe 

of the previous Jonuory be transformed into a Permanent Sub-Committee of the Committèe 

of Imperial Defence. ln the course of a memorandum in support of this proposai Esher 

noted in part : 

1 t is a motter ••• for the· serious consideration of the Prime 
Mlnister whether it would not strengthen the defensive forces 
of the Empire very moteriolly where he to allow it to be under­
stood thot the Sub-Committee on Co-ordination should in future 
be constituted a Standing Sub-Committee, with instructions to 
meet regularly once a month during the sitting of ParliamenL 
This Sub-Committee might very odvantageously be preslded over 
alternotely by the First Lord of the Admiralty and the Secretary 
of State for Wor. Among its functions might be thot of ascertaining 
from the heads of the public Departments present, or their 
representatives, infonnation as to how and when previous recom­
mendotions of the Committee have been dealt with by the Departrnents 
concerned. 9 

9 - 'Proposai for the Appointment of a Co-ordination Sub-Committee to be a 
Standing Sub-Committee of the Committee of Imperial Defence', Memorandum 
by Lord Esher, 7 Dec. 1911.. C.I.O. Popers, 12 Dec. 1911, 
Cob .. 18/24*, p. 2. 
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Of course by this juncture Esher had become a convinced opponent of the Continenta 1 

Strategy as his exclusion on 23rd August so clearly underlined. Writing to Fisher in 

Apri 1 1 912 he noted : 

1 think the defence scheme of the General Staff of the 
Army grotesque. 1 am sure that thel r pro jects last August 
were wi Id in the extreme. 10 

However, Ottley, whose retirement was already in the air by November 1911 1 was 

not exactly keen on Esher•s proposais notJng g 

Rome was not bu il t in a day. We cannot make up the se large 
areas of work in the course of a single session of Parliament. 
l deprecate too rapid a forcing of the pace, but 1 agree with 
you thot our preparàtlons here go forward without rest, tf wlth­
out haste. 11 

However, Hankey was on the surface not quite so jealous of the prerogatives of the 

Secretariat and ln the course of the following year the Co-ordination Committee achieved 

permanent status under his tutelage. Nevertheless, as has already been seen, tt sel dom 

convened leaving the bulk of the work involved in the preparation of the War Book to the 

Secretariat, and never, therefore, had the opportunity to branch out into the broader 

issues ofinterdepartmental co-operation and co-ordination. 

Early on the morning of Tuesday 4th June 1912 VIscount Haldane received the 

followlng letter from the Lord Chancellor : 

My dear Haldane, 
Wi Il you do me a great favour g to come round 

to this houseas soon as you can and see me - this morning. 
1 can not exp lain why 1 take this liberty - but 1 sha Il be 
truly grateful if you will be so kind as to come. lt is very 
important. 

Yours very sincerely, 
12 

(Sgd .) Loreburn .. 

10 - Esher to Fisher, 20 Apr. 1912 .. Esher1 Viscount (Reginald B .. ), Journals and 
Letters, ed. Oliver Viscount Esher (London, 1938), Vol .. 111 1 p .. 88. 

11 - •Proposal·for the Appolntment of a Co-ordination Sub-Committee' 1 12 Dec. 
1911r P• 4. 

12 - Loreburn to Haldane, 4 June 1912. Haldane MSS, MS 5909 .. 

272 



HaJdane's departure from the War Office for the Wooback, which he hacho long 

coveted, stgnafled that he had completed his task, commenœd in 1905, to his 

satisfaction~ The Army had been rebutlt upon finn foundations and the War Office 

posaessed, a$ it had not before, a stmteglc mison d'être.. Haldane's exquislte 

abHlty was marked on hü departure by the advent of mediocrity at the War Off! ce -

which was probably ali to the good.. Colonel Seely, an old friend of Churchlll's 

from thetr backbench days, was a rother colourless individuel and as Repington noted 

in writing to Haldane late in the autumn of 1912 : 

l llke your successor personally and get on wtth him, but 
he does nothing and cames. no guns .. " .. • 13 

Later in the same letter, having deprecated Lord Roberts1 and Henry Wilson's campaign 

against the Territorials in their efforts to establish the principle of cOmpulsion, 

Repington noted g 

1 personally think thot an Army Order should be published 
waming offlcers against deprecatlng our armed forces in the 
press, in very finn Welltngtonian tenns.. ln no other country 
is the Ucense permitted that we allow • • • .. lt is ali part of 
a game to destroy the voluntary system, and it is more than high 
time to put a stop to IJt whether the ultimate object of the game 
is in itself desirable or not... 1 fee! sure that great hann is being 
done to discipline, numbers, and efficiency by the present 
campaign which has a purely destructive tendency for you know 
weil what years must elapse before we could substi tute any other 
military system even if we desired to do so~ 

lt would be useless for me to talk to Seely 1 but the situation 
ls so serious thot 1 thlnk you should ask the Prime Mfnister to inter­
vene with a finn hand to put matters to rights.14 

13 - Replngton to Haldane, 27 Nov. 1912. Holdcne MSS, MS 5909. 

14 - Replngton to Haldcmer 27 Nov .. 1912.. Haldane MSS, MS 5909. 
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lt was a great tribute to Hafdane's work at the War Office that it took botha war 

and a 'god, s~(ghtly gone to seed perhaps', 
15 

to tear clown his new structure for the 

Army. 

Nevertheless Seely was appreciative of the fundamenta 1 necessi ty for inter­

Service co-operation and co-ordination. Together -Mth Churchill he set up an 

unofficial committee termed the 'High Level Bridge' consisting of themselves and 

their two chief professlonal advisers to supervise the general work of co-ordination.
16 

lt functloned weil enough owing to the elimination of continuous overt friction 

between the Services. Hankey, having already it seems developed his taste as a 

committee man, grafted himself onto this ad hoc body so as to safeguard the interests 

of the Oefence Committee and its Secretariat. ln splte of long delays over the completion 

of the shipplng arrangements, which were not concluded until the sprlng of 1914, this 

committee was responsible for the institution and guidance of ali inter-Service co­

operation and the establishment of the Slade-Wortly transport committee. 
17 

This is not to say, of course, that the War Office and the Admiralty were without 

differences. There was, for example, the almost hilarious debate between the 

Services over the question of'bui lding a Channel Tunnel. Stretching from lote 1913 

to as lote as the 128th meeting of the C.I.O. in mid-July 1914, the controversy raged 

over the semantics of a 'destructtble -indestructible' tunnel - needless to say these 

wasted energies came to nothing.
18 

15 - Osbert Sltwell t cited : Magnus, P., Kitchener : Portrait of an Imperia list, 
{London, 19!13) 1 p. 276. 

16 - See: Seely, J.E. 1 Adventure, (London, 1930), p .. 140. 

17 - See: Wilson, Ufe and Dlaries1 Vol. 11 p. 150. 

18 - See : 'Strategical Aspects of the Channel Tunnel' 1 Admiralty Memorandum, 
January 1907; C.I.O. Papers, 23 Apr. 1914, Cab. 3/2/~68A. 'The 
Strategical Aspects of the Channel Tunnel : Summary of the Naval, Military, 
and Strategical Reasons for and agalnst the TunneP, Report by the Secre­
tariat of the C .1 • D. 1 7 May 1914 ; C .1. 0. Papers, Cab. 3/2/~70A. 
'Channel Tunnel', Memorandum by Field-Marshal Lord Nicholson, 19 May 
1914 J C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 3/2/~74A. 'Committee of Imperial Oefence, 
Channel Tunnel', Memorandum by Co. the Rt. Hon. J.E.B. Seely, 1 July 
1914; C.L.O .. Paperst 2 July 1914, Cab. 3/2/~76A. 'Committee of Imperial 
Oefence, Minutes of the l28th Meetlng, July 14, 1914', The Channel Tunnel ; 
C .1. 0. Pa pers, Cab. 2/3/3. 
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Again, there was the hotly disrupted disagreement between the two Services over 

the Admircrlty's decision to withdraw from the Mediterranean which occurred during 

the spring and summer of 1912.
19 

Although, of course, the Admimlty was forced to 

partialfy capitulate on_ this occasion givlng rise to Churchill 1s active courting of 

Mr. Borden in the interests of an 'imperial squadron' of dreadnoughts, nevertheless 

Fisher retumed to the Defence Commlttee from his ext le to exp lain, as he knew no 

one else could1 the fundamenial precepts of British naval pollcy. The soldiers had 

led the attack in insistlng thot both Malta and Egypt would be left open to invasion 

If the Mediterranean Fleet were wtthdmwn. The soldiers endeavoured to exploit this 

chink ln the Navy's defe11sive armour in order to press ahead for a firm alliance with 

France - ostensibly to safeguard 'British interests in the Mediterranean but in reality 

to so confirm the mi litary agreements as to render compulsion inevitable. This largely 

explains the increase in the tempo of the activities of the National Service League 

during 1912., Henry Wilson, for example, noted in his diary early in Moy~ 

Haldane sent for me this morning to discuss the question of our naval 
retirement from the Mediterranean. 1 advocated on alliance wlth 
France for the specifie case of Germon aggresslon, but he is opposed 
to it becouse he sees it would probably meon conscriptlon..20 

Eorly in July 1912 the Defence Committee took the whole matter into consideration at one 

of lts rare full sessions. Fisher, who had just retumed from Swltzerland1 mode his views 

abundantly clear to the Committee observlng : 

19 - See : 'Memorandum by the Secreiary of State for War on the Effect of the 
Loss of Sea Power in the Mediterraneen on British Military Strateg/ 1 

9 May 1912; Cabinet Papers, Cab., 37/110, No. 68. 'The Naval 
Situation in the Mediterranean', Memorandum by the First Lord of the 
Admlralty, 15Jan .. 1912 f Cabinet Papers1 Cab .. 37/111, Noo 76 .. 
Statement by the Rt .. Hon. Reginald McKenna on the Naval Situation 
in the Medlterranean, 24 June 1912; Cabinet Papers, Cabo 37/111 1 

No. 79., 'The Naval Situation', Memorandum by the Ftrst Lord of the 
Admiralty, 25June 1912; Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/111, No .. 80. 
Memorandum on the Naval Situation in the Medfterranean by Reginald McKenna, 
3 July 1912; Cabinet Papers, Cab .. 37/111, No. 86. Churchill to Holdane, 
6 May 1912; Haldane MSS, MS 5909. Haldane to Grey, 10 June 1912; 
Holdone MSS, MS 5909 .. 

20 - Diary, 6 May 1912o Wilson, Life and Diories, Vol .. 1, p .. 112 .. 
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••• the fhst necesslty was certalnly of vtctory ln the North Sea. 
Ever since 1904,. when Lord Selbome was at the Admlralty, there 
had1 been a graduai reduction of our force ln the Medlterranean. 
He had no doubt that the Admiralty had ail the facts, and he agreed 
wtth the vlews expressed by the Ftrst lord. • ... he a Iso agreed with 
the Ftrst Lord thot nothing must be left to chance in the North Seo, 
and thot therefore the wtthdrawal of the Medltem:mean fleet was 
justifiable.. If the Foreign Office satd thot the maintenance of sea 
command ln the Mediterraneen was essentiel, then we must butld a 
fleet for that purpose .21 

However, Wilson argued that rather than but Id more ships why not lnstitute conscrlptlon 

and garrison these points in suffrcient strength .. 
22 

Of course, such an argument 

represented a mixture of rank opportunism and obstinate disregard for the principles of 

sea power. Basides as Lord Fisher nated in speaklng both of the North Seo and the 

Medlterranean 1 

.... the danger to transports from submarlne and torpedo attack 
was so sertous that any ideo of invasion anywhere in face of them 
was out of the question .23 

Ftsher then proceeded to lnfonn the Committee of the 1facts of Hfe and deoth' for 

England as tled up ln the battle fleet l 

.... our battle fleet would not be ln the North Seo. lt would 
be off the North Coast of Scotland or outslde the straits of Dover. 
If the Gennan Fleet came out lt would be attacked by submarines 
and destroyers, tf tt came out far enough tt would then have to 
flght our battle fleet. · • o • the Gennans could afford to rTsk 
their whole fleet, as lt would really make very little difference 
to them if the whole were lost, whereas to us defeat meant the loss 
of everythtng.24 

21 - 'Committee of Imperial Defence : Mlnutes of the 117th Meeting, July 41 1912' 1 

\The StrategJcal Position [n the Mediterraneen). C.!~U. Papers, Cab.2/2/3, 
p. 13. 

22 - See: Diary1 8 May 1912. Wilson, Life and Dlaries, Vol. 1, p .. 113. 

23 - 'Minutes of the 117th Meeting, July 4, 1912', (The Strategfcal Position ln 
the Mediterraneen), p ... ll. 

24 - 'Minutes of the 117th Meeting, July 4, 1912', (The Strategfccil Position ln 
the Medltenanean}, p. 13. 
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Wilson fc:Jlled ln hl$ efforts during the summer to achieve the final consolidation of 

the Continental Strategy ln the conclusion of a flrm alliance with France o Grey was, 

of course, far too cautious. to be pushed lnto a deftnite cdUance with France refusing 

always to admit that the Entente had afready in fa ct ali the aUri butes of an a li lance. 

However, Balfour, now without responsibllity of any sort, freely pressed for a 

defensive alliance urgtng such a course of action.upon Grey in mid-June 1912 ; 

1 submit ..... (1) thot the capacities of the much tried 
1 Entente' are now almost exhausted. (2) Thot the advantages, 
mllltary and diplomatie of a treaty, are great and growlng., (3) 
Thot Us dangers, though real, are not unavoidable 1 and (4) 
thot ln a judicious use of the modem machinery of arbitration 
may perhaps be found the best way of avot ding them .25 

Balfour always a finn beltever in the voluntary principle, 
26 

fdlled to appreclate the 

probable consequences of su ch a move upon the nature of the British milttary commltment. 

Wilson and his friends were èletermined to place the Expeditionary Force upon the 

Continent regardless of its actual capaclty to participate in Continent-style campatgns ; 

however, tf capacfty and strategie intent could be equated into a polttlcal reallty then 

so much the better.. However, it ts necessazy to understand thot Ba 1 four sttll regarded 

the Expeditionary Force as a complement to more Important developments upon the seo -

unltke Asquith's Government which had managed to place the cart before the horse but 

had failed to make the necessary adjustments in the capabilities of the two Services -

tt had falled because tt knew thot compulsion and dreadnoughts dtd not mix ln an age 

when a paramount naval capacity was essentiel. Keeplng these thoughts ln mind 

Balfour's elaboration of the militory advantages of an alliance were interesting.t 

lts advantages are evidently great both from: a mllitary and 
a diplomatie point of view. From a military point of view lt 
enables the General Staffs of the allred countries to estimate 
accurately the character and amount of assistance on which 
they con respectively rely, and the dates at which itwill be 

25 - 'Memorandum on Anglo-French Relations•, by Mr. Balfour, (sent by request 
to SirE. Grey), 12 June 1912. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49731 • 

26 - See: Balfour, B.E .. , Arthur James Balfour, (London, 1936), Vol. !1, p. 79. 
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forthcoming.. They need not have two sets of plans, the· 
one based on the united action of the Western Powers, tlie 
ether based upon their Isolation. They will no longer feel 
themselves at the mercy of passlng poli tf cal moods and forces .• 
They will know exact!y how they stand .27 

Of course, Grey•s policy was not only dtrected by his persona( refusai to face the 

ultlmate facts but also by his reUance upon Asquith and his Cabinet of extremes ; 

for as Sir Arthur Nicholson had told Paul Cambon 1 this radical-socialist cabinet1 would 

be destroyed by any such development If Asquith was polttically fooltsh enough to 

permit tt .. 28 
Noting thot Eyre Crowe had told him of his advocacy of such an alliance1 

but thot he realised a Iso its implications, Henry Wilson noted in his diary thot if such a 

move did in fact bring down the Government - •so best1 
•• 

29 

However, Grey's indecision also had its merits - thot is in terms of the Entente 

diplomacy - as evidenced by the Belgian question which was revlved in the spring 

of 1912 .. 8oth Wilson, and the new C.t.G.S .. , Sir John French, though for very 

different ends, sought to persuade Grey to improve relations with Belgium. Whi le 

Wilson allegedly had come to agree with the French viewpoint thot Gennany was 

unlikely to employ troops north of the Meuse in the event of war, nevertheless he 

sought through Grey to extract a Belgian promise to uphold thelr own neutra!ity in the 

event of a German incursion north of thot river. 
3° French, on the other hand, was 

pressing for a firm agreement with Belgium to permit the dispatch of the Expeditionary 

Force to Antwerp in order to ald the Belgians actively in the safeguarding of their 

neutrality
31 

- French, as has been seen, regarded a wide German sweep through Belgtum 

27 - 'Memorandum on Angle-French Relations', 12 June 1912. Balfour MSS, 
Add. MS 49731. 

28 - Cfted: Taylor, A .. J.P., The Struggle for Mastery in Europe, 1848- 1918, 
(Oxford, 1954), p,. 479 .. 

29 - Diary, 8 May 1912. Wilson, Life and Otaries, Vol. 1, p. 113. 

30 - See: Collier, I.B., Brasshat: A Biography of Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, 
(London, 1961), p. 128 • 

31 - Tyler, J .. E., The British Army and the Continent, 1904- 1914, (London, 
1938) 1 pp. 130 - 132 • 
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north of the Meuse as a matter of common-sense.. On neither score, the one belng 

conducted through the Foreign Office, the other, French•s, vio Sir Tom Bridges, the 

Mllitary Attaché in Brussels, were the Belgfans at ali receptlveo Besides, the old 

Admiralty stricture, so often restated on the Defence Committee, forbiddlng operatlons 

to the east of the debouch of the straits into the North Sea, effectively precluded 

French's plan, as it was in August 1914, owing to the time question.. Nevertheless 

in spite of later Foreign Office pronouncements the Defence Committee in lote April 

accepted the considered opinion of the representatives of the War Office thot the 

question of Belgian self-defence was not vital as they were expected to be 'favouroble 

ta us' in the actual event. 
32 

Grey's dealings with the Belgian Govemment had been 

compllcated since 1908 by the Congo question and plagued in their turn by Morel-s 'Congo 

Reform Association' which dated from 1903.
33 

Nevertheless after five years of disagree­

ment and in the face of Morel's opposition Grey went ahead in the summer of 1913 and 

granted recognition to the annexation, thereby extending the de facto protection of 

Great Britain to this Belgium Cotonial possession which the Government in Brussels 

f~lt to be threatened by the recent acquisition of parts of the French Congo by Germany 1 

without exacting in return even a pledge of self defence in the event afa violation of 

Belgium neutrality. Grey's action could possibly be explained in terms of the fears 

which he might have entertained for the effects of such an agreement upon the Entente 

policy. A promise of thot nature would have rendered the military arrangements with 

nacepointless and have led to demands for an active pollcy of direct milttary assistance 

for Belgium. As Grey put it in writing to Bertie lote in May 1914 conceming a proposai 

for staff ta lks with the Russians : 

32 - 'Committee of Imperial Defence: Minutes of the 116th Meeting, April25, 1912', 
(Attitude of Great Britain Towards Belgium in the Event of a Violation of 
Belgian Territory by Germany inTime ofWar). C.I.O. Papers, Cab. 2/2/3. 

33 - See: Thomas, M.E., 'Anglo-Belgian Military Relations and the Congo 
Question', The Jou rna 1 of Modern Htstory, Vol. XXV, 1953, pp. 157 - 165. 
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The conversations thot had taken place between the French and 
British military staffs left no room for any other arrangement, 
even a conditional one, so far as England was concerned.34 

On the other ha nd Wilson pressed Grey to do a Il he cou Id to keep Belgium friendly -

hence the Congo recognition in the face of Morel•s voca 1 opposition. Grey needed a 

co-operative Belgium but he did not wish to be embarrassed by any untoward Belgian 

favourableness. 

Regardless Wilson pressed on, somehow surviving the Ulster crisis in the spring of 

1914 when above ali his head ought to have been the first to roll. As a politicien 

Wilson exploited the political •decision• which had sanctioned the Continental Strategy. 

As a soldier he permitted his emotions and his politics to get the better of his military 

judgement. Wilson accused Grey of knowing nothing of policy and strategy going hand 

in hand ; he was quite wrong. One could accuse Wilson of knowing nothing of the 

importance of the relationship of strategy to capability, of objective to method; one 

would, however, unfortunately for Wilson, be qui te wrong to make such an assumption. 

Henry Wilson was weil aware of the military implications of his uncritical adoption of 

the French Continental Strategy ; but he gambled with England•s incapacity to gain a 

political and if possible a military victory. ln sorne respects Wilson won. But England 

lost. 

Meanwhi le ac ross Whitehall Churchi Il initiated a regime of intimately persona! 

control designed to reshape naval strategie thought and to bring Admiralty planning into 

concert with thot of the War Office. Sir Arthur Wilson•s offensive- defensive close 

blockade was scrapped Jn faveur of Fisher 1s old observationa 1 blockade as establi~hed 

formally in 1907. Of course these terms offensive and defensive must be employed rather 

carefully especially when discussing British seo power. ln terms of the Royal Novy the 

destruction of the High Seas Fleet was in essence a defensive operation ; whereas German 

34 - Sir Edward Grey to Sir Francis Bertie, Foreign Office, 21 May 1914, 
(Circulated to the Cabinet 22 May 1914). Cabinet Papers, Cab. 
37/120, No. 63. 
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naval operations agalnst the Grand Fleet were fundamentally offensive in chorocter. 

Close blockade, of ali blockade methods, !s in essence offensive ; however, if it !s 

designed not only to threaten the enemy's coasts and strongle his commerce but also 

to lure his battle fleet out tnto a major action, th en i t too must be regarded as havlng 

defensive elements. Fisher's Baltic Project was clearly offensive in nature pre-supposing 

the destruction of the enemy's potentio 1 to den y the seas to the Roya 1 Novy, 

Arthur Wilson 1s close blockade was, on the other hand, at once defensive and offensive 

in character; when Churchi Il scuttled the close blockade po licy he denied the Novy 

an-offensive strategy white retaining the far more fundomental defensive in the 

observational and later the distant blockade - which was, of course, economically 

an offensive tool o But nevertheless Churchill did nothing to provide the Novy with a 

positively offensive role discovering the implications of this shortcoming only when it 

was too lote. Close blockade was, needless to say, sheer madness in vlew of the 

development of modern naval technology ; however1 in view of the widespread belief 

in the Service that war when it came would be marked almost at once by a decisive 

fleet action, Churchill's foi lure to provide the Service with a viable strategy for the 

offence was reprehensible and but for the events of 1914 - 1916 could have been 

disostrous. Churchill may not be excused on the grounds of the paramount need to 

enforce co-operation with the War Office ; as Fir&t Lord, and de facto First Sea lord, 

it was his responsibility to consider the role of the Service in its every aspect., Churchill 

did not suscribe to the risk theory or to the fleet in being concept, giving hlm, therefore, 

no reason not to expect a major fleet action at the earUest possible moment in the 

event of war.. ln the course of an Admlralty memorandum of the summer of 1912 the 

Fi rst lord noted 1 

We have • o • been assured from German sources that " .... the 
Germons have no expectation of obtaining a victory over the 
strongest naval Power, and thot ali they seek to achleve ls a 
standard of strength thot wtll leave the greatest naval Power so 
seriously weakened after the battfe is over thot she would hesltate 
before embarking on a quarre!. This expia nation is scarcely 
respectful of the sogacity of the German Govemment, and to the 
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high degree to which they carry their studies of mi litary art 
both by land and sea. Whatever purpose has animated the 
crea tors of the German Novy, and induced them to make so 
many exertions and sacrifices, it is not the foolish purpose of 
certalnly coming off second best on the day of triat.35 

If the priee of supreme command was the sacrifice of reason and trusted tradition then 

thot unity of purpose was worthless and indeed damaging in the extreme., 

Churchi Il was never wholly convinced of the offensive capabi llties of the sub­

marine refusing, as has been seen, to heed Fisher's seemingly alarmlst warnings. 

lndeed submarine policy as a whole was confused under Churchill and little lnterest 

was evlnced by the Board in the further development of this weapon. The naval 

manoeuvres of the summer of 1912 were designed to examine the effectiveness of the 

observatlonal blockade cruisers backed up by defensive under-sea boots in locating 

and breaking up an enemy invasion fleeL Technically the enemy 1 landed' sorne 

12,000 men as the official outcome of these trials. However, in view of the fact that 

no actual transports were employed - resulting therefore in no sightings by the defend­

ing submarines - this result really had little significance .. 
36 

There was a further 

aspect of these manoeuvres which whi le interesting was so contradictory as to render 

the entire outcome extremely doubtful ; writing to Mr .. Balfour lote in July the Earl of 

Selbome had noted in this connection : 

1 have heard two very interesting things about the naval 
manoeuvres .. 

The invaders succeeded in landing 28,000 men before 
they were interrupted.. Callaghan also detached a single 
submarine which arrived unobserved off Rosyth and torpedoed 
one battleship after another as they came in~ 

The balance of thot latter experience is in our favour as 
we have a large superiority at present in submarines, but the 
chance is of course doubled edged .. 37 

35 - 'Memorandum on the General Naval Situation•, Admiralty, 26 Aug. 1912. 
Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/112, No. 100, p. 4. 

36 - See: Marder, A.J .. , From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, (London, 1961), 
Vol. 1, p. 352. 

37 - Selbome to Balfour, 22 July 1912.. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49708. 
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This letter, leaving oside Selbome's figures, speaks for ttself clearly revealing the 

developtng offensive nature of the submarine boat~ Churchill was, however 1 

justifiably unperturbed by this fatlure of the cruisers and submarines noting in on 

Admlralty memorandum of the spring of 1913 : 
\ 

On the ossumption thot a close blockade either of the 
Heligoland Bight or of the exits from the Baltic1 is not possible,. 
the Admiralty cannot guarantee thot individuel vessels will not 
frequently slip thorugh the cruiser squadrons potrolling the wide 
a rea of the North Sea. 38 

1t wos this consideration coupled to the need for effective screening of the battle fleet 

and the wear and tear of such patrols upon these thot led finolly on the eve of the out­

break of wor in Europe to the adoption of the distant blockade. 

The following year however, in July 1913, the manoeuvres were not conducted 

on such on idiotie, porsimonious, bosls. This time both troops and transports were 

made availoble ; nevertheless the umpires declared the safe landing of 48,000 •enemy• 

soldlers. Even more astounding wos the foct thot 'enemy• submarines ochieved a 

resaunding success against the defendlng fleet whose under-sea boots were unable to 

dispatch a single 'enemy' transport or support vesse!.. However, fortunately these 

results had little relationship to realîty.. Admirai of the Fleet Sir Roger Keyes, at thot 

time lnspecting Captain of Submarines, has recalled thot the umpire, 'an admirai', and 

his chief of staff, 'a reor-odmiral', were wholly lacking in submorine experience and 

totally ignorant of under-sea warfare ; disliking these craft and severely prejudiced 

against them the umpires had declored them 'sunk 1 on the slightest pretext. Many of 

the officers thus disqualified protested to Keyes noting thot but for the decisions of the 

umpires they would hove been in a position to 'sink' large numbers of transports and 

escort vessels. lndeed Keyes' protests to the Admiralty were successfu! in achieving a 

revision of the submarines 'lost• 1 though no corresponding odjustment was effected in 

38 - 'Admlralty Notes•, 14 Apr .. 1912. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/115, 
No. 23, p. 6. 
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terms of the number of troops successfully disembarked. ln his Report Keyes noted : 

1 am convinced that there wi Il be a very rude awakening 
if tactics which were common during the recent manoeuvres 
are repeated in ac tua 1 warfare. 39 

These manoeuvres, which had occurred in the midst of the sittings of the 1913- 1914 

C.I.O. Sub-Committee Enquiry into Overseas Attaack, did not, however, receive 

much credence making no dent in the previous decisions of the Defence Committee on 

invasion, though they were probably instrumental in the retention of the stipulation 

that two regular divisions were to remain at home during the initial stages of a war. 

Writing toMr. Balfour1 whowasamemberofthe 1913-1914 C.I.O. Sub-Committee, 

Han key noted la te in August 191 3 : 

The Admiralty will in due course give us a narrative and a 
commentary in (ji~ these manoeuvres, which were most 
practical and useful. 1 shall not attempt to pre-judge the 
Admiralty Reports, but my own impression, formed on board 
the Enchantress, where 1 was the guest of the First Lord, is 
thot they wi Il confirm your own opinions in many respects. 
That is to say they will show the need for more coastal sub­
marines and a general tuning up of the whole system of 
coas ta 1 commun ica ti ons • 40 

Sir David Beatty, lately Churchill's Persona! Private Secretary and even more recently 

the recipient of the patronage both of Fisher and the First Lord in his promotion over 

the heads of many to the command of the much sought after Battle Cruiser Squodron, 

noted in the course of a letter to his wife 1 Ethel, following upon the conclusion of the 

manoeuvres : 

Dined last night with the C.-in-C. [Callagha!] who was very 
despondent about the manoeuvres and the ridiculous conditions 
thereof, and told me Winston was to arrive Tuesday with 
Sir John French and Sir Reginald Custance in the Enchantress, 
so 1 said he would have a great opportunity of polnting out his 

. 

39 - Cited: Keyes, R., Naval Memoirs, 'From the Narrow Seas to the 
Dardanelles', (New York, 1934), p. s:>. 

40 - Hankey to Balfour, 27 Aug. 1913. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49703. 
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opinion of the whole thing, which cheered him up. 
Winston would appeor to be like the Greot War Lord of 
Germany travelling about with a Naval and Military 
adviser. 1 hope he does come and will give us the 
opportunity of tel ling ~im what we think of the absurdity 
of ali the conditions. 1 

Beotty was without doubt possessed of one of the better minds in the Service, and while 

no 'Fisherite' he boasted the old Admiral's breodth of vision, open-mindedness and 

grasp. 

A number of Churchill's better informed contemporaries have been extremely 

critical of the First Lord's failure to develop an offensive strategy for the Navy. 

Churchill's actions in June 1914 and afterwards, his desperate casting about for an 

offensive role, reveoled how cleorly he himself came in time to see this failing. 

Sir Herbert Richmond has recalled somewhat bitterly of the Churchill years: 

The upkeep of even the small existing establishment of 
landing craft was abandoned in finn conviction that no 
such operations as those for which they had been bui lt 
would ever be undertaken. 42 

Richmond certainly over-stated his case here attributing to Churchi Il a clarity of 

purpose which was wholly lacking. Churchill, in fact, hardly considered the offensive 

role of the Novy unti 1 the summer of 1914 when he discovered thot he was tao la te. 

Everything had been subordinated to the Continental Strategy. 

Cleor indication of the reorientation in strategie thinking at the Admiralty was 

contained in a lengthy Cabinet Memorandum drawn up by Churchill following upon the 

Mediterraneen crisis. ln the course of this paper Churchill had observed : 

Gennany has a very small coast-line and few great harbours 
in the North Seo. lt would be difficult to find a more un-

41 - Beotty to Lady Beotty, 20 July 1913. Chalmers, W .S., The Life and Letters 
of David Earl Beotty, Admirai of the Fleet, (London, 1951), p. 126. 

42 - Richmond, H.W., Statesmen and Sea Power, (Oxford, 1946), p. 283. 
See also: Vagts, A., Landing Operations, (Harrisburg, 1952}, p. 488. 
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promising coast for a naval attack than this li ne of sma Il 
islands, with their dangerous navigation, uncertain and 
shifting channels and sand banks, currents, mists, and 
fogs. Ali the difficulties of nature have been developed 
by military art, and an immense front of fortifications 
crowned by enonnous batteries already covers and commands 
a Il the approaches to German y from the North Sea. Wi th 
every improvement in the mine, the torpedo, and the 
Submarine-boat, the Gennan coasts became more effectually 
protected from a naval attack.43 

While Churchill admitted that the submarine had sorne potentiel as an offensive 

weapon, as has been seen he doubted the intention to use under-sea boots for such 

purposes. Writing to Mr. Balfour early in 1912 he had underlined his confidence in 

the fundamentally defensive nature of the submarine : 

1 have been thinking over what you wrote about submarines. 
·rhey seem tome to be a great advantage tous. They make in-
vasion ever more difficult than before. They are the most fonnidable 
defence for their own coasts. Ali that suits us, increases our security, 
and frees our battle fleet. And as we are never likely to try to invade 
Gennany, i t does not eut both ways. 

Without o friendly coast the submarine is in a weak position ; 
and is dependent on the parent ship. lt would be a very risky and 
short-lived enterprise to put a German submarlne floti llo in the 
Channel to stop a British anny going to the help of France. One 
cannat say there is no possibility of it, and the chance will increase 
with the size and power of submarines. But on the balance, even so, 
we are the gai ners from this new type. 44 

This letter a Iso clearly revealed the extent to which Churchil Ps strategie thought was 

dictated by military considerations to the detriment of ali independant naval offensive 

thinking. 

43 - 'Memorandum on the General Naval Situation', Admiralty, 26 Aug. 1912. 
Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/112, No. 100, p. 3. 

44 - Church'ill to Balfour, 6 Jan. 1912. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49694. 
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ln the course of a Cabinet Memorandum drawn up ln the spring of 1913 Churchi! 1 made 

his more considered appreciation of the dangers inherent in close blockade quite clear : 

The continuous development of the mine and the torpedo 
make it impossible to establish a close watch on the exits from 
the Heligoland Bight with heavy ships~ To do so for a long 
period of time would mean a steady and serious wastage of 
valuable ships from the above causes, and, ifl{olonged, would 
effectua lly a 1 ter the ba lance of na va 1 power. 

Above ali Churchill was fortunate in having a firm grasp of the great significance 

attached to the wielding of sea power, and had also a clear understanding of the 

relative importance of the exercise of sea power in the lives of Germany and England ; 

in his memorandum of August 1912 the First Lord had noted : 

A decisive battle lost at sea by Germany would stlll leave her 
the greatest Power in Europe. A decisive battle lost at sea 
by Great Britain would for ever ruln the United Kingdom, would 
shatter the British Empire to its foundations, and change profoundly 
the destiny of its component parts. The advantages which Great 
Britain could gain from defeating Germany are niL. There are 
practically no limits to the ambitions which might be indulged by 
Germany, orto the brilliant prospects open to herin every quarter 
of the globe, if the British Novy were out of the way. The com­
bination of the strongest Novy with that of the strongest Army would 
afford wider possibilities of influence and action than have yet been 
possessed by any Empire since Rome defeated Carthage. 46 

Churchill, incidentally 1 wrote his own memoranda. 

The First Lord's attitude towards blockade, while rejecting close in-shore operations 

in the face of the new technology 1 wos nevertheless tempered by what one observer ha~ 

described as ChurchiiPs penchant for the 1seek out, hunt down and destroy• school. 47 

45 - 'Admiralty Notes•, 14 Apr. 1912. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/115, No. 23, 
P• 4. 

46 - 'Memorandum on the General Naval Situation', Admiralty, 26 Aug. 1912. 
Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/112, No. 100, p. 5. 

47 - See: Marder, From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, Vol. 1, p. 373. 
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This reluctance to relinquish sorne facet of the Nelsonion virtue led to a degree of 

indecisfveness culminating in the First Lord 1s long second thoughts durlng the summer 

and autumn of 1914. This was, however, merely one aspect of his far more universal 

leaning towards interference in a vast range of technical matters. This side of 

Churchill's character led to many bitter and often unjustified attacks upon his 

administration of both the Admiralty and the Navy as a whole ; Jellicoe's reaction 

was typical : 

After assuming office as Second Sea Lord it did not take me long 
to fi nd out that Mr. Churchill, the First Lord, was very apt to 
express strong opinions upon purely technical matters: moreover, 
not being satisfied with expressing opinions, he tried to force his 
views upon the Board. lt is quite true that Mr. Churchill proved 
himself to be a very elever and able Flrst Lord in sorne directions 
but his fatal error was his entlre inability to realise his own 
limitations as a civilian with, it is true, sorne early experience of 
military service but quite Ignorant of naval matters. 48 

lt was this spirit which led Churchill to choose Bridgeman and later Battenberg as his 

chief professional advisers. Quite apart from the weakness of his character, for much 

of his thirteen-odd months at Admiralty Arch Bridgeman was a sick man. Churchill 

was finally forced to get rid of him in December 1912. lt was clear from a letter which 

Esher wrote on the First Sea Lord 1s retirement to Balfour that Bridgeman's incapacity 

had suited the First Lord ideally: 

Bridgeman ali through this last year has been unfit for his place, 
ta judge by his appearance at the C .1. D. 

He was physically and mentally unfit for the responsible 
post of First Sea Lord, and 1 think Winston C. was much to biarne 
for leaving him as long as he did. 49 

48 - Cited: Bacon, R.H., The Life of John Rushworth Earl Jellicoe, (London, 
1 936) ' pp • 181 - 1 82 • 

49 - Esher to Balfour, 28 Dec. 1912. Balfour MSS, Add. MS 49719. 
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Nevertheless to the credit of Churchil Ps impetuosity must be laid his courage in 

pushing ahead with 15-inch ballistics in the face of professional skepticism, and 

without time-consuming researching and testing. Thus the 'Queen Elizabeths' joined 

the Grand Fleet over a year before they otherwise would have done so - a class of 

dreadnoughts since described as 'the most perfect example of the naval constructor's 
50 

art as yet put afloat'. Above ali, for ali his faults and muddling, Churchill was 

successful in imparting to the Se!Vice something of his own sp1rit and drive and re­

turned Lord Fisher to a position of fruitful advice and criticism. Writing to Mr. Balfour 

early in July 1912 - at the height of the Mediterranean crisis during which he 

successfully championed the demands for the retention of a nava 1 force on the waters of 

the inner sea - Esher had noted enthusiastically: 

ln my experience of public life, extending over thirty years, 
we have never had at the Admlralty so brllliant, so resourceful, 
so da ring a Fi rst Lord. 51 

Just as Lord Fisher had in effect held office both as Ftrst Sea Lord and First Lord, so 

Churchill in his turn exercised the authority both of First Lord and Flrst Sea Lord. 

Sir Roger Keyes, who as lnspecting Captain of Submarines had little reason to love 

Churchill or his Board, has defended the First Lord's conduct noting : 

One has heard Mr. Churchill condemned for interferring in 
technical opinion. There is no denying he frequently did, 
but 1 think his quick brain and vital imagination were in­
valuable and, in the majority of cases, his inte!Vention was 
in the best i nterests of the Se lVi ce. 52 

Churchill's major failings during his years at the Admiralty lay in his refusai to 

either completely abandon ali hope of close blockade orto recognise the increaslng 

50 - Parkes, 0 ., British Battleshi s : 'Warrior• 1860 to 'Vanguard' 1950; A 
His tory of Design, Construction and rmament 1 London, 19!13 , p. 562. 

51 - Esher to Balfour, 1 July 1912. Esher, Journals and Letters, Vol. Ill, p. 95. 

52 - Keyes, Naval Memoirs, 'From the Narrow Seas to the Dardanelles', p. 43. 
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dominance of under-sea warfare, and in his inability to grasp the fundamenrol 

importance of placing the naval defensive before the offensive. This latter mistake 

was to lead him to the Dardanelles, to Jose Fisher, to wreck ali hope for future 'side 

shows' and to his persona! eclipse on the political stage, a blot on his career which 

he was to carry with him un ti 1 Wtay 1940 and beyond. Had Churchi Il seri ousl y 

planned a naval offensive strategy before the war he might have achieved success -

at least on paper in view of the almost universel naval belief that a decisive action 

at sea would mark the early stages of any war. On the other hand, in view of the 

ineffectiveness and paucity of organs for defence co-operation and co-ordination it 

was far more likely that such an independent naval offensive policy would have served 

only to prolong and perpetuate the state of indecision which had existed for so many 

years. lt is true that the 'decision' finally adopted by the Defence Committee in 

August 1911 on the Continental Strategy bore no relation to England's defence 

capability - perhaps not even to her political intent - but at least it was a decision 

which both of the Services now largely agreed upon. 
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CHAPTER TEN 

DENOUEMENT 

LORD KITCHENER said that the Gennans had violated, often 
wrth success, every rule of war. He was not Incllned to say 
that any operation would not be attempted because tt appeared 
to be unreasonable .. 

Minutes of the 129th Meeting of the 
Committee of Imperial Defence ; 
7th October 1914. 

Hitherto our statesmen and people have not taken sèriously the 
challenge thrown down by Germany to their national existence. 

Spenser Wilkinson ; 1914 - 1918 • 

The absence of an alternative Is contrary not merely to the 
profoundest lesson of war but to the very nature of war. 

Captain B.H. Liddell Hart; 1931. 

ENGLAND•S resolve togo to warin 1914 did not imply, as perhaps that tenn would 

lndlcate, any real cholce on her part ; rather, thot decision was the direct outcome of a 

milttary initiative which had been carefully nurtured over the years durtng whlch the 

Liberal coalltlon had ruled the country.. Only now dtd the Cabinet, saved from the acute 
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embarrassment of Us neglect of defence poltcy by the appeal from Belgium, turn to 

face at last the lack of effective supreme command.. Only now dld Asqufth•s 

Government come to grtps wlth the problem of how beat to fulflll the needs of the 

national lntere$t. And onJy now did the Prime Minlster discover thot the lack of 

$Upreme command, whlch had pennitted the mllttcry decision to prejudice the polftical 

cholce,. had also lald the way open for the mllttary to dlctate the actual nature of the 

national response. The Government, which had had no defence pollcy in time of 

peace, dlscovered too thot tt could have no defence poltcy in tlme of war; but in war, 

as in peace, the country itself indeed, possessed such a policy - a mUttary poltcy .. 

The Great War, which throughout Europe had been ln many respects a soldiers' war, 

was, ln England, to be conducted upon the basts of a mtlltary polley., For Europe such 

a development was, tndeed, almost Inevitable owlng to the nature of the great mliitory 

establtshments and the dlctates imposed by geography. But for fngland, an Island and 

the heart of a great maritime empire bullt upon the exerclse of seo power, such a develop­

ment was, at the very least, re"!larkable.. The 'decision' of 23rd August 1911, the 

events whlch hod found their beglnnings at the Whltehall Gardens• Conferences, the 

rise of a newly self-conscious mill lary establishment, the gmdual undennlning of the 

position of the Admtralty, the breakdown of the Defence Committee, and the Staff 

Conversat(ons themselves, had ali served not only to commit England in honour to the 

direct mtHtary support of the French Republlc, but aJso had forbtdden the exercise of any 

alternative strategy. The concern here is not as to whether England should or should 

not have undertaken independant milltary operations upon the Continent, but mther it is 

to understcnd thot the military initiative which hod prejudlced the polttical decision had 

ln ltself precluded any polltfcal or mllttary choice as how best to utilise the resources at 

hand ln the defeat of the common foe. This essentlally strategie cholce, as distinct from 

the even more fundamental polittcal decision togo to war, was denled to the Government 

because decisions had been taken during the decade prtor to the comlng of the War which 

had never been welghed ln the Jlght of England's overalt strategie interests f they had 

never been constdered because the machlnery1 so patnstaklngly created and set tn motion 

by Mr. Balfour and Vlscount Esher, had been jammed and circumvented by a govemment 
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of dlsunity and a defence establishment split lnto arrogant1 selfish and narrow water-

tight compartments... The Govemment was gravely at default in hoving, through inaction, 

placed itself and the country fn such a position thot ft possessed no ability to toke an 

unprejudiced po[H[cal decision in 1914; straits in whlch England found herself because 

her government had taken a strategie 'decision' without oppreciotlng either Us true 

milltory or polittcal tmpltcattons. Even more basic was the Govemment's fuilure to 

think through a reollstic strategie response to a given political situation. Thus in 1914, 

even if morally committed to Fronce, the Govemment would cleorly have under.stood 

the strategie Implications of thot commltment, and, havlng accepted such o commitment 

before the advent of the conflict1 would not have sought vainly to alter those implications. 

A!. it was, in 1914 not only dld the Govemment flnd ltself and the country politically 

committed to Fronce, but the mllitory arrangements which had preciprtated thot commit­

ment were bosed upon a strategie principle wholly opposed to lts own more troditional 

inclinations asto how best England's limited mtlltary resources might be utilised in a war 

upon the Continent .. 
1 

For, as the Government was to appreciate fully for the first 

time only at the Councils of War of earty August, the strategie prfncfple.whfch had 

committed England to the direct military support of Fronce had no relation whatsoever 

to the technical capability of the country•s defence establishment .. 

Unfortunately, no official record of the proceedings of the Coundls of War of 

August 1914 appear to have been kept - the Cabinet Secretariat belng still a develop­

ment of the future.. Much criticism has been heaped upon the Government for foi ling to 

develop a sui table orgon of supreme command ln time of war; however, this was, in 

fact, merely a reflec:tion of the far deeper fatlure to understand the need for effective 

supreme command ln time of peace. lndeed, no more te !ling commentary upon Asqutth's 

1 - See : Spender, J .. A., and Asquith, C., The Llfe of Herbert Henry Asquith, 
Earl Oxford and Asquith, (London, 1932), VoL Il, p. 104. 
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fa!lure to comprehend the nature of modern warfare can be put forward than that he 

attempted ta run the wor from the cabinet as his predecessors had done over a century 

earlier. However, while no minutes have survived from the meetings of 5th and 6th 

August, Sir Maurice Hankey 1 in the course of a lengthy progress report upon the War 

of the late autumn of 1914, reproduced a fairly detciled account of the proceedings of 

these Councils which has provided a useful guideline. Of course, as always when 

dealing with Hankey, one must be careful, for even at this juncture he had developed 

his penchant for presenting the unpalatable in a seemingly attractive manner. For 

example, referring to the Conversations1 Hankey, no doubt with a perfectly straight 

face, calmly observed at the opening of his Report g 

••• no regular plan of operations had been agreed upon before 
relations were broken off. For diplomatie reasons the previous 
formation of such a plan was practically impossible. ln the first 
place any plan we adopted must necessarily be conc.erted with 
France, and this could scarcely be done without implicitly committing 
ourselves to putting it in operation whenever she might be attccked 
by Germany. But any such committal was out of line with our foreign 
policy. We had studiously avoided an engagement either offensive 
or defensive with the Dual Alliance, nor did we contemplate inter­
vention in a war in which they might engage unless we hod a casus 
belli of our own. 2 -

As hos been seen, this simply wos not the case. And, besides, the General Staff and the 

Defence Committee, particularly the Sub-Committee of 1908- 1909, had explicitly 

stated thot in their view Belgium wos not to be regarded as a relioble casus belli and thot, 

therefore, preparations ought to be taken in hond to meet the contingency of Englond 

becoming militorily involved in a purely Franco-Germon wor. Hankey's remarks on the 

matter of Anglo-French planning 1 while punctiliously correct, were, of course, beneath 

contempt. Nevertheless, on the basis of this argument Honkey proceeded to discuss the 

2 - 'Report on the Opening of the War', Committee of Imperial Oefence, 
Historical Section, 1 Nov. 1914. C.I.O. Papen, Cab. 17/1028*, p. 1. 
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Counci ls of War of 5th and 6th August on the assumption that their decisions had in no 

way been prejudiced by earlier events. Events which Hankey described as 'a general 

interchange af ideas as to possible co-operat!on, should we be drawn into war'. Ali 

in ali Henry Wi !son would have been a h''ifle surprised to read Hankey's version of his 

unflagging efforts to develop a comprehensive plan of action with the French General 

Staff. ln fact Hankey's elabora te efforts to expia in away the difficulties experienced, 

both in the political and strategie 'decisions' of August 1914, constituted in themselves 

a unique commentary upon the effects of the lack of supreme command. 

ln setting the scene for the Councils of War of early August Hankey noted : 

The most pressing need when we found ourselves at war was 
to settle a plan of operations for our Expeditionary Force. For the 
milltary and political reasons already given, we were still without 
such a plan 1 and on 5th August a War Council was cal led to Downing 
Street, under the presidency of the Prime Minister, to endeavour to 
reach a conclusion.3 

So much for supreme command. The very fact that the Government had no policy for 

the Expeditionary Force at the time when, as Hankey points out, 'the conclusion which 

the Staff conferences had reached was that the surest method for us to adopt was to 

place our whole available force at a concentration centre on the French left at the 

earliest possible moment', 
4 

was censure enough itself of the fai lure in supreme comma nd. 

Hankey has recalled thot the Council of the afternoon of 5th August was attended by 

Asquith, Grey, Haldane, Churchill, Battenburg, Douglas- C.I.G.S., Sclater-Adjutant­

General, Cowans-Quartermaster-General, von-Donop - Master-General of Ordnance, 

Henry Wilson, Roberts, Kitchener, French, Grierson, Hamilton and Murray, with 

himself as Secretary although his notes do not appear to have survived. 
5 

One thlng 

3 - 'Report on the Opening of the War', Nov. 1914, p. B. 

4 - 'Report on the Opening of the War', Nov. 1914, p. 2. 

5- Hankey, Baron (Maurice P.), The Supreme Command, (London, 1961), Vol. 1, 
p. 169. The list of those who were present together with Hankey's ticks for 
attendance is preserved in the Imperial War Museum; Taylor, A.J.P., 
English History, 1914- 1945, (Oxford, 196!f, p .. 6. 
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became immediately clear from the very composition of this gathering in the Cabinet 

Room at 10, Downing Street - namely that at !east in one respect supreme c;ommand 

had achieved sorne measure of success in deciding that the Navy was to play no part 

in the military offensive. This was an assembly of sol di ers. As to whether or not 

that decision was correct is of no concern here ; contrary to Hankey 1s remarks the 

Continental Strategy had most certainly achieved sufficient backing as to negate ali 

efforts to revert to an amphibious type of operation - as Sir John French was shortly 

to discover. ln point of fact, whether Asquith liked it or not, his actions had 

committed England to the Continental Strategy while his inaction had forbidden qny 

balanced appreciation of the implications of that strategy for defence policy as a'whole. 

Even Hankey emphasised this preclusion of a naval offensive in noting the more general 

preoccupation with the military involvement: 

The extent to which mi litary needs necessari ly dominated 
the situation was marked by the fact that the Councll included ali 
the leading general officers in the country, while the Navy was 
represented by the First Lord and the First Sea Lord only ,6 

Having already stated the pre-war appreciation that the transport of the •army at the 

outset of the war was regarded as the vital condition of eventuel success, and the Navy 

consequently had to accept the position that its operations must, so far as possible, be 

subservient to those of the Army•, 
7 

Hankey had then proceeded to observe : 

The balance in the Counci 1 corresponded precisely with the 
actuel situation. So far as could be judged, our power of 
influencing the direction which the war would take at the 
outset depended upon how soon and in what strength we could 
bring our army to bear upon the German right. Up to the 
moment polltical and diplomatie exigencies had condemned 
the War Office to inaction, and now that the bar was removed 
the first consideration was to give the Army the freest possible 
ha nd and the utmost assistance in making up for lost time. 8 

6 - •Report on the Opening of the War•, Nov. 1914, p. 8. 

7 - • Report on the Opening of the War•, Nov. 1914, p. 3. 

8- •ReportontheOpeningoftheWar•, Nov.1914, p. 8. 

296 



Essentially 1 then, these Counci ls, if technically convened to decide upon the nature 

of the war effort, had actually based thetr deliberations upon a series of at best 'half­

baked' pre-war notions of strategy which Hankey claimed in no way prejudiced their 

decision. 

ln fact1 however, the Council of !rh August was devoted to a critique of the 

General Staff plans in view of the increasing concem of the possible intention on 

the German Armies to undertake major operations in Belgium, both north and south of 

the Meuse, and the delay in the mobilization of the Expeditionary Force. Th.us as 

Hankey tacitly, though reluctantly 1 admitted the deliberations at this meeting in 

essence took the form of a series of doubts and second thoughts concerning the General 

Staff plan 'of a concentration behind the French army at Maubeuge' which Hankey had 

prevlously claimed to be merely 'a general interchange of ideas•. And so the Generais 

feil to squabbling among themselves with French 1 Haig and Roberts leading the attack 

upon the plans set forth by the General Staff. Aga in, Hankey's account in his 

memoirs erred in claiming thot Roberts supported Henry Wilson's view thot the plans 

prepared with the French Genera 1 Staff had to be carried through. 
9 

1 n point of fact 

Roberts supported French's plea for a role independent of the French Armies in dispatching 

the Expeditionary Force either to Antwerp or Ostend, depending upon the naval 

situation, so asto dfrectly support the Belgian field army.
10 

Of course, such a proposai, 

which was tantamount to undertaking amphibious operations and would in no way 

necessarlly commit the Expeditionary Force to rematn upon the Continent until the 

cessation of hostilltles, was abhorrent to Henry Wilson. Even Haig, who despaired of 

the General Staff plan, advocated the dispatch of the entire Expeditionary Force 1 as 

promised, to the French left.
11 

However, it was Churchill, demonstrating once again 

9 - See: Hankey, ·rhe Supreme Command 1 Vol. 1, p. 171. 

10- See: Tyler, J.E., The British Army and the Continent, 1904- 1914, 
(London, 1938), p. 178 • 

11 - Diary, 5Aug. 1914. Haig, Earl (Douglas), The Private Papers of Douglas Haig, 
1914- 1916, ed .. R.N. Blake (London, 1952), pp. 68- 70. 

297 



the effectiveness thot his regime had had upon the development of a cohesive defence 

establishment, who vetoed French's proposai togo to Antwerp on the old grounds thot 

the Admiralty could not guarantee a safe passage east of the straits, and more recently 

in view of the fortification of Flushing.
12 

ln fact, of course, there was really no 

decision to be taken in view of the immutable nature of the de tai led Staff planning. 

Hankey, choosing not to mention what he preferred to ignore, merely noted in this 

connection : 

A further ob iection was thot as a Il arrangements had been made 
for embarking at Newhaven, Southampton and Bristol, the longer 
voyages which would be entai led would dislocate the ti me-table, 
and cause further de lay. 13 

From ali accounts it appears thot Wilson said very little thot afternoon - no doubt 

feeling thot the entire affair was an academie exercise in the inane. lndeed, Hankey 

has recalled Wilson as being 'in a state of the grea test excitement and anxiety', 
14 

whi le 

his superiors discussed 'strategy like idiots••.
15 

Following upon French's abortive proposais, the Counci 1 turned to consider the 

matter of what proportion of the Expeditionary Force was to be dispatched to France. 

ln so doing this august assembly of soldiers and statesmen sought for the second time in 

a single afternoon to upset, even to disregard, the previous decisions of the Defence 

Committee. Henry Wilson's account of these events, which appears to be for the most 

part accurate, reveals thot, in spite of subsequent misgivings, even Roberts had agreed 

thot in view of the naval situation it would be pennissible to waive the Defence 

C • 1 d . • . • t: d. ' . f f h d f 16 
omm1 ttee s ects1on to retam two lntantry lVI SI ons or purposes o orne e ence. 

12 - 'Report on the Opening of the War'. Nov. 1914, p. 9. 

13 - 'Report on the Opening of the War'. Nov. 1914, p. 9. 

14 - Hankey, The Supreme Command,. Vol. 1, p. 173. 

15 - Diary, 5Aug. 1914. Wilson, H.H., The Life and Diaries of Field-Marshal 
Sir Henry Wilson, ed. Charles E. Callwell {London, 1927)1 Vol. 1, p. 158. 

16 - Diary, 5Aug. 1914. Wilson, life and Diaries, Vol. 11 p. 159. 

298 



However, with Haig raising doubts about the value of any contribution thot the present 

Expeditionary Force might be able to make 1 Kitchener procrastinating, expressing his 

desire - so typical of his distrust of staff work - to personally go over the matter 

with representatives of the French General Staff, and French, the Commander-in-Chief 

designate, himself suggesting the reversion to a semi-amphibious operation, Wilson was 

driven to bitterly recall this council of the eiders as 'an historie meeting of men, mostly 

. f h . b' 1 17 tgnorant o t e1r su 1ect • 

Regardless, Wilson achieved sorne consolation in the decision to send five rather 

thon four divisions at once to France, although the choice of a concentration area -

which had provoked a serious split within the ranks of the generais - was left unsettled 

for the moment, 
18 

due, most likely, to Kitchener's vociferous opposition. French's 

counter-proposal had merely been based upon what he regarded to be the development of 

an unfavourable set of circumstances owing to the influence of the 'offensive' school 

and the corresponding failure toappreciate German and Belgian intentions. lt is 

probable thot French was unaware of the implications of his objections for the future of 

the independent military policy. However, bath Kitchener and Haig had based their 

criticisms upon a fundamental disagreement with the Continental Strategy, realising as 

they did thot its success involved a military commitment wholly beyond England's 

immediate capabilities. Haig 1 forecasting •a war of several years• duration, stated thot 

in his view ali of the plans and proposais which had been discussed, whether to send the 

Expeditionary Force to Maubeuge, or, as Kitchener advised, to concentrate it at Amiens, 

or, lndeed, to dispatch it to Antwerp, were absurd, but that, owing to the force of 

circumstances, ali possible aid ought to be sent to France ; while at home it was 

essentiel to concentrate on building up an army of '1,000,000 men' upon the basis of 

17- Diary, 5Aug. 1914. Wilson, Lifeand Diaries, Vol. 1, p. 157. 

18 - 1 Report on the Opening of the War', 1 Nov. 1914, p. 9. 
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as much of the Expeditton(Jry Force as could possibly be sparec;J.
19 

However, in writing 

to Haldane, who was for the moment once again standing guard over the War Office, 

on the previous day, Haig had privately expressed an even stronger view roughly 

coinciding with thot of Kitchener who had long regarded the idea of sending the 

B. E. F. to France as ridiculous and contemptlble ; for as Hctig had noted to his old 

friend and former chief on thot fateful day when England went to war: 

This war will last many months1 possibly years, so 1 venture 
to hope thot our only boit, (and thot not a very big one) may not 
suddenly be shot on a pro ject of which the success seems to me 
quite doubtful - 1 mean the checking of the German advance into 
France. Would it not be better to begin at once to enlarge our 
Expeditionary Force by amalgamating less regular forces with it? 
ln three months time we should have quite a considerable Army so 
thot when we do take the field we con act decisively and dictate 
terms which will ensure a lasting peace.20 

Needless to say, in his report Hankey studiously avoided any mention of Haig•s 

objections, or indeed of Kitchener•s general attitude, which had been best summed up 

by his remark to Viscount Esher on assuming the Seals of the War Office : 

1 am P,ut here to conduct a war, and 1 have no 
army.21 

lt is clear thot these objections1 on the part of the three most senior general officers 

whose task it would be to conduct the warin Europe, had resulted in renewed hesitancy 

on the part of the Cabinet. However, the meeting at Downing Street of 5th August 

had made it abundantly clear thot England had no option but to proceed as planned upon 

the ltnes of a strategie poltcy whose efficacy was for the first time being critically 

assessed - and being found wanting by England•s most senior sol di ers. 1 t is, however, 

19 - Diary 1 5 Aug. 1914. Haig 1 Priva te Papers, pp. 68 - 70. 

20 - Haig ta Haldane, 4 Aug. 1914. Haldane MSS, MS 5910. 

21 - Esher, Vlscount (Reginald B.), The Tragedy of Lord Kitchener, (Toronto, 
1 921 ) 1 p • 35. 
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interesting to note thot not one of these soldiers, not even the politiciens who were 

present, either roised or even suggested the reversion to a military offensive based 

directly upon the exercise of sea power. To thot extent, and only to thot extent, 

supreme comma nd in time of peace had been a rea IHy o 

On the following afternoon the Council reassembled at Downing Street constituted 

as on the previous day except thot now Kitchener had formally assumed the Seals 

which Haldane had temporarily resumed, 
22 

Seemingly there had been a Cabinet 

thot morning at which Asquith, on Kitchener's advice, 
23 

had proposed thot the earlier 

decision of the Defence Committee to retaln two divisions be let stand but thot the 
24 

area of concentration be moved bock to Amiens. lt would perhaps be somewhat 

over generous to ascribe these proposais to Asquith's respect for the decisions of the 

peace time supreme command ; but, nevertheless, both were in keeping with these 

decisions, for it is to be remembered thot the exact a rea of concentration for the B.E.F. 

had never been fixed in the Defence Committee. Doubtless, however, Asquith's 

proposais had actually been prompted not by his belief in the principle of supreme 

command but rather by the dicrotes of the situation and his disinclination to set himself 

agalnst the opinion of his most distinguished mi litary adviser who was, in any case, 

shortly to join hlm in the Cabinet. At the Counci 1 of War on the afternoon of 6th 

August the Cabinet presented their decision which, in view of the delay in mobilization 

and the manner in which the German attack was developlng, received considerable 

sympathy from the sol di ers, though not, of course, from Wilson. French pressed for the 

five divisions which Asquith, 
25 

as Secretary of State for War, was alleged to have promised 

22 - Hankey, The Supreme Command, Vol. 1, p. 172. 

23 - lt is suggested thot Kitchener did not actually attend this Cabinet notu as yet, 
having formally taken over the seals of the War Office t Magnus, P., 
Kitchener: Portrait of an lmperialist, (London, 1953), p. 281. 

24 - See : Taylor, Eng lish History1 1914 - 1945, p. 7. 

25 - 'Report on the Opening of the War', 1 Nov. 19141 p. 10. 
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Wilson early ln May 1914.
26 

Nevertheless, Asquith refused to give way on the 

grounds, according to Hankey, thot two divisions would be required in England, not 

for the purposes of Home Oefence, but rather to deal with threatened ci vi lian panic. 
27 

This was a pretty thin argument, one which had been put forward by Sir Arthur Wilson 

in August 1911 ln his last desperate attempt to forestoll the final adoption of the 

Continental Strategy. However, lote in August and early ln the fo!lowing month, it 

was decided, in vlew of the solidification of the general situation and the a!arming 

proportion of the German attock which was developing north of the Meuse, to send 

the remalnlng two divisions to French's command.. Nevertheless, the spectre of the 

old C.l .0. recommendatJons returned to haunt the Govemment early in the autumn. 

At the 129th meeting on 7th October Kitchener, who was to remain apprehensive of 

invasion for the rest of his days at the War Office, expressed a very real dlsquiet lest 

ln the event of a complete deadlock in France the enemy might consider the invasion 

of England as an alternative strategy. 
28 

Rejecting Asqulth's and Balfour•s suggestions, 

that his figures of upwards of 200,000 men were at odds with the previous conclusions 

of the Committee, Kitchener retorted wlth the delightful lesson in warfare which appears 

at the head of this chapter.
29 

Grey, supportlng his colleague at the War Office, 

demanded thot the pre-war decision of the Committee be extended beyond the three 

month stipulation and thot two regular divisions be set oside for purposes of home defence 

at once. Kitchener agreed in princip le but stoted his desire to hold off from wlthdrowing 

these troops until a defini te deadlock had developed. 
30 

Grey persTsted, but Asquith 

managed to avold an open breech between his Cabinet, for both Churchill and 

26 - OJary, 6May 1914. Wilson, lifeand Oiarles, Vol. 1, p .. 147. 

27 - 'Report on the Opening of the War', 1 Novo 1914, p. 10. 

28 - 'Committee of Imperial Oefence: Minutes of the 129th Meeting, October 71 1914', 
(The Situation in Regard to Home Oefence). C.I.O. Popers, Cab. 2/3/3, 
P• 3. 

29 - 'Minutes of the 129th Meeting, October 7, 1914', p. 5. 

30 - 'Minutes of the 129th Meeting, October 7, 1914', p. 6. 
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Lloyd George nad objected to Kttchener1s misglvlngs, and their 'goe.st from Valhalla' 

ln polnting out thot four reguler dtvblons from overseas would be becoming 
31 

operational In the course of the next couple of monthso Once again, rlght or 

wrong, the decisions of the pre-War supreme qommand were being upheld - If a 

trifle deviously.. But the hesitation was fatal for the future development of effective 

supreme command .. 

Hankey matntalned In his Report thot upon the ixlsis of the Cabinet decision of 

6th August lt was decided to inform the French Govemment thot four divisions would 

be dlspatched forthwith 

• o • to co-operate with France ln assfstlng her, but thot a 
deflnite plan of operations was at present tnadvisable.. No 
such plan, Jndeed, had been deflnltely concerted wlth 
France ... o ,.32 

However, in his memoirs Hankey has recalled thot although no decision was token, pending 

Kitchener's forthcoming meeting with the representatives of Generais Joffre and 

de Castelnau, 'the general vlew was thot the concentration should be no further forward 

thon Amiens' .. 
33 

1 n point of fa ct the emissary from the French Genera 1 Staff, who as 1 t 

conveniently turned out was Colonel Huguet - havlng given up his London post a year 

earller, was intercepted by Wilson on 7th August and sent back before Kitchener had a 

chance to discuss the concentration with him
34 

- forteasons which may perhaps best 

be left to the lmaginaHon.. Under no clrcumstances, of course, was such action 

excusable and doubly so in view of the disintegration of the Generol Staff whose members 

were on the point of leavlng Whitehall in order to flll the staff appointments fin the 

31 - 'Minutes of the 129th Meeting, October 7, 1914', p. 6. 

32 - • Report on the Opening of the War', 1 Nov. 1914, p .. 10. 

33 - Hankey, The Supreme Command, Vol.!, p .. 172., 

34 - See :Collier, I.B., Brasshat sA Blography of Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, 
(London 1 1961), ppo 163- 164o 
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Expeditionary Force, not to mention Kitchener's accession as de facto generalissimoo 

Hankey, as blond as ever, had the gall to state in his report that 

The result of the flnal conference wlth the representative of 
the French General Staff, who had been invlted to come over, was 
that the original plan of landing the Expedltionary Force at the 
French Channel ports was adherred too The ldea of a landtng in 
Belgium was entlrely dropped. 35 

ln the first place, of course, Huguet had been invited not to discuss as to whether or 

not the B.E.F. ought togo to Belgium, but rather asto where the Force was to con­

centrate in Fronce - Maubeuge or Amiens. And ln the second, Kitchener who had 

originally aSked for the French emissary never even met Huguet let olone did he portake 

in a series of conferences with him. Needless to say Kitchener was oppolled at 

Wilson's conduct os indeed wos Haig who regorded his col league os a reprehensible 

'frock' in unifonn and, even worse, one possessed of the sordld traits of a 'latin 

Politicien' ~6 However, to give Hankey the benefit of the doubt1 lt is possible thot 

he wos octually referring to Huguet•s second visit of 12th August on which occasion 

he met wlth Kitchener and the General Staff just prior toits dispersal ; though, in 

fact, on this second occasion there was not simply one representative, of the French 

Genera 1 Staff at the Conference of the 12th 1 but rather there were three - Huguet 

and two fellow staff officers .. 
37 

Besides1 in making no mention of the earlier incident 

of the 7th the criticism of Hankey's conduct must stand as, of course, must the above 

comments upon possible Belgian operations. Honkey further compromised himself in 

noting thot following upon 'the final conference with the representative of the French 

General Staff' the soldiers on 

••• our Staff did agree to keep to the original concentration 
point and confonn to the intended forward movement of the 

35 - 'Report on the Opening of the Wor', 1 Nov. 1914, p. 14. 

36 - See :Collier, Brasshat, p. 164; Charteris, J., Field-Marshal Earl Haig 1 

(London, 1929), p. 82. 

37 - See :Collier, Brosshat, p. 164. 
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French. And this risk was tcken in spite of the conviction 
of our Staff that with two Army Corps only and the delayed 
time-tcble, it was not safe to concentrate further forward 
than Amiens. 38 

ln fact Wilson was wholly opposed to the Amiens concentration, for, as Hankey failed 

to point out, Kitchener prior to the 12th, had determined upon a concentration no 

further forward thon Amiens and thot it was only the united opposition of the French and 

British Staff•s to this plan that led him finally to sanction the detciled execution of 

th '" · • ff ts 39 h' h H k • . . ' • f e pre ... war 1omt-sta arrangemen , w ac an ey was so anx1ous to m1mm1se 1 not 

to oblitera te. Thus, once ogain, the decisions of the peace time supreme command were 

upheld in spite of the h~sitction of the Government intime of war. Nevertheless, it 

was a phyrric victory for it came too lote, and in coming too late it negated the essence 

of supreme command. The decisions of peace, whether strategically right or wrong, were 

rehashed when the war came and whatever advantcge they might have possessed was 

frittered away by inaction and procrastination when effective supreme command was put 

to the ultimate test of war. The supreme command broke down in August 1914 ; its 

earlier decisions were upheld not because after reevaluation they were judged to be 

valid, but because in hesitation the Government discovered that the decisions of peace 

timecould not be altered in war. lt is of no concern here asto whether those pre-war 

plans were right or wrong ; it is importent to understcnd that they were incomplete, and 

because they were incomplete, because-the Government had never seriously considered 

national defence policy as an integral whole, when war came the supreme command 

collapsed and what little merit such planning might have possessed was negated as the 

Government, for the first time, truly came to grips with the need for effective supreme 

command in war as in peace. lt is botha measure of how imporront this understcnding 

was, and how wretched were the consequences of the lack of pre-war comprehension, 

38 - 'Report on the Opening of the War1
, 1 Nov. 1914, p. 14. 

39 - See: Magnus, Kitchener, p. 281. 
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thot England went to warin 1914 upon the basis of a plan, sdnctioned by the supreme 

command, but whose implications were only realised by those concerned when the 

machinery of war had taken the initiative out of their hands. ln short, the pre-.War 

experiment in supreme command had been a dismisal failure. The plans of war which 

had brought war upon Europe were, as Europe discovered, the plans upon which the 

conflict was to be decided. If the British Government entertained second thought'$ in 

August 1914, it was because that Government had not sufficiently considered or con­

cerned itself with these matters before the coming of the War. 

Having diagnosed the ills in the defence establishment of August 1914, it is 

necessary to return to the more general concern in questioning the underlying causes 

of this malaise in the supreme command. lt is not proposed here to restate the multitude 

of causal factors which have been raised throughout the course of this discussion, but 

merely to reconsider the fundamental reasons for the failure of the pre-War experiment 

in supreme command. 

First and foremost, the Liberal coalition, that complicating factor in so many of 

England's affairs during the lote nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, must be 

sing led-out as the essentia 1 factor in the breakdown of the experiment. The very 

nature of that Government, the very fact thot it was in reality a coalition, its many 

internai divisions and differences - especially in the fields of defence and foreign 

policy, ali combined to render it impotent and frequently obstructive. True toits 

political heritage, this Government, which had been swept into office upon a platform 

of • Peace, Retrenchment and Reform', ca lling specifically for an end of the 'bloated 

armaments' expenditure of the Unionists, was in no way either peculiar or, indeed, 

extraordinary ln its parsimony with respect to defence matters. Yet, in spite of this 

attitude, the Services, under Fisher and Haldane respectively, actually managed to 

increase their efficiency during the early years of Liberal rule which were indeed marked 
40 

by severe defence cutbacks. Later, with the rising tide of German naval power, and 

40 - See : 'Statement of the First Lord of the Admiralty Explanatory of the Novy 
Estimates, 1914- 191.5'-z Cd. 7302, 1914, p. 9. 'Memorandum of the 
Secretary of State for War Relating to the Army Estimates for 1914 - 1915' J 
Cd. 7253, 1914, p. 2. 
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the regularlzation of military policy around the Expeditionary Force, retrenchment ln 

defence while annoying, indeed in cases such as the Rosyth affair - in whlch Fisher 

played an important role - serious, by no means reached sufficient proportions to 

endanger national security. Nevertheless, the self-evident concern of the Little 

Englanders with domestic affairs gave them the whip hand, control ling as they did the 

Treasury, the Exchequer and the Board of Trade, which but for Fisher's nimble ability 

and influentihl friends such as Jol. Garvin might weil have spelt disaster for England 

during the opening years of the liberal administration.
41 

However, quite oside from the general disi11terest In defence matters within the 

Cabinet, it must always he remembered thot these years of what one distinguished 

observer has descrlbed as 'the rule of democracy• were pecullar and unique in tenns of 

the state•s unprecedented concern with social equalfzation and individuel improvement. 

This concern and the opposition which it created embroiled the Government in a series 
~ 

of ever widening domestlc crises beginning with the celebrated Budget of 1909 and 

culminating in the Ulster crisis just prior to the war, encompassing in the process 

House of Lords reform, Welsh disestablishment and a myriad of lesser problems. This 

endress chain of domestic crises was, to say the leest, hardly conducive to any serious 

consideration of matters of external policy and defence, regardless of the complicating 

issue of the inherent differences within the Cabinet. Without exception these domestic 

issues, stemming almost in their entirety from Lloyd George's famous Budget, had been 

brought on by the actions d the Little Englander element within the Cabinet which, 

therefore, tended very largely to disregard foreign affairs leaving this vacuum almost 

exclusively to be ftlled by their Liberal-lmperialist colleagues.. lt was this division of 

interest, this polarity within the Cabinet thot had permitted a wholly new departure in 

the development of unique foreign and defence policies. They were, however, policies 

not of the Cabinet but of the individuel departments concerned. ln the pest, especially 

in foreign policy as for exemple under Salisbury, 
42 

such a development of policy outside 

41 - See: Golltn, A .. M., The Observer and J.L. Garvin, 1908 -1914 ~ A Study 
in Great Edftorshie, (London, 1960}, ppo 28- 92. 

42 - See : Gibbs, N. H ., and Keith, AoB., The British Cabinet System, (London, 
1952), p .. 68,. 
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of the Cabinet would have passed almost unnoitced. But in departing from the 

tradition of the pest, in evolving a foreign policy founded upon a military rather than 

a naval strategy, this development had grave consequences. For it was, at once, 

both this divergence of interest within the Cabinet, and the adoption of a wholly new 

foreign and defence po licy, that in essence caused the breakdown in the pre-War 

experiment to construct an effective supreme commando 

Had there existed a common unity of purpose within the Cabinet, the hesitation 

on the part of Grey, Haldane and Asquith in raising the fundamentQJ issues of defence 

posture and foreign policy would have been largely dissipated. As it was, on each 

occasion prior to 1911 when a showdown loomed upon the matter of basic defence policy 

it was studfously avoided. When such a discussion was flnally taken under consideration 

in August 1911 by the Defence Commlttee, only as the result of the Agadir crisis, 

tremendous energy was expended to ensure the secrecy of the proceedings and the 

contlnued ignorance of the Radical, 1 little Englander', element in the Cabinet. And 

Asquith, as has been seen, was much relleved to let the matter quietly fade away with 

the crisis, expressing the hope that the 'occasion• for such a decision would 'not again 

present itself!. Haldane's intensive campaign to remove defence policy in its entirety 

from the direct concern of bath the Cabinet and the now defunct Defence Committee, 

was illustrative in itself of the failure of Mr. Balfour's experiment. The breakdown1 or 

more preclsely the inability to get started, of Mr. Balfour's Committee and the non­

appearance of Vhcount Haldane's Defence Ministry, gave rise to the adoption of a 

strategie policy for which there was no precedent in experience and no effective machinery 

for a proper evaluation. Haldane•s partial success in bri'nging the two Services into sorne 

fonn of basic co-operation was, paradoxically, to have rather alarming and unexpected 

consequences. For, no longer was there a strenuous or vocal lobby of any appreciable 

size withln the Service fott a naval offensive policy. And with a government which had 

no wish to impale itself upon its internecine squabbles nothing was, or indeed could be 1 

effected to bring the new strategie policy under serious consideration. 
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lt would not be altogether idle to speculate asto what might have come about 

had such an overall evaluation and appreciation been undertaken. This much may 

be said : elther the military policy would have been rejected as bearing no relationship 

to England's defence capability, or it would have been understood that in order to 

render the pollcy effective conscription for the Regular Army would be essential. 

Now, it is more than doubtful that it would have. even been considered economieal!y 

let alone politically feasible, in the event of the latter decision, to maintain England 

both as a first class military as weil as naval Powero lt was, perhaps, fortunate then 

thot no such consideration was undertaken 1 for any decline in England's sea power 

inevitably implied a corresponding lowing of her position in the wor!d1 and 1 ultimately 

her demise. Every Liberal-lmperia!ist, every Little Englander, indeed every Englishman, 

knew this to be the case. lt is, therefore, more thon conceivable that, faced with such 

a chotce, the British Government would have reverted to the naval policy of combined 

operations, rejecting ali notion of the Continental Strategy in spite of the consequences 

for England's foreign po licy.. For, regardless of those consequences, isolation and its 

consequences, however grave, was preferrable to starvation. ln fact, considering 

the obvious relationship between England and sea power, the vast increase in naval 

expenditure after 1909, the traditional Whig-Liberal inclination towards building up the 

naval arm at the expense of the military establishment, and the Govemment's continuing 

development of a naval capability while starving the military, it may be flatly stated 

thot, faced with such a decision, the Asquith Cabinet, to a man, would have adopted 

the naval policy. 

The objection sometimes raised that, in view of the mi litary belief in the terse 

character of the wars of the future, the adoption of the Continental Strategy was of little 

consequence even though it did break with tradition, must be rejected. History in fact 

proved this view to be unsound. But1 aga in it must be emphasised that the concem here 

is not asto whether this belief was true or false 1 or indeed asto whether it was universally 

held - which, as has been seen, was not the case - as has frequently been claimed. 

But, true or fa Ise, the belief had never been closely examined. Neither had its implications1 
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if proved to be correct, for the security of England been constderedo ln point of fact 

tt was an opinion based in large measure upon a desire on the part of the soldiers to 

belleve ln its wisdom, and upon a false Interpretation of the extremely pecullar cir­

cumstances of the Franco ,_ Prussien War.. Aga ln, it was an optnion dtvorced from 

any appreciation of the consequences of modern technology or economie capability 

for warfare as a whole,. AU of these were factors whlch could and ought to have been 

consJdered by the supreme command.. And, tf thot consideration in the light of a Il 

avaiiable evidence had conftrmed the mtlttary opinion, then, in view of the gravity of 

the consequences of Germany's gafnlng the hegemony of Europe ln the space of a few 

short weeks, England would have been grossly negligent ln falltng to safeguard her own 

national tnterests through the provision of a Continental style moss army for thelr defenceo 

Ail of these arguments are, of course, highly speculative, but, regardless of which way 

one turns, the fact nevertheless remains thot for the lack of effective supreme command 

ali these views remalned no more thon mere opinion .. 

On the other hand there was much thot was concrete in England's past experience 

painting towards the true 'igntficance of seo power and of a mi IJtary offensive based 

upon the exercise of the naval initiative.. lt was the mtxture of this post experience 

and the type of speculative opinion already dlscussed thot, taken together, constituted 

the basis upon whtch was bu lit England's pre-War 'defence pollcy' o Because there was 

no clear thinking, no real appreciation of what at best were vaguely sensed changes in 

the methods of war and warfare, England ln 1914 went to war wlth an untried military 

poltcy based upon the traditional exercise of seo power.. She had a mtlltary strategy 

and a naval capability without havlng a strategy for the latter or a capability for the 

former.. Of course, England had a naval strategy - but it was essentlally only a 

'half-strategy' belng based upon the defensive concept of a fleet action and the passive 

offensive strategy of distant blockade J there was no deflnite proposai of explolting the 

absolute command of the sea which the generally antlctpated fleet action would give to 

Englanél. The Army went to France upon the basls of what had been envisaged as a classic 

campalgn in thè style of Clausewitz culminattng in a decisive struggle of the opposing 

forces upon the battJe fleld. ln every respect the British Army was qulte 111-suited to 
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such an undertaklng. Thot Anny consisted, as its very nome implied.,. of no more thon 

an expeditionary force whose employment in the main theatre of conflict set directly 

in contest agalnst the great military establishments of the Continent was a perversion 

of its more obvious amphibious role as a flexible instrument designed to exploit to the 

utmost England•s unique command of the sea. Perhaps, as the military argued, 

amphiblous operations were indeed no longer of value in detennining the outcome of 

the main confllct, perhaps 1side-shows• were foolish, but until these questions were 

carefully considered in the light of England's lnterest and strategie needs as a whole" 

as in fact the invasion problem was considered, no conclusions, right or wrong, could 

possibly even begin to be fonned. 

ln short the en tire pre-War pic ture was remarkable for lts genera 1 wooltness of thought, 

thought which had ·very. Jargely· been replaced by slogan and ill-considered catch­

phrases, as the two Services embarked upon a bitter struggle with one another. If, os 

the soldiers claimed, the whole nature of modern warfare had changed so radically, and 

if the Novy in thot modern world was, indeed, worth' no more thon 5)0 bayonets, the 

only possibJe way of even beginning to resolve these problems lay in undertaking a serious 

all-embracing evaluation of national policy and capability upon the highest level of 

government. But the Anny, as the poor relation of the Novy, had a vested interest in 

entrenching itself within the defence establishment. lt was this purely selfish pro­

fessional struggle between the soldiers and the sailors which constituted, in essence, the 

second fundamental cause of the foi lure ln the pre-War experiment ln supreme command. 

Many of the soldiers had at best a minimal respect for the benefits to be accrued from the 

exercise of seo power, while others, such as Wilson, were wholly antipathetic. The 

sailors, on the other hand, assaulted in the bastion of their long tradition as the truly 

•Senior Service•, reacted to this mtlitary onslaught qui te predictably. This squabble 

was conducted not upon the level of principle but rather took the fonn of a direct clash 

between the vested selfish interests of the two Servkes. The sailors were possessed of 

no more virtue thon the soldiers in this struggle - only it happened thot, so far as could 

be judged without the benefits of supreme command, thot the Naval interest coinclded 

with that of the nation as a whole. This squabble, as has been seen, led in turn to mutual 
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deceit in relations between the Services and the Cabinet and the Defence Committee 

respectively. Thus Fisher, for example, sent hundreds of pages of false plans to 

varlous Ministers of the Crown so as to keep them quiet without preclpitating a showdown 

with the mllitary over national defence policy.
43 

A showdown which neither side could 

afford any more thon could the Government. 

But if the experiment in supreme command initlated by Mr. Balfour and Viscount 

Esher had been a fatlure, then, initially, thot failure must be attributed to the Prime 

Minister himself. For the Committee of Imperial Defence was unique in thot it was a 

persona! organ of the Prime Minister, a direct extension of his prerogative, the fore­

runner of what in subsequent years was to become known as the Cabinet Office. The 

C.I.D. was not a committee of the cabinet, but rather an advisory body placed directly 

at the discretion of the Prime Minister to aid him in his capacities as head of government 

and de facto Minister of Defence - using thot term in the spirit put forward by 

Viscount Haldane, rather thon in the post-War concept of a logistica 1 co-ordinating body. 

Th us where the C .1. D. had been deslgned to be the lynch-pin between the Servi ces and 

the central forum for the development of an overall defence policy, so, indeed, thot 

lynch-pin was itself dependent upon the interest and the influence of the Prime Minister 

in drder to be truly effective. Thus where the Committee failed the Prime Minister 

falled and this failure must be of concern to this discussion. 

lt would be ali too easy simply to ascribe Asquith's failure where Balfour had showed 

every sign of success to his more obvious character faults and weaknesses. Evidence 

enough has already been presented to point up the fact thot Asquith was, indeed, a weak 

individuel, a man dedlcated to the path of compromise rather thon to a course of resolution. 

43 - Writlng to John Leyland, one of his editorial supporters, lote in 1911 Fisher 
openly admitted these deceptions ; see : Fisher to Leyland, 7 Nov. 1911. 
Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron {John A.), Fear God and Dreadnought~ The 
Correspondance of Admirai of the Fl~et Lord Fisher of Kilverstone, ed. 
Arthur J. Marder (London, ·1952 - 1959}, Vol. Il, pp. 411 - 412 • 

'! 
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Again, it might weil be claimed, as a recent observer has in foct done so, 
44 

thot 

Asquith had no interest in defence matters., But this too is not in itself an altogether 

satisfactory explanation, for it must be kept in mind thot his handling of the com­

paratively minor issue of invasion was exemplary and most certainly would not indicate 

that he was unconcerned with such issueso Those decisions on Home Defence had been 

periodically reviewed and al:ered from time ta time by the Defence Committee - pre­

ctsely in the manner which Balfour had envisaged. Fundamentally the invasion 

enquldes had been successful because they dealt with a concrete threat to the security 

of England whlch had nothing to do with the 'poil ti ca 1 decision of the govemment of 

the day'. ln exactly the same manner the Novy remained strong during these years 

because she was designed, again, to counter direct aggression against England and the 

Emptre. Ali of which contrasted with the indecision and uncertainly surrounding the 

implementation of the Continental Strategy ; by degrees thot strategy became the 

expression of the Government•s poltcy and yet that Govemment, unable to face the 

implications of its actions, procrastinated and delayed postponing a formai de~ision1 

thus stranglfng the Defence Committee and in so doing eliminating the one organ capable 

of matching strategy and poltcy to technical capabillty. The technical implications of 

the Continental Strategy were, therefore, never defined or clearly understood, and so 

that otherwise unsuitable and ill-considered strategy - given the nature of England's 

defence establishment - remained at the heart of England 1s defence policy. Pèrhaps 

Asquith, indeed, lacked something of Mr. Balfour•s interest especially wl'ten it came to 

initiatlng a fresh approach, and, doubtless thts was a contributJng factor to the overall 

faflure of the Defence Committee4 Asqurth•s failure to provide the necessary leadership 

44 - See t Mackintosh, J.P .. , •The Role of the Committee of Imperial Defence 
Before 1914•, The Engltsh Historical Review, Vol. LXXVII, 1962, 
P• 497. 
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was only ln part the dlvldend of any possible flow in his charocter, for the weakness 

of his personallty was more thon offset by the circumstances of his Cabinet.. Quite 

apart from the fact thot he ru led via a coalition every bit as real as a true inter-party 

alltance, Asquith hlmself lacked the prestige of a Balfour, Salisbury, Rosebery or 

even a Campbeii-Bannerman.. Even his immediate predecessor at 10, Downing Street, 

botha Radical and a figure of considerable persona! prestige and influence, 
45 

had 

dlscovered thot unity within the coalition demanded the adoption of very much of a 

mtddle-of-the-road stance on his own part - thus Campbeii-Bannerman in accepting 

the military conversations so as to assuage the Uberal-lmperialists was palnstakingly 

careful in ensuring thot the Cabinet as a whole, with its Radical faction, remoined 

ignorant of these developments in foreign and defence pollcy. 
46 

Asquith, lacking 

Campbeii-Bannerman's persona! prestige, himself at leest a titular Uberal-lmperialist, 

and faced with a predominantly Radical Cabinet, was thus more thon ever forced to 

tread very carefully being, as Churchill has recalled, under constant survefllance .. 
47 

lady VIolet Bonham ·carter, in recalling the Prime Minister's excruciating ba lancing 

act during these years, has recently observed s 

lt was no mean achievement of my father•s to hold such 
a team together without a single resignation un ti 1 the outbreak 
of the First World War. He hated quarrels. No one shrank 
more from what Lord Keyes has cal led 'the solid clay of 
persona! issues'. Rlvalries, jealousies, and tale-bearing fllled 
hlm with embarrassment and distasteo But he rated quallty above 
ali else1 and rather thon shed a drop of lt he was prepared to · 
labour, wlth great patience, to compose differences, devise 
formulee, soothe wounded vanity and amourl?ro!?re ... o o 48 

45 - See: Ensor, R.C.K., England1 1870- 1914, (Oxford, 1936)1 p .. 384 .. 

46 - See : Mpnger, G .. , The End of Isolation g British Foreign Poltcy, 1900 - 190~1 
{London, 1963) 1 pp o 255- 256 .. 

47 - Churchill, W .S., The World Crtsis1 (New York, 1923), Vol .. 1, p. 29o 

48 - Bonham Carter, V., Winston Churchtll As 1 Knew Hlm, (London, 1965), 
p .. 160., 
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Unfortunately it is sometimes not sufficient to 'compose differences' through compromise 

especially when such divergences are so wide and involve matters so vital to national 

security. lt was this facet of Asquith's Government, the circumstances under which 

he laboured coupled to his persona! weakness and failure to comprehend the urgency of 

the problem of supreme command, that constituted his fai lure. 

Perhaps unlike any other prime minister in the recent history of England, Asquith 

conformed more closely to the concept of 'primus-inter-pares'. lt was an oge when 

government remained very mucha matter of persona! ability rather thon automated 

authority. lhe influence even of a prime minister was very much dependent upon his 

abi lity to lead rather thon to be led, to be in the forefront of new ideas and developments, 

and by example to Impress his authority upon his colleagues in the cabinet. Force of 

circumstances coupled to his persona! character flaws prevented Asquith from assuming 

any such paramount position of authority. Qui te oside from these circumstances, it is 

to be remembered thot Asquith presided over a Cabinet of 'indlviduals' many of whom were 

themselves accomplished statesmen as weil as consumate politiciens. ln short Asquith 

had in his Cabinet material enough for many prime ministers including both of England's 

outstanding future war-time leaders. Whereas, on the other hand, it has elsewhere been 

pointed out thot Mr. Balfour's Government, followlng upon the resignations of Chamber­

lain and Devonshire in the early autumn of 1003, had been devoid of a single figure 

approaching anywhere near to the stature or strength of character of the Prime Minister 

who had, as has been seen 1 a very high opinion of the unique nature of his own position. 
49 

Viscount Haldane's reflections upon Alïquith's character have already been discussed 

at sorne length, !D however, his comments upon the Government as a whole are of no lesser 

49 - See : Jennlngs, W .1., Cabinet Government, (Cambridge1 1936), 
P• 146. 

50 - See above, page 16 • 
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interest reveallng as they do the manner ln which Cabinet business was compartmentalised 

according to the dittates of the lnterests and prejudices of the two sections of the 

coalition, and how obviously the Radical element dominated Cabinet affairs as a whole : 

1 n the Libera 1 Govemment from 1905 to 1915 1 played 
a part which was more at close quarters with individuels than 
with the Cabinet as a whole. 1 was not really good in that 
Cabinet, partly from temperament, and partly because 1 found 
lt difftcult to get really interested in its work. 1 was myself 
taken up almost entirely with the large task of reorganizing the 
Army for possible war. 1 should have liked to extend that work 
to the Navy 1 and did the best 1 cou Id, but the Government was 
not really interested in those things, and the result was that there 
was very little opportunity for this sort of scientific consideration 
Jn Cabinet deliberations. Our relations with Germany were of 
course of a critica 1 kind1 and my ties to Grey gave me much 
opportunity of speaking with him, but here agaln there were dif-
ficulties, because 1 was suspected by the publrc of being pro-German. 
ln truth ali 1 wanted was to make my countrymen see that there was 
a prob!em of German character raising questions of a very dangerous 
kfnd, and that the organizing power of Gerinany had to be understood 
before we could make ourselves safeo This was not so merely in 
milittary matters. ln commerce and industry1 in regard to which 1 also 
had special means of making myself acqualnted with the progress of 
German advances1 the danger appeared tome not Jess. What 1 saw 
in Ballin, of Sir Ernest Cassel and of German commercial magnates 
whom 1 met at the latter's home, made me think that there was a peril 
herè really greater than that of war1 in war we could always fall back 
on sea power. Science had been developed and applted in Germany 
as it had not with us, and it was very dtfftcult to get my colleagues 
to realise this1 and to avoid when 1 approached it being put down as a 
pro-German enthusiasto Anyhow, it was organization for war and 
organization of industry which were the two subjects that fascinated me 
during the ten years of Liberal Cabinet l!fe, and 1 did not succeed in 
educatlng my colleagues, although 1 got the Army re-organlzed, the 
Navy influenced and more universities founded. The situation grew more 
and more dlfflcult as Liberalism, growing older and more inert seemed to 
me to be losing touch o 1 daresay my colleagues thought that l was fa lling 
off, and no doubt there was a certain partial paralysis due to the shifting 
of the centre of interesL Anyhow 1 by degrees the conviction deepened 
with me that Asquith was not sufficiently moved by new ldeas to gtve the 
nation the lead it needed~ • .. • 1 had no faith in his abJiity to think any­
thing out or to.stick to. the conclusion he had arrived at.. Moreover he 
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seemed tome a bad judge of men. Splendid at getting out of 
a corner, he had no prevision of coming situatlons.51 

But tt ls only fair to add that if Asquith was not sufficiently moved nelther was his 

Cabinet, whose unity remained always a constant threat and worry to the Prime Minister. 

And so tt was that the breakdown in the old Whig-Liberal Party which had been 

set in motion in the late nineteenth century coupled to the advent of a weak prime 

minister and a cabinet of exceptionally strong 'tndividua!s', combined wtth the 

bitter squabbles of the intra-mi litary feud, which came to the fore during the decade 

prior to the War, to ensure the fallure of the pre-War experiment in supreme command 

and, lnadvertently, to commit England, as the country discovered in that late summer 

of 1914, to a campaign upon the Continent for which, as Kitchener put it, she has no 

army. The experiment had fai led J the 'decisions' of the supreme command had strictly 

speaking not been decisions at a Il, in that despite their grave significance they had not 

been considered in the exhaustive manner necessary if supreme command is to be 

meaningful and effective. For a strategie decision divorced from tactical reality is in 

reality not a decision. And it is this facility to decide, to render a sound judgement, 

whlch is the essence of supreme comma nd. 

51 - 'Notes on Let~ers Contained in My Boxes', Autumn 1926, pp. 15- 17. 
Halclane MSS, MS 5923. 
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APPENDIX 1 

THE ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ORGANISATION 

OF THE 

WAR OFFICE AND THE ADMIRALTY 

4TH AUGUST 1914 

THE WAR OFFICE 

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR WAR 

AND 

PRESIDENT OF THE ARMY COUNCIL 

FIRST MILITARY MEMBER OF THE ARMY COUNCIL 

AND 

CHIEF OF THE IMPERIAL GENERAL STAFF 

THE ARMY COUNCIL 

Adjutant-General to the 
Forces 

Quartermaster-General of 
the Forces 

Master-Genera 1 of 
Ordnance 

Civil Member 

Permanent Under-Secretary 

Financial Secretary 

Inspecter-General of the 
Forces (Home) 

1 nspector-Genera 1 of the 
Forces (Abroad) 
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THE IMPERIAL GENERAL STAFF 

Director of Military 
Operations 

Director of Military 
Training (Home Defence) 

Director of Staff 
Duties 



THE ADMIRALTY 

FIRST LORD* 

FI RST SEA LORD* 

BOARD OF ADMI RAL TY 

Second Seo Lord* (Recruiting and 
Training) 

Third Sea Lord and 
Control 1er* (Design and Construction) 

Fourth Sea Lord* (Transport Servi ce 
and Nava 1 Stores} 

Civil Lord* (Works, Buildings and 
Greenwich Hospt ta 1) 

Additional Civil Lord 

Parliamentary and Financial 
Secretary 

Permanent Secretary 

ADMIRALTY WAR STAFF 

Chief of the War Staff 

Head of the Division of 
Naval Operations 

Head of the Division of 
Naval Intelligence 

Head of the Division 
of Naval Mobilisation 

Head of the Division 
on Trade 

* Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, and Members of the Board. 
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CLASS AND NAME 

Dreadnought 

Invincible (B.C.) 
lndomitable (B.C.) 
Inflexible (B.C.) 

Bellero~hon 
Su berS 
Temeràire 

Colllngwood 
St. Vincent 
Vanguard 

Neptune 

lndefatigable (B.C.) 
Australla (B.C.) 
New Zeeland (B.C.) 

Col ossus 
Herclues 

Conqueror 
Monarch 
Orion 
Thunderer 

Lion (B .C.) 
Pri ncess Roya 1 (8. C.) 
Queen Mary (B.C.) 

Aiax 
Centurion 
Audacious 
King George V 

APPENDIX Il 

BRITISH CAPITAL SHIP CONSTRUCTION 

1905 - 1914 

COMPLET! ON ARMAMENT DISPLACEMENT 
{Tons) 

1906 ('05) 1 0/12-inch 17,900 

1909 ('06) 8/12-inch 17,250 
1908 ('06) 8/12-inch 17,250 
1908 ('06) 8/12-inch 17,250 

1909 ('06) 10/12-inch 18,600 
1909 ('07) 10/12-inch 18,600 
1909 ('07) 10/12-lnch 18,600 

1910('07) 10/12-inch 19,250 
1909 ('07) 10/12-inch 19,250 
1910 ('08) 10/12-inch 19,250 

1911 ('09) 1 0/12-inch 19,900 

1911 ('09) 8/12-inch 18,800 
1913 ('10) 8/12-inch 18,800 
1912 ('10) 8/12-tnch 18,800 

1911 ('09) 10/12-Inch 20,000 
1911 {'09) 10/12-inch 20,000 

1912 ('10) 10/13 .5-inch 22,500 
1912 ('10) 10/13 .5-inèh 22,500 
1912 {'09) 10/13 .5-inch 22,500 
1912 ('10) 10/13.5-inch 221 500 

1912 ('09) 8/13.5-inch 26,350 
1912 ('10) 8/13 .5-inch 26,350 
1913 ('11) 8/13.5-inch 26,350 

1913 ('11) 10/13.5-inch 25,700 
1913 ('11) 10/13 .5-lnch 25,700 
1913 ('11) 10/13 .5-i nch 25,700 
1912 ('11) 10/13.5-inch 25,700 
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SPEED 
(Knots) 

21 

25 
25 
25 

20.75 
20.75 
20.75 

21 
21 
21 

21 

25 
25 
25 

21 
21 

21 
21 
21 
21 

27 
27 
27 

21.7 
21.7 
21.7 
21.7 



Iron Duke 1914 ('12) 10/13.5-fnch 25,000 21 
Mârlborough 1914 ('12) 10/13.5-lnch 25,000 21 
Benbow 1914 ('12) 10/13 .5-tnch 25,000 21 
Emperor of 1 ndia 1914('12) 10/13 .5-tnch 25,000 21 

Tlger (B.C.) 1914 ('12) 8/13.5-lnch 28,500 29 

Ba rham 1915('1~) 8/15-tnch 27,500 24 
Ma laya 1916 ('13) 8/15-inch 27,500 24 
Queen Elizabeth 1915 ('12) 8/15-lnch 27,500 24 
Va lient 1916 ('13) 8/15-inch 27,500 24 
Warspite 1915 ('13) 8/15-inch 27,500 24 

Rammillies 1917 ('13) 8/15-inch 27,500 23 
Resolution 1916 ('13) 8/15-inch 27,500 23 
Revenge 1916 {113) 8/15-inch 27,500 23 
Royal Oak 1916 ('14) 8/15-inch 27,500 23 
Roya 1 Sovereign 1916 ('14) 8/15-inch 27,500 23 

Erin (ex-Reshadieh) 1914('11) 1 0/13 .5-i nch 23,000 21 

Agincourt (ex-Rio 
de Janeiro) 1914('11) 10/12-inch 27,500 22 

Canada (ex-
Almirante Latorre) 1915 ('11) 10/14-inch 28,000 23 

WAR TIME CONSTRUCTION 1914 - 1918 

Renown 1916 ('15) 6/15-Inch 26,500 30 
Reputse 1916 ('15) 6/15-inch 26,500 30 

Glorious 1917 ('15) 4/15-tnch 18,600 32 
Courageous 1917 ('15) 4/15-inch 18,600 32 

Furious 1917 ('15) 2/18 -Inch 19,513 32 

Hood 1920 ('16) 8/15-inch 41,200 32 
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APPENDIX Ill 

THE ADMIRALTY WAR STAFF 

THE circumstances surroundlng the establlshment of the War Staff at the Admiralty 

during the Churchill years deserve a somewhat c:loser scrutiny thon has hitherto been 

accorded them.. Both the First Seo Lord and the First Lord had been removed from 

office towards the close of 1911 for their negligence in foi ling to develop an effective 

operations planning division as recommended by the Defence Committee la te in 1909. 

Thot sorne recommendation had in itself ensured Lord Fisher•s resignation. Subsequent 

observers have tended very largely to acc::ept this impllcit criticlsm of the Admiralty and 

to make free use of tt ln ascrfbtng virtually every deficlency, real or imaglned1 in 

naval affairs to the lac::k of a war staff at the Admiralty. However, the fact thot the 

war staff issue had shown ltself to contain 1 at the very least, potent side-effects for 

the politic::s of the defence establishment must not be overlooked. Of course, strictly 

speaklng and from the vantage point of hlndsight, the absence of an effective operational 

planning division at the Admlralty was deplorable.. However, sorne doubt must be cast 

upon the assertion thot such a body was either considered generally to be vital during the 

years before 1914, or 1 indeed1 that those who advocated such a staff had any clear idea 

of its supposed functions. 

The movement for the establishment of a war staff for the Navy had found its 

beglnnlngs ln Spenser Wilkinson•s book entttled •The Brain of a Novy• which appeared ln 

1895. During its early years the movement was closely connected wlth the activities of 

the Navy League. However, the cause soon fanguished owing to the decline in the 

Jntellectual actlvity of the League which had succumbed to the dslng tlde of •materialism•. 

But Wilkinson's campalgn received the wholehearted1 and genuinely sincere, support~of 

Admirai Lord Charles Beresford giving it a new lease on fife during the years after 
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1902 .. 
1 

ln tlme, however, Beresford1s concern for a naval •thinking' department . 

became submerged in his more genèral campalgn directed agalnst Fisher. This 

development was of considerable significance for, understandably, tt prejudiced the 

Admlralty against the proposai on grounds quite separate from those of professional 

dtsagreemento Wrlkinson, not wishing to become a party to the Feud, abandoned his 

pressure for a naval staff turning instead to pursue the further development of a unified 

supreme command.. There the matter had rested until 1909 when Beresford once again 

utilized the staff issue in order to attack Fisher, thus providing Haldane with the 

wherewithal that he needed so as to set about imposing sorne fonn of unity and co­

ordination upon the two Services., 

ln view of the generally confused thinking upon the actual functions of a naval 

staff, and considering the many nuances of terminology and interpretation, before going 

further it would be wise to provide sorne workable definition of the purposes and functions 

of a naval war staff; Vice-Admirai Kenneth Dewar has noted in this connection : 

The study of strategy 1 tactics and the special requirements 
of war are shouldered out of the way by the demands of tecknical 
work.:and the dally current of administrative routine. Under the 
circumstances, there is nothing surprising in the fact that the best 
drilled armies and navies often prove themselves the least efficient .. 
The main obiect of the staff system is to guard against this danger 
by placing the control of po licy, operations and training in the hands 
of offtcers who are, to a large extent, freed from the routine of 
technical and administrative work. Hence the guiding principle of 
the system lies ln a clear-cut distlnctron between administration -
tha t ls, the production and maintenance of the instrument of war -
and operations, that is, its useo This division is even more necessary 
in a Navy than an Army because routine and technical work weigh 
more heavily on the naval officer.2 

1 - Luvaas, J., The Education of an Army: British Military Thought, 1815- 1940, 
(Chicago, 1964), p. 267., 

2 - Dewar, K .G .Bo, The Navy From Within, (London, 1939), pp. 140 - 141. 
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However, this vlew dtffered sharply from thot of the 'material' school of whtch Fisher 

has genera lly been regarded as the foremost spokesmen. This latter group tended to 

vlew the rapld development of modern naval technology as a negation of ali post 

historiee! experience concluding thot the best preparation for war lay in the development 

and famlliarlzation of personnel ln the new technology and techniques. Thus developed 

the 'historical',and the 'materiel' vtews upon the nature of the higher direction of the 

war at sea. As with most such dichotomies mutual opposition led to mutually untenable 

positions with the one school wholly opposing technological considerations while the 

other concentrated upon their development to the exclusion of ali else. 

Sir Arthur Wilson, in rejecting an enthusiastic Memorandum on the formation of a 

naval war staff drawn up by the new First Lord just three days after assuming office, 

stated the case for the extreme •materialist• school noting : 

The thinking in the Navy is mainly occupied with producing 
the most perfect ships, guns, and machinery, with crews trained 
and organised to make the most perfect use of them, and constantly 
practised under conditions approaching as nearly as possible to 
th ose of wa r. 

The Novy must be constructed and organised definitely with a vlew 
to meeting the actual forces of any combination of nations thot is 
at ali probable, as they are known to exist now, or as far as they 
can be foreseen for the future • 

• Army poltcy must be framed principa lly from the records of 
post wars and the opinions of officers who have taken part in them, 
while Naval poltcy is based almost entirely on experiment and the 
results of actual practice at sea.3 

3 - 'Naval War Staff•, Memorandum by the First Sea Lord - Admirai of the 
Fleet Sir Arthur K. Wilson, 30 Oct. 1911. Cabinet Papers, Cab. 37/108, 
No. 136, pp. 2-4. 
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Thus Sir Arthur, both as a dogmatist and something of a purist, had succinctly put 

forward the 'materialist• thesis arguing that only contemporary experience had any 

validlty in modern warfare and that, therefore, in a sense the entire fleet was one 

vast war staff requiring no body of speclalised 'thinkers'. Much of Wilson 1
S 

Memorandum had concerned itself with explaining away the need for a naval war staff 

on the grounds that the Novy, unllke the Army 1 had no need for intricate transport, 

supply and topographie planning. Cri tics, such as Dewar, have seized upon these 

remarks clalmlng that this obvious confusion within Wilson 1s own mind between 

logistics and operational planning indicated clearly that he had no understanding of 

the true nature and purpose of a staff system.
4 

This was, however, too facile a 

conclusion, for Wilson's above quoted remarks clearly revealed that he was, at least, 

aware of the'true nature and purpose of a war staff for the Navy. Had his views simply 

been based upon a 'logistical' understanding of 'staff' work, they would not only have 

been pointless but altogether without meaning. 

lt would, however, be quite wrong to suppose that this somewhat esoteric argument 

between the two schools, waged so avidly by men such as Richmond and Dewar, had any 

directly concrete application in the practical politics of the defence establishment. 

Fisher, above ali, was by no means adapted to the pursuit of such an academie argument 

and, always being flexible, was liable to change his views from one day to the next .. 

Flippant remarks such as 'history is the record of exploded· ideas' were seized upon as 

evidence of Fisher's dogmatic refusai to consider any but the 'maté'riel' aspect of naval 

affairs. ln truth, Fisher opposed the function of a war staff essentially on the grounds 

of pragma ttc: conveni en ce and necessi ty. The corollary to his suc cess as Fi rst Sea Lord 

had been his refusai to brook opposition or bow before any attempt to diminish his 

4 - See : Dewar, The Navy From Within, p .. 140 .. 
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authorlty J a tome wcr staff would, crt the very !east, have forced hlm to shore that 

supreme authortty at a tlme when Us every last ounce was requlred to ram through 

his great reforms. To have accepted the principle of the war staff would have been 

to show weakness before the demands and pressures of the 'Syndtcate', a weakness which 

would have driven hlm from office before his great work had been accomplished .. 

Nevertheless, given the most favourable of clrcumstances, U ls unlikely that 

Fisher would have ever freely chosen to establish a truly viable operatlonal planning 

division complete wlth a core of specially trained staff officers.. Uke Churchill, Fisher 

had, of course, a supreme confidence in his own native abllities, and,as wtth Churchill, 

he had little understcnding of the true nature and purposes of a war staff.. Lord Flsher's 

subsequent acceptance of Churchill's Staff had been based to some extent upon his 

apprehension that 

••• you MA Y have a d - d fool as First Sea Lord, and 
so you put him ln commission, as it were., But If there's a 
Barnam: as First Sea Lord, he'1l run the war, and no one 
else •.5 

Fisher's War Counctl of late 1909 and, indeed, Churchill's Admiralty War Staff 

fonned earJy ln 1912 were in fact little more than cyphers wholly dependent upon the 

opinions and directives of the First Sea Lord and the Ffrst Lord. Churchtll's Memorandum 

of late October 1911 revealed his total misunderstandlng of the role of a staff, feeling 

somehow that lt was a substitute for the brain of the First Sea Lord ; fn the course of that 

preliminary Paper he had noted : 

The Navy has been fortunate ln havlng many very capable men 
in the position of First Sea lord who were fully equal to thelr 
responstbillties at ali times. But there is no guarantee that such 
will be the case.. At the best of trmes the field of selection ls 

5 - Fisher to Leyland, 7 Nov .. 1911.. Fisher of Kilverstone, Baron (John A.), 
Fear God and Dread Nought: The Corres ondence of Admirai of the 
Fleet Lord Fis er of Ki verstone, ed.. rthur J. Marder London, T952-- 19!9), 
Vol.. Il, pp. 411 - 412 .. 
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small, a,d lt ts not every man who is gifted wlth the strategical 
lnslght pf a St. VIncent or a Ba rham. But a Il mlght hove thelr 
fltness for the position improved by training at an earl ter perlod 
of thelr coreer, and thè least capable would not be llkely togo 
far wrong on important points if he had a thoroughly competent 
staff • • • • A competent strategist might occupy the position of 6 
First Seo Lord in the event of wor no doubt, but not at oH necessartly. 

Here Churchtll had p)oced his finger upon the true significance of a war staff but, 

regrettably, had stopped short of its fulffllment. Fundamentally the true purpose of a 

naval war staff wos the e!tablishment of a body of officers throughout the service 

specially troined to deal wlth and to decide upon strategie and tacticol questions. 

The wldespread misunderstandlng concerning the true functions of a wor staff extended 

to a number of the most outstanding officers in the Novy 1 including Ott ley. 
7 

Much 

of thelr belief in the ali Important nature of the First Seo Lord's power of initiative 

appears to have beèn based upon the assumption thot in the event of wdr the Admiralty 

would undertake the direct supervision of ali operations at seo - os indeed it was to 

do, with most unfortunate consequences, during the Wor. This, in tum, lorgely 

accounted for the relative fock of concern, even under Churchill, for the development 

of independant •strotegically minded' fleet officers. No matter how brilliont the mind 

of the First Seo Lord hoppened to be if hls 'cop•toins of shlps', ln Churchill's phrase 

were not also •captains of war' his intellectuel vigour counted for very little. Throughout 

the war this lack of individuel Initiative wos time and again to account for a sorry litany 

of lost opportunitles. ChurchiiPs War Staff, on first glanee at leest, had sorne of the 

elements of a successfully functioning operotional planning body designed not only to 

equote material development with strategie capability but a Iso to gradually lnfiltrate the 

6 - •Memorandum on Naval War Staff and Training', by the First Lord - The 
Rt. Hon. Winston S. Churchill, 28 Oct. 1911. Cabinet Papers, 
Cab. 37/108, Noo 135, pp. 3 - 4. 

7 - Ottley to Haldane, 11 Dec. 1909 .. Haldane MSS, MS 5908. 
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Fleet wlth offlcers trained to take full advantage of their material - and of thelr 

opportunitles. On New Year's Day 1912, just prior to the actual establishment of 

the Admtralty War Staff, Churchill set forth ln the course of a lengthy Memorandum 

the terms of reference. under which it was to be aonstituted. ln part the First Lord 

noted : 

The War Staff is to be the meéms of preparing and training those 
officers who arrive, or are lrkely to arrive, by the excellence 
of their sea service, at stations of high responsibiltty, for dea ling 
with the more extended problems which await them there.8 

Unfortunately, however, the new body was delegated no power of initiative it being 

expltcltly stated : 

lt Is to be al'l instrument capable of formulating any decision which 
has been taken or may be taken, by the Executive, in terms of 
precise and exhaustive detail. 9 

ln order to train those officers it was stipulated that 

••• a special course of training at the War College will form 
an essenttal part of the new arrangements.10 

And, ln order to ensure full benefi t from these improvements for the Fleet as a who le 

it was lafd down that 

ln ali cases ••• regular periods of sea-going executive duty 
wlll altemate with the other duties of Staff Officers of ali 
ranks, ln order that they may be keft up to the necessary 
standard as practical sea officers.l 

8 - 'Naval War Staff', Memorandum by the Flrst Lord, 1 Jan. 1912. Cabinet 
Papers, Cab. 37/109, No. 1, p. 2. 

9 - 'Naval War Staff', 1 Jan. 1912, p. 2 .. 

10- 'Naval War Staff', 1 Jan. 1912, pp. 4-5. 

11 - 'Naval War Staff', 1 Jan. 1912, p. 5. 
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The Staff Course at the War Collage, which commeneed tn March 1912, was, by ali 

accounts, a rather dismal affair; Dewar has recalled his deys on the Staff at the 

Collage notrng : 

If the functlon of the War College were to teach strategy, 
tactics and command, the principal thing to be said about 
the lectures ts thot they had very little bearing upon these 
subjects. 12 

Dewar further recalled thot not onJy was the teaching staff incompetent .. and the 

Commandant - Sir Henry Jackson, subsequent! y Chief of the War Staff - reactionary 1 

but the Admirolty consistently despatched inferior officers to the course iust as 

assiduously as it posted poor candidates to fiJI the Wat Staff appolntments. ln truth, 

Dewar wrote, •we had the opportunity but not the fntellectual capital to float a staff'. 

ln short, the Admlrolty War Staff, as establtshed and developed under Churchill, 

ln no way altered the basic manner ln which Naval pollcy was decided.. No effort was 

expended to make truly effective use of the Staff which was largely employed, not 

wholly wfthout result, ln the development of strategie principles laid down by the First 

Lord and the First Seo Lord. Administration as weil as operotional planning remained 

fundamentally 'solely within the scope of the first lord and the professional head of · 

the Service. The essentiel difference betng thot now the germ of thot strotegical 

concept put forward by the •Executive' was to be revealed to a planning body of officers, 

of indi.fferent abillty, for verification by a detailed comparison with the effective 

limitations under which poltcy had to be formulated. The Naval Staff was thus to 

accommodate itself to the Ill-educated and decidedly limited scope of a single man's 

broin. ln short the new body, whtle perhaps better organized1 was almost exactly 

ldentical wlth the Novy War Council of 1909, which Richmond had described at the time 

of its establishment as 

12 - Dewar, The Novy From Withtn, PP• 129- 130. 
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••• the most absurd btt of humbug that has been produced for 
a long ti me. 1 t pretends to be the basls for a Genera 1 Staff, 
but tts constitution shows that whoever devised lt has no ideas 
of what a staff is wanted for, or the partlcular functions of such 
a body ., • o o The lst Sea Lord remalns supreme and Imposes 
his erode strateglcal ldeas on the nation. 13 

As has been seen, Richmond could as weil have been describing the Churchill War Staff .. 

However, oside from a few junior unpublicised offlcers such as Richmond and 

Dewar who repeatedly pointed out the travestry which Churchill and the Admirais had 

perpetrated upon the nation in the Admlralty War Staff, no further criticlsm of any 

appreciable volume was voiced concerning the problem of naval operatlonal planning 

or the education and lntellectual development of deck officers. Churchtfl, an 

accompltshed performer, had succeeded in persuadlng the country and the best lnformed 

of his many critics thot the new War Staff was indeed the required remedy for the ills 

of the Senior Service. Vlscount Esher was moved to write to Churchill describing the 

establishment of the Admfralty War Staff as 

••• the most pregnant refonn which has been carried out 
at the Admiralty since the days of Lord St.Vincent. Ali 
other changes sink into inslgniflcance compared with this 
one which you have tnaugurated.14 

However, perhaps the most damnlng commenb:uy upon the true nature of Churchill's War 

Staff was Fisher's approval for the new body; that approval, which Churchill 

emphatlcally could have done without, had hardly been founded upon the •rtght' motive 

especially in the manner in which Fisher put tt on writing to Esher early in 1912 : 

••• the War Staff is an exceedingly useful body to be 
ktcked and to deal wtth d - d rot ~ and make out 
sc hem es for the German Emperor to have next mo ming 
at breakfast ~ 15 

13 - Diary, 27 Oct. 1909. Richmond, H.W ., Portrait of an Admirai : The Life 
and Letters of Sir Herbert Richmond, ed. Arthur J. Marder (London, 1952), 

14 - Esher to Churchill, 8 Jan .. 1912. Esher, Vlscount {Reginald B.), Journals 
and Letten;, ed. Oltver Vlscount Esher (London, 1938), Vol. Ill, p. 77. 

15 - Fisher to Esher, 3 Jano 1912.. Fisher of Kilverstone, Correspondance, 
Vol. Il, p .. 425. 
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Esher himself 1 in approvtng of the Wat Staff, nevertheless contlnued to cllng to the 

view thot ft was merely a standby to safeguard against the deflclencles of an inferior 
16 

First Sea Lord. Of course, the War Staff was not capable or indeed constituted to 

fulfili even this role. 

Above ali there were no further objections from Haldane concerning the lack of 

an effective planning staff at the Admiralty. Haldane had, of course, objected to 

ChurchiJI•s attempt to subordinate the Chief of the War Staff directly to the First lord. 

Here Haldane had been successful, though Churchill ln fact was to exercise precisely 

such a direct de facto control over the War Staff. Thot this was so, and thot Haldane 
\ 

made no further protests regardfng the development of a 1thinking novy• was in itself 

highly signlficant. ln truth, he had no further reason to agi tate for such a reform in 

the Senior Service, for indeed his concern had been not so much with the deficiencies 

of naval planning os with the need for interservice co-ordination and co-operation in 

the jnterests of supreme command. No doubt Haldane had regarded the establishment 

of an effective operatlonal planning body at the Admiralty as very necessary; nevertheless, 

its convenient absence had provided hlm with the necessary leverage to remove those 

elements opposed to the establishment of effective supreme command. 

The great flow in the Navy•s preparation for the War lay in the poor development of 

lts tntellectual apparatus. No one man was responsible for this fai ling, whteh was, of 

course, the undesirable dlvidend of the revolution in matériel. lndeed, •captains of war• 

were preferable to 'captains of shlps• assuming, of course,that one posses.sed the Navy to 

float such 'lntellectual capitaP. The concem over the lack of a war staff both within the 

service ànd thè circlés of government was very largely bàsed upon a misconception of the func­

tions of such a E>ody, and updn a recognition··of the leverage which such a criticism offered to 

16 - Esher to Fisher, 9 Jan. 1912. Esher1 Journalsand Letters, Vol.ll1 1 

p. 78 • 
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those who desired to so alter the administration of the Admiralty asto bring it into 

line with the more pressing need for defence co-ordination. The advent of the 

Churchill Board fulfilled the requirements of those who sought the development of a 

unified supreme command. However, the Churchill years were marked by little 

advancement in the intellectual standards of the service, and the War Staff, the 

establishment of which had officially brought Churchill to the Admiralty, was never 

permitted to develop into a strong and healthy nerve centre for the evolution of 

strategie concepts or the higher education of naval officers, remaining always the 

repository of inferior minds whally overshadowed by the fertile brain of 

Winston Churchill - thot glorious concomity of First lord and First Seo lord. 
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